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GROUP STRUCTURE

P (M) H R w
CHINA RESOURCES (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED

59.55%*

P E AR A
China Resources Land Limited
(B3 X% Stock Code: 01109. HK)

| 72.29%*

FEHER
£
Development
Property Business

80
Cities

P A 4R

Product Lines

532
Projects

REMTHE+EE
E3)
Investment
Property+Asset
Management
Business

66 :
Cities

3 ERE
Product Lines

BREEEE SREEERR
E3) £
Asset-light Eco-system
Management Elementary
Business Business
EHEREERRAR W

China Resources Mixc Lifestyle
Services Limited

(B 8% Stock Code:
01209.HK)

/L
92 Shopping Malls
EF3 In Operation

oL
3 5 Shopping Malls
FEH In Pipeline

* B F 20244 12 H31H As of 31 December 2024

Urban Construction Agency

BE
Health and Elderly Care

HEERE

Leasing Apartment

WmEH

Urban Redevelopment

peid i
Culture and Sports
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NATIONWIDE PRESENCE AND RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

2024 F & HEFE
Revenue in 2024

278.8 +11.0%

A B +1{87T RMB Billion Rt YoY

2024 F Az 0F A
Core Net Profit in 2024

25.4 559

AR ¥ +4187T RMB Billion [t YoY

204 F2FERRE
Full Year Dividend per Share in 2024

1.319 359

AR¥IT RMB [t YoY

2024 FHREFEMEZETERA

Recurring Business Revenue in 2024

41 .6 +6.6%

AR ¥4-1E7C RMB Billion Rt YoY

2024 F B FEFEAZLFFE

Core Net Profit of Recurring Business in 2024

10.3  +s2%

AR ¥+-187T RMB Billion Bt YoY




2024 FEHEE
Contracted Sales in 2024

261 .1 No.3

AR 4-{87T RMB Billion TERRE=

2024 FREEERHE
AUM by end 2024

462 .1 +8.1%

AR #1875 RMB Billion Bt YoY
N\

2024 FRELBYH O

No. of Malls in Operation by end 2024

92

2024 FBY P LTER
Retail Sales of the Group’s Malls in 2024

195.3 +19.29

AR #4128 7T RMB Billion Rl Yoy

2024 FR LR
Land Bank by end 2024

51.94

A & ¥ K Million Sgm




ERBEEWE
MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

hEEEMEHE

No. of Luxury Stores in China

No.

SEmE
No. of Brands
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No. of Luxury Brands

No. of Membership

61+

llion
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mi
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SHENZHEN MIXC
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AFAR - )
Tenant Mix %iﬁ?g%% o AHhE

25 1as q
(ROt by GFA) Entertainment 13 /O Appraisal Value

16,780

Supermarket AR EEIT RMB mn

éﬁigﬂer’; 1 2 0/0

3 5 OA) i&pifa rel

Ha WA

Rental Income

KA R (A A2 1’557

Households & 1 z(y
Personal Care (o) ARBEEHEBE T RMB mn

B
F&B

* B BEIH - KA - 1&0 - REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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HANGZHOU MIXC

R
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BEBA . )

Tenant Mix %iﬁﬁ% ST

(EI#&{k L by GFA) Entertainrment 1 4% Appraisal Value

arel = . R
A Supermarket AR¥EE T RMB mn
Hph * (0]
Others 9 A)
M HA

Rental Income

AR AR 1 ,425

Households & [0)
Personal Care 14 /0 AR EHE T RMB mn

28% &

* BEfhBEIH KA &5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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SHENYANG MIXC
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HEER - )
Tenant Mix %igf;{% o AHhE

= 10s q
(E#& (5 Lk by GFA) Entertainment 13 A) Appraisal Value

7,800

Supermarket AR HE T RMB mn

oves 11%

i:E3
42 % Apparel

HEWA

Rental Income

R AR (8 AER
Households & [0) 1 1 67
Personal Care 12 /0 ,

AR B EIT RMB mn

%

£
F&B

* B BEIH - KA - 1&0 - REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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SHENZHEN BAY MIXC

Others
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HEBK 5 R
Tenant Mix Kids' & 0
(FEF&1G L by GFA) Entertainment 1 6 /0
0/ MR#E B
28 /O AR Supermarket 3%
/ -

13%

v

S
Appraisal Value

3,476

AR BEEIT RMB mn

ENENA(EN 35
Households &
Personal Care

B
F&B

23%

17%

* BEfhBEIH KA &5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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Rental Income

726

AR®BEIL RMB mn
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CHENGDU MIXC
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HEBA o N
Tenant Mix %iﬁji%% AriE
(EI&15 tL by GFA) e 21 % Appraisal Value

6,983
30% Apparel , e —
o AR®BET RMB mn
- Supermarket 40/0
H i+
IM R
Rental Income
KA REAEE 1
Households &
oot 1200 @3

AR B EIT RMB mn

26% &

* B BEIH - KA - 1&0 - REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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BEIJING QINGHE MIXC ONE

HEER )
Tenant Mix P— EEEYIE]
(EIT& 15t by GFA) Kids’ & 0 Appraisal Value
Entertainment 23 /0 1
s 3,415
0 e e —
Apparel AR EE RMB mn
B 0
Supermarket 9 /O
HEWA
Hfth* (0)
290/ B Others 6% Rental Income
O rgB
366
Households & 0
Personal Care 10 /0 /\E%E%ﬁ RMB mn

* EfhBEIA - KA 185 REEF

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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SHENZHEN MIXC WORLD

AT |

P —

T

"

BEER - )

Tenant Mix %iﬁﬁgﬁé ST

(EI#&{k L by GFA) Entertainrment 1 5% Appraisal Value
o 3,708

37 /O Apparel Supermarket AR EHEIT RMB mn

oes 5%

He WA
KA RME AR Rental Income
Households & 1 1 0/
280/ =gk Personal Care (0]
O r&B

AR BEIT RMB mn

* BEfhBEIH KA &5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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NANJING MIXC WORLD

Fir ¥

STUDIOUS
~TORTO-

A SRR )
Tenant Mix Kids' & 8% AriE
(W15 L by GFA) T IRE o Appraisal Value

s 9% 3,002

ARMEEHEIT RMB mn

&3
40% ﬁApparel

KA REAERE
Households & o
Personal Care 13 /0

HaBA

Rental Income

%30% 952

AR B EIT RMB mn

* B BEIH - KA - 1&0 - REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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MALLS OPENED IN 2024

#FEEBEY T O EE

No. of newly opened malls

16

TEHEARMEL

Contribution to the total retail sales

.3 %

=
Handan MIXc One

—F IS H APR 2024

BIEETERE
Hefei Baohe MIXc One

“EZTNUERH MAY 2024

HEBRMALL

Contribution to the total rental income

2%

TR

Av. occupancy rate

95.9%

RERSBRM
Wuhan Wuchang MIXc

“EZTWAER A MAY 2024

"

;»1;- H
A_NMMI.. II.IMMW

N E R
Changzhou MIXc

“EZTWAER A MAY 2024

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited 017
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MALLS OPENED IN 2024

ItRAILEERE AR 46 & 5 &

Beijing Xibeiwang MIXc One Tongxiang MIXc One
R MAETH MAY 2024 “F WA H JUN 2024

EEERWM BELSRH

Guiyang MIXc Yiwu Place
“ERITPAEELH JUL 2024 —® 4L H JUL 2024

It AN ERE R B 3

Beijing Tongzhou MIXc One Shaoxing Place
“FZPEIJUA SEP 2024 —® T PY4ESLH SEP 2024

018 —=—m4EER%=  ANNUAL REPORT 2024



F DU B SR Y O
MALLS OPENED IN 2024

EEERE % & R

Jining MIXc One Xi'an MIXc
ZERINMAE+—H NOV 2024 “ZF W4+ H DEC 2024

IRYI G /)N R EDERH

Shenzhen Brewtown Changsha MiXc
“ZF N4+ " H DEC 2024 “ZF U4+ H DEC 2024

IBEE R E ARRIEER KM

Shantou MIXc One Nanjing Yuhua MiXc World
—Z Y4+ H DEC 2024 —ZF P44+ H DEC 2024

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited 019
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

BREHKE
ER(ARBBHET)
EEEE(BSFHXK)
FHEE(AREIT/FIK)

TEMBER
(AR®EETR)
2ERE
EF
PR A5 A

PR FE AR A2 F

TREESERYE
(AR®EBEET)
mEE
RehHeEE
(BT HE R

P Atz A RR
BOREm B IR A 2

FEMHLER

EFI=

ZURYE RN
FREREN(ARET)
AEEL EN IR ES
FEEEBRARL R F£X

IREFIGEBRA - FR

+ 4 i
(REER TEFHK)
R+ R

— i

— B
FPOHTIS L RS

— &t

— [E1h

CONTRACTED SALES
Value (RMB million)
GFA (million sgm)

ASP (RMB/sgm)

SELECTED FINANCIAL
INFORMATION (RMB MILLION)
Revenue
Gross Profit
Net profit attributable to
owners of the Company
Core net profit attributable to
owners of the Company

SELECTED BALANCE

SHEET DATA (RMB MILLION)

Total assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total debt

Total equity

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

SELECTED FINANCIAL RATIOS
Gross profit margin
Core net profit margin
Basic earnings per share (RMB)
Return on average equity
Net debt-to-equity ratio,
at year end
Weighted average cost of
funding, at year end

LAND BANK

(GFA, MILLION SQM)
Land bank at year end
— Total

— Attributable

Land bank acquired during the year

— Total
— Attributable

020 —= -4 ERE  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

261,100
11.34
23,032

278,799
60,334

25,577

25,418

1,128,394
131,294
259,782
396,740

272,507

2023

307,033
13.07
23,486

251,137
63,162

31,365

27,774

1,191,177
112,675
239,529
384,149

264,867
25.2%
11.1%

4.40
12.3%

32.6%

3.56%

62.50
43.17

13.25
8.63

REER
Year-on-Year
Growth

-15.0%
-13.3%
-1.9%

11.0%
-4.5%

-18.5%

-8.5%

-5.3%
16.5%
8.5%
3.3%

2.9%
-3.6pt
-2.0pt

-18.5%
-2.8pt

-0.7pt

-45 bps

-16.9%
-16.0%

-70.3%
-67.3%
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

RARARELARR AR (TRR]) 12
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FRE -

TECNFRERI+TAIREEZ
MR —F  BmEINFEH MK
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AMEEHERN149% 0 FE B B8 X RH
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BERABERE  2FERBREETAA
Rk, 31975 BTl BB AR SR ARG o

| am pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) a review of the performance of the Company and
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 (“Year 2024")
and our outlook for 2025.

The Year 2024 was a crucial year for achieving the goals and
tasks set out in the 14th Five-Year Plan. Under a complex situation
with increased external pressures and internal difficulties, overall
economic activities of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
were generally stable amidst advancement. During the Year 2024,
the gross domestic product (“GDP") of the PRC reached nearly
RMB135 trillion, representing a year-on-year (“YoY") increase
of 5.0%, and the total retail sales of consumer goods increased
by 3.5% YoY to RMB48.8 trillion, showing strong development
resilience. The real estate industry was still in a period of deep
adjustment, with the sales value of newly built commercial housing
for the whole year being less than RMB10 trillion, dropping by
17.1% YoY. Since September 2024, the central government has
taken decisive actions and introduced more policies to stabilise
the property market. A series of incremental policies have
been introduced to effectively boost market confidence and to
drive a gradual recovery of transaction volume. The market has
demonstrated some degree of stabilization and slight upward
trend, laying the foundation for an industry recovery.

In a rapidly changing development environment, adhering to
the Group’s strategic positioning of “an urban investment,
development and operation company” and the “3+1" integrated
business model, the Group forged ahead despite difficulties,
and further promoted key tasks such as deepening reforms,
transformation and innovation, product power rebuilding,
costs reduction, quality and efficiency improvement. Relying on
forward-looking strategic analysis and differentiated competitive
strategies, the Group steadily navigated through market cycles
during fluctuations, enabling the delivery of stable results. In
Year 2024, the Group achieved a revenue of RMB278.8 billion,
representing a 11.0% YoY growth. The core net profit reached
RMB25.42 billion, representing a 8.5% YoY decrease due to the
continued erosion in the industry’s overall GPM. Among this, the
Group’s recurring business revenue accounted for 14.9% of total
revenue, and achieved profit contribution exceeding RMB10 billion
for the first time, with the percentage to total profit increased to
40.7%. The dividend payout ratio of 37% was maintained for
the Year 2024. Together with the interim dividend paid and the
proposed final dividend, total dividend per share for the whole
year is expected to be RMB1.319, the Company continues to fulfill
the commitment in rewarding the Shareholders.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS

In Year 2024, the Group achieved contracted sales of RMB261.1
billion, accounting for approximately 2.7% of the total commercial
housing sales in the PRC. The Group'’s ranking in the industry has
increased to 3rd place, with our market share in 25 major cities
firmly remaining amongst the top five.

Adhering to its strategy-led approach to investment and the
principle of matching income with expenses, the Group controlled
its progress on investment. During the Year 2024, the Group
acquired 29 projects with an equity investment of RMB52.6
billion. The investment intensity remained among the top three
in the industry, with 94% of the investments focused on tier-one
and tier-two cities, effectively replenishing the quality land banks
in core cities.

The Group strengthened the lean management of production and
operation by establishing a more agile and lean project control
system, thereby further improving its development efficiency
and risk prevention and control capabilities. The Company has
held the “High-quality Conference” for two consecutive years to
introduce the standards for construction of high-quality housing
with three benefits and twelve advantages. In addition, the Group
has become one of the top three in the industry for the first time
in terms of product strength, with customer satisfaction reaching
the highest in the industry.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND ASSET
MANAGEMENT BUSINESS

In Year 2024, the operational quality and efficiency of the
investment property business steadily improved, while the asset
management business accelerated its function as a “second
growth curve”, becoming the main contributors to the Company’s
performance and long-term stable cash flow.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND ASSET
MANAGEMENT BUSINESS (continued)

In Year 2024, the retail sales from our shopping malls reached
RMB195.3 billion, accounting for approximately 0.4% of the total
national retail sales of consumer goods. The overall operating
profit margin reached 61%, hitting another record high. By the
end of Year 2024, there were 92 operating shopping malls, with
16 newly opened shopping malls during the Year 2024, marking
the highest number of malls opened in a year, with an average
occupancy rate exceeded 95%. Notably, the Xi‘an MIXc was
successfully established as a groundbreaking project that drives
commercial progress and industry development. Projects such as
Shenzhen Universiade MIXc World (% 3Il X 3 K #b), Yiwu Place
(% B X #b), and Shenzhen BREWTOWN (& 3I| B 57 /)N $5) have
made solid strides in product innovation, showcased significant
leadership and demonstration effect in the industry and delivered
a refreshing and immersive shopping experience for consumers.
The commercial products of the MIXc series have undergone a
comprehensive enhancement and upgrade, making the brand
even more reputable.

Despite market pressures and intensified competition, the office
lease business continued to lead in the industry with an average
occupancy rate of 75%. The “leading-goose effect” of premium
tenants was further highlighted, with both new and renewed
leasing areas hitting record highs for the Year 2024.

In the context of a reshaped supply and demand landscape, hotel
business continued to optimise its customer base, enhance service
quality and strengthen cost control. The Group achieved a revenue
of RMB2.07 billion for the Year 2024, further consolidating
its regional competitive advantages. In the hotel management
business, the Group officially partnered with Hyatt Hotels
Corporation. 6 Mumian hotels in operations achieved a total
revenue of RMB315 million for the Year 2024. Both our capability
to provide quality services and our brand influence were steadily
improved.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND ASSET
MANAGEMENT BUSINESS (continued)

In asset management business, the assets under the Group’s
management reached RMB462.1 billion. The Group has
successfully built two public REITs platforms, namely ChinaAMC
China Resources Youchao Rental Residential Housing Property
Closed-end Infrastructure Securities Investment Fund (“Youtha
REIT") (fund code: 508077.SH) and China Resources Commercial
Assets Closed-end Infrastructure Securities Investment Fund (“CR
Commercial REIT") (fund code: 180601.5Z), which further refined
the system of “investment, financing, construction, management,
and exit” in the real estate industry. Specifically, CR Commercial
REIT has achieved an EBITDA of RMB351 million for the Year 2024
since its listing on 14 March 2024, with a budget completion
rate of 112%. The fund price has increased by 25.6% (as of 31
December 2024), and the cash dividend for four consecutive
quarters totaled RMB315 million, with an annualized distribution
rate of 5.08%, exceeding the distribution rate disclosed in the
prospectus.

CR MIXC LIFESTYLE

In 2024, China Resources MIXc Lifestyle Services Limited (stock
code: 01209.HK, hereinafter referred to as “CR MIXc Lifestyle”)
remained committed to its strategic positioning and business
model as the industry’s top comprehensive commercial and
urban space operator. CR MIXc Lifestyle achieved a revenue of
RMB17.04 billion, representing a YoY growth of 15.4%, and
a core net profit of RMB3.51 billion, marking a YoY increase
of 20.1%. Its market capitalization and price-to-earnings ratio
remained a market leader, with its competitive edge in the asset-
light management industry further strengthened.

The commercial management business continued to maintain
its industry-leading comprehensive strength. As of the end of
2024, CR MIXc Lifestyle managed 122 operating shopping malls,
including 14 luxury shopping malls. A total of 86 projects ranked
among the top three in local retail sales, further solidifying its
position within the industry.
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CR MIXC LIFESTYLE (continued)

The property management business of CR MIXc Lifestyle
remained in the top tier of the property management industry.
As of the end of 2024, the managed area of CR MIXc Lifestyle
reached 413 million square meters, with a contracted area of
450 million square meters. CR MIXc Lifestyle acquired 91 new
urban public space projects during the Year 2024, accelerating its
transformation into an urban space operator.

The mega membership business of CR MIXc Lifestyle continued
its steady growth, setting new records in both the number
of members and points issued to its members. The frequency
of points redemption increased, which indicated the further
enhancement of engagement of private-domain members. As
of the end of 2024, the total number of MIXC STAR members
reached 61.07 million, reflecting a YoY increase of 32%. The total
amount of MIXC STAR points issued reached RMB1.03 billion,
increased by 15.7% YoY.

THE ECO-SYSTEM ELEMENTARY
BUSINESS

In 2024, the Group’s eco-system elementary business saw a steady
improvement in its development quality and brand influence.

The agency construction business achieved a revenue of
RMB1.18 billion, with a cumulative area under management of
approximately 76 million square meters. The Company ranked
the second in the industry in terms of the contracted area of new
government construction management projects for the Year 2024.
Xi'an Olympic Sports Center was awarded the Zhan Tianyou Civil
Engineering Prize of China, and key construction projects such as
the Greater Bay Area Sports Center in Nansha, Guangzhou have
been successfully completed.

The rental housing business (including asset-light management
projects) achieved a revenue of RMBO0.8 billion. As of the end of
2024, the Group had a total of 45 projects in operation and 64
projects under management respectively, ranking the 9th in the
industry by assets under management. Moreover, “Youtha” (%)
brand was included in the “China’s 500 Most Valuable Brands”
list. Youtha REIT achieved a revenue of RMB79.08 million, with a
YoY increase of 1%, and the EBITDA of RMB50.04 million, with a
YoY increase of 5%. As of 31 December 2024, the post-adjusted
closing price of Youtha REIT was RMB3.142, up 30% from the
issue price.
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THE ECO-SYSTEM ELEMENTARY
BUSINESS (continued)

The sports and cultural venue operation business realised a
revenue of RMB0.78 billion. In Year 2024, the Company newly
secured projects included Xiamen Olympic Sports Center, Sanya
Sports Center and Shenzhen Longgang Vitality Valley, bringing
the total number of managed projects to 17, ranking first in the
industry in terms of the number of managed large-scale sports
venues. Event revenue amounted to RMBO0.13 billion, realizing
profits in the first year of organizing large-scale events.

URBAN INVESTMENT, DEVELOPMENT
AND OPERATION

The Group continues to deepen its strategic positioning as an
urban investor, developer and operator. Taking major projects in
core cities as examples, the Group integrates multiple business
segments and actively explores different development areas
such as district planning, urban renewal, industrial integration
and space operation, so as to form various models for urban
investment, development and operation. In Nanshan, Shenzhen,
a large-scale district comprehensive operation model that
incorporates internal and external urban operation elements,
has been successfully established, forming business segments
such as intelligent operation, cultural activities, business district
coordination and urban space services. On this basis, the Group
has extended its practical experiences nationwide and created the
model of Longgang, Wenzhou with a focus on “new urbanization
construction”, the model of Haitang Bay, Sanya with a focus on
“coordination of cultural, commercial and tourism districts”, and
the model of Shenzhen Universiade with a focus on “construction
and operation of cultural, commercial and sports facilities”. In
addition, the Group continues to promote the implementation
of innovative pilot projects tailored to local conditions, providing
experiential references and exemplary guidance for establishing
new development models for the industry.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, AND
GOVERNANCE (ESG)

In Year 2024, the Group launched the “GROW" ESG brand and
is committed to become a pioneer in ESG governance, a value
creator, and an ecological builder. The Group explored ESG
development pathways in the real estate sector, and co-authored
the Guidelines for Sustainable Development Reports of Chinese
Enterprises 6.0 and the real estate industry guidelines. The Group
actively promoted “dual-carbon” initiatives. Xi'an MIXc reduced
carbon emission intensity by 27.16% by adopting various energy-
saving building technologies, becoming the first shopping mall to
achieve zero carbon electricity usage upon opening and receiving
“Low Carbon Building” design certification. The Group also
actively contributed to community welfare and supported rural
revitalization, with 16,800 participants took part in volunteer
services within the Year 2024 and the completion of 13 China
Resources Hope Towns and one Hope Village. Upholding the
principle of “meeting the housing needs of all people”, the
Group constructed 19.15 million square meters of affordable
housing. During the Year 2024, it was selected for the Hang Seng
Sustainable Development Benchmark Index and the Hang Seng
ESG 50 Index, earned a four-star rating in the Global Real Estate
Sustainability Benchmark (GRESB), and ranked seventh on the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission’s
“Top 100 Central Enterprises in ESG” list and tenth on CCTV’s
“Top 100 Chinese ESG Listed Companies” list.

FINANCIAL STABILITY

The Group adhered to the principle of increasing revenue and
reducing expenses to align expenditures with income, strictly
sticking to the bottom line of cash flow safety. Cash reserves at
the end of the year increased 16.5% YoY to RMB133.21 billion,
with the total interest-bearing gearing ratio and net gearing ratio
both remaining at industry-low levels, and the overall weighted
average financing cost hitting a historic low. Standard & Poor’s,
Moody's and Fitch maintained the Company’s best credit ratings
in the industry at “BBB+", “Baal”, and “BBB+" respectively.

At present, China’s economic development is at a critical stage of
breakthrough in the transformation of old and new energy. In the
short term, although market confidence is gradually recovering,
the real estate sector continues to face numerous challenges.
In the medium to long term, with the accelerated reduction of
restrictive measures, the gradual restoration of market confidence,
and the rapid establishment of a new development model for the
real estate industry, the sector is expected to stabilize and recover.
This will pave the way for a dynamic rebalancing between supply
and demand, ushering in a new cycle of high-quality real estate
development.
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FINANCIAL STABILITY (continued)

The Group will adhere to its long-term approach, maintain
strategic focus, and actively seize opportunities arising from
the reshaping of the competitive landscape for counter-cyclical
expansion. We will capitalize on the optimization of policies to
revitalize existing assets, leverage the “breakthrough” in public
REITs to drive significant growth in asset management, and
embrace the opportunities presented by the construction of new
industry development models for comprehensive urban operations.
By acting in a timely manner and aligning with prevailing trends,
the Group will drive progress through reform and innovation,
with full value chain organizational capability as its foundation.
By leveraging structural adjustments to build distinct competitive
advantages, we are accelerating our growth into a leading urban
investment, development, and operations enterprise with industry-
leading strength and world-class excellence.

Looking ahead to 2025, the Group will firmly grasp policy
opportunities, navigate market cycles by optimizing new
assets and unlocking the value of existing ones, and steadily
strengthen its industry position and growth quality. For the
investment property business, it will implement lean management,
continuously enhance the value of assets, and comprehensively
deploy the asset management business, accelerating the
consolidation and development of a “second growth curve”. CR
MIXc Lifestyle will adhere to the double objective of “internal
growth + external expansion” to consolidate its leading position in
the industry. For the eco-system elementary business, the Group
will further improve the quality of development and enhance its
industry influence. Aligning with our strategic positioning as an
“urban investor, developer and operator”, the Group will drive the
seamless implementation of the “3+1" integrated business model
across regional companies. By accelerating establishment of a
new framework for the systematic, professional, and collaborative
development of core business operations, the Group will enhance
overall competitiveness and elevate value creation to new heights.

We will pursue sustainable development, work hand in hand with
partners, continue to optimize the quality of our products and
services, and strive to create long-term and stable investment
returns for investors, so as to achieve the organic unity of
economic efficiency and social benefits.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express heartfelt
gratitude to our Shareholders, customers, suppliers, employees
and all sectors of society for their continuous attention, support,
and trust in the Group.
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REVIEW OF REVENUE AND PROFIT
PERFORMANCE

1.

REVENUE AND CORE NET PROFIT

In Year 2024, China’s economy gradually stabilised
with sustained policy support, advancing high-quality
development to a new stage. The real estate market entered
a structural recovery phase after profound adjustments, while
consumer markets maintained stable volume with continued
optimisation in retail structure, though it will take time to
achieve a full recovery. Amidst industry transformation,
the Group remained committed to long-termism and risk
resilience, accelerating new development models. Through
multiple initiatives including expediting inventory clearance,
maintaining effective investments, strictly controlling debt
levels, and continuously enhancing cost efficiency, the Group
ensured stable overall performance for the year. For the Year
2024, the Group achieved total comprehensive revenue
of RMB278.8 billion, with a YoY increase of 11.0%. The
core net profit reached RMB25.42 billion, reflecting a slight
YoY decrease of 8.5%. Notably, recurring business revenue
recorded growth of 6.6% YoY, and accounted for 14.9%
of the total revenue, becoming an even more significant
second growth curve of the Company. Correspondingly, the
profit contribution from recurring business increased by 6.3
percentage points YoY to 40.7%, strengthening the Group’s
sustainable profitability and laying a solid foundation for
stable long-term development.

X8 Eli4-4 1A Y- ) G4 i
YoY Core ()

Business Revenue Change Percentage Net Profit Change Percentage

ARETET % % TR % %

RMB billion % % RWMB billion % %

ARBHERER A. Property Development Business 3115 +11.8% 85.1% 15.08 17.2% 59.3%

BARMRE B. Recurring Business 4165 +6.6% 149% 1034 +8.2% 40.7%

(VEEETHEEE (1) Investment Property Business 2330 +48% 84% 856 49.1% 33.7%

QEEEEREH (2) Asset-ight Management Business 1213 +14.0% 43% 118 +21.7% 47%

PEEBEZHEK (3) Eco-system Elementary Business 6.22 +0.5% 22% 060 -188% 23%

ait Total 278.80 +11.0% 100.0% 2542 -8.5% 100.0%
Miet: ERFBETEFRADLEFTELHE - Note: Certain figures and percentage figures included in the above table have been

subject to rounding adjustments.
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REVIEW OF REVENUE AND PROFIT
PERFORMANCE (continued)
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GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS MARGIN

In Year 2024, the Group achieved gross profit of RMB60.33
billion, with a comprehensive GPM of 21.6%, representing
a decrease of 3.6 percentage points YoY. During the Year
2024, the GPM of our development property business
was 16.8%, showing an improvement over the first half
2024 GPM. The GPM of the investment property business
increased by 0.4 percentage point YoY to 70.0%. The
improvement in operational efficiency of CR MIXc Lifestyle
led to a YoY increase of 1.1 percentage points in GPM to
32.9%.

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES AND
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In Year 2024, the Group maintained an efficient and lean
organizational operation with selling and marketing expenses
of RMB7.79 billion, accounting for a 0.1 percentage
point YoY decrease to 2.8% of revenue. General and
administrative expenses were RMB6.00 billion, accounting
for a 0.5 percentage point YoY decrease to 2.2% of revenue.

SHARE OF PROFITS OF INVESTMENTS IN
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

In Year 2024, the Group's share of profits of investments
in associates and joint ventures totaled RMBO0.39 billion,
representing a decrease of RMB1.97 billion YoY.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Income tax expenses include enterprise income tax (including
deferred taxation) and land appreciation tax. In Year 2024,
the Group's income tax expenses were RMB24.55 billion,
down 15.7% YoY.



FEEBRE M REVIEW OF MAIN BUSINESSES

1. BIRHERXEK 1. DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS
FHHIERE Review of Contracted Sales
“ECNF AEBEERFLHIBA Contracted sales for the Year 2024 were RMB261.1 billion,
E®2,611187T AL TE15% - down by 15% YoY, and contracted gross floor area (“GFA")
ERFHNEE1,134BF 5K Akt decreased by 13.3% YoY to 11.34 million square meters.
A 13.3% e
AEE-_ZT_MFRRFARBEL The Group'’s contracted sales and contracted GFA breakdown
BREBEAEBFR IR by region in 2024 is set out in the table below:
BHHE BHNEE
Contracted Sales Contracted GFA
ARBTTT % TR %
RMB’000 % Neln %
2PN Shenzhen Region 38,207,572 14.6% 1,713,792 15.1%
EEAR South China Region 32,160,040 12.3% 1,188,917 10.5%
PR ER KR Midwest China Region 62,301,730 23.9% 3,180,187 28.0%
ER AR East China Region 73,444,069 281% 2,410,112 21.3%
si DN North China Region 48,392,124 18.6% 2,823,858 24.9%
/N Hong Kong Region 6,594,466 2.5% 19,744 0.2%
CE Total 261,100,001 100.0% 11,336,610 100.0%
HERREE Review of Recognised Revenue
TENF  AEEERREYE Development property recognised revenue for the Year 2024
HEEEBEARK23715ET A of RMB237.15 billion, representing an increase of 11.8%
LE3EIN11.8% + 4 FE HEAE 1,065 & F YoY, and booked GFA decreased by 10.0% YoY to 10.65
7oK B4 10.0% ° million square meters.
AEB _ZT_MFLEEXHLE The Group's revenue and booked GFA breakdown by region
EEEREEKAT in 2024 is listed as below:
HEEXR HEERE
Revenue GFA Booked
AR T T 5K
RMB'000 Sgm
2l N Shenzhen Region 30,872,772 13.0% 1,167,656 10.9%
EEAR South China Region 19,093,131 8.1% 774,244 7.3%
GbiE (N Midwest China Region 56,294,663 23.7% 3,684,654 34.6%
e N East China Region 75,895,467 32.0% 2,469,533 23.2%
b K& North China Region 54,995,602 23.2% 2,556,669 24.0%
a5 Total 237,151,635 100.0% 10,652,756 100.0%

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited 031
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REVIEW OF MAIN BUSINESSES (continued)
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DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS (continued)
Review of Contracted Sales (continued)

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had unbooked
contracted sales of RMB231.97 billion which will be
recognised as future development property revenue. Of this,
it is estimated that approximately RMB193.47 billion may
be recognised in 2025 based on construction and delivery
schedules, providing a solid foundation for the Company’s
development property business in 2025.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS

In 2024, revenue from the investment property business
reached RMB23.30 billion, representing a YoY increase of
4.8%.

Shopping Malls

In Year 2024, the revenue from shopping malls of the Group
increased by 8.4% YoY to RMB19.35 billion. The occupancy
rate increased by 0.6 percentage point YoY to 97.1%. The
total carrying value of the Group’s shopping malls was
RMB212.99 billion after a revaluation gain of RMB8.94
billion, which is primarily attributed to good performance
of certain projects, and accounted for 18.9% of the
Group’s total assets. As at the end of 2024, the total GFA
of shopping malls increased by 19.0% YoY to 11.46 million
square meters, while the attributable GFA was 8.6 million
square meters. The Group opened 16 new shopping malls,
bringing the total number of operating shopping malls to 92.

Offices

In Year 2024, the Group recorded total revenue of RMB1.88
billion from office rental, representing a YoY decrease of
8.7%. The occupancy rate decreased by 6.9 percentage
points YoY to 75%. The total carrying value of the Group's
offices was RMB38.42 billion after revaluation, accounting
for 3.4% of the Group's total assets. As at the end of 2024,
the total GFA of offices increased by 16.2% YoY to 1.46
million square meters, while the attributable GFA was 1.1
million square meters. The Group opened 3 new office
buildings, bringing the total number of operating office
buildings to 23.
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REVIEW OF MAIN BUSINESSES (continued)

2.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS (continued)
Hotels

In Year 2024, the Group achieved a total revenue of
RMB2.07 billion from hotel operations, representing a
YoY decrease of 10.8%. The average occupancy rate of
the hotels of the Group increased by 0.9 percentage point
YoY to 64.2%. The book value of the Group’s hotels in
operation was RMB11.78 billion (including land use rights),
accounting for 1.0% of the Group’s total assets. As of
Year 2024, the total GFA of hotels was 0.78 million square
meters, decreasing by 5.2% YoY, while the attributable GFA
was 0.63 million square meters. The Group has 17 hotels in
operation, with a total of 4,995 rooms.

Details of the Group's key investment properties opened in
2024 are listed below:

FkE FE4h

rEH HE EBEEE

FrE s ™ Rl (F 5 K) (7 K)

Interest Total Attributable

Attributable GFA GFA

City to the Group (Sgqm) (Sgm)

HB &R 15% 147,759 22,163
Handan

98,109 14,716

49,650 7,447

EWES 100% 365,291 365,291
Wuhan

267,811 267,811

97,480 97,480
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BRI (4) REVIEW OF MAIN BUSINESSES (continued)
2. REMTBEEK(E) 2. INVESTMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS (continued)
BIE (&) Hotels (continued)
mEE PE1h
rEH EE EEEE
L ELE B L A (FFK) (FFHXK)
Interest Total Attributable
Investment Attributable GFA GFA
Property to the Group (Sqm) (Sqm)
BB ERE e 50% 199,273 99,637
Hefei Baohe MIXc One Hefei
Hr - EES 145,829 72,915
Comprising: Commercial
(B 53,444 26,722
Carpark
BB R B 100% 217,729 217,729
Changzhou MIXc Changzhou
He - EES 143,179 143,179
Comprising: Commercial
1=E5 74,550 74,550
Carpark
IERAILLHEBERE ol 97 100% 66,718 66,718
Beijing Xibeiwang MIXc One Beijing
Hr - EES 66,718 66,718
Comprising: Commercial
485 R B = 16.7% 148,535 24,805
Tongxiang MIXc One Jiaxing
He: EES 97,715 16,318
Comprising: Commercial
(=5 50,820 8,487
Carpark
EE B RN E5 100% 233,766 233,766
Guiyang MIXc Guiyang
He: SES 154,923 154,923
Comprising: Commercial
(=5 78,843 78,843
Carpark
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EEEHK SN () REVIEW OF MAIN BUSINESSES (continued)

2. REMTHERK (B 2. INVESTMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS (continued)
B IE (&) Hotels (continued)
BmEE FEA
rEH H & EEER
MEERB Fr7EH ™ AR LBl (FFFK) (FFK)
Interest Total Attributable
Investment Attributable GFA GFA
Property City to the Group (Sqm) (Sgm)
BESXRIH B85 95% 116,441 110,619
Yiwu Place Yiwu
Hep: EES 63,780 60,591
Comprising: Commercial
BE5 52,661 50,028
Carpark
RN B RE | 50% 148,231 74,116
Beijing Tongzhou MIXc One Beijing
Hep: EES 114,031 57,016
Comprising: Commercial
BE5 34,200 17,100
Carpark
AR B K 30, i 50% 89,900 44,950
Shaoxing Place Shaoxing
Hep: EES 51,600 25,800
Comprising: Commercial
(B 38,300 19,150
Carpark
BEERE BE 36% 105,163 37,859
Jining MIXc One Jining
Hep: EES 79,764 28,715
Comprising: Commercial
BES 25,399 9,144
Carpark
2 &R A% 70% 261,936 183,355
Xi'an MIXc Xi‘an
Hep: EES 155,000 108,500
Comprising: Commercial
BES 106,936 74,855
Carpark

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited 035
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BRI (4) REVIEW OF MAIN BUSINESSES (continued)
2. REMNTHERK (B 2. INVESTMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS (continued)
B IE (&) Hotels (continued)
mEE FEA
rEH H & EEER
E SR FrEH ™ 5B L (FFK) (FFHXK)
Interest Total Attributable
Investment Attributable GFA GFA
Property City to the Group (Sgm) (Sgm)
R R E /N R il 50% 62,199 31,099
Shenzhen Brewtown Shenzhen
Hep: EES 42,638 21,319
Comprising: Commercial
BE5 19,561 9,780
Carpark
LB 297 100% 255,000 255,000
Changsha MIXc Changsha
Hep: [ES 174,000 174,000
Comprising: Commercial
BE5 81,000 81,000
Carpark
BES
Carpark
SR E R E pIEE] 51% 89,938 45,868
Shantou MIXc Shantou
One
Hep: EES 50,825 25,921
Comprising: Commercial
BE5 39,113 19,947
Carpark
ARMESERKM MR 55% 168,783 92,831
Nanjing Yuhua MIXc World Nanjing
Hep: EES 121,000 66,550
Comprising: Commercial
BE5 47,783 26,281
Carpark
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EEEHK SN () REVIEW OF MAIN BUSINESSES (continued)

2. REMIHEXK (E) 2. INVESTMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS (continued)
B IE (48) Hotels (continued)
mEE G
rEH H*& EEER
MEER B 2 30 ¥R I (7 3K) (F 7 3K)
Interest Total Attributable
Investment Attributable GFA GFA
Property City to the Group (Sqm) (Sgm)
BB OT H 89% 97,255 86,557
Jinan CRL Center T1 Jinan
Hp BTig 97,255 86,557
Comprising: Office
R 2 AL B 33.3% 28,060 9,352
Ningbo Xinghu Center Ningbo
Hrep BTig 28,060 9,352
Comprising: Office
BREBEEEERTT L RE 52.6% 78,172 41,140
Xiong'an CR Green Building Baoding
Exhibition Center
Hrp BTig 78,172 41,140

Comprising: Office

s 2,880,149 2,042,855
Total
He: [GES 1,826,922 1,304,992
Comprising: = Commercial
FES 849,740 600,814
Carpark
BFE 203,487 137,049
Office

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited 037
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ASSET-LIGHT MANAGEMENT BUSINESS

In Year 2024, the revenue of the Group’s asset-light
management business was RMB12.13 billion, mainly
contributed by income from CR MIXc Lifestyle (excluding
intra-group business), a listed subsidiary of the Group,
which specializes in asset-light management services.
Throughout the Year 2024, the commercial management
business and property management business of CR MIXc
Lifestyle achieved stable growth amidst challenging market
environment. As of 31 December 2024, the commercial
management business had 122 projects under management,
including 26 projects providing management services to third
parties, which demonstrates an ongoing enhancement of
brand competitiveness. The Group’s property management
business covered 173 cities nationwide, with a managed
contracted area of 450 million square meters, representing
an increase of 5.9% from the year end of 2023. During the
Year 2024, CR MIXc Lifestyle's revenue increased by 15.4%
YoY to RMB17.04 billion, of which RMB10.71 billion was
from property management services, and RMB6.27 billion
was from commercial management business.

ECO-SYSTEM ELEMENTARY BUSINESS

In Year 2024, the Group's eco-system elementary business
achieved a revenue of RMB6.22 billion. Among them, the
construction business generated a revenue of RMB2.73
billion, while the revenue from agent construction and
operation and leasing apartment reached RMB1.96 billion
and RMBO0.50 billion, respectively.
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“ENF o AEBLNEME AR In 2024, the Group acquired 29 high-quality land parcels with
7758180 (FEZF B AR 5265(87C) a total land premium of RMB77.58 billion (attributable land
Wi T2OREE L E o MG A5 premium of RMB52.65 billion), adding a total GFA of 3.93 million
REEMMEEINBEF K -EE_-ZT square meters. As of 31 December 2024, the Group's total land
“WFE+-_A=+—H AEBEL LT bank GFA reached 51.94 million square meters.
EEEERS1948FHK -

1. V¥R 1. DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

HE_ZT-_NF+_A=1+—8" As of 31 December 2024, the Group's land bank for
AEEMERZTLIHHEEEER development properties amounted to 43.90 million square
4,3908 ¥ 75 oK - #E % 18 743,054 meters, with an attributable GFA of 30.54 million square
BF K meters.

MERE T FEREA D MHAMADT - Details of land bank for development properties by regions
are set out below:

MEEER HEZEEER

Total Attributable

Regions GFA GFA

(F75K) (75 K)

(Sqm) (Sgm)

IRYIK & Shenzhen Region 6,746,524 3,936,104
EEKE South China Region 6,246,413 4,180,703
itk N Midwest China Regions 13,775,636 10,654,956
EH KR East China Region 7,064,078 4,561,146
3l N North China Region 9,844,752 7,097,967
BEBAT] Hong Kong Region 226,986 107,758
&ast Total 43,904,389 30,538,634

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited 039
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s land bank for
investment properties amounted to 8.04 million square
meters, with an attributable area of 5.73 million square
meters. Among which, the land bank for commercial
properties accounted for 5.52 million square meters,
representing 68.7% of the total. The Group has 35 shopping
malls under planning and construction, with a strategic
focus on key cities such as Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen,
Guangzhou, Hangzhou and Nanjing.

Details of land bank for investment properties by asset
category are set out below:

MEREMEE EREEmE

Total Attributable

Products GFA GFA

(7 K) (7 %K)

(Sgm) (Sgm)

WEEEE Total GFA 8,037,714 5,732,157
He g Comprising: Commercial 5,522,510 3,905,944
BTE Office 1,387,228 1,013,414

B Hotel 771,806 601,480

NG Apartment 283,529 182,263

E Industrial Park 72,641 29,056

040
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This land bank has further solidified the foundation for the
sustained growth of the Group’s businesses. Going forward,
the Group will continue to adhere to a prudent investment
strategy, optimizing structure, investment pace and regional
exposure, whilst focusing on key cities and effectively
investing to achieve incremental growth, while ensuring
financial stability and strictly adhering to financial return
targets.
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GEARING RATIO

As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s total outstanding
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB259.78
billion, with cash and bank balances totaling approximately
RMB133.21 billion. The net interest-bearing debt-to-equity
ratio (including non-controlling interests) was 31.9% as
at 31 December 2024, reducing by 0.7 percentage point
compared to 32.6% as at the end of 2023, which is amongst
the lowest in the industry.

FINANCING COSTS

As of 31 December 2024, approximately 27% of the
Group's interest-bearing debt will mature within one year,
with the remainder being long-term interest-bearing debt.
The Group maintained its financing costs at the lowest level
in the industry, with a weighted average financing cost of
approximately 3.11% as of 31 December 2024, a decrease
of 45 basis points compared to 3.56% at the end of year
2023.

OPEN MARKET FINANCING

To support the Group’s business activities, financing channels
expansion, and financing costs reduction, the Group raised
approximately RMB12.0 billion in 2024 through the issuance
of super short-term commercial papers. The coupon rates of
these instruments ranged from 1.98% to 2.38%.

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited 041
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K - pE RAMERBE  LEVERAGE RATIO, FINANCING,
B () AND FORFIGN EXCHANGE RISK
MANAGEMENT (continued)
3. AMMmERME (&) 3. OPEN MARKET FINANCING (continued)
AEE-_ZT_MFEFLAFAMBS/MER The details of the Group’s open market financings in Year
IR 2024 are set out as follows:

HETR/4E WE Emth £ RERE EEEE AR SENE

Financing Entity/Asset Currency  Product Name Amount  Value Date ETELS Tenure  Coupon Rate

(&R (%) )
(Million) (Year) )

ZEEUARERAA AE®  BEHRES 1,000 202432 2024/9/13 05 238
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Super short-term

commercial papers
ERENERERAT ARE  BRERES 1,000 20243722 20040913 05 238
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Super short-term

commercial papers
ZRENERERAT AR%®  BEHRES 1,000 202453122 2004913 05 238
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Super short-term

commercial papers
ZHEMERARAT AR%  BEERES 1,000 20244115 20241101 05 221
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Super short-term

commercial papers
FHENERARAA AE%  BESRES 1,000 2024/415 20041011 05 221
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Super short-term

commercial papers
FREHARERAA AR BESRES 1,000 2024/4126 20241018 05 198
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Super short-term

commercial papers
FEENERARAA AR®  BRERES 2000 20041080 202577125 075 228
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Super short-term

commercial papers
FREHARERAA ARE  BREHES 1,000 202411030 202577125 0.75 228
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Super short-term

commercial papers

ZRENERARAT ARE  BEHRES 2000 20421 20250818 0.75 220
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Super short-term

commercial papers
EHERERERAA ARE  BEHEES 1,000 2024/11721 2025/8/18 0.75 219

China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Super short-term
commercial papers

At
Total 12,000

042 —= =% ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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4. CREDIT RATINGS

In Year 2024, the three international rating agencies,
Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s, and Fitch, maintained the
Company'’s credit ratings at “BBB+", “Baal”, and “BBB+",
respectively.

5. ASSET MORTGAGES

As of 31 December 2024, the Group has total facilities under
mortgage amounting to RMB125.0 billion. The outstanding
loan balances drawn under these facilities were RMB89.1
billion, and the loan terms ranged from 1.2 to 23 years.

6. EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION RISK

In Year 2024, the Group actively reduced its exchange rate
exposure. As of 31 December 2024, the exposure ratio
decreased to 3.9%. The Group’s overall foreign exchange
risk is manageable, and RMB exchange rate fluctuations
will not have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
condition. Additionally, the Group implements dynamic
monitoring of foreign exchange risk exposure and will make
necessary adjustments based on changes in the market
environment.

7. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provides interim guarantees to banks for
mortgage loans obtained by buyers of certain of our
properties. The banks will release these guarantees upon
the issuance of property ownership certificates or upon the
completion of mortgage loans by such property buyers,
whichever occurs earlier. The Board believes that the fair
value of these financial guarantee contracts is not significant.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any significant
investment in equity interest in any other companies.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures for the year ended 31
December 2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have plans for material investments and capital
assets as at 31 December 2024.

EMPLOYEE AND COMPENSATION
POLICIES

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 65,785
employees in Mainland China and Hong Kong. The Group
determines employee compensation based on performance, work
experience and market salary levels. Additionally, discretionary
performance bonuses are provided, and other employee benefits
include provident fund contributions, insurance coverage, and
medical plans.

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited 043
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Mr. Li Xin, aged 53

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed
as a Co-president of the Company in July 2016,
and was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company in April 2017, and was appointed
as the President of the Company in December
2018, and was appointed as the Chairman of
the Board in May 2022. He is also the Chairman
of the Executive Committee, the Sustainability
Committee (formerly known as Corporate Social
Responsibility Committee (“CSR Committee”))
and the Nomination Committee, and a member
of the Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company. In August 2020, Mr. Li was appointed
as the Chairman and a non-executive director of
CR Mixc Lifestyle (Stock Code: 1209.HK), which
is a subsidiary of the Company and listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Li
also serves as the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the Sustainability Committee,
and a member of the Remuneration Committee
of CR Mixc Lifestyle. Mr. Li is also a director of a
number of other subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Li has a Bachelor’s degree of Management
from Dongbei University of Finance & Economics
and a Master of Science degree in Project
Management from Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Li has extensive experience
in property management and corporate
management. He joined China Resources Group
in 1994, and had worked for China Resources
Property Management Limited.
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EHEMWARAT  China Resources Land Limited

Mr. Xu Rong, aged 56

joined the Company in January 2023 and was
appointed as the vice president of the Company.
He was appointed as an executive Director and
a member of the executive committee of the
Company in October 2024, and was appointed
as a President and member of the Sustainability
Committee (formerly known as CSR Committee)
of the Company in December 2024. He is also
a director of a number of subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Xu had worked at the Shenzhen
Planning and Land Resources Committee,
China Merchants Group, and Shenzhen Qianhai
Shekou Free Trade Investment Development
Co., Ltd., with extensive experience in urban
planning, development and construction and
urban redevelopment management.

Mr. Xu holds a Bachelor’s degree in Architecture
and a Master’s degree in Architecture Design
from Huazhong Institute of Technology (later
renamed as Huazhong University of Science
and Technology). He is also a senior engineer in
urban and rural planning.
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Mr. Zhang Dawei, aged 56

joined the Company in 2006 and was appointed
as a Co-president of the Company in July 2016,
and he was appointed as an executive Director
in April 2017, and was appointed as the Vice
Chairman of the Board of the Company in
December 2018 and was appointed as the Chief
Product Officer of the Company in August 2023.
He is also a member of the Executive Committee
of the Company. Mr. Zhang is also a director of
a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhang has a Bachelor’s degree of Structural
Engineering and a Master’'s degree of
Earthquake Engineering from Dalian University
of Technology, and an EMBA degree from China
Europe International Business School in China.
Mr. Zhang has extensive experience in property
management and corporate management.
Mr. Zhang joined China Resources Group in
1994, and had worked for China Resources
Construction Co., Limited.
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Mr. Guo Shiqing, aged 55

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed
as a Deputy General Manager of the Northeast
Region of the Company in August 2017,
taking charge of the finance department, and
General Manager of Finance Department of
the Company in October 2018. He was then
appointed as the Chief Financial Officer in June
2020. Mr. Guo was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company and a member of
Executive Committee of the Company in
December 2020 and was appointed as the
Board Secretary of the Company in December
2022. Mr. Guo was also appointed as a non-
executive director and a member of the audit
committee of CR Mixc Lifestyle (Stock Code:
1209.HK) in August 2020, which is a subsidiary
of the Company and listed on the Main Board
of Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He is
also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Guo graduated in Accounting from Xiamen
University in 1994 and has extensive experience
in real estate management and finance
management.
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Mr. Chen Wei, aged 40

joined the Company in December 2020 and
was appointed as the General Manager of
the Operation Management Department.
In March 2023, he was appointed as a Vice
President of the Company, and was appointed
as an executive Director and the Chief
Operating Officer of the Company in March
2024. He is also a member of the Executive
Committee of the Company. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Chen served in positions
including general manager of Development
Management Department of Sino-Ocean Land
Holdings Limited (later renamed as Sino-Ocean
Group Holding Limited (Stock Code: 3377.
HK, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange)), general manager of its Tianjin
Company, general manager of its Development
Business Division |, and the vice president of
Sino-Ocean Group Holding Limited. He is also
a director of China Resources Material And
Equipment E-Commerce Co., Ltd. (EM & T &
% ABR A A)), a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Engineering Management from Chongging
University and a Master's degree in Management
Science and Engineering from Tsinghua
University’s Department of Civil Engineering.
He has extensive experience in property
development and corporate management.
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Mr. Huang Ting, aged 55

is designated external director of business
unit at China Resources Group. Mr. Huang
was appointed as a non-executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee of
the Company in September 2023. He joined
China Resources Corporation in 1992 (now
known as China Resources Company Limited
("CRCL", together with subsidiaries “China
Resources Group”) and in July 2003, he joined
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (now
known as China Resources Building Materials
Technology Holdings Company Limited, Stock
Code: 1313.HK). From January 2014 to June
2023, he served as the vice president of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited, during
which time he also held the position of chief
financial officer at China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited.

Mr. Huang obtained a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from Xiamen University, China in
1992. He has over twenty years of experience in
corporate management.
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Mr. Wei Chenglin, aged 61

is an external director of business unit of China
Resources Group. Mr. Wei was appointed as
a non-executive Director of the Company and
a member of the Sustainability Committee
(formerly known as CSR Committee) of the
Company in May 2024. He joined China
Resources Group in 2020 and has served
as a vice president of China Resources
Pharmaceutical Group Limited (the shares of
which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, stock code: 3320) and the chief
representative of China Resources Group in
Beijing. Prior to that, Mr. Wei formerly served
as the Deputy Director of the Beijing Municipal
Planning Bureau, Deputy Director of the Beijing
Municipal Planning Commission, Deputy
Director of the Beijing Municipal Transportation
Committee, Deputy Secretary-General of the
Beijing Municipal Government, the Director of
Beijing Municipal Land Bureau, the Director of
Beijing Municipal Commission of Planning and
Land Resources Management, and the First
Inspector of the General Office of the People’s
Government of Beijing Municipality.

Mr. Wei holds a master’s degree in Architectural
Design Theory and Engineering from Beijing
Institute of Civil Engineering and Architecture
and a master’s degree in Public Administration
from Peking University in cooperation with
the National Academy of Governance. He
has extensive experience in government and
corporate management, architectural design
and urban planning.
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ZEHEM AP AF  China Resources Land Limited

Mr. Zhong Wei, aged 56

was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2017. He
is also a member of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Sustainability Committee
(formerly known as CSR Committee) of the
Company. Mr. Zhong has been a professor
at the Department of Economics at Beijing
Normal University since 2003. Prior to that, Mr.
Zhong had served as an associate professor at
Department of Economics at Beijing Normal
University from 1999 to 2003. Mr. Zhong
worked as a lecturer at the Business School of
Jiangnan University from July 1994 to July 1997.
Mr. Zhong also served as an assistant engineer
at Wuxi Alarm Devices Factory from July 1990
to July 1992. Mr. Zhong graduated from
Nanjing University in 1990 majoring in applied
physics and from Southeast University in 1994
majoring in industrial economics management.
Mr. Zhong received his Doctor’s degree in 1999
from Beijing Normal University majoring in
international economics. Between September
2001 and July 2004, Mr. Zhong engaged
in postdoctoral research in management
science at Tongji University. Mr. Zhong was an
independent director of Dongxing Securities
Company Limited (Stock Code: 601198.SH, the
shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange). Currently, Mr. Zhong serves as an
independent non-executive director of Seazen
Group Limited (Stock Code: 1030.HK), China
Jinmao Holdings Group Limited (Stock Code:
817.HK) and Yunnan Water Investment Co.,
Limited (Stock Code: 6839.HK), the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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BREXE HFATNE Mr. Sun Zhe, aged 59

R-ZZE—+FAEZETAEZARZLA wasappointed as an independent non-executive
Tﬁiiﬁﬂﬁ%% Hﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ Director of the Company in April 2017. He
KARIEZZES HMMZEZEE s also a member of the Audit Committee,
LA EEREZE (HI fB{>%  Remuneration Committee and Sustainability
HEETZESR) 52 8 o S E  Committee (formerly known as CSR Committee)
RAETMEERERHIEFBE  of the Company. Mr. Sun is currently the co-
T lﬁf’%ﬁﬁ%iﬁ@ﬁ?ﬁkﬂlﬁ director of China Program and senior visiting
SR EEE - HFR _ZFZTNF scholar at the School of International and
ET-RNELEIPEEARESD  Public Affairs of Columbia University. He is the
EEPRLIETBEEARERE  founding director of the Center for U.S.-China
FIRERF T PTEUE - [ A BRI o Relations at Tsinghua University and was a
R Z Al HER-_ZTZEZFEZE professor of International Affairs and doctoral
“ETRNFREMEEBRKREZEEM  supervisor of Tsinghua University from 2006
FTARLDHENEIET - HEES  to 2016. Prior to that, he was a professor and
fatbas KE R W55 T #1278 deputy director of the Center for American
Ramapo CollegefE# > &L £ %  Studies at Fudan University from 2000 to
TH=MEBELRBUAKRFERB 2006. Mr. Sun has taught at the East Asian
BEBNEERER -FELED Institute of Columbia University and Ramapo
AR —NANEFER—NANANLFE  College, New Jersey. He is the author and
BEBREXBES RIETE(L - editor of twenty three books on comparative
PR —ZEEZFEEEMELgE A politics and U.S.-China relations. Mr. Sun
BHBAREE LB - k4 I8 obtained a Bachelor's and a Master’s degree in
R—=NUNZFEENELZHMZ  law from Fudan University in 1987 and 1989
REBPCREEZEE T2 - R respectively and obtained a Doctor’s degree in
HEIRBISIEREEBR AR (& political science from Columbia University in
AR 1691 HK » # Z IR ZEH 2000. He also obtained a Master of Art degree
SR ET) 2B IEITE S 0 majoring in political science from Indiana State

BR-ZZE-—_FWMAZ - == University in 1992. Mr. Sun currently serves as
F+ AHBRZAREMTIEHRTT  an independent non-executive director of JS
BB - Global Lifestyle Company Limited (Stock Code:

1691.HK, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange), in which he served as a non-
executive director from April 2022 to July 2023.
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ZEHEM AP AF  China Resources Land Limited

Mr. Frank Chan Fan, ass, /r, aged 67

was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company in July
2023. He also serves as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, a member of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Corporate Governance Committee of
the Company. Mr. Chan is also an independent
non-executive director, the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of the
audit committee, nomination committee and
the sustainability committee of China State
Construction International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 3311.HK, shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange). Mr. Chan is
currently a Hong Kong Deputy to the National
People’s Congress, a Vice President of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers, a member of the
Court and Council of the University of Hong
Kong, an Honorary Professor of the Education
University of Hong Kong and an Honorary
Advisor of the Hong Kong Federation of
Electrical and Mechanical Contractors. Mr. Chan
is the Founding Chairman of the Association
for Engineering and Medical Volunteer Services,
a Member of the Advisory Committee for
Innovation and Technology for Aging of the
Hong Kong Council of Social Service, and the
Vice-Chairman of Admissions, Budgets and
Allocations Committee of The Community Chest
of Hong Kong.
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From July 2017 to June 2022, Mr. Chan was
the former Secretary for Transport and Housing
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region government, overseeing policy and
strategy, development and implementation
of housing, logistics, air services, land and
maritime transport, the Chairman of the Hong
Kong Housing Authority, the Hong Kong
Maritime and Port Board, the Hong Kong
Logistics Development Council and the Aviation
Development and Three-runway System
Advisory Committee; and a non-executive
director of MTR Corporation Limited (Stock
Code: 66.HK, the shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange) while serving as a board
member of the Airport Authority Hong Kong
and the Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation
Limited. Prior to that, Mr. Chan was the Director
of Electrical and Mechanical Services of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
government, spearheading policy initiatives and
law enforcement on energy efficiency and safety
of railway, tramway, ropeway, gas, electricity,
lift, escalator and nuclear power; and providing
professional advice and engineering services. He
was the Steering Committee Chairman of the
Growing Partners Project, the Vice-Chairman
(Admission, Budget and Allocation Committee)
of the Hong Kong Community Chest, the Vice-
Chairman of the Engineers Registration Board,
the Chairman of Electronics Division and a
Council Member of the Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers.

Mr. Chan is a Fellow of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers and an Honorary Fellow
of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers,
United Kingdom. He received his Bachelor in
Science (Engineering) and Master in Business
Management from the University of Hong
Kong, and Master in Medical Physics from
the University of Aberdeen, United Kingdom.
He attended the Advanced Management
Programme at the Harvard Business School,
Strategic Management of Regulatory and
Enforcement Agencies at the Harvard Kennedy
School, National Studies at the Tsinghua
University and the Chinese Academy of
Governance.
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Mr. Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln, j», aged 64

was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company in July 2023.
He also serves as the chairman of the Audit
Committee, and a member of the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company. Mr. Leong is a chartered accountant
and has extensive experience in the commerce
and investment banking industries. He is an
independent non-executive director and a
member of the audit committee of Standard
Chartered Plc (the shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2888.HK)
and the London Stock Exchange (Stock Symbol:
STAN)), an independent non-executive director
and the chairman of the audit committee of
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
and a non-executive director and the chairman
of the audit committee of Hongkong Land
Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed
on the Singapore Exchange Limited (Stock
Symbol: H78), London Stock Exchange (Stock
Symbol: HKLD) and Bermuda Stock Exchange
(Stock Symbol: HKLBD.BH)). He was previously
an independent non-executive director of
SUNeVision Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1686.HK, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange), an independent non-executive
director of Link Asset Management Limited
(manager of Link Real Estate Investment Trust
(Stock Code: 823.HK, the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange)), an executive
director and the chief executive officer of
MTR Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 66.HK,
the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange) and a non-executive director of
Jardine Strategic Holdings Limited (delisted)
and Mandarin Oriental International Limited
(the shares of which are listed on the Singapore
Exchange Limited (Stock Symbol: M04), London
Stock Exchange (Stock Symbol: MDOB) and
Bermuda Stock Exchange (Stock Symbol:
MOIBD.BH)). Mr. Leong is a board member,
an executive committee member and a vice
patron of The Community Chest of Hong Kong,
the vice chairman and an executive committee
member of The Hong Kong Housing Society
and a council and executive committee member
of the Hong Kong Management Association.
He was the chairman of the Quality Assurance
Council of the University Grants Committee.

Mr. Leong was qualified as a chartered
accountant in England in 1985 and in British
Columbia, Canada in 1987. He is a chartered
fellow of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and
Transport in Hong Kong and holds a Bachelor
of Arts degree (subsequently a Master of Arts
degree) from the University of Cambridge in the
United Kingdom.

ZEHEM AP AF  China Resources Land Limited 055
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Ms. Qin Hong, aged 62

was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company in August
2023. She also serves as the chairman of
the Corporate Governance Committee, and
a member of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Ms. Qin is an independent director of Beijing
Capital Development Co., Ltd. (Stock Code:
600376.SH, the shares of which are listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange), as well as a
research fellow at the Renmin University of
China, a role she has assumed since May 2019.
From November 2020 to August 2023, Ms.
Qin served as an independent non-executive
director and a member of the Strategy and
Investment Committee of Red Star Macalline
Group Corporation Ltd. (Stock Code: 1528.
HK, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange). From November 2020 to July 2023,
Ms. Qin served as an independent non-executive
director and a member of Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Sustainability
Committee of CR Mixc Lifestyle (Stock Code:
1209.HK, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange), which is a subsidiary of the
Company.

Ms. Qin successively worked as a deputy
researcher, researcher, deputy head researcher
and head of Policy Research Center under
Ministry of Housing and Urban-Round
Development from November 1994 to
April 2019, and head of the China Urban-
Rural Development Economics Institute from
September 2012 to April 2019. Ms. Qin was
granted the honorary certificate of National
Outstanding Professional Talent in 2014. Ms.
Qin was also the director of department of
Urban-Rural Development Economics of the
Graduate School of the Chinese Academy
of Social Science from August 2000 to June
2004. Ms. Qin obtained a Bachelor’s degree
in business administration and economics
from Shandong Economics Institute in the PRC
(currently known as Shandong University of
Finance and Economics) in 1985, and a Master's
degree in economics from The Graduate School
of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences in the
PRC in 1988.
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ZEHEM AP AF  China Resources Land Limited

Mr. Zhang Shenwen, aged 56

joined the Company in June 2023 and
was appointed as the vice president of the
Company. He is in charge of the Administrative
Management Department and the Party-Mass
Work Department of the Company, and assists
the Chairman of the Board in overseeing the
work of organizational personnel. Mr. Zhang
joined China Resources Group in 1994. He has
served as the vice chairman and senior vice
president of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited, the general manager of
China Resources New Energy Holdings Company
Limited, the general manager of China
Resources Microelectronics Co., Ltd., the general
manager of China Resources Network Holdings
(Hong Kong) Company Limited, the deputy
general manager of China Resources Digital
Holdings Company Limited and other positions,
and he has rich experience in corporate
management. He also serves as a director in
other subsidiaries of China Resources Group.

Mr. Zhang holds a bachelor’s degree in
Industrial Electrical Automation from North
China University of Technology, a bachelor’s
degree in International Trade from the University
of International Business and Economics, and
a MBA degree from the University of San
Francisco in the United States.
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Mr. Chang Ying, aged 52

joined the Company in September 2021 and
was appointed as the Vice President of the
Company, responsible for Hong Kong and
overseas businesses. Mr. Chang had served
as a non-executive Director of China Overseas
Land & Investment Ltd., Deputy Chairman
of CITIC Urban Development and Operation
Company, Executive Vice President of CITIC Real
Estate Group, Chairman and General Manager
of CITIC Real Estate (Beijing) Investment
Co., Ltd., and Deputy Director of Strategy
Development Department of CITIC Ltd., with
extensive experience in property and corporate
management. He also serves as a director of
several subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chang holds a Bachelor’'s degree of
Architecture from Southeast University, China,
a Master of Engineering degree in Information
and Technology Management from the
University of New South Wales, Australia and a
Master of Science degree in Urban Planning and
Design from Southeast University, China.
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Mr. Wang Yong, aged 48

joined the Company in August 2002 and was
appointed as the Vice President of the Company
in March 2023, responsible for Technology,
Innovation and Digital business. Mr. Wang had
served as Assistant General Manager of the
Operation Management Department, Deputy
General Manager of Strategy Management
Department, Assistant General Manager of
Jiangsu Region, General Manager of Jiangsu
Company, General Manager and Director of
the Strategy Management Department, and
General Manager of the Northeast Region of the
Company, with extensive experience in property
and corporate management. He also serves as a
director of several subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Construction Management and Engineering and
a Master’'s degree in Management Science and
Engineering from Tsinghua University.

Mr. Zhang Xin, aged 43

joined China Resources Land Limited in June
2011 and was appointed as the Vice President
in October 2024 and subsequently as Chief
Strategy Officer in November 2024, responsible
for strategic planning and execution, investment
research, and investment management. Mr.
Zhang Xin had served as General Manager of
Jinan company under the former North China
Division of China Resources Land, General
Manager of the Strategic Management
Department of China Resources Land Limited,
and General Manager of Hong Kong company
of China Resources Land, among other
positions. He also serves as a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhang Xin holds a Bachelor’s degree
in Management from Harbin Institute of
Technology and has extensive experience
in property management and corporate
management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company and the board of directors of the Company
(the “Board”) are committed to establishing good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The Company recognizes
the importance of maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to the long-term stable development of the Group.
The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
"CG Code") set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the ”Stock Exchange”).

The Company has complied with the code provisions that were in
force as set out in CG Code for the period from 1 January 2024
to 31 December 2024, except the following deviation from Code
Provision C.2.1:

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. From 1 January 2024 to
22 December 2024, Mr. Li Xin, the chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman”), assumed the responsibilities of the president of the
Company (the “President”) during the transitional period, which
was not in strict compliance with code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code. The Company appointed Mr. Xu Rong, an executive
director of the Company, as President on 23 December 2024,
and Mr. Li Xin continued to serve as the Chairman. The roles and
responsibilities between the Chairman and the President have
been clearly delineated to ensure a balanced distribution of power
and authority. Starting from 23 December 2024, the Company
has strictly complied with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group takes “Better Quality Better Life” as its corporate
mission, and takes integrity, performance-driven, human-
oriented and win-win collaboration as our values. The Group
strives to become the industry-leading urban investor, developer
and operator, while encourages a genuine, united, open, and
progressive organizational atmosphere among our employees.
In line with our corporate culture, we have developed a range
of cultural products, including a culture handbook, and have
integrated relevant content into our training system. This promotes
cultural consensus among employees at all levels and ensures that
it is fully incorporated into all aspects of our business operations.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding securities
transactions of the directors of the Company (”Directors”). The
Company, having made specific enquiry of all Directors, confirmed
that they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code regarding their securities transactions during 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for formulating strategies, objectives and
business plans for the Company, supervising and controlling the
implementation of strategies of the Company and its operations
and financial performance, and formulating appropriate risk
control policies and procedures to ensure the achievement of
the Company’s strategic objectives. In addition, the Board is
also responsible for maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance of the Company. The Directors are accountable for
promoting the success of the Company and making decisions
objectively in the best interests of the Company.

In order to maintain a highly efficient operation, as well as
flexibility and swiftness in operational decision-making, the
Board, when necessary, may delegate part of its managing and
administrative powers to the management, and provide clear
guidance regarding such delegation so as to avoid seriously
impeding or undermining the overall capabilities of the Board in
exercising its powers. The management meets regularly to review
the strategic goals, corporate structure, operating procedures,
budget implementation, major projects and business plans of the
Company. Duties and authorities delegated to the various board
committees are described in the respective sessions below.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the business needs of the Company. A balanced
composition of executive Directors and non-executive Directors
helps to ensure the independence of the Board and enables the
Board to make independent judgments effectively. The operation
and management of the Board and the day-to-day management
of the Company’s business should be clearly divided at the Board
level to ensure that there is a balance of power and authority and
that power will not be concentrated on any one individual.

Directors may seek independent professional advice to assist them
to perform their duties at the Company’s expense. Prior to seeking
independent professional advice, the Director shall make a request
to the Chairman. The Chairman may, if considered necessary,
convene a Board meeting to discuss such matters, appoint the
management to arrange for the engagement of consultants, and
confirm to the Director that the above arrangements are in place.

061

ZEHEM AP AF  China Resources Land Limited



1B 56 B if Hok

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

5 G ALK

R-Z-mE+-A=+—0 E%g
mt —REFMAN  RERANITES
B () - RE%EE (BR) -

RRABEE(RER)  BHBEERR
BEEE MEBIIPTES IEELE
B AE AN A RBYIERITE
£ AEERAE  FBEXAE  BRINEE -
PEHEEEREI LT EFEEKEZ
MW EEAERFTERENE  mE -
Rk HMBEBREBEER) - REE-Z
“WE+-_A=+—BItFEFERN B
#ﬁ“%$2%am%$§§¢:nz
A LETREBIE3I0AKZETE &
EFeNERERBAGEHSERARESE
ME FOBE[EELEEEEAED
FE]—&i e

R-_ZBE_-_NME+_-_A=+—H EF¢g
AEXEZbERE 2 AMBmamnT

MR

Gender

()3
Ethnicity

FhexaR!
Age Group

ARFEFHA

Year of Service

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised 12 Directors,
including five executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Xin (Chairman),
Mr. Xu Rong (President), Mr. Zhang Dawei (Vice Chairman), Mr.
Guo Shiging and Mr. Chen Wei; two non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Huang Ting and Mr. Wei Chenglin; and five
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Zhong Wei,
Mr. Sun Zhe, Mr. Frank Chan Fan, Mr. Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln
and Ms. Qin Hong. Members of the Board are not related to
each other, including financial, business, family or other material
relationship. The number of independent non-executive Directors
represents at least one third of the Board as required under
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
December 2024. Members of the Board and their biographical
details are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” section on pages 44 to 59 of this report.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board’'s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:
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BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)

On 23 August 2013, the Company established “China Resources
Land Limited Board Diversity Policy” (“Board Diversity Policy”) for
the diversity of the Board, and the Company revised the Board
Diversity Policy on 4 December 2018 pursuant to the updated
CG Code of the Listing Rules, which was effective from 1 January
2019.

Mr. Chen Wei, Mr. Wei Chenglin and Mr. Xu Rong were
appointed as Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024,
and they had obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on 28 February 2024, 14 May 2024 and
22 October 2024 respectively. All of them had confirmed they
understood their obligations as a Director.

With effect from 12 August 2024, Mr. Xie Ji has resigned as an
executive Director, and a member of the executive committee of
the Company due to other work arrangement.

With effect from 28 October 2024, Ms. Cheng Hong has retired
as a non-executive Director and a member of the sustainability
committee (formerly known as corporate social responsibility
committee) of the Company due to her retirement plan.

With effect from 27 December 2024, Mr. Dou Jian has resigned
as a non-executive Director and a member of the corporate
governance committee of the Company due to other work
arrangements.

DIRECTORS" CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and
professional development program for the Directors.

All Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Group’s
business operation, position and prospects to enable the Board
and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company has sent reading materials to Directors on
regulatory updates or information relevant to the Company or its
business.
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DIRECTORS" CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME
(continued)

In 2024, the Company provided all Directors monthly reports
with latest information on the business operation, position and
prospects of the Group, and provided two training opportunities
to all Directors, training topics included “Interpretation of the
Central Financial Work Conference and Capital Market Reform”,
"Interpretation of Domestic Macroeconomic Policies and Market
Outlook” and “Insights on Real Estate and Property Services”.
Details of records of all Directors’ continuous professional
development trainings during the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in below table:

Type of contlnuous professmnal
development

FMERBEEALT
REXKZ
BRHMEE EZE
EMSESR EEREEI
Reading
regulatory Taking
updates of trainings on
information regulatory
relevant to development
the Company and directors’
Name of Director or its business duties
R Li Xin v 12
REV(RZZT_WF Xu Rong' (appointed on
TRAZ+NBZEE) 28 October 2024) v 171
SRR B Zhang Dawei v 2/2
Zhit)E Guo Shiging v 2/2
BR{Z Chen Wei (appointed on
(RZZTZNF=A—RHBZM) 1 March 2024) v 212
=i Huang Ting v 2/2
BRAAR Wei Chenglin (appointed on
(R—Z-WWFRHA+/HZE) 16 May 2024) v 22
ERE Zhong Wei v 22
RE Sun Zhe v 2/2
BRIN Frank Chan Fan v 2/2
2 [ Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln v 2/2
=T Qin Hong v 212
HE Xie Ji' (resigned on
(R=—Z-WFNA+_HEE) 12 August 2024) v 171
24T Cheng Hong' (retired on
(RZZT_4F 28 October 2024)
THAZ+/\HEME) v 171
B2 Dou Jian (resigned on
(RZZ_MF 27 December 2024)
TZAZt+HEREE) v 2/2

1. REFERNABRTIRESGE -
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1. There was one director training during the tenure of the Director.
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FEHEFEE)I RS # () DIRECTORS' CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

(continued)
EEERRRARE BOARD AND GENERAL MEETINGS
—TEMFHBT T -REZELRE Eleven Board meetings and one general meeting (i.e. the annual

—RBEEAE (AR RAFELRNE - [IE  general meeting, “AGM") of the Company were held during Year
BFERE]) - SEEMEHEFLES] 2024, The attendance of each Director at the meetings is set out
EHanr - as follows:

Exg88 RRBFEAE

Name of Director Board Meeting AGM
BITEE Executive Directors
&N Li Xin 11/11 (Al
ReR! Xu Rong'

(RZZZMF+HAZ+/\HZME) (appointed on 28 October 2024) 213 0/0
RAR Zhang Dawei 10/11 n
PitE Guo Shiging 11/11 171
RE2(AZZ-_MNF=A—HZE) ChenWei(appointed on 1 March 2024) 8/9 171
HE(RZZZWFN\A+ZBEHE) Xie Ji (resigned on 12 August 2024) 5/5 171
FHTES Non-Executive Directors
=i Huang Ting 11/11 171
BRRK MR Wei Chenglin®

(RZZ-_MERA+BEMT) (appointed on 16 May 2024) 6/7 1
TRATS Cheng Hong®

(RZTZWFE+AZ+/\HRME)  (retired on 28 October 2024) 8/8 Al
B2 Dou Jian

(R—ZT-M&E+-A-+-+tHE) (resigned on 27 December 2024) 10/11 171
BUFHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
BE Zhong Wei 10/11 1
78 Sun Zhe 1111 11
BRI Frank Chan Fan 11/11 0/1
REE Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln 11/11 1
=T Qin Hong 10/11 0/1

1. REEFERKBIIRESTSSH - 1. There were three Board meetings held during the tenure of the Director.
2. ZEFEAHBIIREFEEA R IARRA®E - 2. There were nine Board meetings and one general meeting held during the tenure of

the Director.

3. REFTAHBAREFTEEARIARRAE - 3. There were five Board meetings and one general meeting held during the tenure of the
Director.
4. REFEARBHIRESFEEAZRIARRA®E - 4 There were seven Board meetings and one general meeting held during the tenure of

the Director.

5. REFTAHBTSREFTEEARIARRAE - 5. There were eight Board meetings and one general meeting held during the tenure of
the Director.

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited 065
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DIRECTORS" CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME
(continued)

The Chairman shall attend the AGM and invite the chairmen
of the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the
nomination committee and any other committees of the Company
to attend. In addition, the management ensures that the external
auditor attends the AGM to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit works, the preparation and content of the auditor’s
report, the accounting policy and the auditor’s independence.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

From 1 January 2024 to 22 December 2024, Mr. Li Xin, the
Chairman, assumed the responsibilities of the President during the
transitional period, which was not in strict compliance with code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. The Company appointed Mr. Xu
Rong, an executive Director, as President on 23 December 2024,
and while Mr. Li Xin continued to serve as the Chairman. The roles
and responsibilities between the Chairman and the President have
been clearly delineated to ensure a balanced distribution of power
and authority. Starting from 23 December 2024, the Company
has strictly complied with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code, the Chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the independent
non- executive Directors without the presence of other Directors.
One meeting between the Chairman and the independent non-
executive Directors was held during Year 2024. The attendance of
each Director at this meeting is set out as follows:

i 50 8%
BEENS Name of Director Attendance
BEEESXFE Chairman of the Board
M Li Xin 11
BYEHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
g Zhong Wei 1/
7rE Sun Zhe 11
BeR I Frank Chan Fan 1/1
2B Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln 11
= Qin Hong 01
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
(continued)

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

All Directors (including executive Directors and non-executive
Directors) entered into formal letters of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years and they are subject to re-
election by shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) at the
annual general meeting of the Company and at least once every
three years on a rotation basis in accordance with Article 116
of the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”). A retiring Director is eligible for re- election and re-
election of retiring Directors at the AGM of the Company is dealt
with by separate individual resolutions. Where vacancies arise at
the Board, candidates are proposed and put forward to the Board
by the nomination committee of the Company as more fully
explained below under the section on “Nomination Committee”.

BOARD COMMITTEES
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
was established on 4 September 1998. As at 31 December
2024, a majority of the members of the Audit Committee was
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Leong Kwok-kuen,
Lincoln is the chairman of the committee and members include
Mr. Huang Ting, Mr. Zhong Wei, Mr. Sun Zhe, Mr. Frank Chan
Fan and Ms. Qin Hong, while Mr. Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln holds
accounting-related professional qualifications.

The major duties of the Audit Committee include:

(1) to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration
and the terms of engagement of the external auditor, and
any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

(2) to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards, to discuss with the
external auditor before the audit commences, the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations, and to ensure
co-ordination where more than one audit firm is involved;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)
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to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services (for this purpose,
“external auditor” includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably conclude to be part
of the audit firm nationally or internationally), and to report
to the Board, to identifying and making recommendations
on any matters where action or improvement is needed;

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, interim report and quarterly
financial highlights (or quarterly reports when required
by the Listing Rules or when deemed appropriate by the
Company), and to review quarterly (as the case may be)
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them.
In reviewing these reports before submission to the Board,
the audit committee should focus particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii)

major judgmental areas;

(iii)

significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv)

the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

compliance with accounting standards; and

compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

(5)

in conducting the review described in (4) above, members of
the Audit Committee should:

(i) liaise with the Board and senior management and meet
with the Company’s auditors at least twice a year;

(i)  consider any significant or unusual items that are, or
may need to be, reflected in the report and accounts
and should give due consideration to any matters that
have been raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or auditors; and

(iii)  to discuss with the auditors problems and reservations
arising from the interim review and final audits, and
any matters the auditors may wish to discuss (in the
absence of management where necessary).

to review the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control
systems with management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have effective systems. This evaluation
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group's accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on
its own initiative and the management’s response to these
findings;

to review the external auditor’s letter to the management,
any material queries raised by the auditor to management
about accounting records, financial accounts or systems of
controls and management'’s response;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

(10)

(16)

where an internal audit function exists, to review and
monitor the effectiveness of the internal audit function,
to ensure coordination between the internal and external
auditors, and to ensure that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within
the Company, and to review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response
to the issues raised in the external auditor’s letter to the
management;

to review the Company’s arrangements which employees of
the Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control
or other matters and to ensure that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company'’s relationship with the external auditor;

to report to the Board on the matters in the paragraphs set
out in this section of the terms of reference of the Audit

Committee; and

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held three
meetings (among which the auditor of the Company attended
two meetings) and had reviewed the interim and annual results of
the Group, discussed and approved the relevant financial reports.
The Company had also reviewed the Group’s risk management
and internal control, and considered that its internal audit function
is still effective.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

Attendance of members of the Audit Committee in 2024 is set
out as follows:

i R0 8%

Attendance

Committee Members

BYFHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors
R2EE(ZEGER) Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln (committee chairman) 3/3
=& Zhong Wei 3/3
#E Sun Zhe 3/3
BR A Frank Chan Fan 3/3
=T Qin Hong 3/3
FHITES Non-Executive Director
=i Huang Ting 2/3
FHEES REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
AABHMEES ([HMEZEE]) R = The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
TERFMAELAKT - R _ZFZMF Committee”) was established on 7 April 2005. As at 31 December

TZA=+—8 FMHMEZEEXEHIR
BYFATEZ - RNEERZES
FoREBRERELE FKEBEXE R
Bl A RRL AL -

FHEEENTERERR

(1) RE=FgREL NMIZE: ARFZ
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KRR IER T A BAENEF
2R RT S BN ECR

) MEFSERANTEE SAEE
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BREENRE) -EBEE(BREE
TERR) AESFERINFTAME
LK EABARS MABTS
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A ST EOFr B - 28 H A B ) R R
B A MANER B R H b Bz &) 18 A 16
e

2024, all the members of the Remuneration Committee were
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Frank Chan Fan is the
chairman of the committee and members include Mr. Zhong Wei,
Mr. Sun Zhe, Mr. Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln and Ms. Qin Hong.

The major duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

(1) to make the following recommendations to the Board: the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’, the senior
management and all other managers’ remuneration, and
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

(2) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of executive Directors, senior management and
all other managers. This should include fixed salaries,
bonuses, incentives schemes, share options, non-pecuniary
benefits, pensions and compensation payments (including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment), considering factors including but
not limited to the market-based procedures of selection and
appointment and the competitive policies on the allocation
of remuneration for key talents set by the Board which shall
include further consideration of salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

3)

(1)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

to review the annual performance contracts, annual
assessment results, tenure performance contracts and tenure
assessment results of the senior management and all other
managers,

to review the annual salary budget and the annual settlement
proposal;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

to review and approve compensation payable to the
executive Directors and senior management for any loss
or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

to ensure that no Director or any of his or her associates is
involved in deciding his or her own remuneration;

to review and/or approve matters relating to share plans
established under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

to consider other topics and duties as defined by the Board.
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Committee Members

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The total remuneration of executive Directors and senior
management of the Company comprises three key components,
namely basic salary, bonus and the mid-to-long term incentive
scheme. The Company sets its strategic and performance targets
on an annual and long-term basis. Based on the Company’s
overall performance targets, the Company assigns responsibilities
and sets performance benchmarks and evaluation methods for
each executive Director and members of the senior management
team. To promote the achievement of annual performance goals,
actual performance is assessed against annual performance targets
in order to determine the bonus. To align the interests of owners
and management team of the Company and promote healthy
development of the Company, the mid-to-long term incentive
scheme is correlated with mid-to-long term strategic targets of
the Company and determined by evaluating the performance in
corresponding strategical period.

The emoluments of non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors of the Company are Directors’ emoluments.
The Company establishes a mechanism for regular review
annually, by which the remuneration of executive Directors, non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors are
reviewed against benchmark companies in the industry every
year with reference to market inflation levels, taking into account
Directors” workload, responsibilities and risks borne.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the policy for the remuneration of Directors, assessed
performance of Directors and senior management and the
incentive mechanism of the Company. There were four meetings
held by the Remuneration Committee to approve the salaries,
bonus and the vesting plan of the mid-to-long term incentive
scheme to Directors and senior management during the year. In
this regard, the Remuneration Committee made recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual Directors
and senior management of the Group for final adoption. The
attendance at these meetings is as follows:

H FE RC 8%

Attendance

BYFHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors

BRI (ZEE=EE) Frank Chan Fan (committee chairman) 4/4
B Zhong Wei 4/4
7rE Sun Zhe 4/4
2 [ Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln 4/4
Z= 4T Qin Hong 4/4
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HHEEZEH (H) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
FMNEES (E) REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

REBE_Z-_MNF+_-_A=+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2024, the details of the
B ARBIHITEENSBEEAEBZ  remuneration of the executive Directors and the members of the

FrEMeRman T senior management of the Company were as follows:
(AR%T )
(RMB’000)
Fre kEAMBT Salaries and other benefits 34,004
RIREFE IR Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 2,333

HITEELSEBEIRBAB ZKEIL®HE  The remuneration of the executive Directors and the members of

gD 2 FH MBI EHMT - the senior management by band is set out below:
A
s E Remuneration band Number of persons
&FF AR 1,000,001 7T RMB1,000,001 to RMB3,000,000 per annum 5
= AR ¥ 3,000,0007T
59 AR% 3,000,001 7T RMB3,000,001 to RMB4,000,000 per annum 7
Z= AR ¥ 4,000,000 7T

BRESHE N Af&eH AT ZES  Further particulars regarding the Directors’ emoluments and the

HBE DR ETHEBIMEED2ZEERH  five highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant

B WE AR ERERM S 50 - to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and
50to the financial statements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 30 March 2007. As at 31
December 2024, a majority of the members of Nomination
Committee was independent non-executive Directors. The
executive Director, Mr. Li Xin is the chairman of the committee,
and other members include Mr. Zhong Wei, Mr. Frank Chan Fan
and Mr. Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln, all being independent non-
executive Directors.

The major duties of the Nomination Committee include:

(1) to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge, experience and gender diversity) of
the Board at least annually and to make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy;

(2) to develop and maintain a nomination policy for the Board,
including the nomination procedures and the process
and criteria adopted by the Committee to identify, select
and recommend candidates to become a Director, and to
review regularly and disclose in the Company’s corporate
governance report the policy and progress towards achieving
the objectives under the policy. The Committee should
ensure that the selection process is transparent and fair, and
that it considers a wide range of candidates who are outside
of the Board'’s circle and in accordance with the Company’s
diversity policy;

(3) to develop and maintain a diversity policy for the Board,
to review regularly the implementation of the measurable
objectives under the policy, and to disclose the diversity
policy (or a summary thereof), the measurable objectives
and the progress towards achieving those objectives in the
Company'’s corporate governance report after considering
factors including but are not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background or professional experience);
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

(4)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members, assess the suitability and qualification of the
candidates for directorship (including the perspectives,
skills and experiences that the individual can bring to the
Board and how the individual can promote the diversity of
the Board), report to the Board on the assessment results,
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors with reasons, having regard to the
requirements under the Listing Rules;

when identifying and nominating individuals to become
independent non-executive Directors, to assess whether
and why such individuals can devote sufficient time to the
Board if he/she will be holding his/her seventh or more listed
company directorship;

to consider the reasons for whether independent non-
executive directors who have served for over nine years
shall be re- elected, and explain and record the relevant
considerations, decision-making process and discussions;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular, the chairman and the chief executive/
managing director; and

to prepare a list of qualified candidates for the appointment
or re-appointment of senior management (including but not
limited to the president, senior vice president, vice president,
chief financial officer, general counsel and secretary to the
Board and senior management as stipulated in the Articles of
Association) and make recommendations to the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The independent non-executive Directors (as other directors)
are entitled to seek further information and documentation
from the management on the matters to be discussed at Board
meetings. They can also seek assistance from the Company’s
company secretary and, where necessary, independent advice
from external professional advisers at the Company’s expense.
They shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any board
resolution approving any contract or arrangement in which he/
she or any of his/her close associates has a material interest. Such
mechanisms are to ensure that a strong independent element
on, and independent views and input are available to the Board.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 5 independent
non-executive Directors attended Board meetings regularly and
actively participated in the decision-making process of the Board,
and provided independent views and opinions to the Board when
it performed its duties. In view of the above, and after review,
the Board believes that its mechanisms for obtaining independent
views and input have been fully implemented and continues to be
effective.

The Company considers increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in attaining its strategic objectives and
achieving sustainable and balanced development for the Group,
and also for the compliance to the provisions in the CG Code on
board diversity which became effective on 1 September 2013,
the Board has adopted a policy concerning diversity of Board
members (the “Board Diversity Policy”) setting out a number of
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, ethnicity, cultural
and educational background, communication styles, interpersonal
skills, functional expertise, problem solving skills, professional
qualifications, knowledge and industry and regional experience
and other qualities, and all appointments to the Board will be
based on merits and competence and will take into account of
factors based on the Group’s own business model and specific
needs from time to time. The Company shall strengthen the board
diversity as and when appropriate according to the needs of
business development and corporate governance.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

After discussion by the Board, the gender diversity target for the
Company’s Board is having at least one female Director in the
Board. At the end of 2024, there was one female Director of the
Company (representing 8.33% of the current Board), achieving
the target set by the Board. In the future, the Company will seek
professional Director candidates through diversified channels such
as by engaging human resources agencies to identify potential
successors for the Board to further enhance the diversity level of
the Board. During 2024, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size, and diversity of the Board as well as the selection
criteria for Director candidate(s) and the Board Diversity Policy,
to ensure that the Board's composition complies with the Listing
Rules and the Board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender,
age, ethnicity and length of service, to assess whether the skills,
experiences and diverse perspectives as well as the contribution
that the candidate can bring to the Board. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

In respect of our staff, the Group strictly complies with the
relevant laws and regulations in formulating the internal policies
of the Group, and adheres to the principle of fair and open
employment in order to eliminate all discrimination based on
factors such as gender, age, race, and region, and provides our
employees with a diverse and inclusive working environment
with fair employment and promotion opportunities, respect and
privacy. As of 31 December 2024, the senior management of the
Company comprises all male members; and the total number of
employees of the Group was 65,785, among which the number of
female employees was 24,411 (37.11%), and the number of male
employees was 41,374 (62.89%), The Company expects that in
consideration of the business development, the gender ratio of all
employees will be maintained at the current level in the medium
term.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Company developed and adopted a director nomination
policy (the “Director Nomination Policy”) on 4 December 2018,
and updated on 22 December 2022, effective on the same
day. Pursuant to the Director Nomination Policy, Directors
are appointed through formal, considered and transparent
procedures. The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select
and recommend candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by
giving due consideration to criteria including but not limited to
(collectively, the “Criteria”): (a) diversity in aspects including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of service
and then attainment of gender diversity of the Board; (b)
qualifications, including accomplishment and experience in the
relevant industries the Company’s business is involved in and other
professional qualifications; (c) effective fulfillment of commitment
for responsibilities of the Board in respect of available time
to ensure sufficient time may be devoted to accordingly; (d)
reputation for character and integrity; (e) contribution that the
candidate(s) can potentially bring to the Board; (f) whether the
appointment of the candidate(s) can avoid a potential conflict of
interest; and (g) plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the
Board.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
retiring Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving
due consideration to the criteria including but not limited to: (a)
the overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s) to
the Company, including but not limited to the attendance of
the meetings of the Board and/or its committees and general
meetings where applicable, in addition to the level of participation
and performance on the Board and/or its committees; and (b)
whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the Criteria.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

In addition to the Criteria, the Nomination Committee will
evaluate and recommend candidate(s) for the position(s) of the
independent non-executive Directors by giving due consideration
to the factors including but not limited to those set out in Rules
3.10, 3.10A, 3.13 and Code Provision B.2.3 and B.3.4(b) of the
CG Code under the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time)
in relation to independence, composition of the then independent
non-executive Directors of the Board, the directorship of the
candidate(s) in other listed companies and the term of office of
the then independent non- executive directors (if applicable) etc.
The Director Nomination Policy is available on the website of the
Company.

During 2024, the Nomination Committee held four meetings at
which the respective appointments of Mr. Chen Wei and Mr. Xu
Rong as executive Directors; Mr. Wei Chenglin as a non-executive
Director; and Mr. Xu Rong as the President, were recommended
to the Board for approval. The attendance of these meetings are
as follow:

H RO 8%

Committee Members

Attendance

BITES Executive Director

TM(ZEEEH) Li Xin (committee chairman) 4/4

BIYFHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors

EE Zhong Wei 4/4

) Frank Chan Fan 4/4

2B Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln 4/4
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The corporate governance committee of the Company (the
"CG Committee”) was established on 9 March 2012. As at 31
December 2024, a majority of the members of CG Committee
was independent non-executive Directors. The independent non-
executive Director, Ms. Qin Hong is the chairman of the CG
Committee and members include Mr. Li Xin, being an executive
Director, Mr. Frank Chan Fan and Mr. Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln,
both being independent non-executive Directors.

Major duties of the CG Committee include: (1) to develop and review
the Company'’s policies and practices on corporate governance and
make recommendations to the Board; (2) to review and monitor
the training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management; (3) to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (4) to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and (5) to review the Company’s compliance with the code
on corporate governance practice set out in the “CG Code” and
disclosure in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of
this report, details of which are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

During 2024, one meeting was held by the CG Committee
to review and monitor training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management as well as
reviewing compliance with CG Code by the Company and
disclosure in Corporate Governance Report. The attendance of
this meeting is as follows:

i FE R 8%

Attendance

BIYFHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors

R (ZEEGXRE) Qin Hong (committee chairman) 11
BRIN Frank Chan Fan 11
2B Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln 171
BITES Executive Director

R Li Xin 171
FHITES Non-Executive Director

ER(W-_T-WFT-_A-t++H
BHE)

Dou Jian (resigned on 27 December 2024) 11
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The executive committee of the Company (the “Executive
Committee”) was established on 18 April 2017. As at 31
December 2024, all members of Executive Committee were
executive Directors. Mr. Li Xin is the chairman of the Executive
Committee and members included Mr. Xu Rong, Mr. Zhang
Dawei, Mr. Guo Shiging and Mr. Chen Wei.

The terms of reference for Executive Committee was amended
and approved by the Board on 29 January 2024, 27 August 2024
and 25 March 2025 respectively. The major duties of the Executive
Committee are listed as follows:

(1) to approve formulation and evaluation of performance
contracts for the Company’s headquarters departments,
major regions and city companies, and business divisions;

(2) Subject to the annual investment budget approved by the
Board,

e for investments in development properties and
investment properties business, to approve open
market projects with an amount per transaction of less
than 10% of the Company’s market capitalization,
mergers and acquisitions projects with an attributable
consideration of less than RMB5.0 billion, and urban
renewal projects with an attributable consideration of
less than RMB5.0 billion;

e for investments in eco-system elementary businesses, to
approve projects with an attributable consideration of
less than RMB2.0 billion;

and to approve any one Member or more Members to
sign the related documents of such Transactions (including
stamping the Company’s stamp);

(3) to approve the Company to conduct equity cooperation
in investment projects through joint bidding and the
establishment of new joint venture companies, and the
Company to introduce cooperation in investment projects
through capital increase and share transfer;

(4) to approve relevant investment projects involving
unauthorized circumstances of the Group in accordance
to the Group’s investment management system, approval
of the Group’s annual investment plan and other relevant
regulations;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (continued)

(5)

to approve exit project buybacks such as asset securitization
where the consideration for the equity of a single project is
less than RMBS5 billion or exercise the pre-emptive right of
repurchase;

to approve signing of investment-related strategic
cooperation agreements between the Company’s
headquartered platform companies and the government or
external enterprises;

to approve large-scale investment property renovation
projects with a capex amount of not less than RMB10
million;

to approve significant rental reduction for investment
properties exceeding RMB10 million;

to approve the disposal of equity assets with a net book
value or appraisal value of the assets of a single project not
exceeding RMB5 billion (or equivalent amount, whichever is
lower);

to approve the initial offering and expansion of public REITs
and private equity funds (including Pre-REITs) with asset
package transaction amounts of less than RMB5 billion;

to approve the issuance and expansion of Quasi-REITS and
private REITs with a single project entry transaction amount
less than RMBS5 billion;

to approve land swap, land disposal and withdrawal, and
land use change adjustment plan;

to approve the withdrawal from non-core businesses and
investment projects;

to approve large-scale transactions of the available-for-sale
category (including custom development and transfer of
projects under construction) for single transaction contracts
with an amount of more than RMB300 million or an area
exceeding 10,000 square meters but with a transaction
amount of less than RMB5 billion;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (continued)

(15)

(18)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

To approve the disposal projects of non-equity, non-
inventory assets with a net book value or appraised value
of not more than RMB300 million, or with a net book value
or appraised value of more than RMB300 million but with a
transaction amount of less than RMB5 billion;

to approve the business strategy of converting held
properties to sales or sales properties to held, with a net
book value or appraised value not less than RMB30 million;

to approve the provision for asset impairment of inventory
and the cumulative new impairment amount for the same
type of assets (excluding inventory) for the year not less than
the provision for asset impairment of RMB50 million;

to approve write-off of asset impairment provisions for single
asset with original value or capital of no less than RMB5
million (or equivalent amount);

to approve the following external payment with a limit of
less than 5% in terms of five size test ratios but excluding
rigid expenses such as the payment of the agreed amount
in accordance with the approved contract, the related
payments for approved economic matters, and the internal
fund transfers involved in the headquarters fund pool
(including sub-fund pools), the payment of dividends, the
payment of principal and interests of corporate debts:

(@) revision to the allotment and usage of large amount
of capital within annual budget: a single payment
amounting to not less than RMB3.0 billion;

revision to the allotment and usage of capital beyond
budget: a single payment amounting to not less than
RMB500 million;

to approve the establishment of sub-funds in the
headquarters fund pool;

to approve the registration and issuance of onshore and
offshore bonds by the Company and its subsidiaries;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (continued)

(22)

(23)

(24)

27)

to approve debt financing activities of the Company
(including but not limited to the issuance of bonds, bank
loans, etc., but excluding the issuance of convertible
bonds) to be undertaken within the annual target for the
management of the asset-liability ratio;

to approve the publication by the Company and its
subsidiaries of an announcement in relation to any loan
agreement (which shall contain conditions relating to
performance of certain obligations by the controlling
shareholders) as required under Rule 13.18 of the Listing
Rules, and to approve any appropriate amendments to the
announcement by any Member, and to arrange for the
announcement of relevant matters;

to approve the two situations in which the Company
needs to provide financial guarantees due to objective
circumstances where the risks are manageable:

(@) provide guarantees for subsidiaries or associated
companies that do not have the ability to continue
as a going concern, such as those that have entered
into reorganization or bankruptcy and liquidation
procedures, are insolvent, have incurred losses for three
consecutive years, and have negative operating cash
flows;

cross-guarantees among subsidiaries of the Company
without direct equity interest in each other, whereby
the subsidiaries provide guarantees to the parent
company;

to approve the Company and its subsidiaries to provide loans
to affiliated associated companies not included in the scope
of consolidation of the Company;

to approve offshore commission matters of the Company
and its subsidiaries;

to approve any donation with a single amount of not less
than RMB30 million within the annual donation budget;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (continued)

(28) to approve light asset management matters such as
entrusted construction and entrusted operation for
unauthorized relevant units;

(29) to transact any other specific matters that the Committee is
authorized by the Board to transact.

During the year under review, the Executive Committee held 155
meetings for the purpose of effective and timely management of
the Company’s day-to-day operation. The committee chairman
reported to the Board on a quarterly basis and the resolutions
were passed by the Executive Committee through physical
meeting or written document. Attendance of members of the
Executive Committee in 2024 is set out as follows:

i R0 8%

Committee Members

Attendance

BITES Executive Directors

TM(ZEEER) Li Xin (committee chairman) 155/155
HBEV W ZZ_MF+A=-F+/\H  XuRong' (appointed on 28 October 2024) 36/37

Z )

SRR B Zhang Dawei 154/155
Z[HEE Guo Shiging 155/155
PRE2Z(MZZTZMWE=H—HZME) Chen Wei (appointed on 1 March 2024) 133/135
SEE (R T —ENA+-HBET) Xieli® (resigned on 12 August 2024) 92/92

1. REEFERARBIINAREGEHE - 1. There were 37 Executive Committee meetings held during the tenure of the Director.
2. REFAERARBITIRNNEGEE 2. There were 135 Executive Committee meetings held during the tenure of the Director.
3. REEFAERARBTRAREGEE - 3. There were 92 Executive Committee meetings held during the tenure of the Director.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE (FORMERLY KNOWN AS
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY COMMITTEE)

To further enhance the Company’s corporate governance, improve
the governance structure and refine the division of responsibilities
of the Board, a corporate social responsibility (“CSR") committee
("CSR Committee”) was formed by the Company on 26 March
2019, to assist the Board in providing direction on and overseeing
the development and implementation of the CSR initiatives of the
Group. As at 31 December 2024, the members of CSR Committee
includes two executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
two independent non-executive Directors. Executive Director,
Mr. Li Xin is the committee chairman, and members include Mr.
Xu Rong, being an executive Director, Mr. Wei Chenglin, being
a non-executive Director, Mr. Zhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe, both
being independent non-executive Directors.

On 25 March 2025, to demonstrate the Company’s commitment
to establishing sustainable development as a core strategic
goal and to promote a consensus and collaborative effort for
sustainable development both internally and externally, the Board
resolved to rename the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee
as the Sustainability Committee and to adjust its terms of
reference accordingly, while the composition of the Sustainability
Committee remains unchanged. The revised key responsibilities of
the Sustainability Committee include:

1. Monitor the formulation of corporate sustainable
development vision, strategy and policy

(@ to guide and review the corporate sustainable
development vision, goals and strategy of the Group,
identify key sustainable development issues, and provide
recommendations on relevant corporate sustainable
development initiatives to the Board for approval;

(b) to monitor and review emerging corporate sustainable
development trends and issues, provide guidance
to the Group in formulating corporate sustainable
development vision in response to these trends and
issues, and act as a decision-making advisory role on
how to address current and emerging sustainable
development issues impacting the Group;

(0 to monitor and review the Group's corporate
sustainable development policies and practices to
ensure that such policies and practices are up-to-
date, relevant, and in compliance with the articles of
association of the Company, applicable laws (including
but not limited to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules™)), regulatory requirements and
international standards.
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development vision and strategy

(@) to monitor the execution of the Group’s corporate
social responsibility initiatives, and set objectives to
evaluate performance in accordance with applicable
laws, Listing Rules, regulatory requirements and
international standards;

(b) to monitor the performance of the Group according to
the set annual sustainability key performance targets,
review the adequacy and effectiveness of sustainability
policies, and provide recommendations on actions
required to enhance performance;

(¢ to identify and regularly update the main trends
and the significant risks and opportunities related to
the Group’s sustainable development, including the
evaluation and management of impacts of climate risks
and opportunities on its finances, business models and
value chains, and propose appropriate strategy, action
plans and targets;

(d) to monitor compliance with any applicable laws,
listing rules, regulatory requirements and international
standards and make recommendations to the Board;

(e) to review the data provided by the management on
employee volunteer or other activities held in support of
corporate sustainable development initiatives, monitor
internal and external opinions on corporate sustainable
development efforts, and provide recommendations
for improving the scope and effectiveness of these
initiatives;

(f)  to monitor and guide the Group in its efforts to
support local and international corporate sustainable
development initiatives (if applicable);

(g) to provide guidance on the impact of the Group’s
business on the environment and society;
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Group in relation to sustainable development initiatives:

(i)

(ii)

to review its governance structure, annual
budget expenditure and work plan, and provide
recommendations to the Board for approval; and

to monitor the progress of the charitable fund,
community investment and engagement activities,
and report the latest developments to the Board
where appropriate.

3. Monitor the expenditure on corporate sustainable
development initiatives

(a)

to provide recommendations to the Board on the
expenditure of funds for corporate sustainable
development initiatives, including:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

ZEHEM AP AF  China Resources Land Limited

to make donations to any charitable and
community investment work in relation to
corporate sustainable development initiatives
in the name of the Group's charitable funds or
otherwise;

the Group’s expenditure on the establishment of
any charitable funds and the ongoing operation
of funds in relation to corporate sustainable
development initiatives; and

the expenditure required for actions taken under
the terms of reference set out in this document.
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wHZEY (H) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
ARHERREZEEE (H) SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE (continued)
4. EEREIMEFAIBE 4. Monitor the external communication policy
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(@) to review the Group’s shareholder(s) communication
policy to ensure effective communication
with shareholders and provide improvement
recommendations to the Board for approval,

(b) to monitor how the Group communicates with its
stakeholders, ensuring that appropriate communication
policies are in place, which effectively promotes the
relationship between the Group and stakeholders and
protect the Group'’s reputation;

(©) to regularly collect views and suggestions from
stakeholders on the Group’s corporate sustainable
development initiatives to ensure that relevant views
are fully considered by the Board.

Other Responsibilities

(@) to review the annual corporate sustainable development
related reports, which may be titled, but not limited
to, the “Corporate Social Responsibility Report,”
“Sustainability Report,” or “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report,” for compliance with the disclosure
requirements (including climate-related disclosure
requirements) in accordance with the requirements set
out in the Listing Rules (including Appendix C2 Code on
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting) and
the guidelines issued by the relevant exchange(s) from
time to time and make recommendations to the Board
for approval,

(b) to review and evaluate the performance of the
Committee and the terms of reference set out herein
to ensure the Committee operates with maximum
effectiveness, and to recommend any changes it deems
appropriate for the approval of the Board; and

(©) to take all necessary measures to enable the Committee
to perform its duties.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE (continued)

In carrying out its responsibilities, the CSR Committee shall work
and liaise as necessary with all other Board committees, and give
due consideration to all relevant laws, rules, regulations and

regulatory requirements and guidance applicable to the Group.

follows:

Committee Members

Executive Directors
Li Xin (committee chairman)

Non-Executive Directors
Wei Chenglin' (appointed on 16 May 2024)

Cheng Hong? (retired on 28 October 2024)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Zhong Wei
Sun Zhe

During 2024, one meeting was held by the CSR Committee to
review and monitor the development and implementation of the
CSR initiatives of the Group. The attendance of this meeting is as

R 8%

Attendance

11
0/0

0/0

11

11
11

1. REEAAYRBITEELGEEZESGH -

2. ZEEERABRTIRCRUEEAZEEEE -

1. There was no CSR Committee meeting held during the tenure of the Director.

2. There was one CSR Committee meeting held during the tenure of the Director.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the annual reports, interim reports and financial statements
of the Company to ensure that the financial statements give
a true and fair presentation in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards. The statement by the independent
auditor about its reporting responsibilities relating to the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 137 to 146.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board highly values and has the overall responsibility for
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems to safeguard the Group’s assets and
stakeholders’ interests, as well as for reviewing the effectiveness
of the systems. To fulfill its responsibility, the Board oversees
management on the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems to ensure
the effectiveness of such systems through well-established
organizational structure, appropriate policies and procedures
in place, as well as clearly defined lines of authority and
responsibility.

The Board oversees the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis and ensures that a
review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems has been conducted at least annually.
The Company amended the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee in 2015 to further enhance the risk management
and internal control functions of the Group. The Board assesses
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems through the reviews performed by the Audit Committee,
executive management, internal audit department (“Internal
Audit Department”) and external auditors. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group held three Audit Committee
meetings to review certain topics including (1) the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems including
financial, operational and compliance controls, (2) the changes
in the nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG risks),
and the Company's ability to respond to changes in its business
and the external environment, (3) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of risks (including ESG risks)
and of the internal control systems, (4) the extent and frequency
of communication of monitoring results to the Board, (5) any
significant control failings or weaknesses that have been identified
during the period, and (6) the effectiveness of the Company’s
processes for financial reporting and Listing Rule compliance.
The Board confirmed that the management had performed
their duties to maintain effective risk management and internal
control systems, and had ensured the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experiences, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions as well as those relating to the Company’s
ESG performance and reporting. The Company considered its risk
management and internal control systems effective and adequate.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

The risk management and internal control work of the Company
has been coordinated by the Legal and Compliance Department
since 2023, detailed responsibilities include but not limited to: (1)
organizing and guiding the Group’s other departments, regions
and business units to establish and improve the systems of risk
management and internal control, and carry on various work
under such systems; (2) supervising and inspecting implementation
of risk management and internal control systems in the Group's all
departments, regions and business units, suggesting rectification
measures and monitoring the implementation of such measures
on an on-going basis; (3) establishing internal evaluation
mechanism, assessing the Group's risk management and internal
control, formulating an impartial opinion on the systems, and
reporting its findings to the Audit Committee, the Chairman and
the senior management concerned as well as following up on all
reports to ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved.

Features of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems include the following:

e internal audit is independent from operational management;

o internal auditor is fully authorized with access to all
operational and financial data of the Group;

e internal auditors are sufficient in team size, equipped with
strong expertise and professional experience;

e implement real-time dynamic process risk management on
areas with significant risks including procurement and sales,
with fully coverage on operational procedures and business
units of the Group; and

e  target to identify and eliminate material risk of the Company,
business oriented risk screen process, whilst proactively
promote system-risk prevention to build effective risk
management and internal control systems.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

The Board is responsible for handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure the market and stakeholders
are timely and fully informed about the material developments
in the Company’s business, the Board has adopted the Inside
Information Disclosure Policy regarding the procedures of proper
information disclosure. All staff members of the Company must
ensure that inside information is not communicated to any
external parties unless with approval from the Board. As such,
staff members of the Company shall not respond to market
speculation and rumours unless they are authorized to do so. In
addition, all external presentation materials or publications must
be pre-vetted before release.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems
and procedures are designed to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks (including ESG risks), rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement, errors, losses or fraud.

The Company has established a whistleblowing policy and
system for employees and those who deal with the issuer
(e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence
and anonymity, with the Audit Committee (or any designated
committee comprising a majority of independent non-executive
Directors) about possible improprieties in any matter related to the
Company. The Company has also established relevant policy that
promote and support anti-corruption laws and regulations.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent
auditor’s independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the
audit process. It receives each year the letter from the independent
auditor confirming their independence and objectivity and holds
meetings with representatives of the independent auditor to
consider the scope of its audit, approve its fees, and the scope and
appropriateness of non- audit services, if any, to be provided by it.
The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and retention of the independent auditor.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Company’s auditor KPMG, for services
rendered in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 is set

BRI ST out as follows:
PR % U &
Fee
ARBEHETT
121 AR & Services rendered RMB million
RRQB)FEMERER BT Audit of annual financial statements 4.43
of the Company
MEBAR - BHEELER Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries, 8.05
/N o certain joint ventures and associates
RN 5] R HA B 7 TR 3R B B Review of interim financial statements 1.00
of the Company
H A IET|ATETE Other non-audit services 1.23
Bt Total: 14.71
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Dr. Ngai Wai Fung (“Dr. Ngai”), has been appointed as the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
since May 2024. Dr. Ngai is a fellow of the Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute, a fellow of the Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom, a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow of Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and
a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators. Dr. Ngai is
the director and chief executive officer of China Resources SWCS
Holding Limited and SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited, which acts as the Company’s external company secretarial
service provider. Although the Company Secretary is not a full-
time employee of the Company, he reports to the Board and in his
capacity as Company Secretary advises the Board on governance
matters. The primary contact person of the Company with the
Company Secretary was Mr. Guo Shiging, executive Director of
the Company. Dr. Ngai has confirmed that he has attended at
least 15 hours of professional development in 2024.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

CONVENING EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
(“EGM") AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
GENERAL MEETINGS

Pursuant to article 72 of the Articles of Association, the Board
may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM. General meetings
shall also be convened on the written requisition of any one
or more members of the Company deposited at the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists hold as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, on a one vote per Share
basis in the share capital of the Company.

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting,
the requisitionists themselves or any of them representing more
than one- half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit
of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionists as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

Article 120 of the Articles of Association provides that no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director
at any general meeting, unless at least seven days’ notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a
Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to
be elected shall have been given to the Company. The period for
lodgment of such notices shall commence no earlier than the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting.

—TUEE#RE  ANNUAL REPORT 2024



B HHE A (45)
REREESRBEANES (H)

At - ERREEREEXAERERE
ERABEARARESREAN  EEAZE
EABE120 B E2HBEA - @A A
MWE (MU ARRF 2 BB ETEEEME)
BRGRENTXH - (MESRBRERE
FHZF—BEABRRBRRHRBABAAD
RIEEMEMRANE UTHRBMNELE
AR EREREMS  EBEl AN
NEFEMARARZBERRKE Qw1
HANERZZBMNE FHEBEERIE
Z 5 Q)IRE EWAHBIFE1351QGR T
ETEEMNHEZANER K@) HIR
AAREEBAERBEENEARESE -

FiRFE EEEARR R

ﬁ&ﬂi%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁjﬁﬁlﬂﬁﬁlﬂ
]

EEgR T _NF=A=-t+HABES
BRI AR ARIEABERREMMA - AR
AELEMBRAUBEELTREITAREREF
FREMAABA (EER EMHRA) A
ETEITRBEARGAILAGRER
FFoETHRAE FERLEARAHH
A-EZ-_ME="A-+HAZAE KA
BHA-—T _NFNA-+ABZEXK-
BER-ZZE_MFESALBEHNRERSF
REUFRIABRES AN ERNEHAL
BB ZHEBERRFA LR - &
1EE] M E Y 2 40 55 E= 12 K40 A0 48 Rl A] &
AN B A8 v RN B X P AR uE B AR o

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR (continued)

Accordingly, if a Shareholder wishes to nominate a person to
stand for election as a Director at a general meeting, the following
documents must be validly served on the Company Secretary at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong within
the period specified in article 120 of the Articles of Association,
namely (1) his/her notice of intention to propose a resolution to
elect a nominated candidate as a Director at the general meeting
which must include the name of the nominating shareholder
of the Company, his/her contact details and the number of the
Company’s ordinary shares held by the nominating shareholder;
(2) a notice signed by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s
willingness to be elected; (3) the nominated candidate’s
information as required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules; and (4) the nominated candidate’s written consent
to the publication of his/her personal data.

The aforesaid procedures have been uploaded to the Company's
website.

THE MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY

On 25 March 2024, the Board proposed to amend the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company to
comply with certain amendments to the Listing Rules that listed
issuers are required to publish corporate communications (as
defined in the Listing Rules) by electronic means and to reflect
certain adjustments to the Company’s internal corporate
governance procedures. For further details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2024
and the circular of the Company dated 29 April 2024. The
Shareholders approved the adoption of the amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company at
the AGM on 7 June 2024, by way of a special resolution. The
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of
the Company is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company developed and adopted the Dividend Policy on 4
December 2018, effective from 1 January 2019, aiming to provide
Shareholders with an annual dividend payout of not less than 20%
of the Group’s profit attributable to Shareholders in any financial
year, subject to the criteria set out below. Such declaration
and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined at the
absolute discretion of the Board and subject to all applicable
requirements (including without limitation restrictions on dividend
declaration and payment) under the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into
account the following criteria, including: (1) the Group’s actual
and expected financial performance; (2) Shareholders’ interests;
(3) general business strategies of the Group; (4) retained earnings
and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the other
members of the Group; (5) the Group's indebtedness level, key
financial ratios (such as the Group's debt to equity ratio and
return on equity) and any financial covenants to which the Group
is subject; (6) the Group's expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans; (7) liquidity position and future
commitments of the Group at the time of declaration of dividend;
(8) taxation considerations, and legal and regulatory restrictions;
(9) possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness; (10) general
economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and
other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Company;
and (11) other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders such
interim dividends subject to the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands and the Articles of Association. Except in the cases of
interim dividend and special dividend, any dividends declared
by the Company can be approved by an ordinary resolution of
shareholders at general meeting and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board. Dividends may be distributed in
the form of cash or shares subject to and in accordance with
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association. The Company will regularly review the Dividend
Policy and reserve the right in its sole and absolute discretion to
update, amend and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time,
and the Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid in any
particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
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SHAREHOLDERS" COMMUNICATION
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION POLICY

During the year, the Company has established a Shareholders
Communication Policy and the policy is available on the website
of the Company. Such policy aims to set out the provisions with
the objective of ensuring that Shareholders are provided with
comprehensive, consistent and understandable information about
the Company (including its financial performance, strategic goals
and plans, material developments, governance and risk profile) at
appropriate time, in order to enable Shareholders to exercise their
rights in an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders and the
investment community to engage actively with the Company. The
Board shall maintain an ongoing dialogue with Shareholders and
the investment community, and will regularly review this policy to
ensure its effectiveness. Any question regarding this policy shall be
directed to the Company Secretary or chief financial officer of the
Company.

According to the policy, the main channels through which
the Company disseminates information to Shareholders and
the investment community are: (1) Shareholders’ enquiries;
(2) corporate communications; (3) corporate website; (4)
webcast; (5) Shareholders’ meetings; (6) investment market
communications. Effective and timely dissemination of information
to Shareholders and the investment community shall be ensured
at all times. Shareholders should direct their questions about
their shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar. Shareholders and the investment community may at
any time make a request for the Company’s information to the
extent such information is publicly available. Shareholders and the
investment community shall be provided with designated contacts,
email addresses and enquiry lines of the Company in order to
enable them to make any query in respect of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY
(continued)

The Company’s corporate communications will be provided to
Shareholders in plain language and in both English and Chinese
versions to facilitate Shareholders’ understanding. Shareholders are
encouraged to access the Company’s corporate communications
electronically via the Company’s website (www.crland.com.hk)
in support of environmental protection. Shareholders are also
encouraged to register for the News Alert service in the Market Data
section of the Stock Exchange Market website (www.hkex.com.hk)
in order to receive notification when the Company publishes its
corporate communications on the HKEXnews website or makes
updates to its websites. A dedicated Investor Relations section
is available on the Company’s website (www.crland.com.hk).
Information on the Company’s website is updated on a regular
basis. Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange
is also posted on the Company’s website immediately thereafter.
Such information includes financial reports, results announcements,
circulars, notices of general meetings and other regulatory
disclosures. All presentation materials provided in conjunction with
the Company’s results announcements each year will be made
available on the Company’s website as soon as practicable after
their release. Webcasts of the Company’s interim and annual results
briefings are available on the Company’s website.

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for
and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.
Appropriate arrangements for the annual general meetings shall
be in place to facilitate Shareholders’ participation. Our Board
members, including the Chairman and the chairmen of the
Board committees, key senior executives and the external auditor
will attend annual general meetings to answer Shareholders’
questions. The Company also organises various activities on a
regular basis, including investors’ or analysts’ briefings, one-
on-one meetings and local and international roadshows, media
interviews, promotion of foreign investors and industry thematic
forums. Our Directors and employees who have contacts or
dialogues with investors, analysts, media or other interested
outside parties are required to comply with the disclosure
obligations and requirements under the Company’s “CR Land
Investor Relationship Management Policy” and “CR Land Press
Spokesman Management Policy”. The Company recognizes
the importance of Shareholders’ privacy and will not disclose
Shareholders’ information without their consent, unless otherwise
required by law.
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SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY
(continued)

The contact details of the Company are available on the Contact
section of the Company’s website. The contact details of the
Company's Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar are available on
the Investor Relations section of the Company’s website.

The Company has reviewed the abovementioned Shareholders
Communication Policy in combination with actual implementation
and the Shareholders’ feedback during the year, and consider it
has been properly implemented and is effective.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING SHAREHOLDERS’
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders of the Company may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the investor
relations team of the Company. The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations

China Resources Land Limited

46th Floor, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: ir@crland.com.cn

Tel: 852-2877 2330

Fax: 852-2877 9068

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to establish and maintain high quality
investor relations, the capital market is updated with the latest
operational performance and outlook of the Company through
diversifying disclosure channels with increasing transparency in
compliance with relevant rules and regulations to ensure disclosure
compliance and efficiency, while the senior management is
timely updated with market dynamic and investors feedbacks. As
such, a positive interaction cycle between the capital market and
the senior management has been built up to improve internal
management and corporate governance, aiming to enhance the
Company's reputation and valuation in the capital market.
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SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

INVESTOR RELATIONS ACTIVITIES

In 2024, the Company proactively created various opportunities
for investor communications, with an aim to maintain positive
interaction with investors.

In 2024, the Company arranged on-site and online roadshows
for investors in Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong, Singapore, Europe
and America, covered topics from its financial results to business
strategies and outlook.

In addition, the Company attended 13 major virtual and
physical investor forums, held physical meetings and telephone
conferences with global investors and analysts from both buy-side
and sell-side; and arranged on-site visits for investors during the
year.

The following table sets out the major investor relations events of
the Company in 2024:

Events

Founder Securities Virtual Conference
Guosen Securities 2024 Strategy Conference
JPM Online Strategy Conference

Morgan Stanley Conference

Macquarie Asia Conference 2024

#2  Industrial Bank Securities 2024 Overseas Investment
Thematic Strategy Conference

JP Morgan Global China Summit 2024
Citi's 2024 Asia Pacific Property Conference
CITIC Securities Consumer Restructuring Thematic Forum

Shenwan Hongyuan 2024 High-end Seminar on Real Estate
Industry Chain

MS China BEST Conference
31st CITIC CLSA Investors’ Forum

CITIC Securities 2025 Capital Markets Annual Conference
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SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

INVESTOR RELATIONS ACTIVITIES (continued)

Looking ahead, we will continue to improve the communication
with investors and provide them with more opportunities to
understand the strategy and business of the Company as well as
to enhance the mutual understanding and recognition between
the senior management and the investment community, with
an aim to refine the internal management, profitability and
governance of the Company, and to maximize shareholder returns
and enhance market capitalization.

POLL RESULTS OF AGM

The last annual general meeting of the Company was the 2024
AGM of the Company, the meeting was held at Ball Room, 1st
Floor, Hotel Kapok Shenzhen Bay, No. 3001, Binhai Avenue,
Nanshan District, Shenzhen, Guangdong, China on 7 June 2024.
Details of major items discussed and voting particulars are set out
as follows:

REREFASLEEZ Ordinary Resolutions proposed FE(%)
ERRRAR at the AGM Number of Votes (%)
B R ¥
For Against
1. HEREEBE-T==%F 1. Toreceive and consider the 6,124,336,814 18,508,399
+-A=+—HIFEER audited financial statements and (99.70%) (0.30%)
BB RERESERE the directors’ report and the
KB IZEE RS - independent auditor’s report for
the year ended 31 December
2023.
AREZRCEBBAT R The resolution was duly passed as
R an ordinary resolution.
2. EMR-_ZE_MFLA 2. To declare a final dividend 6,142,845,213 0
“TRBREHE-_T_= of RMB1.243 (equivalent to (100.00%) (0.00%)

F+-A=Z+—HLFEHN
KHER B FRARE1.243
T (HEERE®E13667T)
Ky -_ZE-_mEXA+IA
BERRFRERMAZRE
ZHRE -

HK$1.366) per share for the
year ended 31 December 2023
payable on 26 July 2024 to
shareholders whose names
appear on the register of
members of the Company on 14

June 2024.

FARREEBBALER
HE-

The resolution was duly passed as
an ordinary resolution.
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SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

POLL RESULTS OF AGM (continued)

BRRAFAERERRER (H)

RERBAFASLREEZ Ordinary Resolutions proposed FH(%)
EBRBRR at the AGM Number of Votes (%)
°¢:)
Against
3. (1) EEREXEREZEE- 3. (1) Tore-elect Mr. Chen Wei as 5,909,184,623 233,660,590
director. (96.20%) (3.80%)
AAZRCERBA The resolution was duly
BRRER passed as an ordinary
resolution.
2) BEBREEREES- (2)  Tore-elect Mr. Dou Jian as 5,841,269,512 301,575,701
director. (95.09%) (4.91%)
FRAZRCERBA The resolution was duly
ERRER passed as an ordinary
resolution.
3) BEBAZLTAEE- (3) Tore-elect Ms. Cheng Hong 5,855,122,149 287,723,064
as director. (95.32%) (4.68%)
FRAZRCERBA The resolution was duly
ERRER passed as an ordinary
resolution.
4) EBRERILEREZF- (4)  To re-elect Mr. Huang Ting 5,571,232,400 571,612,813
as director. (90.69%) (9.31%)
FRAZRCERBA The resolution was duly
ERRER passed as an ordinary
resolution.
5) ERBEEIERES- (5)  To re-elect Mr. Zhong Wei 5,772,024,702 370,820,511
as director. (93.96%) (6.04%)
FRAZRCERBA The resolution was duly
ERRER passed as an ordinary
resolution.
6 BEERLEERESR- (6)  To re-elect Mr. Sun Zhe as 6,109,215,392 33,629,821
director. (99.45%) (0.55%)
AAZRCERABA The resolution was duly
ERRER passed as an ordinary
resolution.
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SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

POLL RESULTS OF AGM (continued)

Ordinary Resolutions proposed
at the AGM

7)

®)

9

(10

(1)

To re-elect Mr. Frank Chan
Fan as director.

The resolution was duly
passed as an ordinary
resolution.

To re-elect Mr. Leong
Kwok-kuen, Lincoln as
director.

The resolution was duly
passed as an ordinary
resolution.

To re-elect Ms. Qin Hong as
director.

The resolution was duly
passed as an ordinary
resolution.

To authorise the board
of directors to fix the
remuneration of the
directors.

The resolution was duly
passed as an ordinary
resolution.

To re-elect Mr. Wei
Chenglin as director.
The resolution was duly
passed as an ordinary
resolution.

EHEMERAR

8 (%)

Number of Votes (%)

=924

For

6,112,073,914
(99.50%)

6,103,327,758
(99.36%)

6,142,813,213
(99.99%)

6,119,133,378
(99.61%)

5,884,579,523
(95.80%)

China Resources Land Limited

%
Against

30,771,299
(0.50%)

39,517,455
(0.64%)

32,000
(0.01%)

23,711,835
(0.39%)

258,265,690
(4.20%)
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SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

POLL RESULTS OF AGM (continued)
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BRRAFAERERRER (H)

REREFASLREEZ Ordinary Resolutions proposed FH(%)

EBRBR at the AGM Number of Votes (%)

B |
Against

4. BEREFHRSITMEBMA To re-appoint KPMG as the 6,105,611,795 37,233,418
ARRZEMEERESS auditor of the Company and to (99.39%) (0.61%)
ETEMS - authorise the board of directors

to fix their remuneration.
FRAZROEBABALT AR The resolution was duly passed as
S an ordinary resolution.

5. BREBFREBEFSEZ Ordinary Resolution in item No.5 6,140,457,606 2,387,607
ERRER (L TEZSE of the Notice of Annual General (99.96%) (0.04%)
BIARR B 2 — AR HE Meeting (To give a general
HY BT E@BEETRN mandate to the board of directors
BAZT) e to repurchase shares of the

Company not exceeding 10% of

the issued shares).
AAZRCERBALTAR The resolution was duly passed as
ZER- an ordinary resolution.

6. MERBAFREBEFCEZ Ordinary Resolution in item No.6 4,483,433,876 1,654,580,337
ERRER (L TESSH of the Notice of Annual General (73.04%) (26.96%)
IARRAE IR 2 — R I Meeting (To give a general
B HEETSHABET mandate to the board of directors
khanz=+) - to issue new shares of the

Company not exceeding 20% of
the issued shares).
KRERCEBBATEL The resolution was duly passed as
EE an ordinary resolution.
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SHAREHOLDERS" COMMUNICATION

AND INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Ordinary Resolutions proposed
at the AGM

7. Ordinary Resolution in item No.7
of the Notice of Annual General
Meeting (To extend the general
mandate to be given to the
board of directors to issue shares
by the addition of the shares
repurchased by the Company
under item No.5 above).

The resolution was duly passed as
an ordinary resolution.

Special Resolution proposed
at the AGM

8. To approve the proposed
amendments to the existing
memorandum of association
and articles of association of
the Company and to adopt
the amended memorandum
of association and articles of
association of the Company
in substitution for and to
the exclusion of the existing
memorandum of association
and articles of association of the
Company.

The resolution was duly passed as
a special resolution.

EHEMERAR

POLL RESULTS OF AGM (continued)

FH(%)
Number of Votes (%)
B

For

4,568,625,209
(74.43%)

E2 (%)
Number of Votes (%)
B

For

6,142,599,713
(100.00%)

China Resources Land Limited

1,569,
(25.57%)

&
Against

389,004

¢
Against

0
(0.00%)
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SHAREHOLDERS" COMMUNICATION

AND INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Bt ¥ B &% FINANCIAL CALENDAR
KARI2025F AR R E B FIE HHFT7
[N out as follows:

BZE2024512A31MBLEE

2024 F S HE N N E FEIKEE 2024 F R E

Announcement of 2024 annual results and proposal of 2024 final dividend

2024 FEHE N TE B R

2024 annual results analyst meeting

2024 FEFEERESEHM
Dispatch of 2024 Annual Report

BRBFRKENREELLBEP B

Latest time for lodging transfer documents for registration for Annual General Meeting

AT HERRBFASEINE ERENERE EIIERNBF FEA Y

Closure of Register of Members for Voting in Annual General Meeting

A% R IBF K2R CExH
Record Date for AGM

BERBFAE

Annual General Meeting

2024 R B B BR % B
Ex-dividend date for proposed 2024 final dividend

2024 F REARR B EE LB F B 8

Latest time for lodging transfer documents for registration for 2024 final dividend

R AT ER 2024 FRHAR BN ERE IR BS FE R H
Closure of Register of Members for 2024 final dividend

2024 F REAR B Wy RE 8% A HA
Record Date for 2024 final dividend

BREXREEEERRENRKEK A Y

Last day for shareholder to submit dividend currency election form

I3 2024 F REAME B H
Payment date for proposed 2024 final dividend
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The important shareholders’ dates in 2025 of the Company is set

Year ended
31 December 2024

2025/3/25
25-Mar-25

2025/3/26
26-Mar-25

2025/4/29
29-Apr-25

2025/5/30 T 485305
4:30 p.m. 30 May 2025

2025/6/2-6
2-6 June 2025

2025/6/2
2-Jun-25

2025/6/6
6-Jun-25

2025/6/12
12-Jun-25

2025/6/13 T T 48305
4:30 p.m. 13 Jun 2025

2025/6/16-19
16-19 Jun 2025

2025/6/16
16-Jun-25

2025/7/9
9-Jul-25

2025/7/25
25-Jul-25
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SHAREHOLDERS" COMMUNICATION

AND INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Bt % B3 (&)

FINANCIAL CALENDAR (continued)

Six months ended

EZ=2025%6 H30H IE~EA

2025 FHHEIRE N N EEIRZE 2025 FF EIE

Announcement of 2025 interim results and proposal of 2025 interim dividend

2025 F P HIREDITEMRE
2025 interim results analyst meeting

2025 F A HIRR BB B
Ex-dividend date for proposed 2025 interim dividend

2025 R HIR E MR AL BF B

Latest time for lodging transfer documents for registration for 2025 interim dividend

R AT W ER 2025 FH AR BN B R E B RN B FE R
Closure of Register of Members for 2025 interim dividend

2025 FF HiR E MR8k A HA
Record Date for 2025 interim dividend

2025 FH B E EE N
Despatch of 2025 Interim Report

BRERXREEEERRENKEKAH

Last day for shareholder to submit dividend currency election form

K% 2025 F B B H B
Payment date for proposed 2025 interim dividend

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited

30 June 2025

2025/8/26
26-Aug-25

2025/8/27
27-Aug-25

2025/9/9
9-Sep-25

2025/9/10 T 485309
4:30 p.m. 10 Sep 2025

2025/9/11-12
11-12 Sep 2025

2025/9/11
11-Sep-25

2025/9/26
26-Sep-25

2025/10/8
8-Oct-25

2025/10/27
27-Oct-25
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The Board is pleased to submit to the Shareholders its report and
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the detailed activities of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associates are shown on pages 273 to 283 of this annual
report.

The segment information of the Group is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and
discussion on the Group's prospects, the Group's compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant
impact on the Group, relationships with its key stakeholders and
environmental policy of the Group are provided in the Chairman'’s
Statement on pages 21 to 28, Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 29 to 43 and Corporate Governance Report
on pages 60 to 109 of this annual report. Description of key risk
factors and uncertainties that the Group is facing is provided in
Management Discussion and Analysis on page 43 and note 52
to the consolidated financial statements while the financial risk
management objectives and policies of the Group can be found
in note 53 to the consolidated financial statements. No significant
event affecting the Group has occurred since the end of the year
ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual
report.

PROFIT OF THE GROUP

The Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss set out
on page 147 shows the Group’s profit for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board recommended a final dividend (“2024 Final Dividend”)
of RMB1.119 per share for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB1.243 per share) payable on Friday, 25 July 2025 to
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company on Monday, 16 June 2025. The final dividend, if
approved, is payable in cash in HKD unless an election is made to
receive the same in RMB, which will be converted from RMB at
the average CNY Central Parity Rate announced by the People’s
Bank of China for the five business days prior to and including the
date of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
("Annual General Meeting”).

Unless a permanent election on dividend currency had been made
by Shareholders, Shareholders should complete the dividend
currency election form which is expected to be dispatched to
Shareholders in late June 2025 as soon as practicable after
the record date of 16 June 2025 to determine Shareholders’
entitlement to the 2024 Final Dividend, and lodge it to branch
share registrar of the Company, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 9 July 2025.

Shareholders who are minded to elect to receive all or part of
their dividends in RMB by cheques should note that (i) they should
ensure that they have an appropriate bank account to which
the RMB cheques for dividend can be presented for payment;
and (ii) there is no assurance that RMB cheques can be cleared
without material handling charges or delay in Hong Kong or that
RMB cheques will be honored for payment upon presentation
outside Hong Kong. The cheques are expected to be posted to
the relevant Shareholders by ordinary post on 25 July 2025 at the
Shareholders’ own risk.

If no duly completed dividend currency election form in respect
of that shareholder is received by the branch share registrar of
the Company by 4:30 p.m. on 9 July 2025, such Shareholder will
automatically receive the 2024 Final Dividend in HKD. All dividend
payments in HKD will be made in the usual way on 25 July 2025.
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DIVIDENDS (continued)

If Shareholders wish to receive the 2024 Final Dividend in HKD in
the usual way, no additional action is required.

Shareholders should seek professional advice with their own tax
advisers regarding the possible tax implications of the dividend
payment.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are
set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Summary of the principal properties of the Group is set out on
pages 300 to 319.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital during the year are set out in note 40
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES AT THE
COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent
the share premium and retained profits. Under the Companies
Act (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is available for paying distributions or
dividends to Shareholders subject to the provisions of the Articles
of Association and provided that immediately following the
distribution or dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Reserves of the Company available for distribution to Shareholders
as at 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB47,967,397,000 (2023:
RMB42,752,266,000).

—ZEUFEEIRE  ANNUAL REPORT 2024



=

REBEANERAREEBH ZESFN
T

HITESE

TG E (E£E)

"ELE (828) (W _mFE
+THAZ+T N \BHEE
WANTES IR
—F-MF+=-H
—+t=H®EGA
BmE)

RABLE CESE

BHEFRLE

PR1{Z o & (R=—Z=-m&E=A
—HEZT)

WL (R=—Z-—m&EN\A
+ - H#&T)

FHITES

=R E

B & (R=—Z=-m&HA
+XBEZEE)

Rt (R-—Z_mE+ A
—+NBEME)

B AE (R=—Z-—mE+_—A
—t++BET)

BAFHITESE

BELE

BHRE

BRI 5 &

PR E

=ML+

BEAREEH REABERRMARE
NVFME  RERAEERNBRBFAE
RESERBERNEG LEEEE -

BEARESHY REAESREANSE
MEIRMTE - FMTE - RRB/EE - 56
Rt RREXEFSNBRBEFAE
WERELAEBRN G EEEET-

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and at the date of
this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xin (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Rong (President) (appointed as an executive
Director on 28 October 2024 and
appointed as President on 23

December 2024)
Mr. Zhang Dawei (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Guo Shiging
Mr. Chen Wei (appointed on 1 March 2024)
Mr. Xie Ji (resigned on 12 August 2024)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Huang Ting

Mr. Wei Chenglin (appointed on 16 May 2024)
Ms. Cheng Hong (retired on 28 October 2024)
Mr. Dou Jian (resigned on 27 December 2024)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhong Wei

Mr. Sun Zhe

Mr. Frank Chan Fan

Mr. Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln
Ms. Qin Hong

As at the date of this report, pursuant to article 99 of the Articles
of Association, Mr. Xu Rong shall retire from office at the Annual
General Meeting and shall be eligible for re-election thereat.

As at the date of this report, pursuant to article 116 of the Articles
of Association, Mr. Li Xin, Mr. Zhang Dawei, Mr. Guo Shiging and
Mr. Chen Wei shall retire from office by rotation at the Annual
General Meeting and shall be eligible for re-election thereat.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 44 to 59.

DIRECTOR'S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), including interests
and short positions which the Directors and chief executive of
the Company are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO, which are required to be recorded in the register
maintained pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
required to be notified to Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers” (“Model Code”) contained in the
Listing Rules, were as follows:

(A) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY:

ZER
R%EE
Number of
ordinary
shares

HibHER

ﬁ i ALY
Approximate
percentage of
interest ¥

BRHR

Long position/
short position

=M e 40,000 0.00056
Li Xin Long position
B 5 Notes:

(1) BRI ROARRABRG REBRN B
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BEITROEBHENED L
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ANFHFE -
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(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
underlying shares of the Company to the total issued shares of the Company as
at 31 December 2024.

2) The above disclosed interests were held by director as beneficial owner.
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DIRECTOR'S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
(continued)
(B) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Company Limited (“CR
Jiangzhong"), an associated corporation of the Company:

BEER
R4 B E

HiG =S
BOHE®

HRE/ KB Number of Approximate
Long position/ ordinary percentage of
short position shares interest
FHHF oY=}
Guo Shiging Long position 60,000 0.0095
B 5 - Notes:
(1) TR RMEMSTHR G RIEEKRG (1 This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and

BERN T -_NE+_A=+—BEEH
TIHRBETRNDBENT DL -

()  FBEIFLAEWR B E AL B2 60,000
Bin 2 #as o
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underlying shares of CR Jiangzhong to the total issued shares of CR Jiangzhong
as at 31 December 2024.

(2) Mr. Guo Shiging was deemed to be interested in 60,000 shares through
interest of his spouse.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS
TO SUBSCRIBE FOR SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above in the section “Director’s Interests
in Securities”, the Company or any of its subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or its parent company was not a party to any
arrangement which enables the Directors to benefit from a
purchase of the shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2024 (including
sale of treasury shares). The Company did not have any treasury
shares (as defined under the Listing Rules) as at 31 December
2024.
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DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors had any service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION
OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual independence confirmation
from all independent non-executive Directors and confirms that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent and the
conditions pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules have been
fulfilled.

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
connection with business of the Company, to which the Company,
its parent company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries were a party
and in which any Director of the Company or his connected entity
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director should
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him or her
as a Director, in defending any proceedings, whether civil or
criminal, in which judgment is given in his favor, or in which he is
acquitted.

The Company maintains a directors’ liability insurance policy
against potential legal liabilities and related expenses that may be
incurred by the Directors in the event of any litigation.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2024.

DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the controlling
shareholder of the Company nor any of the Directors had any
interest in a business, apart from the business of the Group, which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the
Group'’s business, which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10
of the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions”, the “Continuing Connected Transactions” and
“Equity-Linked Agreement” as set out in this report, there were
no other contracts of significance between the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries, or any contracts of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisting at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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Name of Shareholders

Capacity

ERSE(EN)ERATA
(£E&E (&))"

CRH (Land) Limited ("CRHL")

£R(58)BRAF
(£EEE])"

China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited ("CRH") Mo

CRC Bluesky Limited ([ Bluesky ) )

CRC Bluesky Limited (“Bluesky”) "

ERROBRAR ([EBRR]) @

China Resources Inc. ("CRI") tote)

mEEEERAR ((HEEE]) "

China Resources Company Limited
("CRCL") (Note)

EGRBA

Beneficial owner
L UNGIL F

ERZL VNG $3
ERZL VNG $3

EHATE

Controlled company's interest

Controlled company's interest
Controlled company's interest

Controlled company's interest

SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (not being a
Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO:

R2024%

124318

FERG 8

HrBE

N

ERTRG

R

Percentage of

the aggregate

long position

in shares to

EER the issued

KSR shares of

#&/ %8  Numberof the Company

ERME Long position/ ordinary as at

Nature of interest short position shares 31/12/2024

EfED T8 4243788418 59.51%
Beneficial owner Long position

DAl T8 4246618418 59.55%
Corporation interest Long position

DAl TR 4246618418 59.55%
Corporation interest Long position

DAl TR 4246618418 59.55%
Corporation interest Long position

NelER TR 4246618418 59.55%

Corporation interest Long position

GEE

EHEB (B UREBERAARDNEEFAEERAA
4,243,788,418 1% LA 122,830,000 % - EH S B AEHE
B (Bi) URABERARZHE—IRR MEBEER
Bluesky #9 2 & Mff B A &) * Bluesky =& ZE B AR 15 ) 2 & M B8
AR MEERMAZRFREFNZEWERR - Bt -
FEHEE - Bluesky * EHRM - PEEHOERAHEAAN
A7]4,246,618,418 BRAX 17 B HE 2 -
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TR CNFERE

Note:

CRHL and Commotra Company Limited directly held 4,243,788,418 shares and 2,830,000
shares of the Company, respectively. CRH is the sole shareholder of CRHL and Commotra
Company Limited. Moreover, CRH is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bluesky, which is in turn
wholly-owned by CRI. CRI is wholly-owned by CRCL. Thus, CRH, Bluesky, CRI and CRCL are
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 4,246,618,418 shares in the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE
INTERESTS (continued)

Save as aforesaid, as at 31 December 2024, no other person had
any interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
which were recorded in the register kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES

Particulars regarding principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates are set out in note 51 on pages 273 to 283 of the
consolidated financial statements.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
ON CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Certain loan agreements and bond terms of the Group include
a condition that imposes one or more of the following specific
performance obligations on the Company’s controlling Shareholder:

(i) CRH remains the single largest Shareholder of the Company
which has an aggregate beneficial ownership (directly or
indirectly) of not less than 35% or 50% (as the case may be);

(i)  CRH maintains the direct or indirect ownership of at least
35% of the shares of the Company;

(i) CRH remains the single largest Shareholder (whether directly
or indirectly through its subsidiaries) of the Company;

(iv) CRH remains to be beneficially owned as to more than 50%
shareholding by the central government of the PRC;

(v)  CRH retains the ability from a practical perspective to control
the appointment by the Company'’s Shareholders of Directors
to the Board.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate reserved facility subject
to the above conditions was HK$42,169,875,982 (equivalent to
RMB39,050,882,034). Such reserved facility will expire on no later
than 28 October 2029.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, save as disclosed below in the
section “Continuing Connected Transactions” below, the
Company did not engage in any other connected transactions that
require disclosure in this report under Rule 14A.49 of the Listing
Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

INTRA-GROUP LENDING BETWEEN MEMBERS OF THE
CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

On 30 December 2022, the Company and CRH entered into a
new offshore framework loan agreement for three years ending
31 December 2025 and guarantee for advances in HKD, RMB
and United States Dollar. On the same date, the Company and
CRI also entered into a new onshore framework loan agreement
for three years ending 31 December 2025 and guarantee for
advances in RMB (such agreements shall collectively be referred to
as the “Framework Loan Agreements 2022").

The proposed annual lending caps for the Group for the term of
the Framework Loan Agreements 2022 are as follows:

BEt+t-A=1T-HLEENRFESHERLR
Daily lending cap for the year ending 31 December

2023

ARBBHETT
RMB million

5,500

2024
ARBBHETT
RMB million

2025
AREBHETT
RMB million

5,500 5,500

RRERRDAEHEBENIZRARE -
mEHEBFE AR R F459.55% Eam
WEREKRG FEEEBEAARRGREE
AT (CEER EMHR)

BIEETIRA B FERERG
BETREAAD AR ERERS -
—E - FERBEOFERRALT
RoPo=Ft-A=tEMBERR

RHRNE -

BHE-_ZT-_NWE+-_A=+—HLFE
N AEBE-_S-_—_FEZLEXHE
EHTRAEHEEETHBARRHAR
1 6ETTER -

120

CRI, being the controlling shareholder of CRH, which in turn holds
approximately 59.55% in the Company, therefore CRI and CRH
are connected persons of the Company as defined under the
Listing Rules.

Under the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated pursuant
to the Framework Loan Agreements 2022 constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company. Details of the Framework
Loan Agreements 2022 are set out in the continuing connected
transactions announcement of the Company dated 30 December
2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group provided
loans of RMB160 million to subsidiaries under China Resources
Group pursuant to the Framework Loan Agreements 2022.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS BETWEEN
MEMBERS OF THE CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

On 25 October 2022, the Company and China Resources Bank
Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank"”) entered into a new strategic cooperation
agreement for three years ending 31 December 2025 (the
“CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2022"); and the
Company and China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR
Trust”) entered into the a new strategic cooperation agreement
for three years ending 31 December 2025 (“CR Trust Strategic
Cooperation Agreement 2022") on the even date (CR Bank
Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2022 and the CR Trust Strategic
Cooperation Agreement 2022 collectively called "Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2022"). The proposed annual caps for
the Group for the term of the Strategic Cooperation Agreements
2022 are as follows:

BEt-A=t-RLFENSATRERLR

Maximum daily deposit amount
for the year ending 31 December

2023
AREBETT
RMB million

2024
AREBET
RMB million

2025
AREBETT
RMB million
4,700

4,700 4,700

ERRTMERERR

BEt-A=+t-HLEEZSHLELR
Maximum daily amount
for the year ending 31 December
2024

2023
ARBBET ARBBEET ARKBEETR

2025

RMB million RMB million RMB million

Financial services and products

AEBERHE SRR provided to the Group by
KEm CR Bank and CR Trust 5,000 5,000 5,000
AR AD BRI REBRMD D AIEAE  CRI, being a controlling shareholder of the Company, holds

EHIRITMEEETL70.28% X51%
R GEM AR AS - AR B AR B - 2 E IR
TREBEEABANARMNBEEAL -

BIEEMRE — T _FEBEERH
ZFHETRIERARNABZERER
:EZZEﬁWAW%%Wﬁ%ﬁ%$
mm_z::¢+ﬂ:+£am%%
%@ SRE([ZE-_—_FHEBRET
SRE]) o

approximately 70.28% and 51% of the registered capital of CR
Bank and CR Trust respectively, therefore CR Bank, and CR Trust
are connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Under the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under the
Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2022 constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company. Details of the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2022 are set out in the continuing
connected transactions announcement of the Company dated 25
October 2022 (the “2022 CCT Announcement”).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS BETWEEN
MEMBERS OF THE CHINA RESOURCES GROUP (continued)

During the period ended 31 December 2024, the highest
daily deposit amount by the Group with CR Bank was
RMB4,554,989,000, and the total interest income received from
the deposit amounted to RMB97,713,000.

During the same period, the maximum daily amount of financial
services and products provided to the Group by CR Bank and CR
Trust was RMB355,000,000, and the total income received from
such financial services and products was RMB1,045,000.

PROVISION OF CONSTRUCTION, DECORATION AND
FURNITURE SERVICES AND SALES OF CONSTRUCTION
MATERIAL FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

The Group has been, during the normal course of its businesses,
providing construction and decoration services and selling
furniture and construction material to members of the CRH Group
and associates of CRH. Construction services provided by the
Group include building construction, mechanical and electrical
engineering and installation as well as urban utilities. Decoration
services provided by the Group include interior design, decoration
and furnishing of offices, commercial and residential properties.
Furniture services provided by the Group include furniture
manufacturing and sale.

On 25 October 2022, the Company and CRH, entered into
the Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services and
Furniture Services and Sales of Construction Material Framework
Agreement 2022 (“Provision of Construction Services, Decoration
Services, and Furniture Services and Sales of Construction
Material Framework Agreement 2022") whereby the annual caps
under the existing provision of construction services, decoration
services and furniture services arrangements were renewed and
the annual caps in respect of the sales of construction material
were determined. Each contract of construction, decoration or
furniture services or sales of construction material will be entered
into on normal commercial terms and the prices will be either at
market prices or at prices no less favourable to the Group than
those available from independent third parties. The proposed
annual caps for the Provision of Construction Services, Decoration
Services and Furniture Services and Sales of Construction Material
Framework Agreement 2022 for the three years ending 31
December 2025 are as follows:
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
PROVISION OF CONSTRUCTION, DECORATION AND

FURNITURE SERVICES AND SALES OF CONSTRUCTION
MATERIAL FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

BEEt-A=t—-HLEE

For the year ending 31 December

2023 2024 2025

ARBBET AREKEBEELT ARKBEER

RMB million RMB million RMB million

RERE R Caps for Construction Services 1,800 1,800 1,800

KIERHE LR Caps for Decoration Services 650 650 650

BEMBEE LR Caps for Sale of Construction Material 200 200 200
BEMBRE LR Caps for Procurement of

Construction Material 800 800 800

EEROAEBEBRNZERBIER - ME
HEBE B AR RTF 4 59.55% - WE
B EEHEBEREZEBNBEAR
ARBNAEAL(EER ETREA -

BIBELETRA T —FRERS -
RERE N R ARG A M 2 & #Y
HERERBAEE TR HERARARFE
REXRS ARABER T %K

B ERESGE S _NENFE
FREZZE_NMFERIZFEUMNRAA
Hl

CRI, being the controlling shareholder of CRH, which in turn holds
approximately 59.55% in the Company, therefore CRI, CRH and
their respective associates are connected persons of the Company
as defined under the Listing Rules.

Under the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under
the Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services and
Furniture Services and Sales of Construction Material Framework
Agreement 2022 constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Company, and details of which are set out in the 2022 CCT
Announcement.

The annual cap in 2024 and the actual transaction amount of the
above continuing connected transactions during year 2024 are
shown as follows:

2024 £

2024 FE LR ERRZSH

Actual

Annual caps transaction

in 2024 amount in 2024

AREBETT AREBETT

RMB million RMB million

EER Construction Services 1,800 64

AR Decoration Services 650 67

BEMRBES Sale of Construction Material 200 0
BEMARE Procurement of Construction

Material 800 156
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

PROPERTY LEASING AND CONCESSIONAIRE
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

The Group has been, during the normal course of its businesses,
entering into leasing and concessionaire arrangements regarding
its property portfolio where members of the Group lease premises
to members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH.

On 25 October 2022, the Company and CRH entered into the
Leasing and Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2022 (“Leasing
and Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2022") whereby
the annual caps under the existing leasing and concessionaire
arrangements were renewed taking into account of the business
needs of members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH and
the expected level of services to be provided by the Group from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2025. The proposed annual caps
for the Leasing and Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2022
for the three years ending 31 December 2025 are as follows:

BE+-A=+—-HLFE
For the year ending 31 December

2023 2024 2025

ARBBET ARBEBEET ARBEBEET

RMB million RMB million RMB million

Caps for Leasing and Concessionaire

1,000 1,200 1,400

EREOAEBERENERRR  mE

& B A AR RFK)59.55% et - tHE
BRO EEHEBERESBENBEAR

AABNBAEAL(EER ETHRA) -

RIELETHRE — - —_FHERFTH
BERBHERTRZHBRARAFERE

CRI, being the controlling shareholder of CRH, which in turn holds
approximately 59.55% in the Company, therefore CRI, CRH and
their respective associates are connected persons of the Company
as defined under the Listing Rules.

Under the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under
the Leasing and Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2022
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company,
and details of which are set out in the 2022 CCT Announcement.
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Leasing and Concessionaire Services

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The annual cap in 2024 and the actual transaction amount of the
above continuing connected transaction during year 2024 are
shown as follows:

2024 &

Actual
transaction
amount in 2024
AREBET
RMB million

2024 FE LR

Annual cap
in 2024
ARERET
RMB million

1,200 523

%ﬂﬁﬁi&ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%&*ﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁ#@ﬁ%

RZTBE-_—_F+A-Z+HB AAFH
EZHMEHAERF([HERMERALDE]
VEHE_ZE-_RAF+_-_A=—HBHIt=
FENHERERRERGIELRHZ
([ZE2Z—FHERERRERBIELE
&l Bl HEREARRERD
¥REB(RB)ERAR(AHEEHER
SE) SRMAEEREH-—KREHESE
EEREBEMEEZARE AEBE -
TCFREHERE MREREIEE D
BHRMNEZSFTELREOT -

AREERERHERE

THE FACTORING SERVICES FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
AND THE LEASE FINANCING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

On 25 October 2022, the Company and China Resources Finance
Leasing Co., Ltd. (the “Lease Financing Company”) entered into
a lease financing and factoring services framework agreement
(“Lease Financing and Factoring Services Framework Agreement
2022") for the three years ending 31 December 2025. Pursuant
to which, the Lease Financing Company and China Resources
Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd (“CR Leasing Group”) will
provide general financial leasing, commercial factoring and related
consultation services to the Group. The proposed annual caps for
the Group for the terms of Lease Financing and Factoring Services
Framework Agreement 2022 are as follow:

2025 F
FELR
The annual
cap in 2025
AREBET
RMB million

2024 F
FELR
The annual
cap in 2024
AREBETT
RMB million

2023 F
FELR

The annual

cap in 2023
AREBET
RMB million

Transaction amount between the

RE,/ENNZF4%E  Group and CR Leasing Group
RAEERE,/FAM  during the period/year and
ERMAEEBEIAMF  interest and service fees paid
BRR%E by the Group to CR Leasing
Group during the period/year 2,000 2,000 2,000
EHEMAR AT China Resources Land Limited 125
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

THE FACTORING SERVICES FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
AND THE LEASE FINANCING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
(continued)

CRI, being a controlling shareholder of the Company, holds
approximately 81.36% of the registered capital of Lease Financing
Company, therefore Lease Financing Company is a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Under the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under the
Lease Financing and Factoring Services Framework Agreement
2022 constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company, and details of which are set out in the 2022 CCT
Announcement.

The annual cap in 2024 and the actual transaction amount of the
above continuing connected transaction during year 2024 are
shown as follows:

2024 &

Actual
transaction
amount in 2024
AREBET
RMB million

2024
FELER

The annual cap
in 2024
AREBET
RMB million

Transaction amount between the
Group and CR Leasing Group
during the period/year and interest
and service fees paid by the Group

AR %% & to CR Leasing Group during
the period/year 2,000 0
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Platform Services

Marketing Services

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

THE PLATFORM AND MARKETING SERVICES
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

On 25 October 2022, the Company and Huawang Data
Technology (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Huawang Data"”) entered into
another platform and marketing services framework agreement
(collectively called “Platform and Marketing Services Framework
Agreement 2022") for three years ending 31 December 2025.
Pursuant to which, the Group will provide the latter with
marketing services and assist the latter to the use of the particular
platform. The proposed annual caps for the Group for the terms
of Platform and Marketing Services Framework Agreement 2022
are as follow:

2023 2024 F 2025 &
FELR FELR FELR
The annual The annual The annual
cap in 2023 cap in 2024 cap in 2025
AEBBET ARKBELT ARKB&ER
RMB million RMB million RMB million
200 400 600

400 600 900

AN BIERE AR R E AR (D 15 B E R EUE
100% ;XM EA - SRR ETHR A - ZEAH
EEARNARNBEAL -

RIEEFTHRA 2 —_FFEREH
MEERBEZRITRETRIBERA
NAFERERS  BREABHIR_-F

TIERBBRERGNE -

CRI, being a controlling shareholder of the Company, holds 100%
of the registered capital of Huawang Data, therefore Huawang
Data is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

Under the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under the
Platform and Marketing Services Framework Agreement 2022
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company,
and details of which are set out in the 2022 CCT Announcement.

127

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited



A

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

FeEBER Y ()
S B 65 PRI AE 2R 1 3 (/)

B ERERSE S _NFNFE
FRE_FTE_NFERRZFSBHOT

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

THE PLATFORM AND MARKETING SERVICES
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT (continued)

The annual caps in 2024 and the actual transaction amounts of
the above continuing connected transactions during year 2024 are
set out below:

2024 ¢

2024 FE LR EBRRXZEH

The actual

The annual transaction

caps in 2024 amount in 2024

AREBETT ARKEBET

RMB million RMB million

& BH IR 75 Marketing Services 400 157
&R Platform Services 600 229

LR R E R IR IR G

R-ZE-_—_F+HA=-+HB AR aH
ZHHFRBERAR ((EBHEE ) ET
VEE_E-_RAF+-_A=—HI1F=1#
FEMEEELRBRERFEBELED S
([ZE2EZ—FERERE RERKRBIE
mipE]) RE-_Z - —FEZEMLRE
NEGRBIERDE AS5EAREK
BEREELEWBARIRENEME
B ST EREEERSE  TE28HE)
—MRERARRIERFNEERY  B21&
HE M SR BT ()
EERIRGE RREAZLRERS —ES
REE (NEMBEERRE B2
Fak#ES  UREREREREB
WM RARE : R(vEMRS - B21F
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IT SERVICES AND PRODUCTS PROCUREMENT
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

On 25 October 2022 the Company and China Resources Digital
Technology Co., Ltd (“CR Digital”) entered into an IT services and
products procurement framework agreement (“IT Services and
Products Procurement Framework Agreement 2022") for three
years ending 31 December 2025. Pursuant to IT Services and
Products Procurement Framework Agreement 2022, the Group
may from time to time procure the information technology,
digitalization and intelligentization services supplied by CR
Digital and its subsidiaries, which mainly include (i) maintenance
services for generic applications and operating systems, including
daily maintenance, procurement of software, and licensing
of software; (ii) specific implementation services, including
development and implementation of unified application systems;
(iii) IT infrastructure, including cloud platforms and hardware and
software, and technical support services for the informatisation of
traditional resource pool; and (iv) other services, including general
contracting projects such as data security, smart manufacturing
and smart parks, industrial internet of things (lloT), and collection
of externally applicable software licensing fees relating to
localization of software. The proposed annual caps for the Group
for the terms of IT Services and Products Procurement Framework
Agreement 2022 are as follow:

R CNFEEHRE  ANNUAL REPORT 2024



5 B B A2 5 (48

SELRBERERKBERGS (H)

RBEMMERERER

and Products

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

IT SERVICES AND PRODUCTS PROCUREMENT
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT (continued)

2023 F 2024 %
FELER FE LR

The annual The annual
cap in 2023 cap in 2024
AREBET ARBBEER
RMB million RMB million

2025 &£
FELR

The annual

cap in 2025
ARBEBET
RMB million

Procurement of IT Services

300 350 400

RN ) 22 A Pl R R B A 5 B B R BT

100% EME A - BABRE EMHRE - 2EH
R AERNRNBEEAL -
BiE FMEE —F - —F = 8RB

REmMRBER T’%E%IETT%@EHTQ%%
RARRFERERS  AEFHBIAR

“ESRBMERS NS o

B ERESFE S _NENFE
FRECE_NFERRZEBHOT

REBE MR EURTS M E

CRI, being a controlling shareholder of the Company, holds 100%
of the registered capital of CR Digital, therefore CR Digital is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Under the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under the
IT Services and Products Procurement Framework Agreement 2022
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company,
and details of which are set out in the 2022 CCT Announcement.

The annual cap in 2024 and the actual transaction amount of the
above continuing connected transaction during year 2024 are
shown as follows:

2024 F

Actual
transaction
amount in 2024
AREBET
RMB million

2024 &£
FELR

The annual
cap in 2024
AREBETT
RMB million

Procurement of IT Services
and Products

350 261
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

THE PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICES FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT

On 25 October 2022, China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services
Limited (“CR Mixc Lifestyle”) (a subsidiary of the Company) and
CRH entered into a property management services framework
agreement (collectively called “Property Management Services
Framework Agreement 2022") for three years ending 31
December 2025. Pursuant to Property Management Services
Framework Agreement 2022, CR Mixc Lifestyle and its subsidiaries
("CR Mixc Lifestyle Group”) may, from time to time, provide
property management services to the CRH Connected Persons for
the residential and/or commercial properties and other properties
developed and/or owned by them. The proposed annual caps
for the Group for the terms of Property Management Services
Framework Agreement 2022 are as follow:

2025 F
FELR
The annual
cap in 2025
ARBBET
RMB million

2024 5
FELR
The annual
cap in 2024
ARBBET
RMB million

2023 &
EE LR

The annual

cap in 2023
ARBEET
RMB million

Property management fees received
by the CR Mixc Lifestyle Group
(for commercial properties) 295 395 495

Property management fees received
by the CR Mixc Lifestyle Group
(for residential properties and
other non-commercial facilities) 570

1,000 1,250

EHEBNANRBDBITRAFTESR L
59.55% 1 ' At AR R RIAREE AL
(EEREMRAN -

RIBELEDRAY T —_FWEEER
BIERBZE TR IBRALNAEER
BRP AHHFEBIEN T __FEE
BEXHNE -
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CRH is interested in approximately 59.55% of the issued share
capital of the Company, and is therefore a connected person of
the Company as defined under the Listing Rules.

Under the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under
the Property Management Services Framework Agreement 2022
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company,
and details of which are set out in the 2022 CCT Announcement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

THE PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICES FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT (continued)

The annual cap in 2024 and the actual transaction amount of the
above continuing connected transaction during year 2024 are
shown as follows:

2024

Actual
transaction
amount in 2024
AREBET
RMB million

2024 ¥
FELER

The annual
cap in 2024
AREBET
RMB million

Property management fees received
by the CR Mixc Lifestyle Group (for

commercial properties) 395 197
EFHEREEEEKE® Property management fees received
MEEBRE (REEWER by CR Mixc Lifestyle Group
HMIEmEREMS) (for residential properties and
other non-commercial facilities) 1,000 364
ITEREEERBERG R CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT SERVICE FRAMEWORK

EA_?_P_TIE)“LH +HB - ARAIEE
Bﬁ% FYMHBEBERTERERER
T(F/ ﬂlI/FﬁEJ)Eﬁiﬂéfﬂﬁkﬂ(?@Eﬁi)ﬁ
~El(EBHSHEDITLIEREES
H&Ji‘kﬂi Sk (f_?_milhﬁi%ﬁ
BRBERBZE]D B FIBEER
EfBAr (TRYBEER]) REME
HEREEEMB AR ([EHRBEE])
RETEAREZEERSE (BEETRER
EHRREEEERERIHNERR
R TR IR A KB IEERE 1T BUR
Fr) B E B 2B OB RR 5 7 B A P
FEECH (B ZZE-_mF+A=+=1H)
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AGREEMENT

On 20 September 2024, Shenzhen Runzhi Urban Construction
Management Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Runzhi”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a construction
management service framework agreement with China Resources
Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited (“CR Beverage”) (the
“Construction Management Service Framework Agreement
2024"), pursuant to which Shenzhen Runzhi and its subsidiaries
("Shenzhen Runzhi Group”) has agreed to provide CR Beverage
and its subsidiaries (“CR Beverage Group"”) with construction
management services including but not limited to management
design and construction services, and handling of relevant
administrative procedures for CR Beverage Group's production
facilities and factories, for a term effective from the date on which
the shares of CR Beverage commenced trading on the Stock
Exchange, i.e. 23 October 2024, to 31 December 2026.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT SERVICE FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT (continued)

On 10 October 2024, the Company issued a supplementary
announcement regarding the basis of pricing policy and pricing
terms of the Construction Management Service Framework
Agreement 2024, which also provided additional information on
measures taken by the Group to ensure that service fees will be
on normal commercial terms and no less favourable than that
available to independent third parties.

The proposed annual caps for the 2024 Construction
Management Service Framework Agreement for the three years
ending 31 December 2026 are as follows (exclusive of tax):

BEt-A=+—-BHLEE
For the year ending 31 December
—E-ME

—_E_FE —E-RE
2024 2025 2026
(AREBEL) (ARE¥B&ET) (AEEBET)
(RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)

Project construction funds

(excluding interest) 410 1,650 1,060

RHIIERE Service fees for the provision of
BIRRI R B construction management services 10 50 30
fBEr Total 420 1,700 1,090

ZHEENARFERTRAFTHEED
59.55% i * Eitk BARARIMEEEATLT
(EERLEMHA) BREFSEENTA
ZHEEMNERKRRELNEBREE %
1TRE AN A BB 45 50.04% 1 25 (R RE 5%
AHRBEEITRAFTHEBON ER)
BEETRA - FEHKAAEREEDN
S - EEBEE AR RBEEAL

B FHHRE _E-_MFEIRREE
EBERGIEXRHBZE N SERARGE
BHER S —E_NEIRREEE
IREIER B ZENFBIARRAANE
“HFANAZTHABERERISRE
M—ZE-NMF+A+HHENFERE
RBEITERNENR -

132

CRH is interested in approximately 59.55% of the issued share
capital of the Company, and is therefore a connected person
of the Company as defined under the Listing Rules. As CRH is
also a controlling shareholder of CR Beverage and is interested
in 50.04% of the issued share capital (was interested in 60% of
the issued share capital as of the date of the relevant agreement)
of CR Beverage, hence CR Beverage is an associate of CRH and
therefore CR Beverage is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

Under the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under the
Construction Management Service Framework Agreement 2024
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company.
Details of the Construction Management Service Framework
Agreement 2024 are included in the Company’s continuing
connected transaction announcements dated 20 September 2024,
and the supplementary announcement dated 10 October 2024.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The annual cap in 2024 and the actual transaction amount of the
above continuing connected transactions during year 2024 are
shown as follows:

2024 F
ERRZeH
Actual
transaction
amount in 2024
AREBET
RMB million

2024 FE EBR

Annual Caps

in 2024
ARBBETT
RMB million

Project construction funds

(excluding interest) 410 148
RHEIERZEEERSEH Service fees for the provision of
AR 75 & construction management services 10 8
wEt Total 420 156
RIE FmRAIFE 14A 5516 - B 3E# 7T Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent

EXFENT LARERERS  BRW

T
1. ZEXRZEAKBNAEEBHRE
I'

2. REXRGREBR-—RAKERNE
ERTET R

3. ZERZHERBAEMIXZNMEE
T BRAFEE WAFAKRR

B BE BB o

non-executive Directors have reviewed the above-mentioned
continuing connected transactions, and confirmed that:

1. these transactions have been entered into in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group;

2. these transactions have been entered into on normal
commercial terms or better; and

3. these transactions have been entered into according to
the agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interest of the Shareholders as a
whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his letter containing his
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 120 to 133 (the
"Disclosed CCTs") in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules:

a. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him
to believe that the Disclosed CCTs have not been approved
by the Board.

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to the auditor’s attention
that causes him to believe that the transactions were not, in
all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group.

c.  nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes
him to believe that the transactions were not entered into,
in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions.

d. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him
to believe that the Disclosed CCTs have exceeded the annual
caps as set by the Company.

The related party transactions except those with joint ventures
and associates as disclosed in paragraph (A) in note 50 to the
consolidated financial statements also fall under the definition of
connected transaction or continuing connected transactions within
the meaning of the Listing Rules, and the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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MODEL CODE REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY THE DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in the
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors and relevant employees
of the Company. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors,
the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
under review.

SHARE SCHEME

The Company did not have any effective share scheme (as defined
under the Listing Rules) as at 31 December 2024.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there are sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the Group’s five largest suppliers
and five largest customers together accounted for less than 30%
of the Groups purchases and sales respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements have
been entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the
year.

CHARITABLE DONATION

In 2024, the Group’'s charitable donation amounted to
approximately RMB31.6578 million.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 320 of
this annual report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws in the Cayman Islands.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Group had no significant subsequent events since 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises Mr.
Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln (committee chairman), Mr. Zhong
Wei, Mr. Sun Zhe, Mr. Frank Chan Fan and Ms. Qin Hong, all are
independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Huang Ting, being
a non-executive Director. The Audit Committee has reviewed,
together with the management and the Company’s auditor, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing, risk management, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the consolidated financial statements
for the year.

AUDITORS

At the AGM of the Company held on 7 June 2024, KPMG was
re-appointed as the auditor of the Company. At the AGM of the
Company held on 7 June 2023, Messrs. Ernst & Young retired
as the auditor of the Company and KPMG was appointed as the
auditor of the Company.

The Company has appointed KPMG as the auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. KPMG will retire
at the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting and
is eligible to stand for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Li Xin
Chairman

China, 25 March 2025
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of China
Resources Land Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Land Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
("the Group”) set out on pages 147 to 299, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
and notes, comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

HEEZWERNTEEFE
AR M IRAME4 5 K26

NET REALISABLE VALUE OF PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Refer to notes 4, 5 and 26 to the consolidated financial

statements.

HEELEER

BEMEERTNAEEZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Key audit matter

R-ZZT-_WME+-_A=+—H ' S£BEHHEE
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As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate carrying
value of the Group’s properties for sale was
RMB440,829 million, representing 39% of the
Group's total assets as at that date. These properties
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

The calculation of the net realisable value for
properties for sale at the financial reporting date is
performed by management.

The calculation of the net realisable value of
properties for sale involves significant management
judgement and estimation in the costs to complete
each property development project as well as the
future net selling prices for properties for sale.
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Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value
of properties for sale included the following:

e assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the preparation and monitoring of
management budgets and forecasts of future net
selling prices, relevant taxes, construction and
other costs for properties for sale;

e  evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards;

e on a sample basis, assessing the reasonableness
of the future net selling prices with reference to
recently transacted prices for similar properties or
the prices of comparable properties located in the
vicinity of each development site;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
NET REALISABLE VALUE OF PROPERTIES FOR SALE

(continued)

BAREXEE

Key audit matter

BMNEEAPNAEEZEBIR

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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We identified the assessment of net realisable value
of the Group’s properties for sale as a key audit
matter because of the significance of properties for
sale to the total assets of the Group and because
the assessment is inherently subjective and requires
significant management judgement and estimation
which increases the risk of error or potential
management bias.
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on a sample basis, assessing the reasonableness
of the estimated construction costs to complete
each property development project by comparing
with the Group'’s latest budgets and challenging
management'’s latest budgets with reference
to signed construction contracts and/or unit
construction costs of recently completed projects
developed by the Group as well as the latest
progress of the property development project;

comparing the key assumptions included in the
prior year's calculation of the net realisable value
with the actual amounts for the current year to
assess the accuracy of management’s forecasting
and budgeting process and if there were any
indications of management bias; and

evaluating the selected sensitivity analyses
prepared by the management for the key
assumptions adopted in the net realisable value
estimations, including forecast selling prices and
costs to completion, as these assumptions would
materially affect the measurement of accounting
estimate.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Refer to notes 4, 5 and 15 to the consolidated financial

statements.

HEELEE

Key audit matter

BMEERTNAEEZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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The aggregate fair values of the Group’s investment
properties as at 31 December 2024 amounted to
RMB271,199 million, representing 24% of the
Group'’s total assets as at that date. The gain on
changes in fair values of the Group’s investment
properties recorded in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to RMB7,632 million.

The Group's investment properties, which are located
in Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom, mainly comprise shopping malls and office
premises. The fair values of the Group’s investment
properties were assessed by management based on
valuations prepared by external property valuers.
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Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of
investment properties included the following:

e assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the preparation and monitoring of valuation
of the Group's investment properties;

e  assessing the external qualified property valuers’
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

e with the assistance of our internal property
valuation specialists and on a sample basis,
discussing with the external property valuers their
valuation methodology and the key estimates
and assumptions adopted in the valuations; and
evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards
and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions, i.e. capitalisation rates and market
rents adopted in the valuations by comparison
with market data;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

BMNEELPNAEEZBIR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Key audit matter
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We identified valuation of the Group’s investment
properties as a key audit matter because of the
significance of investment properties to the Group's
consolidated financial statements and because the
determination of the fair values involves significant
judgement and estimation, including selecting the
appropriate valuation methodology and estimating
the capitalisation rates and market rents.
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comparing tenancy information, including
committed rents, provided by the Group to the
external property valuers with existing tenancy
information kept by management, on a sample
basis; and

assessed the reasonableness of the disclosures
of the valuations of investment properties with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

PROVISION FOR LAND APPRECIATION TAX (“LAT"”) IN
CHINESE MAINLAND

Refer to notes 4, 5 and 10 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RREELEER

BMEERTNAERZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Key audit matter
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LAT in Chinese Mainland is one of the main
components of the Group’s taxation charge.
LAT is levied on sale of properties at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% based on the
appreciation of land value. At the end of each
financial reporting period, management estimates
the provision for LAT based on its understanding
and interpretation of the relevant tax rules and
regulations and the estimated total sales of
properties less total deductible expenditure, which
includes lease charges for land use rights, property
development costs and borrowing costs. When the
LAT is subsequently determined, the actual payments
may be different from the estimates.

We identified provision for LAT in Chinese Mainland
as a key audit matter because of its significance to
the consolidated financial statements and because
the estimated provisions for LAT are based on
management’s judgement and interpretation of the
relevant tax laws and regulations and practices.
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Our audit procedures to assess the provision for LAT in
Chinese Mainland included the following:

e assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the calculation of the estimated LAT
provision;

e with assistance of our internal taxation specialists,
on a sample basis, evaluating the Group's LAT
provisions as at 31 December 2024 by challenging
the reasonableness of the Group'’s judgements of
the value of the deductible expenditure based on
our experience, knowledge and understanding of
the practices of the application of the relevant tax
laws by the various local tax bureaus; and

e re-calculating, on a sample basis, the provision
for LAT and comparing the provision made by
management with our calculations.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Wong Chun Pong.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2025
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HEARNEE

BEt+t-BA=+—HLEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2024

2023
ARBFIT
RMB'000

P 5
NOTES

ARBT T
RMB’000

278,799,425
(218,465,920)

251,137,103
(187,975,189)

Revenue 6
Cost of sales

Gross profit 60,333,505 63,161,914
Gain on changes in fair value of

investment properties 15 7,632,228 8,000,785
Gain on changes in fair value of

financial instruments at fair value

through profit or loss (“FVPL") 159,774 51,010
Other income, other gains and losses 7 6,691,518 8,588,383
Selling and marketing expenses (7,794,380) (7,301,639)
General and administrative expenses (6,000,911) (6,678,829)
Share of profits less losses of investments

in joint ventures 19 (604) 2,800,822
Share of profits less losses of investments

in associates 20 388,836 (440,634)
Finance costs 9 (3,181,775) (1,743,918)

58,228,191
(24,549,743)

Profit before taxation
Income tax expenses 10

66,437,894
(29,134,131)

Profit for the year 11 33,678,448 37,303,763

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

25,577,359
8,101,089

31,365,372
5,938,391

33,678,448 37,303,763

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY

AR®RT
RMB

Basic and diluted 13

3.59
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE+t-—BA=+—HLEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2024 2023
ARTRT AR%®TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
F R A Profit for the year EXXyL:WVERN 37,303,763
H b2 mE = Other comprehensive income
HEnfgEESIEE B EE  Items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
N EE A RBEREH Fair value hedges and cash flow hedges:
FREAHEFTEQAFE  Changes in fair value of hedging
SENRBPH D REK instruments due to forward
i elements and effective portion
arising during the year 96,873 86,171
MEBINEBREEZER Exchange differences on translation
=5 of foreign operations 110,241 229,283
RBEFRE A REESIEEHE2ZE  Other comprehensive income that may
Y E fth 2 U as be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent years 207,114 315,454
AER/RTEESEEEmH Item that will not be reclassified
EH subsequently to profit or loss
?ﬁﬁﬁiﬁi@ﬁ@%@”&ﬁ?ﬁﬁ Loss on changes in fair value of equity
NHEINRZRATIAZ instruments designated at fair value
NEZEERE - Mk through other comprehensive income
HIE A R ¥ 8,068,000 7T ("FVOCI"”), net of tax of RMB8,068,000
(ZZ-=%F: AR¥% (2023: RMB7,625,000)
7,625,000 7T) (22,970)
REBEFEETEEIEE Other comprehensive loss that will not be
BEamEMmEHEER reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent years (16,518) (22,970)
FRHAM 2 E R &= Other comprehensive income for the year 190,596 292,484
FAZER=ELTE Total comprehensive income for the year EERILTN Y 37,596,247
WTALTE(hZEKZE4EE ©  Total comprehensive income attributable to:
ZiNNEIEF SN Owners of the Company 25,743,952 31,604,881
IV Non-controlling interests 8,125,092 5,991,366
33,869,044 37,596,247
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FRBEE
S
REWE
BVEE
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EEREBEMEE K
BRAVEIRZBEATA
EHIER
FRBEETRNFR
ELRAEE

JRE Ui B g 5 SRR

JE N FE YR R HE 2 R IR

REBEE
HIHEZWE
Hiplr &

FEURR R - E b LR IR
BNRERT
BHRBERAKIKAN

EHFR
BAFEFARR
TREE
TEEMITA

& U B B 05 5K IR

& Ui FE 22 R HE 2 R IR

BNHIA
R GIRITIE R
RBehkBReEE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Right-of-use assets
Goodwill
Investments in joint ventures
Investments in associates
Equity instruments designated
at FvOClI
Time deposits
Prepayments for non-current assets
Deferred taxation assets
Amounts due from related parties
Amounts due from non-controlling
interests

CURRENT ASSETS

Properties for sale

Other inventories

Trade receivables, other receivables,
prepayments and deposits

Contract assets and contract costs

Time deposits

Financial assets at FVPL

Derivative financial instruments

Amounts due from related parties

Amounts due from non-controlling
interests

Prepaid taxation

Restricted bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

P =
NOTES

14
15
16
17
18
19
20

21
22
23
24
25

25

26

27
28
22
29
25
25

30
30

—E-—4F
+-RA=+—8H
31 December
2023
ARBTT
RMB’'000

—E-EF
+=A=+-H

31 December

2024
AR®T T
RMB’000

15,008,885 15,827,017
PRV OES 262,808,194
1,249,541 1,519,911
5,020,269 5,282,553
1,809,503 1,911,884
57,709,737 59,707,377
27,382,573 25,937,418
1,011,287 1,043,560
4,513,706 203,097
6,153,980 2,427,392
5,105,069 13,979,382
16,534,957 11,253,594

5,268,986 4,914,883

CAVA: YR 406,816,262

CoOiiyET S 524,332,647
420,846 407,467
52,762,416 51,301,058
3,268,599 2,941,068
350,017 4,052,766
5,384,771 3,001,429
- 10,415
18,170,742 27,200,300
39,603,554 38,965,360
16,430,598 17,807,894
1,912,098 1,665,351

 EYWi-LE oy 112,675,092

VAN PIGEY P 784,360,847

FEWHEMAMRAE  China Resources Land Limited
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P
NOTES

REBAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
FERTER R R LM EfTBRIB  Trade and other payables 31
MEBE Lease liabilities 17
aHaE Contract liabilities 32
BATEGFABERZ Financial liabilities at FVPL

TRiBE 29
&1~ BABSE 75 5k IB Amounts due to related parties 33
JE A~ 3 428 R 2 TR 1E Amounts due to non-controlling

interests 33
JE 1~ 3¢ 18 Taxation payable 34
RITREMEE — —F Bank and other borrowings — due

A 21| 58 within one year 35
BEZER — —FRIH Senior notes — due within one year 36
FE T HA R & 5 Super short-term commercial papers 37
REIRE — —FANEIH Medium-term notes — due within

one year 38
REEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS
EERERRBER TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

i EQUITY
LN Share capital 40
fFE Reserves
RARHER AR RER Equity attributable to owners

of the Company
FEIE AR M Non-controlling interests 51
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

—E-EF
+=A=+-H

31 December

2024
ARBT T
RMB’000

133,489,834
886,387
215,482,053

34,793
38,565,737

14,491,371
30,990,067

48,949,481
6,000,000

14,473,386
503,363,109

207,063,363
625,030,559

673,829
271,833,519

272,507,348
124,232,249

396,739,597

—Eo=F

+=A=+—H

31 December

2023
ARBFIT
RMB’000

158,671,034
1,580,663
267,618,392

114,025
39,185,761

17,343,703
35,405,452

42,576,778
7,208,121
6,000,000

8,501,928

584,205,857

200,154,990

606,971,252

673,829
264,193,354

264,867,183
119,281,871

384,149,054
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HEB®E
BRFEFABRRZ
TRAE

F& 1< BB 77 50
AREEEI e 5k O]

RHIEN R
EXERARE

ESZRERERBAER

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Bank and other borrowings — due
after one year

Senior notes — due after one year

Medium-term notes — due after
one year

Lease liabilities

Financial liabilities at FVPL

Amounts due to related parties

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests

Long-term payables

Deferred taxation liabilities

TOTAL OF EQUITY AND

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

P =
NOTES

35
36

38
17

29
33

33
39
24

—E-—4F
+-RA=+—8H
31 December
2023

ARET T
RMB'000

—E-EF
+=A=+-H

31 December

2024
AR®T R
RMB’000

QLN 113,537,417
6,896,503 6,769,877
35,377,035 47,685,216
5,625,978 5,469,413
151,209 221,131
626,418 9,101,388
998,769 1,150,293
2,676,330 4,371,525

27,853,279 34,515,938

IRy 222,822,198

(PR EDVELTE 606,971,252

HNE14TE29H 2 FRAVERRER
—_E_RF=A-_t+EHBHBEEeHE
RRETE  WHUATATRRESE

£
LI XIN

E

Director

ZEHEMAPR AR China Resources Land Limited

The consolidated financial statements on pages 147 to 299 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25
March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

{23
XU RONG
-

Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

E-T-mE+-A=t+—AILFE

RZZ-mE-A-H
ERigF
EREENYATIEATEEY
HESBHS RERS

REENRBHEL L ERZR

EEABAADRARERATE

B RATEZ ATERD
BR BHETE

EREEREER

BErlEg
WK B AR (3 45)
HERBRARARENLE

RERHE
SRR

BEXEALRIA
HXBERTIREE AR
LHE

FERERRS
“FCRERERE
“R-CERERE

RZEZME+ZA=1-A

At 1 January 2024

Profit for the year

Changes in fair value of hedging instruments
due to forward elements and effective
portion during the year

Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations

Loss on changes in fair value of equity instruments

designated at FVOC, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Appropriation of retained profits

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 45)

Partial disposal of subsidaries without loss of
control

Capital contribution from non-controlling
interests

Redemption of perpetual capital instrument

Distribution to holders of perpetual
capital instrument

Dividend to non-controlling interests

Interim dividend for 2024

Final dividend for 2023

At 31 December 2024

152

T NFEHRE

Ba  RfeR

Share
capital
ARBTT
RMB'000

Share
premium
ABBTT
RMB'000

reserve
BB
RMB'000

673829 58,529,724

96,873

96,873

673829 58,529,724

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Hrih

Hedging

(96,873)

ARARAAES

Attributable to owners of the Company

Ejifat

Translation
reserve
ARBTT
RMB'000

(382,085)

86,238

(153,59)

(449,442)

Rt &l
Other
reserves
ARBTT
RMB'000
(H&a)

(note a)

16,364,206

(16,518)

(16,518)

1,932,784

18,287,560

Retained
profits
ARHTT
RMB'000

182,396,946

25,571,359

25,571,359

(1,932,784)

(292,768)

(1,408,572)
(8,874,504)

195,465,677

&

BRI18 h
Perpetual
capital
instrument
ARHTT
RMB'000
(&b)
(note b)

Total
ARBTT
RMB'000

7381436 264,867,183

25,571,359

96,873

86,238

(16,518)

25,743,952

(7.381.436)  (7,535,031)

(292,768)

(1,408,572)
(8,874,50)

272,507,348

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

FERER
Non-
controlling
interests
ARBT R
RMB'000

119,281,871

8,101,089

8,125,092

468,259
347,382

1,181,950

(5,172,305)

124,232,249

&t

Total
AEBT
RMB'000

384,149,054

33,678,448

96,873

110241

(16,518)

33,869,044

468,259

354470

1,181,950
(7,535,031)

(292,768)
(5,172,305)
(1,408,572)
(8,874,504)

396,739,597
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ERiaF
EREEHHRTIANTERY
HESHS RERDS

BEBNERHELZERER

REABAA2ARERATE

I RATEZ ATERD
BR BHETR

ERRERELR

REEHER

WEHEAR

BEHELTRR

HERBRARARENLE
REEHE

FERERLE

RXEERTARBARL
LAk

FERERRE

“E-CEhHRE

“ICCERERE

RZBZ=F1-A=1-A

At 1 January 2023

Profit for the year

Changes in fair value of hedging instruments
due to forward elements and effective
portion during the year

Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations

Loss on changes in fair value of equity instruments
designated at FVOCI, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Appropriation of retained profits

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries

Partial disposal of subsidiaries without loss of
control

Capital contribution from non-controlling
interests

Distribution to the owners of perpetual
capital instrument

Dividend to non-controlling interests

Interim dividend for 2023

Final dividend for 2022

At 31 December 2023

Share
capital
AREFR
RMB000

Share
premium

RMB'000

G

Hedging
reserve

| E#

Attributable to owners of the Company

EiGE  EtEE
Other
Teserves
ARETT
RMB'000
D)

(note a)

Translation
resenve
ARETT
RMB'000

(REER

Retained

Perpetual
capital
instrument
AREFT
RMB'000
((GRD)

Total
ARBTT
RMB'000

controlling
Interests
A\RBFT
RIVB'000

RVB'000

673829 58529724 (183,044) (558393)  11,653327 166,550,190 7,381,436  244047,069 97,659,981 341,707,050
= = = = - 31365372 - 31365372 5938391 37303763
= = 86,171 = = = = 86,171 = 86,171
= = = 176,308 = = = 176,308 52,975 229283
= = = = (22970) = = (22.970) = (22.970)
= = 86,171 176,308 (22970)  31,365372 - 31604881 5991366 37,596,247
= = = - Ap60669  (4660,669) = = = =
- - - - - - - - 3076202 3,076,202
= = = = 66,530 = = 66,530 (2,161,646)  (2,095,116)
= - = = 6,650 = = 6650 2035284 2041934
= = = = = = = - 15704364 15704364
= = = = = (279,246) = (279,246) = (279,246)
= = = = = = = - (3023680  (3,023,680)
- - - - - (14373 - (1413713 - (1413713
= = = = - (9,164,989) - (9,164,989) - (9,164,989)
673829 58529724 (96,873) (382,085) 16364206 182,396,946 7,381,436 264,867,183 119,281,871 384,149,054
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(a)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Other reserves mainly comprise capital reserve, general reserve, special reserve, merger
reserve, revaluation gain of property, plant and equipment when transferred to
investment properties and changes in fair value of equity instruments designated at
FVOCI.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"), the Group's subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland shall set aside 10% of their
profit after taxation for the general reserve until the general reserve reaches 50% of
the registered capital of the respective subsidiaries. The reserve can only be used, upon
approval by the board of directors of the Chinese Mainland subsidiaries and by the
relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses or increase capital.

The special reserve represents amounts arising from the acquisition or disposal of equity
interests in subsidiaries without loss of control. It represented the difference between
the consideration paid or received and the adjustment to the non-controlling interests
of the relevant subsidiaries.

This perpetual capital instrument was issued by the Company. The instrument was
redeemed during the year end 31 December 2024.
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31 December 31 December

2024 2023
i AR®TFR ARETET
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

LEERDREREFE

Net cash generated from operating
activities

LETEFMERSE Cash generated from operating
activities 43 69,723,129 70,328,298
EfNFEHR Income tax paid (PEREVE:LE)] (22,976,175)

46,585,276 47,352,123

REETEBFIAREFE Net cash used in investing activities
ME - BB REERR Payment for property, plant and
equipment (892,425) (1,131,428)

HEE - BEREHE Proceeds from disposal of property,

Fr 15 308 plant and equipment 313,247 261,743
BEEENK Payment for intangible assets (73,242) (129,038)
REMEN K Payment for investment properties GUREREY)  (22,769,672)
AG & R E A A Capital injection to joint ventures

AE and associates (CXcy¥I)]  (9,345,771)
BWAEDENEE/AE  Dividend received from joint ventures

A% 8 and associates 664,502 1,207,769
RAEE B Repayments from related parties 3,252,655 6,222,631
R T IR i Advances to non-controlling interests GOl 9)  (16,586,088)
B W FE Interest received 3,529,115 2,153,433
& B A AR 2 Net cash acquired from disposal of

W FER subsidiaries 44 8,633,137 4,161,642
AEZUWEN B AR Net cash paid for acquisition of

ZIREFEE subsidiaries in current year 45 (441,916) (216,722)
BEFREWEHE QR Payment for considerations of

REMNRK subsidiaries acquired in prior year (3,635,246) —
BE(BE)BEMER Net redemption/(purchase) of

FEE wealth management product 768,087 (1,458,589)
BEABMTFRFE Net purchase of structured deposits (3,145,000) (330,000)
17 IE BA 17 3K Placement of time deposits (CPALEY)]  (1,600,000)
1R EUE BifF 3K Withdrawal of time deposits 8,470,670 —
(TFHR),/ $R B2 BR (Placement)/withdrawal of restricted

RITTERK bank deposits (248,708) 257,645

(PR PANER)]  (39,302,445)
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558

—E-=4F
+-A=+—H
31 December
2023
ARETT
RMB’'000

—EMEF
+t=A=t+-H

31 December

2024
AR®T T
RMB’000

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings
Repayments of bank and other borrowings
Proceeds from issuance of super

134,349,026
(93,929,554)

99,306,316
(92,129,809)

short-term commercial papers 12,000,000 9,500,000
Repayments of super short-term

commercial papers (12,000,000) (3,500,000)
Proceeds from issuance of medium-term

notes 2,000,000 12,000,000
Repayments of medium-term notes (8,500,000) (8,800,000)
Repayments of senior notes (7,111,320) -
Redemption of perpetual capital

instrument (7,535,031) -
Distribution to the owners of perpetual

capital instruments (292,768) (279,246)
Payment for principal portion of lease

liabilities (843,691) (1,050,797)
Finance costs paid (G EY()] (10,225,865)
Repayments to related parties (5,289,154) (5,872,294)
(Repayments to)/advances from

non-controlling interests (501,250) 11,258,155
Capital contribution from

non-controlling interests 3,906,143 8,711,738

Dividends paid to owners of the

Company (e Xy[3] (10,578,701)
Dividends paid to non-controlling

interests (1,664,173) (969,410)
Cash consideration paid upon acquisitions

of additional interest in subsidiaries (440,610)

Proceeds from partial disposal of

subsidiaries without loss of control 354,470 2,041,934

(5,691,748) 8,971,411

18,472,443 17,021,089

112,675,092 95,544,576

146,542 109,427

A EXWALE oy 112,675,092

RERRSEEEMFE Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents

FzRekREEE Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

HNETE R BB E Effect of change of foreign exchange
rates

FRZEGRREEHE Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the year
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GENERAL INFORMATION

China Resources Land Limited (“The Company”) is a public
limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The ultimate
holding company of the Company is China Resources
Company Limited (“CRCL"), a company incorporated in the
PRC. The intermediate holding company of the Company
is China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH").
The immediate holding company of the Company is CRH
(Land) Limited, a limited company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands. The address of the registered office
of the Company is disclosed in the corporate information
of the annual report and the principal place of business of
the Company is the same as its address of the head office
disclosed in the corporate information of the annual report.
The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) are development
property business, investment property business, asset-light
management business and eco-system elementary business
in the PRC.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Material accounting policies adopted by the group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 comprise the Group and the Group’s
interest in associates and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that the
following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below:

e investment property, including interests in leasehold
land and buildings held as investment property where
the Group is the registered owner of the property
interest;

e other freehold land and buildings, including interests
in leasehold land and buildings where the group is the
registered owner of the property interest;

e investments in debt and equity securities; and
e derivative financial instruments.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 5.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements for the
current year:

o Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current (“2020 amendments”) and amendments
to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements — Non-
current liabilities with covenants (“2022 amendments”)

e  Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments. Disclosures — Supplier
finance arrangements

e Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in a
sale and leaseback

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
Group has not applied any new standard or amendments
that is not yet effective in the current accounting year. The
directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: disclosures — Supplier
finance arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure requirements to
enhance transparency of supplier finance arrangements and
their effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure
to liquidity risk. The Group has provided the new disclosures
in note 31(a).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included
in the consolidated financial statements from the date on
which control commences until the date on which control
ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction
gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

For each business combination, the group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI") either at fair
value or at the NCl's proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets. NCl are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
company. NCI in the results of the group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
NCI and the equity shareholders of the company. Loans from
holders of NCI and other contractual obligations towards
these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position depending on
the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises
the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related
NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control
is lost. In the company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group classified as held for sale).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

EHEMARAT  China Resources Land Limited 161



f T YU B e o B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

162

HOK & 5 EOR (3)

EBEHREE

XA UKREEAR - BEAE
RWEEHO A FEAE ZAF
BERASEEENEENKERH
B R AE - ANER [ (R 15 R O R
B AFAENBENMANE B RIRE
KU B T 12 I RE P B TT AR RO 4B AT ©
REXBAMHT AEEEEES
AR FEIRREE T BRNEE
FENEBAELE FFERBREES
B SRR AR - BN RS 0
THREARBERRULADEEE
FEMRA A ERED - FRITARE
smE)— Y EMAKE D IR A FE
AR WEHEERARELERT B
P °

ERRBEN—AAS N EERE —
RERRAR—REEBE MK
EHRIEELNEENBERNER
AEERR/ECWE —HERK -

EARKBYE -BEEXBE  8RIE
BAGRR  RIE B R EERE
KAABGRME - FHEBAENSRE
ENAE  MEHEENBNIEE -
HREBEEMRBARIANT D
BHBRAAITETR -

WMEHEHIBRET  kKAFEA
B AR #E AU EE B EA) R P EE &
B MEMKRIEERERKPR
EEE/IL\O

WL KEENTARARERK
BEHERATERR DEREE
HBENXAREREAFENE
BUARFEFE THERRER-
DRERERNIAREBEAZTHA
B HEREERERAR -

—EomEERs

4.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
(continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on
the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESSES UNDER
COMMON CONTROL

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements item of the combining businesses in which the
common control combination occurs as if they had been
combined from the date when the combining businesses first
came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining businesses are consolidated
using the existing book values from the controlling party’s
perspective. The assets and liabilities of the acquired business
should be recorded at the book values as stated in the
consolidated financial statements of the controlling party (i.e.,
it will require recording of the fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the acquired business at the date of
original acquisition from third parties by the controlling party,
any remaining goodwill arising on the previous acquisition
and minority interests recorded in the consolidated financial
statements of the controlling party). No amount is recognised
in respect of goodwill or gain on bargain purchase at the time
of common control combination. The adjustments to eliminate
share/registered capital of the combining businesses against
the related investment costs have been made to other reserves
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income include
the results of each of the combining businesses from the
earliest date presented or since the date when the combining
businesses first came under the common control, where this
is a shorter period.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the businesses had been
combined at the end of the previous reporting period or when
they first came under common control, whichever is shorter.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY NOT
CONSTITUTING A BUSINESS

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
the investment properties which are subsequently measured
under the fair value model and financial assets and financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance
of the purchase price is then allocated to the other individual
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative
fair values at the date of purchase. Such transaction does not
give rise to goodwill or gain on bargain purchase.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the associate or joint venture other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group'’s
share of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint venture.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The requirements of HKFRS 9 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint
venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date
the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposal of the
relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate or joint venture on
the same basis as would be required if that associate or
joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture
that are not related to the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until
it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Revenue arising from the sale of properties developed for
sale in the ordinary course of business is recognised when
the property is delivered to customer, or deemed as accepted
according to the contract, whichever is earlier, which is the
point in time when the customer has the ability to direct
the use of the property and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits of the property.

Revenue from construction and decoration services is
recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the services. The
input method recognises revenue based on the proportion of
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs for
satisfaction of the construction services.

Revenue from management and hotel services is recognised
over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis.

Revenue from sales of goods (including furniture and other
inventories) is recognised at the point in time when control
of the goods is transferred to the customer, generally on the
acceptance of the goods by the customer.

Revenue from Other Sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

CONTRACT ASSETS

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject
to impairment assessment, details of which are included in
the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

CONTRACT COSTS

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as
an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@ The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to
satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(©) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a systematic
basis that is consistent with the pattern of the revenue to
which the asset related is recognised. Other contract costs
are expensed as incurred.

LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

THE GROUP AS LESSEE

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a
lease component, the Group adopted the practical expedient
not to separate non-lease components and to account
for the lease component and the associated non-lease
components (e.g., property management services for leases
of properties) as a single lease component.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

LEASES (continued)
THE GROUP AS LESSEE (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. When a right-of-
use asset meets the definition of investment property, it
is included in investment properties. The corresponding
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, and
subsequently measured at fair value, in accordance with
the Group’s policy for “Investment properties”. Right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Land use rights 40 years
Buildings 3 to 20 years
Machinery 2 to 10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

LEASES (continued)
THE GROUP AS LESSEE (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

(0

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there
is @ modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in
the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option, elected by class of underlying asset). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets (elected on a lease-by-lease basis). Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

LEASES (continued)
THE GROUP AS LESSOR

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in revenue in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is
classified as a finance lease or operating lease with reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the
head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies
the on-balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group
classifies the sublease as an operating lease.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currencies of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised in
the respective functional currency at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for:

e  exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future
productive use, which are included in the cost of those
assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to
interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

e exchange differences on transactions entered into in
order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

e exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur
(therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary
items.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only
if there is a change to the underlying transactions, events
and conditions relevant to the group entity. The group
entity applies the translation procedures applicable to the
new functional currency prospectively from the date of
the change. At the date of the change, the group entity
translates all items into the new functional currency using
the prevailing exchange rate at that date and the resulting
translated amounts for non-monetary items are treated as
their historical cost.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e., RMB), using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expense items are translated at the exchange rates that
approximate to prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e., a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a
joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e., partial disposals of associates or
joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred taxation.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation”
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
because of income or expense that is taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred taxation is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
taxation liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred taxation assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred taxation
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

TAXATION (continued)

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred taxation liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation liabilities
or deferred taxation assets for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and right-
of-use assets.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred taxation arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than properties
under construction as described below) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than construction in progress less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Buildings under development for future owner-
occupied purposes

When buildings are in the course of development for
production or for administrative purposes, the amortisation
of land use rights provided during the construction period
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e., when
they are in the location and condition necessary for them
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation (including leasehold properties
held as right-of-use assets and properties under construction
for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are included
in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

Investment properties under construction are transferred to
properties for sale when and only when there is a change in
use evidenced by the commencement of development with a
view to sale. The property’s cost for subsequent accounting
shall be its fair value at the date of change.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group transfers a property for sale to investment
property when there is a change of intention to hold the
property to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather
than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which is
evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to
another party. Any difference between the fair value of the
property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group
accounts for such property in accordance with the policy
stated under “Property, plant and equipment” up to the
date of change in use, and any difference at that date
between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation gain or loss in
other comprehensive income.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)
(continued)

Customer relationships acquired in business
combinations

Customer relationships acquired in business combinations
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and are
amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 15 years. The Group estimates the useful life of
the customer relationships and determines the amortisation
periods with reference to its industry experience and taking
into account the customer turnover history and expectation
of the renewal pattern of property management contracts.

Trademark

Trademark is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful
life of 4 years.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS OTHER
THAN GOODWILL (SEE THE ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN RESPECT OF GOODWILL ABOVE)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS OTHER
THAN GOODWILL (SEE THE ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN RESPECT OF GOODWILL ABOVE) (continued)

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.q.,
a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS OTHER
THAN GOODWILL (SEE THE ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN RESPECT OF GOODWILL ABOVE) (continued)

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Properties for sale include properties under development and
properties held for sale which are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

The carrying value of properties for sale comprises the costs
of land use rights together with development expenditure,
which includes construction costs and borrowing costs
capitalised.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for the properties less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

OTHER INVENTORIES

Other inventories represent trading merchandises that are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of
inventories are determined on a weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, FVOCI, and FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on
the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at FVPL,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at FVOCI are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at FVPL.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

For debt investments at FVOCI, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024

(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Financial assets designated at FVOCI (equity
instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity instruments as equity instruments
designated at FVOCI when they meet the definition of equity
under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are
not held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Dividends
are recognised as other income in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity instruments designated at FVOCI are not subject to
impairment assessment.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the statement with
net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
instruments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at FVOCI. Dividends on equity instruments classified
as financial assets at FVPL are also recognised as other
income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and
the hybrid contract is not measured at FVPL. Embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the FVPL category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at
FVPL.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at FVPL.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral
to the contractual terms.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 45 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
General approach (continued)

Debt investments at FVOCI and financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general approach
and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of
a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables,
the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

EHEMARAT  China Resources Land Limited 191



f T YU B e o B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

192

HOK 5 BOR (4])
SHEERRESTA
B E 1T 2 B RS A

BRatZHEEUAReRBERK
ATAZEREDERTHB AR
N o

RATH

AT EEEEEARMBGHAEAR
BREREE RS 2 EAL -
RRAFETZRATARTRER
BITRARIRE WS FURHER

BEAR%

ERMRERFTE TR A EEHK
AEREEREDERNE X HH S
EoBERMNEEREBABEMF
Hisk w e HifE (ME M) R ERRRER
B ARRBRSA R (BRBERER
MEEKRF D Z2ENKERZHE
B XIRAREMGELITE)
EVRFERF 2 BREDFEZ R

MBRXITIREBREN REERER

BRAFESFABS2SRMEE

EATEFAEENESREERRE
BEEENSREBEBERRVIRER
RETAEZATETABEZN SR
BfE-

WemBaBEELEEMAREHRE
BB BABEEE WL BEN
BEAEEMIIZHITESRITA
EHTAEVIIEEABTAETHBHRE
ERIEOFRAMATE R T
HTH BRIFEETERBEHEHT
B BIYBRARTETANTSEAR

FIEER ° %WEEEE%W@&
%qumﬁ SRR - NERE R
BmRERN D FERS W%E%%

TEERZFEREAX NN IM
B o

T NFEHRE

4.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at FVPL

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held
for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at FVPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.
This category also includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by
HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Financial liabilities at FVPL (continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at FVPL are designated at the initial date of recognition,
and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or
losses on liabilities designated at FVPL are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, except for the
gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk
which are presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to related parties and amounts due to non-
controlling interests, bank and other borrowings, lease
liabilities, senior notes, super short-term commercial papers,
medium-term notes and long-term payable are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract
is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted
for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the
higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance
with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial
assets”; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay
the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as cross
currency swap contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow
hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income
and later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item
affects profit or loss.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified
as:

e fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to
changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or
liability or an unrecognised firm commitment; or

e cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to
variability in cash flows that is either attributable to
a particular risk associated with a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction,
or a foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm
commitment; or

e  hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(continued)

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally
designates and documents the hedge relationship to which
the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting, the risk
management objective and its strategy for undertaking the
hedge

The documentation includes identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how the Group will assess whether the hedging
relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements
(including the analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness
and how the hedge ratio is determined). A hedging
relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of
the following effectiveness requirements:

e There is “an economic relationship” between the
hedged item and the hedging instrument,

e The effect of credit risk does not “dominate the value
changes” that result from that economic relationship,

e The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same
as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item
that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to
hedge that quantity of hedged item.

Hedges which meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge
accounting are accounted for as follows:

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument is recognised directly in other comprehensive
income in the cash flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit
or loss. The cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower
of the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument
and the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Cash flow hedges (continued)

The amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income
are accounted for, depending on the nature of the
underlying hedged transaction. If the hedged transaction
subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial
item, the amount accumulated in equity is removed from the
separate component of equity and included in the initial cost
or other carrying amount of the hedged asset or liability. This
is not a reclassification adjustment and will not be recognised
in other comprehensive income for the period. This also
applies where the hedged forecast transaction of a non-
financial asset or non-financial liability subsequently becomes
a firm commitment to which fair value hedge accounting is
applied.

For any other cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment in the same period or periods during which the
hedged cash flows affect the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount
that has been accumulated in other comprehensive income
must remain in accumulated other comprehensive income
if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur.
Otherwise, the amount will be immediately reclassified to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment. After the discontinuation, once the hedged cash
flow occurs, any amount remaining in accumulated other
comprehensive income is accounted for depending on the
nature of the underlying transaction as described above.

Fair value hedges

The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
other expenses. The change in the fair value of the hedged
item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as a part
of the carrying amount of the hedged item and is also
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
other expenses.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Fair value hedges (Continued)

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised
cost, the adjustment to carrying value is amortised through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the
remaining term of the hedge using the effective interest rate
method. Effective interest rate amortisation may begin as
soon as an adjustment exists and shall begin no later than
when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes
in its fair value attributable to the risk being hedged. If the
hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a
hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change in the fair
value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk
is recognised as an asset or liability with a corresponding gain
or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. The changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument
are also recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective
hedging instruments are classified as current or non-current
or separated into current and non-current portions based
on an assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the
underlying contracted cash flows).

e  Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as
an economic hedge (and does not apply hedge
accounting) for a period beyond 12 months after the
end of the reporting period, the derivative is classified
as non-current (or separated into current and non-
current portions) consistently with the classification of
the underlying item.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Current versus non-current classification (continued)

e  Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the
host contract are classified consistently with the cash
flows of the host contract.

e  Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are
effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently
with the classification of the underlying hedged item.
The derivative instruments are separated into current
portions and non-current portions only if a reliable
allocation can be made.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare
interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed
and declared.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising
from investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group’s investment property portfolios and concluded
that the Group’s investment properties are held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in measuring the Group's deferred taxation on investment
properties, the directors of the Company have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amount of investment
properties measured using the fair value model is recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group has
recognised the deferred taxation on changes in fair value of
investment properties on the basis that the Group is subject
to enterprise income tax. The carrying amount of deferred
taxation on investment properties at 31 December 2024 was
RMB27,329,633,000 (2023: RMB26,721,638,000).

Classification of subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates

The classification of an investment as a subsidiary, a joint
venture or an associate is based on whether the Group
is determined to have control, joint control or significant
influence over the investee, which involves judgements
through the analysis of various factors, including the Group’s
representation on the chief decision-making authorities
of an investee, such as board of directors’ meetings
and shareholders’ meetings, as well as other facts and
circumstances.

Subsidiaries are consolidated, which means each of their
assets, liabilities and transactions are included line by line
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements, whereas
the interests in joint ventures and associates are equity
accounted for as investments in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties, including those completed investment
properties, investment properties under construction
and right-of-use assets, are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at their fair value, details
of which are disclosed in note 15. The fair value of the
investment properties was determined by reference to
valuations conducted on these properties by independent
and professionally qualified valuers using property valuation
techniques which involve certain assumptions of prevailing
market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes
to these assumptions may result in changes in the fair
value of the Group’s investment properties included in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
corresponding adjustments to the changes in fair value
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Details of the fair value of investment properties are disclosed
in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Determination of net realisable value of properties for
sale

Properties for sale are stated at the lower of the cost and net
realisable value. Based on the experience of the directors of
the Company and the nature of the subject properties, the
directors of the Company determine the net realisable value
of properties for sale by reference to the estimated market
prices of the properties for sale, which takes into account
a number of factors including the recent prices of similar
property types in the same project or by similar properties,
and the prevailing real estate market condition. The directors
of the Company estimate the future cost to completion
of the properties under development for sale by reference
to the actual development cost of other similar completed
projects of the Group, adjusted by certain current market
data. During the year ended 31 December 2024, a write-
down of RMB7,834,361,000 (2023: RMB6,988,742,000) has
been made in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Further details of the Group's properties for sale are set out
in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Land appreciation tax (“LAT") in Chinese Mainland

The Group is subject to LAT in Chinese Mainland. The LAT
is levied at progressive rates on the appreciation of land
value, being the proceeds of the sales of properties less
the estimated deductible expenditures, the cost of land use
rights and all relevant property development expenditures.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the amounts
of land appreciation and the applicable land appreciation tax
rate due to the uncertainty of proceeds of sales of properties
and deductible expenditures.

However, the implementation and settlement of the tax
varies amongst different tax jurisdictions in various cities of
Chinese Mainland and certain projects of the Group have
not finalised their LAT calculations and payments with any
local tax authorities in Chinese Mainland. The amount of
land appreciation is determined with reference to proceeds
of the sales of properties less the estimated deductible
expenditures, including the cost of land use rights and all
relevant property development expenditures. The Group
recognised the LAT based on management’s best estimates.
The final tax outcome could be different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, and these differences will
impact the income tax expense and the related income tax
provisions in the periods in which such tax is finalised with
local tax authorities. The Group recognised the LAT expense
of RMB6,230,102,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: RMB11,915,850,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables and other
receivables

The Group estimates loss allowance for expected credit losses
for trade receivables and other receivables resulting from
the expected cash shortfalls. The Group bases the estimates
on the information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. The Group'’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may not be representative of a customer’s
actual default in the future. If the above conditions were
to deteriorate, actual provisions would be higher than
estimated. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade receivables and other receivables is disclosed in note 27
to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December
2024 was RMB1,809,503,000 (2023: RMB1,911,884,000).
Further details are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision makers
("CODM") of the Group, was specifically focused on
business units based on their types of activities for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.
The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments are identified as four main businesses:

Development property business: this segment mostly
represents the income generated from development and
sales of residential properties, office and commercial
premises.

Investment property business: this segment represents the
lease of investment properties, which are self-developed or
under subleases by the Group to generate rental and other
income and to gain from the appreciation in the properties’
values in the long term.

Asset-light management business: this segment represents
the income generated from the commercial operation and
property management business.

Eco-system elementary business: this segment represents
the income generated from building operation, construction
and operation services, rental housing business and industrial
property etc.

Segment results represent the profit earned or loss incurred
before taxation by each segment without allocation of
income or expenses which are not recurring in nature
or unrelated to the CODM'’s assessment of the Group’s
operating performance, e.g. other income, other gains and
losses, gain on changes in fair value of investment properties,
gain on changes in fair value of financial instruments at FVPL,
central administration costs, and finance costs. Segment
revenues and results are the measures reported to the CODM
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment. Inter-segment sales are transacted at mutually
agreed prices.



6. SRER (H)
(A) PEEEERER
ARE RS A2

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(A) SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenues

WOKEE

DZERBRREDNMT

BE-Z_MF+-A=t—ALFE

EXB
REEPANNERE

RE-BHER

R—BEEAERD
EftRRNERE
LN

pECEES
7%

NBHERE

RENPEFHEXE

£
BERGELRR
BERAREL
MERER

"Eﬁii(@%ﬁﬁ S
AELERBENT
&ﬁZﬂ TER)

RENE2 AT RIS

Revenue

Revenue from contracts with

customers
Recognised at a point in
time
Recognised over time
Revenue from other sources
Rental income

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external
customers

Results
Share of profits less losses
of investments in joint
ventures and associates

Segment results (including
share of profits less losses
of investments in joint
ventures and associates)

Gain on changes in fair value

of investment properties

BRAPEFABZZERIA Gainon changes in fair value

2ATERENE

AN - Rt RER

APEXH
HHER

BRBL AT A

of financial instruments at
FVPL

Other income, other gains and

losses
Unallocated expenses
Finance costs

Profit before taxation

and results by operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

FRRHEER
%
Development
property

business

ARMTR
RMB'000

237,470,531

237,470,531
(318,896)

237,151,635

(636,027)

31,684,803
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£%
Investment
property
business

ARMTR
RMB'000

7,582,606

16,673,237

24,255,843
(960,049)

23,295,794

1,000,000

13,768,789

REEEE
£
Asset-light
management
business
ARBTR
RMB'000

EREERR
£
Eco-system
elementary
business
ARET
RMB'000

Consolidated

AR®TR
RMB'000

925,413
14,944,669

5.344,116
9,215,043

243,740,060
31,742,318

16,673,237

15,870,082
(3,731,517)

14,559,159
(8,339,728)

292,155,615
(13,356,190)

12,132,565 6219431 278,799,425

(24,491) 388,232

1,456,797 1,036,276 47,946,665

7,632,228

159,774

6,691,518
(1,020,219)
(3,181,775)

58,228,191
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6. s RE R (4H)

(A) 7HEXEREE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(&)

BE_Z_=Ft+-A=1—HIEFE

EXE
RERFANNERE

RRE-BHER

R—BRERRHER
HipRRHEXRE
LN

NBEFR
PERERE

RENDEPHERE

£
BERAELXR
BERAREL
MERBE

PEEE(BRERER
RELERBENLT

REZHERER)

BANE2 AFERBMG

Revenue

Revenue from contracts with
customers
Recognised at a point in

time

Recognised over time

Revenue from other sources
Rental income

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external
customers

Results
Share of profits less losses
of investments in joint
ventures and associates

Segment results (including
share of profits less losses
of investments in joint
ventures and associates)

Gain on changes in fair value
of investment properties

BRFEGABRZEMIE Gain on changes in fair value

ZRFERENE

A - Bt hEREE

AR
BHER

BT AT A

of financial instruments at
FVPL

Other income, other gains and
losses

Unallocated expenses

Finance costs

Profit before taxation

(continued)

(A) SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

FREEL
=%

Development

property
business
AREFT
RMB'000

BB E
%
Investment
property
business
AREBTL
RMB'000

HEEER HREBRRY
2% %
Asset-light Eco-system
management elementary
business business
ARBTT ARBTR
RMB'000 RMB'000

Consolidated
ARBFTL
RMB'000

194,661,298 = 691,075 5294918 200,647,291
17,680,714 7,041,318 12,899,696 11,819,574 49,441,302
= 16,033,159 = = 16,033,159
212,342,012 23,074,477 13,590,771 17114492 266,121,752
(263,614) (846,533) (2,947,478)  (10,927,024)  (14,984,649)
212,078,398 22,227,944 10,643,293 6,187,468 251,137,103
1,479,000 745,954 2,547 132,687 2,360,188
37,705,930 12,543,726 1,269,689 1,097,965 52,617,310
8,000,785

51,010

8,588,383

(1,075,676)

(1,743,918)

06,437,894
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(A) PEEXBERFE ()

BHEE

BRAASEREANETHNERH
M

HEME

BRAEERE -—RKHEHAT
KeMEPEMDEIRES
WREREMDEALREER
B A BE B REEUS N AR AT IR ]
RENFEHEDWA -

BEREKERE

BREEEZCRHERE &
BRANR—REEZHHE
30EAEH R—BRERA
TR EFEPREETEDLD
N BEE2REHER KA
REBEAMKRE  AEBAFE
FR—EHEARRERBEER
& HTAEBREMNK -

RZE-_NWF+_A=+—
ARBEEVMERNEME R
EREBALRTEK) IR S
B A AR#231,970,000,000
T(ZEZ=F: ARK
284,149,000,000 7T ) i 78 Hi
—FAER ZEBRTIBRER
PR I AT B (B

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(A) SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS

(continued)
Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time. Revenue is recognised at the point in time when
the property is accepted by the customer, or deemed as
accepted according to the contract and the Group has
right to payment and collection of the consideration is
probable.

Construction and decoration services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 30 days from the date of billing. A certain
percentage of payment is retained by customers
until the end of the retention period as the Group's
entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the
satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over
a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) of sales of properties as at 31 December
2024 amounted to RMB231,970,000,000 (2023:
RMB284,149,000,000) are expected to be recognised
within three years. The amounts do not include variable
consideration which is constrained.

EHEMARAT  China Resources Land Limited 209



f B B 955 it A B ek
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. &R (H) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(B) " EEE (B) SEGMENT ASSETS
REEKRKERTEHD EE The following is an analysis of the Group's assets by
DZEEDTWET - operating and reportable segments:
R-B-HmE+=-A=+—~H As at 31 December 2024

RRHEDN SENTBE HEEEE LREERE
S X% S S
Development  Investment  Asset-light  Eco-system
property property management  elementary

business business business business Consolidated

AR®TR  AR®TR AR®TR ARRTz ARET:R
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

PEEE Segment assets 554,395,212 284,871,424 8,427,969 26,283,839 873,978,444
NAEE B AR Investments in joint ventures
0% and associates 68,040,846 15,387,056 6,297 1,658,111 85,092,310
622,436,058 300,258,480 8,434,266 27,941,950 959,070,754
KR Unallocated 169,322,914
BEE Total assets 1,128,393,668
R-EB-_=+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2023

REHER LenTdE HEEEE 4£REZRY
% 5% % 5%
Development ~ Investment Asset-light ~ Eco-system

property property management  elementary

business business business business  Consolidated
ARETTE ARETT ARBTn ARETR ARET:

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

PHEBE Segment assets 651,498,667 278,146,971 7,708399 23983210 961,337,247
AAEE BN E) Investments in joint ventures
ifS: and associates 69,207,050 14,774,904 4018 1,658,823 85,644,795

720,705,717 292,921,875 1,112,417 25,642,033 1,046,982,042

KoK Unallocated 144,195,067

BEE Total assets 1,191,177,109
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4 E B (78) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(O HitpBEEHR (C) OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION
BE-Z-ME+-A=+—-HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

BRHEEDN KEMTHE EEEEE LREEZRE
Development  Investment  Asset-light  Eco-system
property property management elementary

business business business business Consolidated

AR®TR ARMTR AREMTR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

(AD)/REHME  (Reduction)/addition of

INEIL 5 interests in associates (376,899) 2,079,708 1,702,809
(Bd)/REA%  (Reduction)/addition of

tEER interests in joint ventures (2,085,734) 972,391 = (34,034)  (1,147377)
EXR (M) Capital expenditures (Note) 356,038 16,917,338 310,660 72429 17,656,465

FEREH Depreciation and amortisation 201,265 943,507 298,532 87,381 1,530,685

BE2—E-_=F+t-A=1+—-HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

REHEY SEMABE HEEER LREERY
% 3/} % 3/

Development ~ Investment Asset-light  Eco-system

property property management  elementary

business business business business  Consolidated
ARETL ARBTn ARBTr ARETr ARET:

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

MNEBENFER  Addition of interests in associates 2,678,426 134,651 - 388 2,813,465
ARE/(BD)A%  Addition/reduction) of
RER interests in joint ventures 4518381 3,033,569 4711 (42,819) 7,513,842
EXRx (M) Capital expenditures (Note) 386,321 21,382,767 283,186 74567 22,126,841
HER#H Depreciation and amortisation 90,287 1,022,788 120,246 79,260 1,312,581
Mzt : BARMAX EZRYE  BE REE - Note: The capital expenditures mainly represent additions to property, plant
;g%é REMERERAEEEN 3:Sai2:tisment, intangible assets, investment properties and right-of-
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6.

7.

S RE R (78) 6.

(D) HRAEEBIBIO% K] &
EOKEPEABEE 2%
BREWRFE B AEH
HBiB0% M IERBE E (BRiE
ERHIEEE EUEE 5K
TH - EUIEIE R AE RS SRIE &
FEE THERRIETA
FREMEEmKRFIHRAFE
R ATER) vEREES
% 5 A R #384,283,650,000
T(ZEZ=F: AR
373,901,835,000 7T) IRz ;A
B PR3+ B I 4 A B AR b 15
B2 EDWER -

BE_Z W&+ _A=+—
AIEFE YTEE-—XFG
REBEETEI0% N L (ZF
TZF ) e

(E)

;,%iﬂi’.lli]\ ~ B e AR K

7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(D) No geographical segment analysis is prepared as more
than 90% of the Group's revenue is derived from
activities in and from customers located in Chinese
Mainland and more than 90% of the carrying values
of the Group’s non-current assets, excluding deferred
taxation assets, amounts due from related parties,
amounts due from non-controlling interests, intangible
assets, time deposits and equity instruments designated
at FVOCI, amounting to RMB384,283,650,000 (2023:
RMB373,901,835,000), are situated in Chinese
Mainland.

(E) There is no single customer contributes more than
10% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31

December 2024 (2023: Nil).

OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND
LOSSES

2024
AR®T T

2023
ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

MEWA Interest income 2,965,736 3,072,502
TR 47 B Government grants 97,270 136,370
(R i b Net exchange loss (33,118) (14,227)
EFFEREGELERE Gain on re-measurement of

Z Was investments in joints ventures 5,620
HEMBA A2l Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

(Mf5T44) (Note 44) 2,642,165 1,505,442
WENBARZZERE Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition

& of subsidiaries 3,017,174

Hith

Others 1,019,465 865,502

6,691,518 8,588,383
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8. HHM e 8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

ENHENTEESZ2MESET - The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors
were as follows:

BE-Z-_ME+-A=+—-HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

He HitMe
Fees Other emoluments
BUFHf REMF BEHR
FunEs B3 HeREd  HEHR  BERA FiE |
Contribution
Independent to the Strategic

Non- non- defined incentive

Executive  executive  executive Salariesand contribution Discretionary award
directors directors directors  allowances scheme honus scheme Total
AEETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETn ARETz ARETR AR¥Tn ARET:
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

M Li Xin 2,009 231 1,656 3,89

BEMZFZWE  XuRong (appointed on

TAZT\REZM) 28 October 2024) 25 n 11 2,035
FAA Zhang Dawei 230 132 3520
P Guo Shiging 217 1,824 3,145
RE(W=F=ME  ChenWei(appointed on

=R-REZf) 1 March 2024) 192 2125 3
HAB(MZZZWE  Xeli(resigned on

NAt+=BEf) 12 August 2024) 164 1,183 2398
B Huang Ting - -

PR =EZME  Wei Chenglin (appointed on
TETAREZR)  16May2024)

BAL(RZZZME  Cheng Hong (retired on
THAZT/ABEME)  280ctober 2024)

ER(W=Z-WF  Doulian (resigned on
TZAZTEBEE) 27 December 2024)

BR Zhong Wei

i Sun Zhe

U Frank Chan Fan

2EE Leong Kwok-kuen, Lincoln
&I Qin Hong

1,29 1,106 20,4%
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8. HHMAE (4) 8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
(continued)
BE_F-=H+-A=+—-HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2023

we Eodie
Fees Other emoluments

HTES TEER BERA ;
Contribution

Independent tothe Strategic

Non- non- defined incentive

Executive executive executive  Salariesand  contribution  Discretionary award
directors directors directors ~ allowances scheme honus scheme Total
ARETTE ARETR AREBTT ARETE ARETR ARETT ARETRE ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

M Li Xin - - - 2,009 154 1431 3,731 7325
FAA Zhang Dave - - - 1,969 154 1,514 290 6,597
#5 Xel - - - 1577 154 94 3477 6192
Bt Guo Shiging - - 5 1,097 154 620 4453 6304
BE(WN=E=WE  ChenWei(appointed on

SA-BBEE) 1 March204) - - = - - . . .
[FH(R=F==F WuBingg (resigned on

AAZT\BEE) 28 September 2023) = = - 1,641 128 1278 3648 6,695
i Dou Jian = = - . - . , _
B Cheng Hong = - - _ , _ a i}
ER(MZFZ=F  Huang Ting (appointed on

NBTNBEZE) 19 September 2023) = = - . - . B} _
BEE(R=F==F LiuXaoyong (resigned on

NBTABE) 19 September 2023) = = - . - . B} _
1 Zhong Wei - - 450 - - - - 450
A Sun Zhe - - 450 - - - - 450
BIL(A=2==%  Frank Chan Fan (appointed on

TA-REZE) 1y - - 29 - . . B, 29
ZEE(R=F==% LeongKwok-kuen, Lincoln

tA—REZE)  (appointedon 1 July 2023) = = 29 - - - - 229
Z(R=2==%F  QinHong(appointed on

NERREZE) 9 August 2023) - 2 190 . . . ; 190
[IER(M=F==% HoHinNgai, Bosco resigned on

tA-R#f) 1 July 2023) - - pi - - = = 0
B (WZFZ=F  Andrew Y. Yan (resigned on

tA-R#f) 1 July 2023) - - pi - - = = 0
FEEMZFZZF WanKamTo, Peter (resigned on

tA-R#f) 1July 2023) - - pi - - = = 0

- - 2,211 8,293 744 5827 18,269 35,344
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BBIEAL NS EA KB 2 K EFEE
AARBERAILBRT GG REE

—
E °

BB SR A RES M REE
MGERENTELREE - RS
MBFERANFELRBEERE
BESEMFRHENEE -

EXFATRATESME OB R X
BEEEEARARANEEEBH
REMRS - EXFARIFRTES
RBIFRTESTHETIARN A
BREREARRESARREMNRE -

Mw BN

THRE  BRBRES

RITREMBEE - BELZERE - Total interests on bank and other
borrowings, senior notes,

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

Discretionary bonus was determined with reference to
the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The strategic incentive award scheme was determined based
on a specific rate of the Group’s operating results in each
financial year. The specific rate adopted in each financial
year was assessed and determined by management'’s best
estimation.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of
the non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors shown above were for their services as directors of
the Company.

FINANCE COSTS

2024 2023
AR®TR

ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

NE A2 M S5 medium-term notes, super short-term
commercial papers and others 9,799,275 10,156,396
HEBGBEZMEMHLT Total interests on lease liabilities 322,501 346,354
RITWEERR Total bank charges 228,915 166,761

B BEAR ZMEEYE © Less: Amounts capitalised in properties

ERREMER under development for sale,
FRIBBTER investment properties under
k| construction and construction

in progress (7,168,916) (8,925,593)

3,181,775 1,743,918

BAREANBRKAEERASE
M—REREES HBHE_T-_NOF
T A=+ RHLEFEEREERE
ERYHERFEFEERNELEE2.89%
(ZZE-Z=%F:351%):t& -

Borrowing costs capitalised arose on the general borrowing
pool of the Group and were calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate of 2.89% (2023: 3.51%) per annum for
the year ended 31 December 2024, to expenditure on the
qualifying assets.
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10. 5 B b % 10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

2024 2023
ARBTR ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

FIigtHiA B : The income tax expenses comprise of:

= HBIA Current taxation
RS PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT")
(TEEFRBER] & and withholding income tax
BHMEH CXILRZER 17,638,219
B+ iR ER PRC LAT (WEOURLPE 11,915,850
H e EEEEL Tax charge in other jurisdictions
IR H 24,118 18,541
B BEFEHERE Less: over-provision in prior years (750,822) (686,274)
20,109,246 28,886,336
EFET IR (Y7 24) Deferred taxation (Note 24) 4,440,497 247,795
24,549,743 29,134,131
(A) EEFREB (A) EIT
BB ECEMSTE ([ Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
FTERED REEMBREAE (the “EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the
MG B ZEENF—H— EIT Law, the tax rate of most of the Group’s Chinese
H 2N & B K BB B A 3 B Mainland subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
BARIRBER25% o onwards.
(B) FEIFEMFAES (B) PRC withholding income tax
NG RNE AR 95 VA /N I B9 sE PRC withholding income tax of 10% shall be levied on
IMREEERBE T NF— the dividends declared by the companies established
A — BRIz FE RS ' in Chinese Mainland to their foreign investors out
£ 10% BB R @ B FE A of their profits earned after 1 January 2008. A lower
1S5 - B B A E A F 8 5% withholding tax rate may be applied when the
BEERARNEBFTMKL immediate holding companies of the Chinese Mainland
REE WRERBEAMEE subsidiaries are incorporated or operated in Hong
BRI LRI IRO T HARE M Kong and fulfil the requirements to the tax treaty
T AHEAS%HEREENN arrangements between Chinese Mainland and Hong
MR o Kong.
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10. Fir #3 8¢ b 32 (#8)

(@

(D)

(E)

T EE B

T IR E AR B R TR IR AR RE
B 7 0% K A& O B 8 2 M E 1
Ao LHIBEN D REER L
RENXBEREG BAEET
AIRIER -

EARANEH

BEEMNEB I IREFTERN
FEIA165% (ZE =4
16.5% ) MM EFH - HEZ
T_NERE_=F+_H
=+t—BUEFE WEERE
B FR -

Hitb B ZEBENHREAXH

AR R BB R 2 BB AL
ZHMBARIREBEREREER
FENERRVAEMAER2E
[RAA - At - 5% 8N
SHEMEHR - ARANRE
BR X BF SR 2 MY B R RIAR B
RERZBEEBRBEBEQRE
A - B - R S A R R
RBREEBSRER -

HthrZzEERMHEBE L H
TERERMENMEFEES L -
BIERE L EEBRKLE 2
WEBRABIZWMER25% (ZF
T=%F:25%) o

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

@

(D)

(E)

LAT

The provision for LAT is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws
and regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges of
progressive rates of the appreciation value, with certain
allowable deductions.

Hong Kong Profits Tax

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2023:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits. No Hong
Kong Profits Tax was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Tax charge in other jurisdictions

The Company and certain subsidiaries were
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as exempted
companies with limited liability under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands and accordingly,
are exempted from Cayman Islands income tax. The
Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands were registered under the International
Business Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands
and, accordingly, are exempted from British Virgin
Islands income tax.

Tax charge in other jurisdictions mainly represents the
current tax charge in the United Kingdom (the “UK").
Under the United Kingdom Tax Law, the tax rate of the
subsidiary operating in the UK is 25% (2023: 25%).
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10. Fir £ 8¢ b 52 (48)

(F) FAMGHAXAZRABRER
PR 8RR B AT @ Al 2 AR T -

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

(F) The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled
to the profit before taxation per the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as follows:

2024 2023
AR T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 150 B g A Profit before taxation S PERCEE 66,437,894
B IR A EDEIE Less: share of profits less losses of
2 F R E 1R investments in joint ventures 604 (2,800,822)
B FEER B N B E  Less: share of profits less losses of
2 B E R investments in associates (388,836) 440,634
57,839,959 64,077,706

REBRHE25% Tax charge at effective rate of 25%
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T = :25%) (2023: 25%)
EZBIERY ((EWLTELIY  (16,019,427)
B AT TR E 282 Effect of different tax rates of
subsidiaries 537,353 383,889
AT S 2 BifE 2 Effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose (1,590,653) (1,379,736)
BERTRWA Z TRAEEE Effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose 343,629 331,812
REERTHTEE 18 K Al 1% Effect of tax losses and deductible
TSR e temporary difference not recognised (eNGRER)] (2,176,493)
BAEFEBEREG Over provision in prior years 750,822 686,274
+ B E LAT (WX R0)] (11,915,850)
THIBEH 2 HBERZE  Tax effect of LAT 1,550,039 2,917,161
BB AT AR PRC withholding income tax ((ELLHTE)  (1,961,761)

REZMEHRAX

Income tax expenses for the year

— T JUFEIRE ANNUAL REPORT 2024

(24,549,743)

(29,134,131)



11. % W % A 11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2024 2023
AR®Tr AR%®T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Fra ek, (GEA) Profit for the year has been arrived at
T5I&IA : after charging/(crediting) the following
items:
ETINA(BRESTHNS) Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments 13,190,796 13,223,984
REMRBKGTEI 2 MK AR  Costs related to defined contribution
scheme 1,101,550 1,073,699
BINARN4E5R Total staff costs CWLVEVIM 14,297,683
BRARZ CHEEZ Cost of properties for sale recognised
MERA (H5E26) as expenses (Note 26) PR IAE 166,995,608
BRART ZEMFEEZ  Cost of other inventories recognised
BN as expenses 954,609 1,032,389
ZER 2 - Auditor’s remuneration:
FREE Annual audit 4,430 3,830
HRHEAER B Interim review 1,000 700
MEBAAE - BHEE Audit of financial statements of
EREERRZ subsidiaries, certain joint ventures
S MR TS and associates 8,050 7,720
H A fR Other services 1,230 1,820
14,710 14,070
WARFTAGEREGEZ Lease payments not included in the
MER(FIFE17) measurement of lease liabilities
(Note 17) 151,087 140,864
mE - BERREITE Depreciation of property, plant and
(FF3E14) equipment (Note 14) 911,174 798,201
FAEEESE (M7£17)  Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Note 17) 485,859 412,138
mpEESN (Mik16) Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 16) 133,652 102,242
WO IHE 2 MESE Write-down of properties for sale
A &3R8 %A to net realisable value 7,834,361 6,988,742
JE S BR SR % E b e W BR 1B Impairment losses on trade and other
BB EE (F15E27) receivables (Note 27) 140,847 82,525
KEMEHESHBA Rental income from investment
properties (QRTLHEPN]  (15,959,597)
B EEEES AR Less: direct expenses that generated
BEEMAX rental income 4,972,195 4,809,006

(11,617,837)

(11,150,591)

EHEMAR AT China Resources Land Limited 219
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12. e &

12. DIVIDENDS

220

“EMFERERE  FREBR
ARKE0200L (ZE_=F:
AR¥0.1987T)

“ENFERIRRARE
SRETBEBRARE1.1197T

—E-=F: AR¥1.2437T)
(B 7E)

2024
AREBTR

2023
ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 interim dividend, RMB0.200
(2023: RMB0.198) per ordinary
share

2024 final dividend, proposed,
of RMB1.119 (2023: RMB1.243)
per ordinary share (Note)

1,408,572 1,413,713

7,979,521 8,874,504

9,388,093 10,288,217

MeE: R—E_AF=A-_+HABEBTZESES
ERtb EFEEFRNEE_TS_NF
TZA=T—BLEFENARAIRGRE
EREBBARBII99T  BHARE
7,979,521,0007C ' Wt HER AR B &I E
AT E WA EE 7,130,939,579 % 5 & - 7
AR B AR I F 4R S B IS 3R R R R B 1E B
MRS BERARRHE—T-_HE+=
A=t—BLEEZHREVHRRREHE
i M| B R o

BE—ZT_=Ff+_A=+—RLFEZE
REBBRRBKRSRARKE1.2437T T &
75 1.3667T) © A HAARE 8,874,504,000
T BERZTEZMESNAELBEZARRRE
BEKRE EibE - WRRFERNIESS

13. & A

EREARBIZARREBEDS
EABESFEBEE T _IOF
T+ A=+t BUHFEREEITH
R 2 E 7,130,939,579 (=
T~ =4 :7,130,939,579) IRt & o
PRFATEBEE#E ST ENT A
HQ °

Note: At a meeting held by the Board on 25 March 2025, the Board proposed a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 of RMB1.119 per
ordinary share of the Company, totaling approximately RMB7,979,521,000
based on the latest number of ordinary shares of 7,130,939,579 shares of the
Company in issue. This proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable
in these consolidated financial statements, but will be reflected as a profit
appropriation in the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ending 31 December 2025.

A final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 of RMB1.243 (equivalent
to HK$1.366) per ordinary share, totalling approximately RMB8,874,504,000,
had been approved in the Company’s annual general meeting on 7 June 2024
and paid during the year.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
and the weighted average number of shares in issue during
the year ended 31 December 2024 of 7,130,939,579 (2023:
7,130,939,579) shares. There were no dilutive potential
ordinary shares in existence during both periods.

—“E_PNFEHRE  ANNUAL REPORT 2024



14. W3 ~ W Bkt

A

RZF-mE-A-A
ERHZ

RE

HERBARERE (i)

BEVAEEN R (H316)

BREHNE NE
ERIRANE (H15)

a5
&

AZF-ME+=A=1-H

RitHE
A\ZZPmE-A-R
EHAE

RERRME
HEHBARBEE (M)

BREMEEINZ
HERE

RZZ-mE+-A=1-A

BEE
RZZE-mE+-A=1-A

cosT

At 1 January 2024

Exchange realignment

Additions

Disposed upon disposal of subsidiaries
(Note 44)

Reclassification from intangible assets
(Note 16)

Transfer to properties for sale

Transfer to investment properties
(Note 15)

Transfer

Disposals

At 31 December 2024

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2024

Exchange realignment

Provided for the year

Disposed upon disposal of subsidiaries
(Note 44)

Transfer to properties for sale

Eliminated on disposals

At 31 December 2024

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2024

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

)RS

Hotel
properties
ARETR
RMB'000

10,282,085
8,973
52,868

(673,494)

(368,012)

9,302,420

2,549,943

1,699
396,508

(120,088)

(194,365)

2,639,697

6,662,723

g%

Buildings
ARETR
RMB'000

4,122,087
563
26,679

(69,999)
(10,709)

71,533
(90,771)

4,055,383

945,740
1,801
137,857

(38,307)
(76,052)

971,039

3,084,344

FEWHEMAMRAE  China Resources Land Limited

BENEEE
BRRRE
Leasehold
improvements,

furniture and
equipment
ARETT
RMB'000

4,402,364
3,030
239,159

(52,983)

98,851

79,236
(244,886)

4,524,111

2,712,018

1,986
341,078

(44,796)

(135,810)

2,874,476

1,650,295

Motor
vehicles
AR®TT
RMB'000

164473
68
69,417

(1,116)

(18,803)

214,039

111,956
268
35731

(1,033)

(17,197)

129,725

HRIE

Construction
in progress
AR%TT

RMB'000

3,175,665
5411
546,911

(33,648)

(156,769)
(10,361)

3,527,209

3,527,209

Total
AEET R
RMB'000

22,146,674
18,045
935,034
(761,241)

98,851
(69,.999)

(10,709)

(732,833)
21,623,822
6,319,657

11,754
911,174

(165,917)
(38,307)
(423,424)

6,614,937

15,008,885
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14. V13E ~ Wb Bkt i (48) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)
BIENE % A IR
Leasehold
improvements,
Hotel furniture and Motor Construction
properties Buildings equipment vehicles in progress Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
72 CosT
R-2-=%-f-H A1 January 2023 9,034,036 4,011,545 4,242,610 183,185 4,165,087 21,636,463
ERRE Exchange realignment 14,607 1,769 5949 686 6,276 29,287
HE Additons 9813 36,676 370,924 9,980 774,541 1,201,934
KERBARKES Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries - 20518 4236 346 - 25,100
HEWBARREE Disposed upon disposal of subsidiaries - - (29,172) (1,982) = (31,154)
e /(2 e NE Transfer fromy(to) properties for sale - 11,059 - - (330,780) (319,721)
BEERENE Transfer to investment properties = (13,762) - - - (13,762)
SRTERHAEZAMTE  Transfer to prepayments for
non-current assets - - - - (43,913) (43913)
a5 Transfer 1,204,345 120,251 8183 = (1,352,779) =
e Disposals (716) (65,969) (200.366) (27,78 (#2,767) (337,560)
W-B-ZE+-A=+—8  At31 December 2023 10,282,085 4,122,087 4,402,364 164,473 3,175,665 22,146,674
e ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
R-2-=%-f-H A1 January 2023 2173673 861,380 2,469,406 120,291 = 5,624,750
ERRE Exchange realignment 4,824 1421 6,472 555 - 13272
REERRE Provided for the year 371,525 97,940 324,249 4,487 - 798,201
HENBARKEE Disposed upon disposal of subsidiaries = = (24,089) (1,647) = (25,736)
ERERENE Transfer to investment properties - (981) = = = (981)
HER Eliminated on disposals (79 (14,020) (64,020) (11,730) - (89,849)
W-ZB-Z#+-B=+—H  At31 December 2023 2509943 945,740 2,712,018 111,956 - 6,319,657
e CARRYING VALUES
K-ZB-=#+-F=+-8  At31 December 2023 7,732,142 3,176,347 1,690,346 52,517 3,175,665 15,827,017
R-E-NMER T -_=F+_"A Construction in progress as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
ST+ —HZERIBTEARRNF mainly represented the hotel properties which are under
A b A FE 2B JE W 2 o construction in Chinese Mainland.
Fiim¥E  BEESREER (2T The above items of property, plant and equipment, other
BN DEREHERE T than construction in progress, are depreciated over their
FRTH Wt XA FRBREERR estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
STEWE  FBOT estimated residual values, using the straight-line method, as
follows:
BEMEREFT  20Z40F Hotel properties and buildings 20 to 40 years
HEMERE - MEMHSE Leasehold improvements, Over the shorter of lease
BRI A (AR E AE) furniture and equipment terms or 5 years
ol 5% Motor vehicles 5 years

222 —=—pusEEHE ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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RZE-WE-A—A
ERAZ

NE
HEHBARKEE
(Biza4)

REEBM
BRAREENE
BREHEE N
HERREMEERZE
ERRENE

BRENE  BELR
(BEE14)
REWELNTEZEHFE
RZZ-_mE+-A=+-H
R-ZE-=%—-F—H
R
NE
LEHBARKEE
KEHBARKES
ERAMEE I NE
EREHEE  NE
HERRENEERS
ERRENE
HEENE BERR
RENENTEZ2EFE
e

RZE-=F+-A=1+-A

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

ERRENE HRRENE
Investment
properties
under
construction

AR®T TR
RMB'000

Completed

investment
properties
ARBTR
RMB'000

At 1 January 2024 196,020,478 58,072,300
Exchange realignment 29,697 -
Additions 780,154 15,347,334
Disposed upon disposal of

subsidiaries (Note 44) (15,971,145) -
Lease modification

494,197
(208,799)

157,137
(50,053)

Transfer from properties for sale

Transfer to properties for sale

Transfer from investment
properties under construction
to completed investment

RENE—
RRkEE
Investment
properties —
right-of-use
assets
AR¥TR
RMB'000

8,715,416
379,226

(109,000)
(101,176)

Total
ARETR
RMB'000

262,308,194
29,697
16,506,714

(16,080,145)
(101,176)
651,334
(258,852)

properties 22,054,548 (22,054,548)
Transfer from property, plant

and equipment (Note 14) 10,709 10,709
Net change in fair value of

investment properties 5,706,385 2,380,073 (454,230) 7,632,228
At 31 December 2024 208,737,910 54,030,557 8,430,236 271,198,703
At 1 January 2023 177,948,388 52,130,812 7,806,077 237,885,277
Exchange realignment 169,517 - - 169,517
Additions 756,681 18,854,748 659,436 20,270,865
Disposed upon disposal of

subsidiaries (6,515,000) (2,303,797) - (8,818,797)
Acquired on acquisition of

subsidiaries - 5,945,360 - 5,945,360
Transfer from properties for sale - 1,624,055 - 1,624,055
Transfer to properties for sale (2,148,792) - - (2,148,792)
Transfer from investment

properties under construction

to completed investment

properties 20,541,230 (20,541,230) - -
Transfer from property, plant

and equipment 12,781 - - 12,781
Net change in fair value of

investment properties 5,388,530 2,362,352 249,903 8,000,785
Disposals (132,857) - - (132,857)
At 31 December 2023 196,020,478 58,072,300 8,715,416 262,808,194

FEHEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited
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15. #

(a)

224

&Y% (4)

f e

REBE R HERF

AEBRAFEHEREYEETTE - K
EEREMER T _ME+_A=+—
ARATFERBEMEHMITEETHRE
HAERARRKGBRETEE HRBL
REESERGEEM) ETHGREMEE

EEERMGEMSNEARIEHEERF
RERET R BAREZHHRE
ERER R —B

A {E M

HERABZEETEZREEEKDERR
M EE R SR EELEOL - FERYERA
RRIBRE - BRILBOR R/ AR - AR
EREEEMM KA -

WA BB ERNNEENEONES
WA - YEtEHBERZEER DN EEES R
A REREENENMEEBEERERE
& -

BERLEBERSROMORT S ERBRY
FEM RPN EZ S HEYFEETLLR  JBE
EEAN - BUERMEFONA A L&
BTN WFARESENESZE  §
MEERA W EHEE -

RepEE BAKRBEI NG HAREENZ
ERA - R ARBERMBERORIBEE -
REPZE R ERREABRAENGE
HEEKNAHERRER BEEREAR
REET AR AN BIEZEKA - iSRS H
HEEMR WBERUARBREKRAE BN
JE P O R B e B A o e R B AR RO BRI B
A ERAEREETNR - TEHROME
R R ER(EE

BRAERBREBERAAFHENYER
BERRKNEE KRAEFEHEZ L
BE - BNzt ERETRRNEERAMR
H-WETEBERNARERETERA
R TERA M ERA R TRAMA -

R ERTER - WENRES RRER
®REBE R o

—EomEERE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes:

(@)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value. The fair value of the
Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2024 has been determined
on the basis of valuation carried out by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal
and Advisory Limited and Knight Frank LLP, both are independent and
professionally qualified valuers.

Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between management
and valuers at least once every six months, in line with the timing of Group’s
interim and annual reporting.

Valuation techniques

The valuation methodologies adopted in valuations include income approach
and/or direct comparison method for completed properties and residual
method, direct comparison method and/or cost method for the properties
under construction and income approach for the right-of-use assets.

The income approach operates by taking into account the rental income of the
subject property derived from the existing tenancies with due allowance for the
potential reversionary income of the tenanted and vacant portions, which are
then capitalised at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

The direct comparison method involves the analysis of recent market evidence
of similar properties and comparing them with the subject property under
valuation. Comparable properties with similar size, characteristics and locations
are analysed, and carefully weighed against all respective advantage and
disadvantages in order to arrive at a fair comparison of value.

The residual method takes into account the residual value of the gross
development value (“GDV") after deduction of the outstanding construction
costs and expenses as well as profit element. It involves firstly the assessment
of the aggregate GDV of the proposed development, as if completed, as at
the valuation date. Estimated costs of the proposed development include
construction costs, marketing expense, professional fee, finance charges and
associated costs, plus an allowance for the developer’s risk and profit. The
outstanding development costs are then deducted from the GDV and the
resultant figure is the residual value of the subject property.

The cost approach is a method of using gross replacement costs to arrive at
the value of the subject property in its existing state as at the valuation date.
The cost approach requires estimates of the current value of the land plus the
estimated replacement cost of the land improvement works. The replacement
cost of the improvement works includes the cost of the building work, site
works, finance charges and relevant associated costs.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the
properties is their current use.
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MaE : (48)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(© ggéﬁ#ﬂ%ﬁ?%&ﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ ©

Completed:
NE — Offices
— TERHEM — Retail and others
P . Under construction:
— TE WAEREM  — Retail, offices and others
CREEE Right-of-use assets
— TE - WAEREM  — Retail, office and others

Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable
inputs

R-B_m&
+=A=+-8
Fair value as at
31 December
2024

AR T

RMB’000

fhEtRER

B FE
Estimated
developer’s
profit margins

BER R

A RETEAES
Assessed
prevailing
market rents
BABTYAEXK
N

RMB per sqm
per month %

Capitalisation
rate

64 = to 620
28 = to 1,171

TERA N/A
TE A N/A

25,622,816
183,115,094

208,737,910

54,030,557 50ZF to 7.8 70 = to 955 5% to 20

5.0 £ to 7.5 52 £ to 413

TERA N/A

8,430,236

271,198,703

y B AR EES
Fair value as at Assessed Estimate
31 December Capitalisation prevailing developer’s
2023 rate market rents profit margins
o BHE¥ K
AREFT AR
RMB per sqm
RMB’000 per month
B Completed: _
— WRE — Offices 25,100,392 40Z%Et07.0 64 = to 602 DEA N/A
— TEREAM — Retail and others 170,920,086 33Zt07.8 28%to1,103 TE R N/A
196,020,478
EHE n Under construction:
—ZTE  WAEREM  — Retail, offices and others 58,072,300 6.0Et07.8 55 & to 962 5 %1020
EREEE Right-of-use assets N
— TE WAENHEM  — Retail, office and others 8,715,416 5.0Z&to7.5 50 £to 383 TE A N/A
262,808,194
FEA B R A BUR A T EMNRR Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value:
. BERbERS  AFERE . The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value;
o BmEAeRS A TFEAS . The higher the prevailing market rents, the higher the fair value;
. Ei‘l'iéﬁ?éﬁ%%*‘ﬁ%@% C REER . The higher the estimated developer’s profit margin, the lower the fair
i value.

(d REVECLRPEAM  FERER - (d  The investment properties are situated in Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong and

the UK.

@ AKEMKZAMBRENINAFERER (e)  All the investment properties held by the Group are measured at level 3 of the
F3EE - AFEERORBAFEE fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy is determined based on the degree
BABURABRRREET o £ - AY(Eat to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable. During the
ERFIERF2EZHAYESEL  F3E year, there were no transfer of fair value measurement between level 1 and
IREAE I3 A B o level 2 and no transfers into or out of level 3.
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16. BIEE &

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2024
AREBTR

2023
ARBETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

R—A—BZEA Cost at 1 January, net of

Bk 2 512 55 accumulated amortisation 1,519,911 1,425,515
NE Additions 44,753 129,038
gL =N ESYEEC Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries - 67,600
ENRNEEDE  BEXK Reclassification to property, plant and

= (PfisE14) equipment (Note 14) (98,851) -
HE Disposals (82,620) -
N S 5 Amortisation for the year (133,652) (102,242)

R+-A=+—B2ZmMA
HER RET

R+—-—A=+—8":
[N
25T

Cost

AR F(E

Cost at 31 December, net of
accumulated amortisation

At 31 December:

Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

1,249,541 1,519,911

1,540,808
(291,267)

1,701,631
(181,720)

1,249,541 1,519,911

BVEETERRASEWRBNE
RAEENTEPBEFRE URXRPEA
W REBRER < BREEREE
AR BEEERANBANELR

226
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The intangible assets mainly represent the Group’s customer
relationships from acquisition of subsidiaries, exclusive
operating rights for senior housing services located in
Chinese Mainland and hotel trademark. The intangible assets
are amortised on a straight-line basis over the contractual
period.
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REBEREEA

AEEEAREXREEN LTI
FRHE BF HSELEMEES
BMEBEMHESD - BIRAIEL —
RENRIAMEETWERE L4
HEBAIOF EFHNHEHBBEN
FIFE20F  MEBOBHBEN
F2E210F - HM R ENHBEE
1218 B AT &3 @8 BB &
BE-AEBRBE_FT_WOF
+-A=+—BitEE®RRAS A
FHEEENHUARBARK

17. LEASE

THE GROUP AS LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land use
rights, buildings, machinery and other equipment used in
its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods
of 40 years. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms
between 3 and 20 years, while machinery generally has lease
terms between 2 and 10 years. Other equipment generally
has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of
low value. The Group recognised rental income of subleasing
right-of-use assets of RMB851,759,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: RMB700,124,000).

851,759,000t (ZZE=-=F: AR
#700,124,0007T) °

(A) EREEE (A) Right-of-use assets
RAREE AEBERAEESE The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets
ZEHEELRHEESHNT and the movements during the year are as follows:

THERE B R @t
Land use Machinery
rights Buildings and others Total

ARBTR  ARBTR  AR®Tn  ARETx
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

RZZ-EE-A—H At 1 January 2024 3,835,502 1,281,680 165,371 5,282,553
ME Additions 68,399 288,152 4,061 360,612
HENBARKEE Disposed upon disposal of

(Fist44) subsidiaries (Note 44) (CYNED) (117) - (47,856)
KENBARRES Acquired on acquisition of

(Fit3t 45) subsidiaries (Note 45) 291 - - 291
WESH Depreciation charge ((PERLY) (348,615) (13,985) (485,859)
HEEY Lease modification (11,772) (11,370) (6,330) (89,472)
RZZ-WETZA At 31 December 2024

=1+-A 3,721,422 1,149,730 149,117 5,020,269
W-E-=F—-F—H At 1 January 2023 4,415,498 1,182,664 175,598 5,773,760
NE Additions 171,573 349,865 3,566 525,004
LENBARKEE Disposed upon disposal of

subsidiaries - (@,797) - (4,797)
KERBARRES Acquired on acquisition of
subsidiaries 213,525 15,069 - 228,594

wEXH Depreciation charge (137,224) (261,121) (13,793) (412,138)
BREMHE NS Transfer to properties for sale (827,870) = = (827,870)
W-E-=F+-FH At 31 December 2023

=1+-A 3,835,502 1,281,680 165,371 5,282,553

EHEMAPR AT China Resources Land Limited 227
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17. #%E (%) 17. LEASE (continued)
AEBEEAEBA(E) THE GROUP AS LESSEE (continued)
(B) HE&EE (B) Lease liabilities
RAFEE  A&EEHEERZ The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities and
REELREZFHNAT the movements during the year are as follows:

2024 2023
ARBTRE ARETE

RMB’000 RMB’000

m—H—H At 1 January 7,050,076 7,115,526
wHE New leases 165,070 631,154

g = PNS Y] Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries - 7,839
HENBARRKES Disposed upon disposal of subsidiaries
(BizE44) (Note 44) (87,772) -
RAFERERAFEIEIN  Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 322,501 346,354
ME BN Lease modification (CEEL)] -
(NEN Payments [CYEXLR)]  (1,050,797)
R+=—A=+—H At 31 December 6,512,365 7,050,076
DR Analysed into:
mENER 7> Current portion 886,387 1,580,663
FERB D Non-current portion 5,625,978 5,469,413
HEBENIHASTEER The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
e B EmRMIZES3 - note 53 to the consolidated financial statements.
(O NEZRIHEEEFHEZEH (C) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in
(1 N relation to leases are as follows:

2024 2023
ARBTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

HEAGBEZFE Interests on lease liabilities 322,501 346,354
FRAREERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 485,859 412,138
B HHEREEMBEEE Expense relating to short-term leases

HEFBENRX and leases of low-value assets 151,087 140,864
RIEm R A58 Total amount recognised in profit
or loss 959,447 899,356
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17. #% (%) 17. LEASE (continued)

AEEEARBA (E) THE GROUP AS LESSEE (continued)

(D) HEHESHRBHAZE (D) Total cash outflow for leases
SFFTABRESRERNBERER The total cash outflow included in the statement of
BT cash flows is as follows:

2024 2023
ARBTRT ARETE

RMB’000 RMB’000

RI&ETEEA Within operating activities (151,087) (140,864)

REEEENA Within financing activities CEeXLN)]  (1,050,797)
REBERSHEA THE GROUP AS LESSOR
REEBRR  REBBEARADE] At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
SR EEH AR R AY - BLLA TS B with lessees for the following future undiscounted lease
EIHAR R RRAIBAEN KA T - payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall

due as follows:

2024 2023
ARBTRE ARETE
RMB’000 RMB’000

—FN Within one year 10,296,899 10,545,118
F_EZFRF(BIEEEMTE) Inthe second to fifth year, inclusive 12,234,948 12,327,503
AFLAE After five years 1,802,645 2,343,172

24,334,492 25,215,793
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18. P2

18. GOODWILL

ARBETT
RMB’000

BREE
R-ZEBE-_=F—HF—H
g =PNE]

R-FB-_=%t+-HA=+—~H
A—ZF-_ME—-—A—H
,ﬁ‘ﬂzﬁﬁ

I

Of

IE

gl

R-ZZF-_WNE+=-_A=+—H

Carrying amount:
At 1 January 2023
Acquisition of subsidiaries

1,816,263
95,621

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

1,911,884
Derecognition (74,510)
Adjustments

Impairment

(16,327)
(11,544)

At 31 December 2024 1,809,503

Liﬁ%i‘w\ﬁﬂlﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁw&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
PEREEBNDERBBERAB(TE
M)~ TN UM T Z R B R
REI(TEJIANT) mRREY X
BRAB([MAERLE]) TIT&HTHE
MERBARRBN(NIHSTE]) R
P ER T AR A VR IRTS B BR 2RI ([ BA
HE))WBREeELBUMT

Goodwill acquired in business combinations is allocated,
at acquisitions, to the cash generated units (“CGUs") of
Yuzhou Property Services Company Limited (“Yuzhou"),
Sichuan Jiuzhou Qiancheng Property Service Co. Ltd.
(“Sichuan Jiuzhou”), Nantong Changle Property Co. Ltd
(“Nantong Changle”), Jiangsu Zhongnan Property Services
Co. Ltd. (“Jiangsu Zhongnan”) and Chengdu Langji Life
Services Co. Ltd. (“Langji”) as below:

2024
AR®T T

2023
ARBFIT

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

mERENIEHTRE Nantong Changle and Jiangsu Zhongnan 1,098,311 1,153,274
=S Yuzhou 611,216 630,763
7911 Sichuan Jiuzhou 20,682 20,682
BAE Langji 79,294 95,621
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18. i (#)

BEEENREELAENMREA
=,
R—_ZTE-_pWE+-_A=+—H &
BEEHEEETREBENR BRAR
LRTESE - &M T &
BEAXBRESELEUNAIKkES
BIRBEARFESEINEIEHERD
BT ESENEREBEETE -
REEABNMRTKE SR
EEEHENENAFTHYEEE
MRS RERANEREBTER
KE AEERNFHENRERE
HA15% (ZE-=9F:20%) 1
EEEHHE ZEWRETBBES
EEBNMEETENRFIYE
R R o @ ARIR S 788 &5 an gL
BWENF17.7% £ 183% (ZE ==
F:17.8% 2 18.3%) ' Z B R
MEEEITERREEEEUAS
BEAMNEFERR -

R-ZT-_mWE+=—_A=+—H %
BEESEHNMTHMERSELEEMN
BMERENAMBNERERR R
B BeEABEMANATRES
MEBSELSEMAEREREES
WMAEERABEAUEIEELEEKR
REINBE

18. GOODWILL (continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTS FOR CASH-GENERATING
UNITS CONTAINING GOODWILL

Management performed impairment testing on goodwill
as at 31 December 2024. The recoverable amounts of
CGUs of Nantong Changle and Jiangsu Zhongnan, Yuzhou,
Sichuan Jiuzhou and Langji business are determined based
on the value in use (“VIU") calculation by the directors of
the Company with the assistance of an external valuer. The
recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. Cash flows beyond
the five-year and six-year period are extrapolated using a
growth rate of 1.5% (2023: 2.0%). The growth rates do not
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the related
industry in which the CGUs operate. The pre-tax discount
rates applied to the cash flow projections was 17.7% to
18.3% (2023: 17.8% to 18.3%), which reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant industry and the CGUs themselves.

As at 31 December 2024, management reassessed the
key assumptions for impairment testing on goodwill of all
CGUs. Based on the assessment, the recoverable amounts of
CGUs approximated the carrying amount of CGUs and the
Group considered that no material additional impairment of
goodwill was required.
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19.

REBEEZITRE 19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
RZZE-_WFE+ZA=+—H" Particulars of the Group's joint ventures as at 31 December
AEEEELHE2HFBRIHNME 2024 are set out in note 51(C).

51(C) °

—BEXRGELEHBERE SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A

= MATERIAL JOINT VENTURE
AREEERGELHELEBARES The summarised financial information in respect of /3@
ERAR(IEBBE=])2HBER HEEBRAF(" LE@EE"), the Group’s material joint
MEHNEHWT - venture, is set out below.

ItEEPERGE M BREREAE This joint venture is accounted for using the equity method
mAEARR in these consolidated financial statements:

MEBEE
FRBEE
mEAE
FRBAE

tHEEERABBESHEERE
ANEE :

AekBeFE

FRBpERAE(TERE
JE AT BR R N B At B A BR TR
K EE)

ES-
F R A

AR A BRI TSR

B WA
M BRI
P15 A X

2024 2023

AR®Tx ARET T

RMB’000 RMB'000

Current assets 5,764,697 4,302,070
Non-current assets 6,808,959 6,639,843

Current liabilities (676,625) (660,601)
Non-current liabilities (7,027,646) (5,653,280)

The above amounts of assets and
liabilities include the following:

Cash and cash equivalents 25,357 14,425

Non-current financial liabilities (excluding
trade and other payables and
provisions) (5,900,000) (4,591,000)

Revenue 575,932 552,754
Profit for the year 226,626 184,708

The above profit for the year includes
the following:

Depreciation and amortisation (330)
Interest income 1,249
Interest expense (191,302)
Income tax expense (61,743)
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9. RaBEAEIRE (H) 19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(continued)
—BEEREGELEZHBERE SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A
= (&) MATERIAL JOINT VENTURE (continued)
il B E R E BN AR A B SR Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
RABRRZEELEZER 2R to the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture
H1{E 2 $ 8k - recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2024 2023
AR®BTR ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

FEBRZFEE Net assets of b /&%= 4,869,385 4,628,032
AEBR LB 2B  Proportion of the Group’s ownership

1 23t B interest in /8@ 50% 50%

2,434,693 2,314,016

& Goodwill 284,869 284,869

AEBR L EBRER Carrying amount of the Group's
BREE interest in F /8@ 2,719,562 2,598,885

ZEREELEFERFTEAEER The material joint venture is principally engaged in similar
BUZERE HXEBMEZERR activities as the Group and is strategic to the Group's
REXBERBEBE HEEBEXE activities as property development and investment. Its
LB AR E M o principal place of business is Chinese Mainland.
WHBREAZEELHXZER AGGREGATE INFORMATION OF JOINT VENTURES
& ¥ THAT ARE NOT INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL

2024 2023
ARBTRE ARETE

RMB’000 RMB’000

7R ER B e 1R 5 0 A RUES 1R

The Group's share of profits less losses
for the year (113,917) 2,708,468

REBRZESEMNEZ  Aggregate carrying amount of the
57 BREARE Group's interests in these joint
ventures 54,990,175 57,108,492

REBEHZEAEDE  Aggregate amounts of the Group's
FREMEEWEZE 245 share of those joint ventures’ other
comprehensive income for the year
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19. R EEREZRE (M)

RERN AEBEECERAEE
TR E A K ¥ 849,659,000 7T (=
T-=%F: AR¥1,431,490,0007T) °

20. R B AR ZHBE
R-ZE-_WNFE+_A=+—H ' &
EEBL N A ZFIBERKIEES1(D)

EEERSASENTAEE QR
B A& Bl AN 5 B & B #5AROR K
REEREATE -

BMENAZEAER

7R E% B PR A6 F 0 MRLES 18

REBRZEHRE AT Z  Aggregate carrying amount of the
T BREBE Group's interests in these associates 27,382,573 25,937,418

19.

20.

The Group's share of profits less losses
for the year 388,836 (440,634)

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(continued)
During the year, dividends declared by the Group’s joint

ventures to the Group amounted to RMB849,659,000 (2023:
RMB1,431,490,000).

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Group’s associates as at 31 December 2024
are set out in note 51(D).

Management considers that none of the associates of the
Group will have a significant impact to the financial position
and performance of the Group individually.

AGGREGATE INFORMATION OF ASSOCIATES

2024 2023
ARB®TRE ARETRT

RMB’000 RMB'000

RER  REEBE QAR RANEE
TR B A R #646,490,000 7T (=
T_=4%: ARK¥1,328,496,0007T) °

21. 90 %€ 4% 5 8 L Aib % i W R
A PAESIIR Z B AR T H

21.

During the year, dividends declared by the Group’s associates
to the Group amounted to RMB646,490,000 (2023:
RMB1,328,496,000).

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023
ARBTR AR®BTT

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

JEETARAIZE - L AFE  Unlisted equity investments, at fair value 1,011,287 1,043,560

AXREERSZEFREBRAEIEE -
b B AR T A5 A BBl 3 35 TE S
FREMEEW SR N FETIRK-
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The above equity instruments were irrevocably designated
at FVOCI as the Group considers these investments to be
strategic in nature.



22. % Wl mk

22.

BB =18 B BIEAMIRITFX  Bank deposits with maturity over three

TIME DEPOSITS

2024
ARBTRT

2023
ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

1,011,017
3,852,706

1,613,254
2,642,609

4,863,723 4,255,863

350,017
4,513,706

4,052,766
203,097

months
e (FaE) Deposit certificates (Note)
Pak =1 Analysed into:
& Current
JEMB Non-current
MisE : ZAESRR BN E NS R R IFHIFEIRTT

23.

BENGTFRE BEFMNER2.0%E2.6%
(ZZ==%F:35%) RETHR B12E36
BA(ZZE==F:36EA) ZEEARE
A FREEE - EHERNE RIGERREREE
AHELENREREEAUASRAEE
ReFENFAR - WIRBEAFERENRE
RBRSTENEBENFE - Bt - FRE
ARIIERBERATENSREE -

¥ it Bh & A < AT K IH

EReBTFERAEERIKEF
Wi T (E AR IEREMELRE
MiEBEIEE BMEM AT HERMK
H-BHE2_T-_WF+_A=+—
B AEEDRESZ T AR

24.

3 I Bt JH

RERBMBMRERZZ2IIME - &

TRERBEEENRBBD TIAKH
THI AR E B R AR AT IR 4 8
D

EETIAE E
EXERBRE

23.

24.

Deferred taxation assets
Deferred taxation liabilities

Note: The balance represents deposit certificates purchased from creditworthy
licensed banks in Chinese Mainland earning interest at a fixed rate of 2.0%
to 2.6% (2023: 3.5%) per annum with an original maturity period of 12 to
36 months (2023: 36 months). The deposit certificates are redeemable, and
the contractual terms of the time deposits give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding and are held within a business model with the objective
to hold in order to collect contractual cash flows. For such purpose, the deposit
certificates are accounted for as financial assets at amortised cost.

PREPAYMENTS FOR NON-CURRENT
ASSETS

The amounts mainly represent the prepayments made by
the Group for the acquisitions of land use rights in Chinese
Mainland for the development of investment properties and
properties held for own use. The land use right certificates have
not yet been obtained by the Group as at 31 December 2024.

DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred taxation
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the
analysis of the deferred taxation balances at the end of the
reporting period:

2024
AR®T R

2023
ARBTIT

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

5,105,069
(27,853,279)

13,979,382
(34,515,938)

(e Ry wA)]  (20,536,556)
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24, JESE B H (%) 24. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
UNTRAFEZEZELEHIEE The following are the major deferred taxation assets/
E/(aE) R ERABRBHBE (liabilities) during the year, without taking into consideration
AEBERIEIHAR - the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction:

HE

ARERS T HEARZ

RENE HARERUE BERESE A2WEA
Unrealised

gain from Undistributed

inter- profits

Investment company Tax LAT of PRC
properties  transaction losses provisions  subsidiaries Others Total
AR%TT ARETr ARMTz AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR ARET:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

RZZZME—A—H At1lanuary 2024 (26,721,638) 357,677 2,544,686 5,676,642 (1,292,906)  (1,101,017)  (20,536,556)

a0 Exchange realignment 54,961 15,620 (6,731) 3,463 (25,834) (68,657) (27,178)
WEHBARBES  Acquired on acquisition of
(B zE45) subsidiaries (Note 45) = = g - - - 3
HENBARREE  Disposed upon disposal of
(Mizt44) subsidiaries (Note 44) 2,300,586 - (50,961) - - (1675 2,247,950
(#08)/3AB%E  (Charged)credited to
(F§zE10) profit or loss (Note 10) (2,963,542) (560,570) (851,271) (673,028) (120,308) 728,222 (4,440,497)
FAEMEEMNE  Credited to other
comprehensive income - - - - - 8,068 8,068
WZZ-WE+=HF At31December 2024
=+—H (27,329,633) (187,273) 1,635,726 5,007,077 (1,439,048) (435,059)  (22,748,210)
RZZ==%—F—H At1January 2023 (24,358,657) 532,959 2,228,937 5,036,796 (888,190) (2,781,183)  (20,229,338)
[N % Exchange realignment (243,860) (13,477) 20,452 2,238 (105,189) 283,166 (56,670)
WEMEBREEES  Acuired on acquisition of
subsidiaries - - 67,195 (285,713) - (474,904) (693,422)
HERBATBERE  Disposed upon disposal of
subsidiaries 856,469 - - (155,396) - (17,934) 683,139
(@)/st B (Charged)/credited to
profit or loss (2,975,590) (161,805) 228,102 1,078,717 (299,527) 1,882,308 (247,795)
SEAEM2EKE  Credited to other
comprehensive income - - - - - 7,530 7,530

WZZ-=F+-H At31December 2023

=+—A (26,721,638) 357,677 2,544,686 5,676,642 (1,292,906) (1,101,017)  (20,536,556)

B 5 Notes:

@ RZT-_mMFF+-_A=+—H BHRAK (@) At 31 December 2024, no deferred taxation asset has been recognised on the
AREFRRBEUETHBRARBEN remaining tax losses of RMB12,659,110,000 (2023: RMB6,531,529,000), as
wAR O MAEERATHRBEEARE in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the future profit streams of
12,659,110,000 L (ZZE == : AR¥ the subsidiaries are uncertain. The tax losses could be carried forward for a
6,531,529,000 7T) HERIRIETRIBE ZE © T 75 maximum of five years.

ER&ZAEEDEF -

b) R-ZE-_WNE+-_A=+—8 AEE
4 9 PR B N 3t BT B A ) B oK BB & R
#10,564,200,0007T (=T = =& :
#28,200,248,000 7T.) 7 2 iE 1 Bt 18
K %528,210,0007T (ZT =% : A
1,410,012,0007T) * R A2 AN & E I &
B EBN D BEEF BRI

(b) At 31 December 2024, the Group has not made provision of deferred
taxation of RMB528,210,000 (2023: RMB1,410,012,000) for the unremitted
earnings of the Chinese Mainland subsidiaries of RMB10,564,200,000 (2023:
RMB28,200,248,000) as the Group does not have a plan to distribute these
earnings out of the PRC.

H
24 T 3 > > B
B 3% >- B0 OH0 Ik
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VW BH W6k 7 L A

K JH

FETE
el & = XA
& Ui Bt = X B FRIR

& Ui SE 422 B 25 5K IR

E
FE U BR AR AR B R B R IR

JE W Rl AR A B 3R
FE USR] 5 Ff B & R SOR

FEU & & XA
FE Ui Bt i X B FRIR

JRE Ui SE 22 A #E 25 R IR

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED

PARTIES/NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS
2024 2023
AR®TR AR®ET
RMB’000 RMB’000
NON-CURRENT
Amounts due from joint ventures 14,712,201 9,639,928
Amounts due from associates 1,822,756 1,613,666
16,534,957 11,253,594
Amounts due from non-controlling
interests 5,268,986 4,914,883
21,803,943 16,168,477
CURRENT
Amount due from the ultimate
holding company 455 135
Amounts due from intermediate
holding companies 11,421 44,802
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 636,565 1,209,123
Amounts due from joint ventures 12,290,025 17,418,462
Amounts due from associates 5,232,276 8,527,778
(EAVOWZYE 27,200,300
Amounts due from non-controlling
interests 39,603,554 38,965,360
57,774,296 66,165,660

RZEBE-_WMFER_FT_=ZF+-A4
Zt+—H - EREELE BERQ
A RIEERERRIBZIERB B
AERELIBHRN —FREN B
% A R#5922,826,0007T (=&
—=%: AR%4,027,122,0007T)
AR BN BREIRIBITH IS M X

B o
75N

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the non-current portion
of the amounts due from joint ventures, associates and
non-controlling interests is unsecured and expected to be
settled after one year. Except for the aggregate amounts
of RMB5,922,826,000 (2023: RMB4,027,122,000) which
are interest-free, the remaining amounts bear interest at
prevailing market interest rates.
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26.

238

5. VW B W6k 07 i L 2
k(%)

1+'

Sl

R_E_NER-_FE_=ZF+_A
=+—8" EZ%F@?WE‘%%HX T
FRZER AR REMBA

BHE BENRRIEE Hﬂéﬁm
Bz R AERTENBREENK
BERBHR—FRNEN - BB
AR#34,357,116,0007T (ZE ==
% 1 AR#%40,303,464,0007T) A%
BN BRERIBITMSFERGE -

ABEERAT R REERAT
ARMBAR A20% BEA
A R 25 2 B R 2 9

REos Mg -

etz sk

ERPME
HIHE 2R

Properties under development
Properties held for sale

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED

PARTIES/NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the current portion
of the amounts due from the ultimate holding company,
intermediate holding companies, fellow subsidiaries,
joint ventures, associates and non-controlling interests is
unsecured and repayable on demand or expected to be
settled within one year. Except for the aggregate amounts
of RMB34,357,116,000 (2023: RMB40,303,464,000) which
are interest-free, the remaining amounts bear interest at
prevailing market interest rates.

There was no history of default and past due amounts for
loans to the ultimate holding company, intermediate holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and
non-controlling interests.

26. PROPERTIES FOR SALE

2024 2023
ARBT T

ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

346,390,712
94,438,042

441,676,696
82,655,951

CDOEPRET S 524,332,647

HEEZYERBHRAARNREHRK
T ARKE - BB AE
BEREEBRcANER  #IG
//Ib%b,é%

R-B-mE+-A=+—8 "
BRAYERHEEE Z W EBR
FEAEEFECBEBAEARE
14,738,000,000c (ZZE - =4 : A
R #11,724,000,0007T) ©

—EEERE ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Properties for sale which are expected to be recovered in
more than twelve months after the end of the reporting
period are classified under current assets as it is expected to
be realised in the Group’s normal operating cycle.

As at 31 December 2024, the provision for write-down of
properties under development and properties held for sale to
net realisable value amounted to RMB 14,738 million (2023:
RMB11,724 million).



26. o Bz Y3k (4])

ERARRAX MG ARG ZHEEZ
MESELFWT

RRRAXZHHEZ
YESDEN

WORESHE 2 MER

A &30 %E

Cost of properties for sales recognised
as expense

Write-down of properties for sales to
net realisable value

26. PROPERTIES FOR SALE (continued)

The analysis of the amount of properties for sale recognised
as an expense and included in profit or loss is as follows:

2024
AR®T T

2023
ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

(YNl 166,995,608

7,834,361 6,988,742

POV LT PR A 173,984,350

27. M W B sk > 3L ik R 0 R
JH > TATSKH KA &

O E B (K FEa)

FhURE £ 20 R A 2 TR

JE Uk BR % & FE WL ZE 18 (M3 a) Trade and bills receivables (Note a)
Less: provision for impairment (Note a)

Prepayments for acquisition of land

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS

2024
ARBT T
RMB’000

2023
ARETT
RMB'000

3,750,810
(270,121)

3,604,776
(172,638)

3,480,689 3,432,138

RIE (fIFED) use rights (Note b) (AT 11,501,608
H4th fE Y BRIE (B 7EC) Other receivables (Note c) 13,322,080 12,817,305
B B EEE (i Less: provision for impairment (Note c) (333,819) (302,298)

BN RENET £ ()

Prepayments and deposits (Note d)

12,988,261 12,515,007

24,925,450 23,852,305

52,762,416 51,301,058
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27. W& W M sk > 3L ik R U B

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
H ~ PR IE KT 4 ()

RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS (continued)
Notes:

f e

Trade and bills receivables

@  EURERREKREER (@)

& W2 2 BB R 1S BORR IR B B e A
G - HEMENES KA WEE
BERBEORFEARIZEE HZAERE

— ARAR IR AR A 155 a8 0 R SR UK -

B EMEZ PSR

HEMENES U

A MEEERBOBRBUARZESHZ

FRSRIRAREE B ek

R AERSD -

B S

—RELETEFTHEBEI0ESRNEE
B EITEETHERPEMGEES -

AT RIRE R A 8 2 85 B R U R
R e (B HBRBUERRE) 2 BRER DT -

Proceeds receivable in respect of the sale of properties are settled in accordance
with the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase agreements. Rental income
from leases of properties, service income from property management service
and proceeds from construction contracts are generally receivable in accordance
with the terms of the relevant agreements.

Except for the proceeds from sales of properties, rental income from leases of
properties, service income from property management service and proceeds
from construction contracts which are receivable in accordance with the terms
of the relevant agreements, the Group generally allows a credit period of not
exceeding 30 to 45 days to its customers or does not grant its customers with
any credit period.

The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills receivables (net of provision
for impairment) at the end of the reporting period based on the invoice date:

2024
AR¥TR

RMB’000

0-30K 0-30 days 1,098,268 1,075,848
31-60 X 31-60 days 418,592 532,494
61-90 K~ 61-90 days 167,745 198,041
91-180K 91-180 days 594,642 463,369
181-365 X 181-365 days 142,210 548,239
HBiE1F Over 1 year 1,059,232 614,147

3,480,689 3,432,138

R-E-—NER-_T_=F+-A=+—
B - BT B AR R K R IR R R R
AAB R-F-HFR-_F_=F1+-A
=+—B  AEEEERERRERER
WEHEERRTEX -

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all the trade and bills receivables are
measured at amortised cost. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
estimated that the expected credit risks for the trade and bills receivables were
insignificant.

K%I&ﬁﬁ?fﬁlﬂ:—% ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁcﬂ}bﬁﬁuﬁ’: o A

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. Movements in the
provision for impairment for trade receivables are as follows:

2024
ARET T

2023
ARETT

RMB'000 RMB’000

R—A—BHE Balance at 1 January 172,638
BB UTEE T A RGN Addition through acquisition of subsidiaries -
BERBEFE Impairment losses, net 101,034
F A Written off during the year [€X:EL))
[E 5, A% Exchange realignment 383

RTt-—A=+—BH%&&H Balance at 31 December 270,121 172,638
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27. ME W B sk~ 3L ik R U MR
JE ~ AT K E KRT & (8)

fieE - ()
(b)  WEE LA TANFUR

ZETERRAEEAETRABSE RN E
W2 P U B L 4 (5E PR T 32 Y 2 TN 5ROR ©
RIFEHR - AEE i ARES LI EHER -

(0 HtEUWiRE

ZECHRIBEENEEYNEEREAEAX
N2 BB SR RIR B ARRR] & - 2 F0RA
RAEIRE TR ERE -

Ho At R BRI I B ETE R ) MARER
RRERWIR A EEZFES - XAXT A
HE—FAYRE -

R-ZE-_WER-F_=FF+=-_A=+—
B AR MERRERBHEKATE R
—E_WFERZF_=F+=A=+—8"
NE B E R R AR IE /0 TR HA (2 B R R
TEKX-
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BRI E
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RNt A=+—BrKER

Balance at 1 January
Addition through acquisition of subsidiaries -
Impairment losses, net
Written off during the year
Exchange realignment

Balance at 31 December

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(b) Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights

The amount represents the prepayments made by the Group for the acquisition
of land use rights in Chinese Mainland for property development for sale. The
land use right certificates have not yet been obtained by the Group at the end
of the reporting period.

(@] Other receivables

The amount mainly includes temporary payments paid for potential property
development projects and project-related deposits which would be refundable
upon completion of the development projects.

There is no fixed repayment term for other receivables and the Group considers
that they are repayable on demand and will be recovered in one year from the
date of advance.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all the other receivables are measured at
amortised cost. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group estimated that
the expected credit risks for the other receivables were insignificant.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. Movements in the
provision for impairment for other receivables are as follows:

2024
AR%T R

RMB’000

302,298

39,813
(7.,572)
(720)

333,819

d) ENFEERTE

ZEREIRRERBREMNZARES
& RIBNIBEN R E b ERRHIA -

(d) Prepayments and deposits

The amount mainly includes refundable deposits paid for bidding projects and
prepayments of value added tax and other sales related taxes.
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28. 1 KV E B M R

BB A HZEA
KAERERKERB 2
BHEE

Costs to obtain contracts
Contract assets arising from construction

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
COSTS

2024
AR®T T

2023
ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

2,626,370 2,293,922

and decoration services 642,229 647,146

3,268,599 2,941,068

BRNEESHANNEEEXBH

AU [E o

29.
BE A

BAVEAABRZEREE

—REBETER (iEa)

—EBES (Mi&Eb)

—BRAFEFABRSE RE
&

BRAFEFABRRZEREE
— AR ARE (H5E47)

DR
mE
FERE

AP E A £ 2 il

The amount of contract assets expected to be recovered
under normal operating cycle.

29. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

2024
BE
Assets
AR T
RMB’000

=L
Liabilities
AR® T
RMB’000

Financial assets at FVPL

— Structured deposits (note a)

— Wealth management funds (note b)
— Equity investment at FVPL

4,283,017
1,100,000

1,754
5,384,771

Financial liabilities at FVPL
— Contingent consideration payables

(Note 47) 186,002

Analysed into:
Current
Non-current

34,793
151,209
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29. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS (continued)

29. ¥ PAEEH A I8 5 2 <5 Rl
e A ()

2023
BE
Assets
ARETT
RMB’000

aE
Liabilities

ARBTIT
RMB’000

BAFEFABRRZEREE

Financial assets at FVPL

—EEEER (MiEa) — Structured deposits (note a) 1,130,023 —
— B ES (M5Eb) — Wealth management funds (note b) 1,871,406 -
3,001,429 -
BRAFEFABRZEBEE Finandal liabilities at FVPL
— ERSARE (FsE47) — Contingent consideration payables
(Note 47) - 335,156
Pk =1 Analysed into:
&N Current - 114,025
JERH Non-current - 221,131
B & - Notes:

(a)

HERERATEAMEER FNRITEED
BEETY  ARETRNREDRETE
BETHEREG 5B EREE N - %
SANEENBREREBEVIFEARIAAR
ERAREERSHOFE - SUL 5 - SHE
FRESEREATFEFABR L SREE -

EMESREERSHKBETNIENE
& BUMESHANGFRNIEERBEEN
Heng UHEARINREELASRE
FE o Eilt - BB ES WD RARAFE
ANERZEREE -

(@)

The balance represents structured deposits purchased from creditworthy banks
in Chinese Mainland. The investment return rate of the structured deposits are
mainly linked to the price changes in certain underlying commodities/indexes.
The cash flows arising from these contracts are not solely for payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. For such purpose,
the structured deposits are classified as financial asset at FVPL.

Wealth management funds are investments in financial funds issued by financial
institutions. The contractual terms of the wealth management funds give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are not solely for payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Accordingly, the wealth
management funds are classified as financial asset at FVPL.

243

ZEEEHARR /AT China Resources Land Limited



f B B 955 it A B ek

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

. 2 B SRAT AR kBl K
Bl &%M

XBREIBITFRAAREE T
EREEARLEAEEE TR
ERZEE L FNIRAEERNE
T URBHRFRITERATPR
HIBREROTFR

R—E-_NWFEF+-_A=+—H"

ERBTEGRRERITES Eﬂ
KNF0.001%E537% (ZE_=
F:0.10% E5.70%) 5t B 2 52 Hf
ROTGER EFheEfekRies
B AR #131,294,077,0007C (=&
—=%: AR¥112,675,092,000

JL) °

ﬁé: “HE+=ZAR=+—
S| E% ReEEREBEXH
%m%%&ﬁﬁﬁ’%?ﬂﬁ/\ﬁﬁg

15,116,645,000c (ZZE - =4F : A

E#17,046,026,000 7T) ° 4815 & B
RIRITEFIEG - RSB EED

5 E B bt T B B I 15 AR B 3 77 IR
FiF BB PIHEAE 1R I A ARRR Y X 1R
BEVZRMEEER - %R G HRE
HEMENTIREERER -

SXRFERITERIARIE & RIBITA
TR T EEE

30. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Restricted bank deposits are denominated in RMB which
mainly represent funds designated for relocating existing
residents on the land of the Group’s certain property
development projects and deposits pledged to banks to
secure the mortgage guarantees provided to customers.

As at 31 December 2024, cash and bank balances
comprised short-term bank deposits which carry interest
at prevailing deposit rates ranging from 0.001% to 5.37%
(2023: 0.10% to 5.70%) per annum, which included cash
and cash equivalents of RMB131,294,077,000 (2023:
RMB112,675,092,000).

As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents
included the regulated pre-sales proceeds of properties
RMB15,116,645,000 (2023: RMB17,046,026,000). In
accordance with the applicable prevailing government
regulation, the deposits can only be used for payments of
construction related costs of related property projects upon
the approval of the respective local government authorities
when the prescribed construction stage reached. Such
restriction will be released according to the completion stage
of the related properties.

The restricted bank deposits and cash and bank balances are
denominated in the following currencies:

2024
AR®T T

2023
ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HK$ 464,116 3,724,633

AR RMB (epieiblaeiel 110,269,996
%TE United States dollar (“US$") 117,385 96,645
A Great British Pound (“GBP") 282,028 249,151
H Others 7 18

W EEWLIRVEN 114,340,443

ANREFHERZ S LB RINE RSN
BtENRE MRITEFELDTE
M - 7838 57 A B O AR A O B R
SINEE 2 11 A5 Rl R OR A
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The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated cash and bank balances out of Chinese
Mainland are subject to relevant rules and regulation
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.
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31. BEAT IRk e Hofth JE £} 38 31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024
ARBT T

H b & R IR

8 (MfsEb)

JETBR A FE A 22 4% (M 7Ea) Trade and bills payables (Note a)
Other payables (Note b)

2023
ARBETT

RMB’'000 RMB'000

68,211,974
65,277,860

84,243,425
74,427,609

(EfLEERS 158,671,034

FsE

FER R K BN SRR

ERNEAREBNREEFHR -—FA
BHIZERER -

AT RIRIEER A M7 HEHRENRRK
RENRE R DT -

Notes:

Trade and bills payables

All trade and bills payables are expected to be settled within 1 year or are
repayable on demand.

The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills payables at the end of the
reporting period based on the invoice date:

2024
AR¥T R

RMB’000

0-30K 0-30 days 15,454,062 27,819,434
31-60K 31-60 days 3,046,637 16,012,216
61-90 K 61-90 days 2,719,530 5,075,497
91-180K 91-180 days 8,973,152 11,209,147
181-365KX 181-365 days 14,924,278 6,813,219
Bl 1F Over 1 year 23,094,315 17,313,912

68,211,974 84,243,425

HERRME R Supplier finance arrangement

AGE2REREEE AL - B L
P AR IEER AT B M S OB R 50R - IR
B Eﬁ%%%ﬂ“a’dﬁﬁ*@ﬁﬁkﬁ‘m
A28 7 (R S RIR - i AN SR B AR 7Y
BEHBMAPBEEBER - WL ZEEBH
SEGRAHE R A0 N SRR IR - 3 AR E AR AT 4K
MEERRAREBEENRIBE AR
PANE

AEBE IR KIERENLRIEEE 2 RIA
FEAERR - R R AT S & R RE R LS
EREZEE ﬂ'ﬂiiﬂ?ﬁAEﬁf’EﬁE?ﬂ‘
2K N ZF RS AR EE R T aE B E b
JEf BR AR - Iﬁtzl»i%lﬂ%%;%z?#iﬁlﬁ
B8R AERTBRFRA

BEZSLH cREERNRTEE®HA
(*EQZ,\@E—‘%EIE@&E’JIE%“é%ﬁﬁfﬁ)“ﬁrﬁl
HEFE N AEERERNRIE - NEERE
BREREBELARBERE - FRNRS K
BEESRE -

R-ZFT-—WFE+=A= + B ZETHT
1€ gt & &R E(E A A R 9,505,900,000
myg};’%ﬁmlﬁﬂamﬁ EX A SR

E,\Eéﬁﬁiﬁii‘%qﬂ CREBEARBEBEZ T

XN THBRBHORIBREELLER
%/mim T B TS M 18 S 1+ 77 45 7B P2 O 308
RIFBERS -

The Group participates in supplier finance arrangements under which its
suppliers may elect to receive early payment of their invoices from financial
institutions. Under the arrangement, financial institutions agrees to pay
amounts due to participating suppliers in respect of invoices owed by the
Group and the Group repays financial institutions at a later date. The principal
purpose of this arrangement is to facilitate efficient payment processing and
provide the willing suppliers early payment terms, compared with the related
invoice payment due date.

The Group has not derecognised the original trade payables relating to the
arrangement because neither a legal release was obtained nor was the original
liability substantially modified on entering into the arrangement. The Group
therefore includes the amounts subject to the arrangement within trade
payables because the nature and function of these payables remains the same
as those of other trade payables.

Under these arrangements, the financial institutions pay suppliers the amounts
owed by the Group before the original due dates, which is usually the normal
operating period after the invoice date. The Group then settles with the
financial institutions within 1 year after the payments were made by the
financial institutions.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of financial liabilities under
these arrangements amounted to RMB9,505,900,000, all of which were settled
subsequently to suppliers under the arrangement.

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, payments to the financial
institutions are included within operating cash flows based on the nature of the
arrangements, and payments to the suppliers by the financial institutions are
non-cash transactions.
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31. WE AT IR 3K S Hofth ME fF BRI 31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

=3 .

(%) (continued)

B 5 - (48) Notes: (continued)

(b)  HAtENERIE (b)  Other payables
ZECHTEOFEMBEATR - BAKE The amounts mainly include other taxes payable, consideration payables for
RERRERIE - acquisitions and accrued salaries.
HE-Z-_WFE+-A=+—H st AEH The value added taxes (“VAT”) included in other payables relating to pre-
hEMRTER EBEYEGRZEAETRL sale of properties as at 31 December 2024 amounting to approximately
B AR #17,499,282,0007T (—Z & = =4 : RMB17,499,282,000 (2023: RMB22,828,000,000). VAT payable is recognised
AR #22,828,000,0007T) ° fE {3 A B RN when the control of the properties is transferred to customers and revenue is
Y 2 R EB AR P RIERRARIER © recognised.

s

32. 5HIAME 32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2024 2023
ARBTRE ARETRT

RMB’000 RMB’000

MR P UEL Z 3K Advances received from customers:
HEWE Sale of properties yARWLIR YN 263,445,380

B REREEEAM Construction, decoration services and
others 4,227,083 4,173,012
ALY LY ILEEM 267,618,392
EHEENEE : Movement in contract liabilities:

2024 2023
ARBTRT ARETTET
RMB'000 RMB'000

n—HA—HB&&EH Balance at 1 January IyASERELYE 225,789,214
FRERFVETAEGYL Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of

BEZEFHEEREL recognising revenue during the year
BRERD that was included in the contract

liabilities at the beginning of the year | Gl zAr/ a3 (112,297,321)
FARNBWHIBERASAEME  Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
& receipt in advance during the year GENSVARENER 154,126,499

R+—A=+—BH&EE Balance at 31 December Pl EPIEES 267,618,392
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2. 5 Al (H) 32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

TREIERFAERFIEETA The following table shows the nature of decrease in contract

BHRBBZEEEMERENEE liabilities as a result of recognising revenue during the year

BARIMEE that was included in the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year:

2024 2023
ARBTRE ARETE

RMB'000 RMB'000

HEMHE Sale of properties [ FAETINEIW 108,466,250
R BREREMEMD Construction, decoration services and
others 4,173,012 3,831,071

AVAWLTRT N 112,297,321

HE_ZT-_NF+_A=1+—8 " As at 31 December 2024, contract liabilities included
AHBEEEEARK1,157,725,000 RMB1,157,725,000 (2023: RMB1,157,358,000) mainly
T (ZE = : AR K representing advances received from Zhuhai China Resources
1,157,358,0007C) = B K B Ik /8 & Bank Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank"), a fellow subsidiary of the Group,
HIRITIRH BR AR ([EFERT)) regarding pre-sales of properties.

(REBCZRRZNMBARR) 2EED

FUERK ©
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33. BEATBEWE O JEdEEMESZ:  33. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED

K JH

FEFE
FEAS o IR R R R IR

F& AT 5] 2 /B8 B kIR
e & & BEFIA
e B &= R B FIR

FEA IR A i 25 TR IR

B

JE At AR R AR A B 3R IR
FE& 1S [B) 2 Y B B kIR
e/ 2 XA
FE B X B FRIR

FE 1 FE 2 R #E 25 SR IR

PARTIES/NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

NON-CURRENT

Amounts due to intermediate
holding companies

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries

Amounts due to joint ventures

Amounts due to associates

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests

CURRENT

Amounts due to intermediate
holding companies

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries

Amounts due to joint ventures

Amounts due to associates

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests

248 —ZUFEFRE  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

2024
ARBT T
RMB’000

283,000
343,418

626,418

998,769

1,625,187

73,037
931,985
27,288,199
10,272,516

38,565,737

14,491,371

53,057,108

2023
ARBFIT
RMB’000

7,249,792
132,160
1,632,676
86,760

9,101,388

1,150,293

10,251,681

216,949
534,486
29,309,636
9,124,690

39,185,761

17,343,703

56,529,464



33. WE A BH Wk 05 I 5 Wk HE 2%

K H (4)

RZBE-_WNER T _=F+_A
=+—H - ENFPEZERAR
AfBAA - 6&EE BEAF
NOEERERRIBZIERED D B
EEPERAEETEERL —FA
45 - BrARRE AR ¥ 112,433,000 7T
—ET-=%: AR%777,280,000
JC) BR BN - BREIRIRITH IS H X
ETE e

RZE—_WNER T -_=F+—
A=z+—H EfHPHEEZERA
A REMNBAR - && %
e N R IEERERRIBZR
R AERBRBERERES
FR—FRAEE - BREBAREK
32,430,444,000c (ZZE=—=F : A
R #25,741,156,0007T) &% B9 -
BEEIRIRITM ISR B o

34. FEAT BiIH

TEMER EIT
T ER LAT

33. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED

PARTIES/NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the non-current portion
of the amounts due to intermediate holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and non-
controlling interests are unsecured and the Group does
not have obligation to settle within one year. Except
for the aggregate amounts of RMB112,433,000 (2023:
RMB777,280,000) which are interest-free, the remaining
amounts are interest bearing at prevailing market interest
rates.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the current portion
of the amounts due to intermediate holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and non-
controlling interests are unsecured and repayable on demand
or within one year. Except for the aggregate amounts of
RMB32,430,444,000 (2023: RMB25,741,156,000) which are
interest-free, the remaining amounts are interest bearing at
prevailing market interest rates.

34. TAXATION PAYABLE

2024 2023
AR®TR

ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

4,775,922
26,214,145

8,194,021
27,211,431

30,990,067 35,405,452
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35. SAT B M fth i 5

RITREMEE 2 2HER
DT

—F A

S S
—ERF
AFEUE

o RBBREMR—FA
B H 2 FRIA

FRBDABHAR—FR
2 HY 2 5K0R

35. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
2024 2023
ARBTRE ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000

Bank borrowings W RYER N 139,404,275
Other borrowings 20,461,436 16,709,920

(EYREL PP 156,114,195

Secured 89,144,729 33,120,390
Unsecured OrE: IR EEl 122,993,805

(EYREL PP 156,114,195

The maturity of the bank and other
borrowings is analysed as follows:

Within 1 year 48,949,481 42,576,778
Between 1 and 2 years 36,413,547 32,474,020
Between 2 and 5 years 42,415,142 53,613,884

Over 5 years 69,256,752 27,449,513

197,034,922 156,114,195
Less: amounts due within 1 year
shown under current liabilities (CEELUWER)Y  (42,576,778)

Amounts due after 1 year shown
under non-current liabilities CENOELW VN 113,537,417

AEEZROTRAEMEBERUTE The Group's bank and other borrowings are denominated in

WA

AR

the following currencies:

2024 2023
ARBTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

9,838,879 20,593,676
RMB YA EN 135,520,519

(EYREL PP 156,114,195
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35. SRAT Be Ho At 4 8 (48)

AREBERTMEMEENIRHIFB
o

EEMEEE Fixed-rate borrowings
B HK$
ARE RMB

& 7E A R (& B 4858 Total fixed-rate borrowings 3.08% (2023: 3.04%)

FENEER Variable-rate borrowings
ok HK$
AR RMB

FENFRE B 4858 Total variable-rate

borrowings

35. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings as set out below:

2024 2023
ARBT T

ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

3,912,240
71,670,388

3,828,533
55,305,358

75,582,628 59,133,891

5,926,639
115,525,655

16,765,143
80,215,161

3.16% (2023: 3.76%)

121,452,294 96,980,304

EYREL PP 156,114,195

RZZEZ—F=8 XEEZEHKE
RETREMENRRENZEREH
MERM EEBNREF (2212
F) BITEBERAREIETE
EWEARERIKES AKH
BRAZETHHMES3IFEOLE
REHNBEES - FHER3.90%
REIFEE  FEASFF -

RZEZ—FNA AEEERAK
HETREMERRKRI2FREH
MERRZERBNERN (E%12
F) BIOTLBBAAREIIELE
¥MERBERIFESF LA5H
EEARTHYESIFEREI
REIEIMBEE S - FFIEE2.98%
ME3IFET  FBAFFEFLT-

In March 2021, the Group issued commercial mortgage
backed securities (“CMBS"”) amounting to RMB3.0 billion
by pledging certain investment properties and the right of
receiving management fees for the future 12 years from
the corresponding properties for a maximum period of 12
years. The Group is eligible to redeem all the undue priority
securities every 3 years from the date of issue. Interest rate
is 3.90% per annum and is fixed each 3 years, interest is
payable semiannually.

In September 2022, the Group issued CMBS amounting to
RMB3.0 billion by pledging certain investment properties
and the right of receiving management fees for the future
12 years from the corresponding properties for a maximum
period of 12 years. The Group is eligible to redeem all the
undue priority securities every 3 years from the date of issue.
Interest rate is 2.98% per annum and is fixed each 3 years,
interest is payable semiannually.
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3S.
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SRAT B At £iF B (47)

RZZE_WENH AEEFEAK
HETHREMERRKISENRE H
MERN EBENEN (E%18
F) BT AARKSIETE
¥HWERBERIRES A5H
EEBETHERI 6 XI10FKE
BE2BARINANBLEBESFIBRAE
184F o FF| R B320% ' FBEF
FEFELIT o

RZZE-_WE+ R AEEFEB
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35. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

In September 2024, the Group issued CMBS amounting to
RMB5.3 billion by pledging certain investment properties
and the right of receiving management fees for the future
18 years from the corresponding properties for a maximum
period of 18 years. The Group is eligible to redeem all the
undue priority securities after 3, 6, 10 years since the date of
issue or extend the term to 18 years. Interest rate is 3.20%
per annum, interest is payable semiannually.

In December 2024, the Group issued CMBS amounting to
RMB5.6 billion by pledging certain investment properties
and the right of receiving management fees for the future
23 years from the corresponding properties for a maximum
period of 23 years. The Group is eligible to redeem all the
undue priority securities after 3, 6, 10, 18 years since the
date of issue or extend the term to 23 years. Interest rate is
3.20% per annum, interest is payable semiannually.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had elected to redeem
CMBS with a principal amount of RMB7.2 billion.

As at 31 December 2024, in respect of bank borrowings
of the Group amounting to RMB39,050,882,000 (2023:
RMB45,915,391,000), CRH is required to hold not less
than 35% (2023: not less than 35%) of the issued share
capital of the Company at any time during the period of
the loans in accordance with the terms of the respective
loan agreements. Bank borrowings of the Group amounting
to RMB4,400,650,000 (2023: RMB9,319,900,000) are
guaranteed by the Company.



36. B FE IR

BEAREER rEEH

Name of senior notes

Principal amount

“ENEFRERE
2029 Senior Notes

B3 500H BT
HK$3,500 million

ZTNFREFE S00BEXETT
2029 Senior Notes US$500 million

36. SENIOR NOTES

E & R F = BRA=
Fixed Effective

coupon rate interest rate
% %

k)
Maturity

Issue year year

6.100 6.106 2014 2029 15

4.125 4.286 2019 2029 10

RZBE—NEBITHN_ZT_NFE
EEBERBHMIH LT -

MEBTREY REEM

BEZENIHBERSFTOT

“ERF
AFLAE

B RBREMR—FA
28 2 FR

FRBEBEMR—FR
B8 2 3R

Within 1 year
Between 2 and 5 years
Over 5 years -

Less: amounts due within 1 year
shown under current liabilities

Amounts due after 1 year shown
under non-current liabilities

The 2029 Senior Notes issued in 2019 is listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.

Both of the senior notes are unsecured.

The maturity of the senior notes is analysed as follows:

2024
AR®TR

2023
ARETT

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

7,208,121

6,769,877

6,896,503
6,896,503 13,977,998

(7,208,121)

6,896,503 6,769,877

R-_ZE_-_WNME+_A=+—H"
BAEBZAFEHNAEARE
6,752,000,0007C (ZFE =% : A
R #13,621,000,0007T) » B —=
—FE+—A=t+—BZWmEE
7 ¢ M 5 3,500,000,000 T B K E
B (ZZ =4 : ¥ 3,500,000,000
TEEZEE) WAFERE 28
Y REXEAERGEMETHNEE
EE -

The fair value of the senior notes as at 31 December 2024
was approximately RMB6,752 million (2023: RMB13,621
million), which was determined based on the closing market
price as at 31 December 2024, except for the HK$3,500
million senior notes (2023: HK$3,500 million senior notes)
whose fair value was determined based on valuation carried
out by an independent and professionally qualified valuer.
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37. &5 W R E 75 37.SUPER SHORT-TERM COMMERCIAL
PAPERS

BEARESER AeeE ERZEEAR ERAZ

Principal Fixed Effective
Name of super short-term commercial papers amount coupon rate interest rate

ARETT

RMB’000 % %
“EoRFREHRES 2,000,000 2.28 2.28 268
2025 Super Short-term Commercial Papers
TR BENRES 1,000,000 2.28 2.28 268
2025 Super Short-term Commercial Papers
TR BENRES 2,000,000 2.20 2.20 270
2025 Super Short-term Commercial Papers
“EoRFREHRES 1,000,000 2.19 2.19 270

2025 Super Short-term Commercial Papers

ZEBRHRMESFNPERITET The super short-term commercial papers are issued in
SR PEREIELT - the National Association of Financial Market Institutional
Investors.
38. I R 38. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES
HHIEEERE reeE BEEEEFE BRAIR BITEH AR EH
Name of medium-term Principal Fixed Effective
notes amount  coupon rate interest rate Issue year Maturity year
AR¥ETR % %
RMB’000
“E_REHHER 1,200,000 3.20 3.27 2020 2025 5
2025 Medium-term Notes
—E-RFHRHER 500,000 2.95 3.02 2020 2025 5
2025 Medium-term Notes
ZEZRFHRHER 1,500,000 3.84 3.88 2021 2026 5
2026 Medium-term Notes
R NEHHER 1,500,000 3.70 3.74 2021 2026 5
2026 Medium-term Notes
—E-RFHRHER 2,000,000 3.10 3.17 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
ZECLFRHER 1,000,000 3.54 3.59 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
T FRHER 5,000,000 3.63 3.65 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
—E-RFHHER 2,000,000 3.05 3.12 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
ZEhFRHER 1,000,000 2.79 2.81 2022 2025 3
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38. I BE (4) 38. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES (continued)
THREERE reeE EERERAE BB A= BITER HEEH

Name of medium-term Principal Fixed Effective

notes amount coupon rate interest rate Issue year Maturity year
ARBT T % %
RMB’000

2025 Medium-term Notes

“E-_RFHHER 1,000,000 2.60 2.62 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
T EFREBEE 1,000,000 3.30 3.32 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
R FRHER 2,000,000 3.37 3.39 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
“E-REHREHER 1,800,000 2.80 2.83 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
T EREBER 1,200,000 3.20 3.22 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
“E-RFHHER 1,000,000 2.88 2.91 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
“EHFHHER 1,000,000 3.25 3.27 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
“E-REHREHER 1,800,000 2.90 2.97 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
T LFRHER 1,200,000 3.35 3.40 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
“E R HER 3,000,000 2.84 2.88 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
“E_RFHHER 2,000,000 2.40 243 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
TR HER 3,000,000 2.90 2.91 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
TR NFHRHER 3,000,000 2.80 2.87 2023 2026 3
2026 Medium-term Notes
T\ FHRHEE 1,000,000 3.39 3.45 2023 2028 5
2028 Medium-term Notes
T NEHHER 1,500,000 2.85 2.88 2023 2026 3
2026 Medium-term Notes
2 \FHHER 1,000,000 3.20 3.22 2023 2028 5
2028 Medium-term Notes
“E-FHHER 500,000 3.55 3.57 2023 2033 10
2033 Medium-term Notes
- )\FHHEER 1,000,000 3.30 3.32 2023 2028 5
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38. I 8E (4) 38. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES (continued)
THREERE reeE EEREAE BRA= BITER S E R

Name of medium-term Principal Fixed Effective

notes amount coupon rate interest rate Issue year Maturity year
ARBT T % %
RMB’000

2028 Medium-term Notes
“E-N\FHBER 2,000,000 3.25 3.27 2023 2028 5
2028 Medium-term Notes
R NEHHRE 1,000,000 2.95 2.98 2023 2026 3
2026 Medium-term Notes
—E-N\FHRHER 1,000,000 3.25 327 2023 2028 5
2028 Medium-term Notes
ZELFRHER 1,000,000 2.30 2.33 2024 2027 3
2027 Medium-term Notes
TN FERHEE 1,000,000 2.95 2.96 2024 2034 10
2034 Medium-term Notes

ZEFTHEERPRRITETER The medium-term notes are either issued in the National
St e R E 5L ST o Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors, or

Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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38. IR (1)
N E IR B R ST ¢

38. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES (continued)

The maturity of the medium-term notes is analysed as
follows:

2024
AR®T R

2023
ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 14,473,386 8,501,928
—EMF Between 1 and 2 years 8,494,556 14,298,287
MERF Between 2 and 5 years 25,383,624 33,386,929
HFELE Over 5 years 1,498,855 -

B OREBREMR—FR
B H 2 5R

FRBEEMT—FK
B HI 2 FRIA

Less: amounts due within 1 year
shown under current liabilities

Amounts due after 1 year shown
under non-current liabilities

49,850,421 56,187,144

(14,473,386) (8,501,928)

35,377,035 47,685,216

R-_E-_WNM&E+_A=+—8H"
FHEEMNRAFELAARK
50,718,483,000 ;L (ZZE - =% : A
R #56,391,000,0007T) © Jh#R1E —
To_ME+-_A=+—HHKHE

B -

39. += W 4] 3k JH

U EE RS 2 (KB
H b & AR IR

Consideration payables in respect of
acquisition
Other payables

The fair value of the medium-term notes as at 31 December
2024 was approximately RMB50,718,483,000 (2023:
RMB56,391,000,000), which was determined based on the
closing market price as at 31 December 2024.

39. LONG-TERM PAYABLES

2024
AR®BET R

2023
ARBETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

2,226,845
449,485

4,000,714
370,811

2,676,330 4,371,525
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40.

41.

42.

258

Jie AR

EREEE®0.10T
ZEBK

EIE
R-ZE-_=F—F—H8"
—E-=FR-T-MEF

Authorised:
At 1 January 2023,
31 December 2023 and 2024

40. SHARE CAPITAL

RimHEE
Number
of shares

8

&R

Amount
ARBT T
RMB’000

Amount
AT T
HK$'000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

+=-A=+—-H 8,000,000,000 800,000
ERITRMR: Issued and fully paid:
RZZZ=F—HF—H+  At1lanuary 2023,
TEC=FER-ZPNE 31 December 2023 and 2024
+=-F=+—H 7,130,939,579 713,094 673,829
KEEARTH 41. PERPETUAL CAPITAL INSTRUMENT

R-_ZT—NhF  KARBT—EK
% %85 1,050,000,000 3£ T 2 R B K
BENTH ZTAERN-_ZE -4
fEE o

MBGHERE R

AEBERYEERMEKRBERMA
RITIELER  EREEAARK
73,710,865,000 L (ZZE - =4F : A
R #92,952,138,0007T) ° 3% H R
BRI EREZBELE TERRIE@ER
BYEELTHRESRITHER -
KRR ESERE UBEREHZ
NFEEIFEK -

42.

—EEERE ANNUAL REPORT 2024

In 2019, the Company issued a subordinated perpetual
capital instrument with a principal amount of
US$1,050,000,000. The instrument was redeemed in 2024.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE
CONTRACTS

Guarantees amounting to RMB73,710,865,000 (2023:
RMB92,952,138,000) are given to banks with respect to
mortgage loans procured by the purchasers of the Group's
properties. Such guarantees will be released by banks upon
the issuance of the real estate ownership certificates to
the purchasers and completion of the relevant mortgage
properties registration. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the fair value of the financial guarantee contracts
is not significant.
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43. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Net exchange loss
Write-down of properties for
sale to net realisable value
Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties
Gain on bargain purchase
on acquisition of subsidiaries
Gain on re-measurement of
investments in joint ventures
Gain on changes in fair value of
financial instruments at FVPL
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Interest income
Share of profits less losses of
investments in joint ventures
Share of profits less losses of
investments in associates
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets

Others

Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in properties

for sale

(Increase)/decrease in other

inventories

Decrease/(increase) in trade
receivables, other receivables,
prepayments and deposits

Increase in long-term payables

Increase in contract assets and
contract costs

(Decrease)/increase in contract

liabilities

Decrease in trade and other

payables

Cash generated from operating

activities

2024
ARBTR
RMB’'000

58,228,191

3,181,775
33,118

7,834,361
(7,632,228)

(159,774)
(2,642,165)
(2,965,736)

604
(388,836)
911,174
485,859

133,652
167,694

57,187,689

84,197,005
(13,379)

1,635,345

422,149
(327,531)
(52,136,339)

(21,241,810)

69,723,129

2023
ARBETIT
RMB'000

66,437,894

1,743,918
14,227

6,988,742
(8,000,785)
(3,017,174)

(5,620)
(51,010)
(1,505,442)
(3,072,502)
(2,800,822)
440,634
798,201
412,138

102,242
201,348

58,685,989

(4,075,042)
55,363
(3,328,515)
269,176
(848,049)
28,808,002

(9,238,626)

70,328,298

EHEMAPR AT China Resources Land Limited 259
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44,

260

85 B g 2 W)
BE-_ZT_WNF+-_A=+—HLE
FE  AEEHENUTHBEAR :

Name of Company

EHEMW(LUR)BRAA

China Resources Land (Shandong)
Company Limited

EHEM (ARE)ARAA

China Resources Land (Shijiazhuang)
Company Limited

EHEW (S BRATA

China Resources Land (Heifei)
Company Limited

44. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
disposed of following subsidiaries:

H & Al
rEEEFE
H9 B R
Equity interest
held by the
Group before
Disposal month disposal Consideration
AR®T T
RMB’'000
ZEWMEA 100% 6,126,362
February 2024
—T_WEXRA 100% 3,441,000
June 2024
—E_MF+ZA 100% 3,507,000
December 2024
13,074,362
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In 2024, the Group disposed of its entire interests in China
Resources Land (Shandong) Company Limited (“CRL
Shandong”), China Resources Land (Shijiazhuang) Company
Limited (“CRL Shijiazhuang”) and China Resources Land
(Hefei) Company Limited(”CRL Hefei”) to three separate
Consumer Infrastructure Fund Support Special Plans with a
consideration of RMB6,126 million RMB3,441 million and
RMB3,507 million respectively. Subsequent to the disposals,
the Group subscribed 30%, 49% and 49% equity interest in
the respective special plans with considerations of RMB2,071
million, RMB542 million and RMB646 million respectively
and classified as associate, joint venture and joint venture
respectively. The special plan holding CRL Shandong is
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange while the special
plan holding CRL Shijiazhuang and CRL Hefei are unlisted.
Upon the completion of the transactions, the Group does
not have control neither over such special plans nor CRL
Shandong, CRL Shijiazhuang and CRL Heifei. Accordingly,
CRL Shandong, CRL Shijiazhuang and CRL Hefei were de-
consolidated during the year.



44, & F 8 2 W (4) 44. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

RREZENRBRRNEG#EE R Assets and liabilities derecognised at the dates of loss of
RIFERANEERBENT : control of subsidiaries are as follows:
AR®ETF T
RMB’000
Y - BB MR (M52 14)  Property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 595,324
wEME (MEE15) Investment properties (Note 15) 16,080,145
FERAEEE (M 17) Right-of-use assets (Note 17) 47,856
EENIBE E Deferred taxation assets 70,334
EMBNE E 2 TN IR Prepayments for non-current assets 254
HIHE 2 Properties for sale 47,262
FEUBRFX - EfhEURBRIA «  Trade receivables, other receivables, prepayments
BNRIEBER® and deposits 108,435
JE UG 7 55 B 3R OB Amounts due from the Group 424,808
JiE Y2 A Bt 75 SR IE Amounts due from related parties 10,458
PR ERITIF K Restricted bank deposits 1,961
BehReEE Cash and cash equivalents 934,225
AR I8 Prepaid taxation 21,614
JEERA R EMEERIE  Trade and other payables (2,715,869)
JERT AR EFRIB Amounts due to the Group (2,758,034)
eI IR Taxation payable (30,520)
MEBEMFE17) Lease liabilities (Note 17) (87,772)
EERIBE & Deferred taxation liabilities (2,318,284)
10,432,197
HEWB AR 2z (FI5E7) Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 7) 2,642,165
13,074,362
EEENRE: Consideration transferred:
BEHFHEESKE Cash consideration received 9,567,362
EWRAE Consideration receivable 3,507,000
13,074,362
REEMBARIZHEES RO : Analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposal of
subsidiaries:

ARBFIT
RMB’000

HEEEZHESRAFRE © Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
2R (E Consideration received
EHERERREEE Cash and cash equivalents disposed of

9,567,362

(934,225)

8,633,137
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45 W Ik YU 2 45. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

ZERWENBARENEERSE
&

RZZE-_NF  AEEDRIEBM
FZFURBEREEREXEARA
AR ZNERESHTENMARE
RERLABRENBRRAN40% &
VN WENEREERAE KB
2 Rl & AR ¥ 302,000,000 TR AR
# 158,097,000 7T - IRIEZE B -
AEBHEA52% R ERE A HL
REeEREXBRARMIEGIE-
REKKERE  AEBHZEER
BEZEHIEE MEAETBHKE
AEBEZHBRAR -

UK B SRR > AT R AR (E
mF :

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

In 2024, the Group acquired assets and liabilities through
acquisitions of 40% and 90% equity interest in It &5
EXERAR and ZBRFESHH EFHAEEREGR A
and its subsidiaries with consideration of RMB302,000,000
and RMB158,097,000 respectively from third parties. In
accordance with investment agreement, the Group hold
52% voting rights and has control of It R&ERBEX AR
7~ A]. Upon the completion of the acquisitions, the Group
has controlling voting rights over these entities, both entities
became subsidiaries of the Group.

The net identifiable assets acquired at the acquisition dates
are as follows:

ARBFIT
RMB’000

FREEE(ME17) Right-of-use-assets (Note 17) 291
R IEE E (M15E24) Deferred taxation asset (Note 24) 3
HIBE 2 WE Properties for sale 1,944,684
FEUBRFR - EfhEURBRIE «  Trade receivables, other receivables, prepayments
BNRIEBERE® and deposits 20,338
TERT IR Prepaid taxation 592
BehIRE&EE Cash and cash equivalents 18,181
JEERA R EMEERIE  Trade and other payables (24,870)
& FE 1T AR 2 SRR Amounts due to non-controlling interests (853,847)
JEAS TR Taxation payable (16)
RITRHEAMEE Bank and other borrowings (177,000)
928,356
AR = Non-controlling interests (468,259)
460,097
EEEAE: Consideration transferred:
HehRE&EE Cash and cash equivalents 460,097

—EEERE ANNUAL REPORT 2024



45. W bk BRI 2y ] (A) 45. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

FRWBEHBARENEERE ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

& (&) THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HUEMMB AT RS MO - Analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
subsidiaries:

ARBETT
RMB’000

SAAREEBNIRESREIESE : Net cash outflow included in investing activities:
g

ENEERE Cash consideration paid (460,097)
EESRELRREEFE Cash and cash equivalents acquired 18,181
(441,916)
46. KB 46. COMMITMENTS
AEBBBEUNTERAE HEF] The Group has the following material commitments, which
H)MEND R ARG B B Sk A are contracted for but not provided in the consolidated

financial statements as follows:

2024 2023
ARBTR ARBTT

RMB’'000 RMB'000

BB THEB ZEARMY : Capital expenditure in respect of:
BREPMEEEWE Properties under development for sale | G/t ik ) 98,551,463
EREEME Investment properties under construction 15,772,372 EEPYREYYE

YR RN 120,681,934
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47 i EE &M A 47. OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

BEESMN mARE I#HPmE Pursuant to the equity transfer agreement with the sellers of
RBAEME S ([E )] 8 iRE Yuzhou, Nantong Changle, Jiangsu Zhongnan and Langji (the
EEDE  ASBHEBKERS “Sellers”), the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset
HITHRNABNEINBERE the amounts due from the Sellers and their related parties
W PE W E 77 & HL R A TV RIE from the purchase consideration payable to the Sellers and
BEBRFBELELH - there is an intention to settle on a net basis.

FRRAE B B AN & B B AR Y The effect of the netting arrangements on the Group’s
FEWT : financial position is as below:
R-ZFE-NE+=-A=+-—H As at 31 December 2024

AHTRELEERYNESE
Amounts subject to enforceable netting
arrangements
R B R R &
Hew BE#HEE E2HRNFE

Net amounts

reported in

the statement

Gross Amounts of financial
amounts offset position
ARBT T ARBTR AR®TR
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

tREE Financial assets

JEUWBR T N FEULZYE  Trade and bill receivables 311,136 (311,136)
cREes Financial liabilities
B AFEEt A8 2 Financial liabilities at FVPL
TRIBE 497,138 (311,136) 186,002
DR Analysed into:
R ED Current 34,793
FEm B Non-current 151,209
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R-E-=%+=-H=+—H

47. OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
(continued)

As at 31 December 2023

AT RREETEN SR
Amounts subject to enforceable netting

arrangements

R AR R
2R FH
Net amounts

BHE R

reported in
the statement
of financial
position
RMB'000
AR®ET T

Amounts
offset
RMB’000
ARETT

Gross
amounts
RMB’'000

ARETT

EREE Financial assets
JEWEBR T M FEULZEYE  Trade and bill receivables 564,581 (564,581) =
tREE Financial liabilities
AT ES ABZE 2 Financial liabilities at FVPL
cRAE 899,737 (564,581) 335,156
PR Analysed into:
& Current 114,025
JER B Non-current 221,131
48. & kA 48. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

RMERR > NEERRITREA
CREBEMRTUTEE (EAN
SEER-—RRITIMEMCBEZR
o

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had pledged
the following assets to banks and other financial institutions
as securities against general banking and other facilities
granted to the Group:

2024
ARBT T

2023
ARBETT

RMB'000 RMB'000

"EYE Investment properties YKL 72,349,000
HHEZME Properties for sale pLW.CIELT M 12,190,621
Y% - BB MK Property, plant and equipment 4,085,891 2,184,052
FREEE Right-of-use assets 515,741 592,911

118,072,422 87,316,584

265

FEHEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited



f B B 955 it A B ek
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

49. KHBMEFHEI 2 ABZE 49. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
R ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

TRAMAIEAKEREBE LD
ZABEZEY (BRASKFRS
2E) XEMEEH AEBELE
SEZGARETRERADERE
BRAYMRRETRE -

A

BBnRa

Amounts
due to
related
parties

ARBTR

RMB'000

AR
REE

Amounts
due to
non-
controlling
interests
ARBTR
RMB'000

Lease
liabilities
ARBTT
RMB'000

R/ITR
AfbfE&

Bank

and other
borrowings
ARBTT
RMB'000

BARE BEAMES

Senior
notes
AR#TR
RMB'000

Super
short-term
commercial Medium-
term notes
ARBTR

RMB'000

papers
ARBT T
RMB'000

ENFE
(BEIAER
Rk
EHEE)
Interest
payable
(included in
trade and
other
payables)
ARBTT
RMB'000

Dividend
payable
ARBTT
RMB'000

Total
ARBTT
RMB'000

WZZZWE—FA—H At1Janvary 2024 48,287,149 18,493,996 7,050,076 156,114,195 13,977,998 6,000,000 56,187,144 809,639 306,920,197
RERSRE Financing cash flows
—SRAEME — Net proceeds from or repayment
FESER of financial liabilities
et (5289,154)  (501,250)  (843,691) 40,419472  (7,111,320) (6:500,000) = - 20174057
— BRBHERA — Finance costs paid (660,779) (729,544) - - (568,555) (1,775,400)  (6,617,092) - (10,351,370)
—EfRE — Dividend paid - (1,664,173) - - - - - (10283,076) (11,947,249)
(5,949,933)  (2,894,967) (843,691) 40,419,472 (7,679,875) (8,275,400)  (6,617,092) (10,283,076)  (2,124,562)
EERRE Dividend declared - 1,664,995 - - - - - 10,283,076 11,948,071
HHE New leases - - 71,251 - - B - B 71,251
IVERER Foreign exchange translation 103,088 11,764 - 324,255 151,265 - - - 590,372
HHEER Finance charge 707,125 720,425 322,501 - 447,115 1,938,677 6,214,849 - 10,350,692
FEREMBEATIEM  Increase arising from acquisition of
subsidiaries 853,847 177,000 - 1,030,847
AR EMBAFFS  Decrease arising from disposal of
subsidiaries 435,266 - (87,772) - 347,494
HiEREES Other non-cash movements (4,390,540)  (3,359,920) - - (7,750,460)
RZZZMEFZA  At31 December 2024
== 39,192,155 15,490,140 6,512,365 197,034,922 6,896,503 6,000,000 49,850,421 - 321,383,902
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HERER
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— BREHBRE

—EfRE

BEERKRE
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SEER

SRR
NGy

REEMBARRD

EfbFReE

RZZZ=%+=AR
=i=F

il ¥ B 2 AL 2 #

Amounts
due to
related

arties
ARBTTL
RMB'000

49. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (continued)

Amounts
dueto
non-
controlling
EENY

ARBTT

RMB'000

Lease
liabilities
ARETT
RMB‘000

HfbfEE

Interest
payable
(included in
trade and

Super

Bank short-term
and other Medium-
papers term notes
ARBFT A T

RMB000 RMB000

Senior  commercial other
notes

ARBTR
RMB'000

payables)
ARETT
RMB'000

borrowings
AR%FR
RMB'000

EfRE

Dividend
payable
ARBFIL
RMB'000

Total
ARETTT
RMB'000

At 1 January 2023 533%,809 14,218,149 7115526 150,260,906 13,744,457 - 53,098,024 900,565 - 292,734,436
Financing cash flows
— Net proceeds from or repayment
of financial liabilities
(5.872,294) 11,258,155  (1,050,797) 7,176,507 - 6,000,000 3,200,000 - - 20,711,571
— Finance costs paid (1,210,186) (799,290) - - (705,589) - (1,742902)  (5767,898) - (10,225,865)
— Dividend paid = (969,410) = = = = = - (10,578,701)  (11,548,111)
(7,082,480) 9,489,455  (1,050,797) 7,176,507 (705,589) 6,000,000 1,457,098  (5767,898) (10,578,701) (1,062,405
Dividend declared - 969,410 - - - - - - 10578701 11,548,111
New leases - - 631,154 - - - - - - 631,154
Foreign exchange translation 2,495 7318 - 807,508 219,058 - - il - 1,036450
Finance charge 1,384,941 799,290 346,354 - 720,072 - 1,632,022 5,676,901 - 10,559,580
Increase arising from acquisition of
subsidiaries 265,094 3,000 7839 - - - - - - 275,933
Decrease arising from disposal of
subsidiaries 899,243 - - (2130726) - - - - - (1231483)
Other non-cash movements (578,953)  (6,992,626) - - - - - - - (151,579
At 31 December 2023
48,287,149 18,493,9% 7,050,076 156,114,195 13,977,998 6,000,000 56,187,144 809,639 - 306,920,197

FEHEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited
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50. BN LAY 50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
A EFEEBRAENE QT (A) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH CRCL AND
((HEEREEDHNEAR ITS SUBSIDIARIES (THE “CRCL GROUP")
2
FAN-BREIMBEEEIN KK During the year, other than those disclosed elsewhere,
EEETATERBEALR the Group had entered into the following significant
2 related party transactions:

2024 2023
ARB®TRE ARETRT
RMB’000 RMB’000

(i) HKBUTALTHTEE Rental and concessionaire services

M RARBEWA income from:

EEI NS Fellow subsidiaries 460,987 441,474
AR A A Intermediate holding companies 53,210 14,037
B AERR A A Ultimate holding company 9,038 10,162
BEENEIZ/NE]  Joint ventures and associates 980,115 247,166

1,503,350 712,839

(i) AU TALHESE Property management service income
YR EMIEREE  forresidential properties and other

R EER non-commercial facilities from:
RIS A -
GEI NS Fellow subsidiaries 434,329 305,521
AR A A Intermediate holding companies 3,712 7,596
BAIERR A A Ultimate holding company - 855
EEPEREE Joint ventures and associates

UNET! 203,370 124,986

641,411 438,958

(iii) BT ALTHEZEE « Construction, decoration services
HEREREMUA :  and other income from:

EESIENG Fellow subsidiaries 183,439 283,347
A AR A A Intermediate holding companies 502 7,920
R AR Ultimate holding company 5,426 3,653
BEPE Joint ventures 913,526 1,427,679

i E /N Associates 240,692 295,986

1,343,585 2,018,585
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50. BN 152 5 (%)

(A) B2 b Bl 2R & H B
((HPEEBRRE])WE
& (#&)

N
R

KERZRKMEBARN
2 3H AR WA

A [R) 2B /B 22 AR
FekBER

(v)

RREHNBAREER
=27

(vi)

) SR B B A SR
AL RER

(vii)

KERZRKEBARD
HEREES
(TBEME)

(viii)

LSNEES = PNSIEY
EEEERBEEA

(ix)

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(A) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH CRCL
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (THE “CRCL GROUP")
(continued)

2024
AR®T R

2023
ARBTIT

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

Marketing services income from

fellow subsidiary 156,650 113,790

Platform services expenses to

fellow subsidiary 229,363 178,778

Purchase of construction material

from fellow subsidiaries 155,961 174,013

Procurement of IT services and

products from fellow subsidiaries 261,102 294,057

Project construction funds
(excluding interest) from
fellow subsidiaries

300,421 663,716

Construction management services
income from fellow subsidiaries
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50. BN 122 5 (4)

270

(A) EFEREFRENE2A
(THFEEHEE)NWEAR
& (1)

(x)

—Z_PUEERE  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BEHRATRERRE
BREXARLA ([FHF
Frtl) (FEEERKHE
DA 2B S FEHE

—_E_WFE+ = A
=+ —HB -REER
THEEEBEAEBRR
i/lﬁi fE?TEﬁT—W\}\E
#3,839,109,000 7T
—TEZ=F: AE%
2,998,361,0007T) °
ﬁm&ﬁﬁﬁmﬂ+u
FEFE0.10% £ 3.80%
—E=ZF:020% %
3.58%)FT B e REE =
E-_NFE+-_HA=+—H
IEEE  ZREFREELEZ
F B AERE A ARK
97,713,000 (ZZE ==
F: AR ¥ 48,633,000
JL) °

=

RZBE-_WNER T =
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EMEREEBERLZ

fEE

o

%

—mE+ = A
_+ H W& hEE
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85,003,0007T) - RE =
—E-WNE+-A=+—
AIEFE  AEBE S WA
a%ﬁ%%$§$ZWA
e A AR 1,045,000
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3,807,000 7T) °

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(A) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH CRCL
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (THE “CRCL GROUP")
(continued)

(x) Strategic cooperation agreement with CR

Bank and China Resources SZITIC Trust Co.,
Ltd. (“CR Trust”), fellow subsidiaries of the
Group

As at 31 December 2024, cash and bank balances
include deposits of RMB3,839,109,000 (2023:
RMB2,998,361,000), made by the Group to CR
Bank. These deposits carry interest at prevailing
deposit rates which range from 0.10% to
3.80% (2023: 0.20% to 3.58%) per annum.
The aggregate interest income arising from such
deposits amounted to RMB97,713,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB48,633,000).

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
borrowings of the Group had been raised from CR
Trust.

As at 31 December 2024, none of the wealth
management funds (2023: RMB85,003,000) are
issued by CR Bank. The aggregate income received
by the Group from such wealth management
funds was RMB1,045,000 during the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: RMB3,807,000).
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(A) EFEEFRENEQA
((HEEFEE])NEARXR
5 (%&)

(xi)

(xii)

FEEEIEEATES
FE
HE_ZT_mWH&+_A4
=+—HLFE KRB
PREBERERE
ENAEBERREA
AR #226,555,000 7T
(ZEBE_=F: AR%
228,118,0007T) - R=-F
—=F+-_A=+—8"
ENTEHEREBRNSE
A AN R ¥ 7,249,792,000
T ZARBER T _IY
FRELEE -

BHE_T_MWFE+_A
=+—BLEFE X8
£MMAERARA A
(TZEMREE]) 0
RELMFSERRE
A AR #39,411,000 7T
—E ) o N
TomMER-_T-=F
+=A=t+—8 = %H
B A AR R -

HERLEGREBEEER
AR (EBEHREE
BB RIERER
REBEE-_ZE_=F9+=_AH
=+—HLEFE K&EH
mMEFEGMRIZ2EEHE
A E #160,000,000 7T -
FREAE265%  HER
HER - - IMEERH
HE REE_ZT_NF
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RKEEBHEGREESEEH
MFBWARELSAR
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50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(A) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH CRCL

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (THE “CRCL GROUP")
(continued)

(xi)

(xii)

FHEBEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited

Intra-group lending with CRCL Group

The aggregate interest expenses arising from
borrowings from the CRCL Group were
RMB226,555,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: RMB228,118,000). The amount due
to the CRCL Group as at 31 December 2023 was
RMB7,249,792,000. The amount was fully settled
in 2024.

The aggregate interest expenses arising from
borrowings from China Resources Gas Group
Limited (“CR Gas Group”) were RMB39,411,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
Nil). As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
borrowings of the Group had been raised from CR
Gas Group.

Onshore framework loan with China Resources
Life Science Group Limited “(CR Life Science
Group”)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group lent RMB160,000,000 to CR Life Science
Group with interest rates 2.65% per annum,
and the amount was fully settled in 2024. The
aggregate interest income from the CR Life
Science Group were RMB1,133,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB811,000).
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50. BN 32 5 (4])

(B) MEFTEELERKE QA
REFBHEEZER

R -—mE+-—_A=+—
AXEBSAGRASEESR
FTEELERBERRZE
EREEFRHER ERSE
5 Bl A A R #17,227,000,000
T(ZEZZ=ZF: ARK
19,007,000,0007T) & A R #&
3,249,000,000 C (ZE - =4
A R #3,457,000,0007T) * J3
BREAEBENEG EDENEE
NEZ R BIMmIED -

MBERAENEAEHEERR
Bfm MR FER 2 R E
RUBARFEEMERSERT
E-AKEFGEMBERZY
RERRNFEARFAERE
EEEREBESBLTERKN -

(O FEEBABZHME

RARMITEERANEEAAM
FEEBAERFRAZHH
T

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(B)

(@

PROVISION OF GUARANTEES TO CERTAIN
JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES RELATED
TO THEIR BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided
guarantees of RMB17,227 million (2023: RMB19,007
million) and RMB3,249 million (2023: RMB3,457
million) to certain joint ventures and associates of the
Group related to their borrowings, respectively, based
on the Group's proportion of equity interests in the
joint ventures and associates.

Financial guarantee contracts are measured at the
higher of the ECL allowance and the amount initially
recognised less the cumulative amount of income
recognised. The Group assessed that the fair value at
initial recognition of the financial guarantees and the
ECL allowance during the year were not significant.

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL

The remuneration of executive directors of the
Company and other members of the key management
of the Group during the year is as follows:

2024 2023
ARBTRE ARETE

RMB’000 RMB’000

%R & fE A Short-term employee benefits 34,004
B 2 12 Post-employment benefits 2,333

36,337
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2+

HEAFEEEE  51. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

ASSOCIATES

(A) The following are particulars of the principal subsidiaries
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 which, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, principally affected
the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

A ATAR-_Z-_NMER_-F
—_=Ft+_A=+—HHEE
BRGNS MARARES
REZSEMBARTIEFER
EENEE LEEXRBEBE-E
ERA REEGBHEATN
HECERERNBN TR -

Rt=A=t-A
As at 31 December
AR LEER EBfTRE/ ARERA DR
WEARER IRERNY BURAHEE REzEELSH IERH
Place of incorporation Nominal value of Proportion of nominal
and principal place of issued share capital/  value of issued share capital
Name of subsidiary business paid-up capital held by the Group Principal activities
2024 2023
IHERAXHERRAR  REAL AEH6,400,000,0007C 100% 100% MERARER
(P35 (Note ) Chinese Mainland RIVIB,400,000,000 Property investment and
development
MITELEREARAR  hEAY AR2,500,000,0007C ) 51%  WERERER
(P35 (Note ) Chingse Mainland RMB2,500,000,000 Property investment and
development
LBEREXARAH hE R AR 10,0000007C 90% 0% NERRARERE
(FE3ED) (Note ) Chingse Mainland RMB10,000,000 Property investment and
development
IREREXARAT hE A AR%4,378,0000007C 100% 100% MERARER
(P35 (Note ) Chinese Mainland RMB4, 378,000,000 Property investment and
development
ITRABEREFARAR  hEML AR3,270,000,0007C ) 51%  WERERER
(P35 (Note ) Chinese Mainland RMB3,270,000,000 Property investment and
development
RAERSERREERAT  HEMS AR3,700,000,0007C 66% 66% NERARERE
(FF3E1) (Note i) Chinese Mainland RMB3,700,000,000 Property investment and
development

FEHEMAMR AT China Resources Land Limited
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il PR

Name of subsidiary

AR ELAR LA
(BIZE1) (Note )

ENETEKARAA
(i) (Note il

RERARHEREERAT

(Bit3Eiii) (Note i

RN TREEERAR
(BI3E1) (Note )

RAEBEN BRI E
BRAR (M) (Note )

RENLEENEERAR
(Fit3Ei) (Note i)

BENTELEHEREER
) (B sk if) (Note i)

274

AU AR Y
IRERBA

Place of incorporation
and principal place of
business

REAL,

Chinese Mainland

REAL,

Chinese Mainland

REAL,

Chinese Mainland

REAL,

Chinese Mainland

REAL,

Chinese Mainland

REAL,

Chinese Mainland

REAL,

Chinese Mainland

—ZUFEFRE  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

ERTRE/
BUhREzEE
Nominal value of
issued share capital/
paid-up capital

ARH2,208,000,0007T
RMB2,208,000,000

ARH3,589,803,2007T
RMB3,589,803,200

ARH2,500,000,0007T
RMB2,500,000,000

ARH7.400,000,0007T
RMB7,400,000,000

ARH1,380,000,0007T
RMB1,380,000,000

AR 456,580,000 7T
RMB4,562,580,000

AR 4,157,693,878 T
RMB4,157,693,878

Rt=B=t-H
As at 31 December
AREREZERT
RAzEELA
Proportion of nominal
value of issued share capital
held by the Group
2024 2023
55% 55%
100% 100%
100% 100%
39% 39%
100% 100%
80% 80%
49% 49%

BAeEHEB:  S51. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES (continued)

(A) (continued)

IEEH

Principal activities

DERERER
Property investment and
development

Supply chain management
business

DERERER
Property investment and
development

DERERER
Property investment and
development

DERERER
Property investment and
development

DERERER
Property investment and
development

DERERER
Property investment and
development



B~ FEEEEE 51, SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
2] (78) ASSOCIATES (continued)
(#8) (A) (continued)
RT=B=t-H
As at 31 December
EMALEER BRTRE/ AEEREZCR
HWEARER TEEENY EWRAZER REZEELS TEER
Place of incorporation Nominal value of Proportion of nominal
and principal place of issued share capital/  value of issued share capital
Name of subsidiary business paid-up capital held by the Group Principal activities
2024 2023
RNBREHEREERAR  HEAY AR 100,000,007 51% 51%  WNERERER
(Fir3E1) (Note i) Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 Property investment and
development
WEBLRRFEARAT  PEAY AR 700,000,007 100% 100% MERERER
(Rr3E i) (Note i) Chinese Mainland RMB700,000,000 Property investment and
development
BumIRERBEELERR HEAY AR#1,500,000,0007 100% 100% WERERER
2 (B EE) (Note ) Chinese Mainland RMB1,500,000,000 Property investment and
development
SNEARHEREERAR  HEAY AR#1,390,500,0007 100% 100% WERERER
(Fir3E1) (Note i) Chinese Mainland RMB1,390,500,000 Property investment and
development
AmEREAERAF HE M AR%10,000,000,0007C 100% 100% WERERER
(Fir3E1) (Note i) Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000,000 Property investment and
development
RBEEAREHERY HER, AR 8674700007 100% 100% WERERER
AR AR (i) (Note ) Chinese Mainland RMB867,470,000 Property investment and
development
B 3 Notes:
(i) % T A B T — KR R B A B L (i) The subsidiary is a domestic enterprise established and operating in
RIgEZNERE - Chinese Mainland.
(i) Z M B A B T — R B R K (i) The subsidiary is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise established and
RIGEZHINIBERE - operating in Chinese Mainland.
@iy  ZMEBAE T — KRB A MK @iy~ The subsidiary is a sino-foreign subsidiary established and operating in
RiggzpoNEAMB AT - Chinese Mainland.
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SI.MEAY - 8 4EMEE S51. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

o) (4) ASSOCIATES (continued)
(B) BEEKRFERERZWHES (B) DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
=G ER SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TRINTAEEHEAEXNFF The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
RS R EEE M B A RS subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-

controlling interests:

FERBEREL
HmALHE/ BRALEREK/
MEAREHE TRERME BURE 2 BAELA ARFFERESNER At FRER
Proportion of
Place of ownership of issued
incorporation/ ordinary share capital/ Profit allocated

principal place of paid-up capital held by to non-controlling Accumulated non-controlling
Name of subsidiaries business non-controlling interests interests interests

2024 203 2024 2023 2024 2023
% % AR®TR ARETT ARMTR ARETR
RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'000

ESREERAR(EERE]) HERZES/ 452,215 E(RZUM 3,880,027 3,682,239
HE R

Best Scene Investments Limited BVI/Chinese

("Best Scene”) Mainland

FIERBEEEERAR SEAM 1,023,745 pART 5,071,124 4,047,379

([Ek]) Chinese Mainland

BREERAT(HE]) RBREIES/ 512,582 399,564 FERIINEEES 3,878,938
HE R

Brilliant Palace Investment Limited ~ BVI/Chinese

("Brilliant Palace”) Mainland

BEFERERNER 6,112,547 REEIEN 107,673,315

FEAWBRA
Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests

- 8,101,089 5938391 [RPLWEYWLL]
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(B) HMEEARFERERNHESR
EWEQANFE (&)

BRASERAEANIERE
sRMBEARNMEERRE
AT - AT BERBE
REBRRBIREBHEANESE

FRBEE Non-current assets

MBEE Current assets

nBAaE Current liabilities

ERHaE Non-current liabilities

RARHEEAEEER  Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

R ER Non-controlling interests

et Revenue

ARRIER AEMEER  Profit attributable to owners
of the Company

JHERERSEMRR]  Profit attributable to
non-controlling interests

ERET Profit for the year

51. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES (continued)
(B) DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED

SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.

ERRE
Best Scene
2024

RE
Brilliant Palace
2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ARBTR ARETT ARMTR ARETRT ARMTR AE%TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

10312,085 [CFIN/M 9,695,791
680)
,956)

5,559,591 kLI 10,981,386

1,086,931 1,853,282 2,781,768
((EOIWZE)N (1,629,680
(IR (1,526,956

11,775,276 2,172,585 2,284,525

((RIEPOEN  (8,997,553) WMNEYLNOON (1,350,403)

(280,124) (77,357) IPEEINED)]

4,742,256 4,500,514

3,880,027 3,682,239
994,603 955,090

552,708

5.278,108 4,212,578 5,955,147

ARPLE 4,047,379 3,970,098 3,878,938

8,436,400 234,347 1,794,709

378,571 1,065,530 22,861 768,872 599,346

452,215 309,740 1,023,745 21,964 512,582 399,564

1,004,923 688,311 2,089,275 44,825 1,281,454 998,910
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ARARBARELE
Lt

SFRREREGEE
Lt

EREANGAE

BERDHNGE/(FR)

Re e

RERBHE/ ()

ReFB
REEY (FR)/Hk
ReFE

-1

38 51. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES (continued)
(B) DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED

SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

B

Brilliant Palace

EBRE

8
Eb
Best Scene

2024 203 2024 2023 2024 2023
ARBTR ARETT AR%TR ARETT ARETR ARETI
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'0O0

Total comprehensive income
attributable to owners of
the Company

Total comprehensive income
attributable to non-controlling
interests

555,242 1,065,530 768,402

454,288 1,023,745 512,268

314,755 21,964
1,009,530 2,089,275 1,280,670
470,025 (39,707) 882,180
45,609 (481,074) (814,781)

)
(373,186) ECYEEEN 267,690 (89,795) VIO

Total comprehensive income

for the year 1,035,750

Net cash generated from/

(used in) operating activities 847420

Net cash generated from/

(used in) investing activities 399,395

Net cash (used in)/generated
from financing activities
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(O TRIFAKEENESEDLE
MARBEERRZERZD
XIBREFAXELMAE
BEEFENERTS - XD
RAEERRREEMEEDLRE
ZHBEEREMBRIE

BELEER

Name of joint venture

EEBREXEERAA (&) (Note i)

EHENRFSEXCAM) R AR (MEi)

(Note ii)

FECEBR LA (&) (Note iii)

EEERBEIRZEZREBRAR

(Fff5Eii K2iv) (Notes ii and iv)

tREERMEREZEARAR () (Note i)

EFHERBEREMAR AR (FEii&iv)

(Note ii and iv)

MREEEMERZEARAR (I (Note i)

Dragon Rider Development Ltd (Fff#Eiv) (Note iv)

51. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES (continued)

(C) The table below lists the joint ventures of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results of the year or form a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other joint ventures would, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

R+=A=+—H
As at 31 December
rEBEESEEGAER
Attributable interest
indirectly held
by the Group

2024

FTEXH

Principal activities
2023

MEBER

Property development

45%

MERERER
Property investment and
development

50%

MERERER
Property investment and
development

50%

50% B

Investment holding

MERERER
Property investment and
development

51%

MERERER
Property investment and
development

50%

51% WMEERE

Property development

MERERER
Property investment and
development

50%
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SI.MEAY - 8 4EMEE S51. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
B () ASSOCIATES (continued)

© (&) (©) (continued)

Rt+t=A=+—H
As at 31 December
=l | rEEBEEEREAER TEXEK
Attributable interest

indirectly held
Name of joint venture by the Group Principal activities
2024 2023

RO EEFEBR AR (MEE) (Note i) 50% MEER
Property development

EEEAREmEREER AR (M)
(Note ii)

40% MERERER
Property investment and
development

EFEBEXAERAE (M) (Note ii) 50% WERERE

Property development

FYNTTH B BB E R AR (& &Xiv)
(Note ii and iv)

60% WEBERE

Property development

tRIBERFEEBRE A (3Ei) (Note ii) 49% WEBERE

Property development

51% WEERE

Property development

FTEEEERR AR (M kiv)
(Note ii and iv)

BT Notes:
(i) ZEERET—ERN P B A KL (i) The joint venture is sino-foreign equity joint venture established and
RISE2HINEBEEDRE - operating in Chinese Mainland.
(if) ZEARECETIRPE AT X (i) The joint ventures are domestic enterprises established and operating in
WEZRNEMRE- Chinese Mainland.
(i) ~ ZAEECETIREBTMAELT K& - @iy The joint venture is incorporated and operating in Hong Kong.
vy AEBEREGERANESZ=—HLH (iv)  The company is accounted for as joint venture as at the year end date
BEGIE BEBREDHIRES as the Group has contractually agreed the sharing of control of an
EREZFRHBENE T —BRER - arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
AlZARIEFEAEB ARIME— activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
HE&EhE-
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51m§&ﬂ~ﬁ%

e

B (4)

ped|

W)T%Wm
M2 7]
GEX:37
@;ﬁéﬁﬁ
AIEER
Z B

BE QT

Name of

EEERLHERMERZEARIR (K 50%

(Note i)

MM E R E X FR D F (D) (Note i)

MRUBKEEXARQE (M) (Note i)

AN RIA S Mo EE R 3% A PR X ) (RS At M)

AEEREE QA
%%.:/L\%EZSH‘#%’A
EFAFXBREAE
EHNERELD - AR
R E b E QA

SERERBENRTLE

associate

(Notes i and iii)

SNERME R FHERZEFRQE (D)

(Note i)

BT AMEEBESR QR (HEED (Note i)

BEHEEXEREBR AR (MEED (Note i)

RECERMER DA (M Kii)
China Enterprise Company Limited (Note i and iii)

REERBRFEHERZARAA (K&

(Note i)

IR EAEREMERE AR AR ()

(Note i)

51. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

ASSOCIATES (continued)

(D) The table below lists the associates of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results of the year or form a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other associates would, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

W+=H=+—8H
As at 31 December
rEBEESEEEGAER
Attributable interest
indirectly held
by the Group
2024

FEXHR

Principal activities

MEER

Property development

45% MERERER
Property investment and
development

28% MEHER

Property development

18% WEHER

Property development

50% WEERE

Property development

33% YERERER
Property investment and
development

50% EERE

Property development

7% REER
Investment holding

50% WEERE

Property development

50% WMERERER
Property investment and
development
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SI.MEAY - 8 4EMEE S51. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
B () ASSOCIATES (continued)
(D) (%) (D) (continued)

R+=A=+—H
As at 31 December
rEEEEFEEAERZ FTEXEK
Attributable interest

indirectly held
Name of associate by the Group Principal activities
2024

RITEIBREEEBR A A (M) (Note i) 25% 25% WMEER
Property development

YR EEERBEAR AR (M)
(Note i)

49% WIFEERE

Property development

JtREMABEAR AT (FEEi) (Note i) 27% WEIRENER
Property investment and
management

B[R EE 2B AR (M) (Note i) 50% WEERE

Property development

EEEHMEREREARQT ()
(Note i)

34% MEER
Property development
EEEHEBEEAR QA (K (Note i) 30% MERERER
Property investment and
development
bRENEREEAR AR (Ha) (Note i) 49% WEERE

Property development

EEERSEHELHEFXRHAXNERE R
BEIREES (MiEiv) (Note iv)

34% REZEK
Investment holding

bR EEEE LR AR (M) (Note i) 42% WYEER

Property development

NN E L AR AT (MEEi) (Notes i) 40% MEBRE

Property development
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B8 2 W) ~ A A 5K B
o] (#)
(%)

BeEQ

Name of associate

YT LAEMERBEARAR (M)
(Notes i)

REBIPEEmAER AR AR (i)
(Notes i)

PR EpiE R oA B AR B AR AT (M)
(Notes i)

BMNESAIRBEER AT (M) (Notes i)

EEERHRELENAAER R BELRE
EH4 (MizEii &v) (Note i and v)

51. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES (continued)

(D) (continued)

R+=A=+—8H
As at 31 December
rEBEESEEEGAER
Attributable interest
indirectly held
by the Group

2024

FTEXHK

Principal activities
2023

20% 20% WEER

Property development

49% WIFEERE

Property development

49% WIHEERE

Property development

49% WIFEERE

Property development

- RAZK

Investment holding

MEE -

(@) ZHE R R A RN EAMK L
REEZNERE -

(i)  ZBERATIARPRFERL,

iy BHRAEEERZETEFTNAZD
AIMEEEEAHZATARITER
TE RARNEEAERAARE
—MEEE AR

vy ZES/MERLEBLFRFHME
7/ k-

)  EREERRIEBEFRHAET -

Notes:

(i) The associate is a domestic enterprise established and operating in
Chinese Mainland.

(ii) The associate is established/acquired in the current financial year.

(iii) The company is accounted for as an associate as at year end date as the
Group has the right to appoint director(s) for the board of the company
and is able to exercise significant influence over the company.

(iv) The fund/shares was issued/listed in Shanghai Stock Exchange.

(v) The fund was issued in Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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52. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group'’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which include the bank and other borrowings disclosed in
note 35, the senior notes disclosed in note 36, the super
short-term commercial papers disclosed in note 37 and the
medium-term notes disclosed in note 38, net of cash and
cash equivalents, amount due to related parties, amounts
due to non-controlling interests and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
and other reserves and perpetual capital instrument.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debts or the redemption of
existing debts.
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RERBBEMERE
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RATA
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
As at 31 December 2024

EERBEAHM
2EKRRE
ALERZ
SHEE
BRATR
Financial assets
designated

at Fvodl
Equity
MENS
AR¥TR
RMB’000

RATEHA
Bt eRAE

RBERATIR
LEREE

Financial
assets at
amortised cost
ARETT
RMB’000

Financial
assets at FVPL
AR¥TR
RMB'000

Financial assets

Equity instruments designated
at FVOCl
1,011,287 -
- 4,863,723
16,468,950
34,705,699

Time deposits

Trade and other receivables

Amount due from related parties

Amounts due from non-
controlling interests

Financial assets at FVPL

44,872,540

5,384,771 -

Cash and bank balances 133,206,175

5,384,771 1,011,287 234,117,087 240,

FEA B K A FE A
FEARNEBAE
JE{< AR /5 sUR

JEf IR B 5UR

HEAHE
BAREMREE
BLEE

sk e
g
BATEARRY
sBaf
REERZE

BAVEFARS
ZERMBE
Financial liabilities
at FVPL
AR®TT
RMB’000

BEHH AT R
LEREE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
ARET
RMB’000

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities included in trade
and other payables

Amount due to related parties

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests

Lease liabilities

Bank and other borrowings

Senior notes

Super short-term commercial papers

Medium-term notes =

Financial liabilities at FVPL

105,635,276
39,192,155 39,
15,490,140

6,512,365 6,
197,034,922
6,896,503
6,000,000
49,850,421

186,002

Long-term payables

186,002 429,288,112

FEWHEMAMRAE  China Resources Land Limited

2,676,330 2,

1,011,287
4,863,723
16,468,950
34,705,699

44,872,540

5,384,771
133,206,175

513,145

At

Total

N ]
RMB'000

105,635,276

192,155

15,490,140

512,365

197,034,922
6,896,503
6,000,000

49,850,421

186,002
676,330

429,474,114
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53. W5 Ja\ kg 4 BE (%)

53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

EMITAEZER (E) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

R-BE-_=%+=-HA=+—H As at 31 December 2023

THEE

HEREBREMEE
YRR FETIR
RATA

T B

MR R E R R

JE L AR /5 TROR

MR IR 5 58

BATE AR
SBEE
AESHMIA

R4 BRIk

BT RBREM
\ 2 :
RATE  AVENEZ 0 BB
S ABRY SHEE  AAYIEZ
CREE BRATR EREE
Financial assets
designated at Financial
Financial FVOCI Equity assets at
assets at FVPL instruments  amortised cost
Financial assets ARETTL ARETT ARETL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Equity instruments designated

@zt

Totgl
ARET
RMB'000

at FVOCl
- 1,043,560 - 1,043,560
Time deposits - - 4,255,863 4,255,863
Trade and other receivables - - 15,947,145 15,947,145
Amount due from related parties - - 38,453,894 38,453,894
Amounts due from non-controlling
interests - - 43,880,243 43,880,243
Financial assets at FVPL
3,001,429 - - 3,001,429
Derivative financial instruments 10,415 - - 10,415
Cash and bank balances - - 114,340,443 114,340,443
3,011,844 1,043,560 216,877,588 220,932,992

SR R L A
REANSHE &
A B 2m

R 1 3 R s 5

HERRE
RITREMEE
BEZE

B HRE s

PR
BATEF AR
cmaf
R E

RATEGABE  REHNAIR
ZeRBE ZeRBaE
Financial liabilities  Financial liabilities

atFvPL  at amortisgd cost
Financial liabilities ARET T ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000

Financial liabilities included in

trade and other payables - 122,101,099 122,101,099
Amount due to related parties - 48,287,149 48,287,149
Amounts due to non-controlling

interests - 18,493,996 18,493,996
Lease liabilities - 7,050,076 7,050,076
Bank and other borrowings - 156,114,195 156,114,195
Senior notes - 13,977,998 13,977,998
Super short-term commercial

papers = 6,000,000 6,000,000
Medium-term notes - 56,187,144 56,187,144
Financial liabilities at FVPL

335,156 - 335,156
Long-term payables - 4,371,525 4,371,525
335,156 432,583,182 432,918,338
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mEREETSAR (BEREER
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ExER BEEEBEENMEREZE
Fa\fgx - LA B £R BE K B B UM ER BUE
=S

AEEEH MR RKEEEE

8B 19 75 33 4 4 (A B o
45 LI
AR

REENEBEEAAREET
HEARBRBEERLE CERE (B
REERARE) NE TR IFE
P HE 25 R IR - RS BA R O BRIR - JE
Yo IF PR A R 25 SRR - PR AR BA R 75 3K
B RITEE (MEE35) - BERR
(ME36) ARRE LR EFERE
BEBINLHEW LB - ETTRE
FEHERI - AEEBRBTIER
[ERSEHERERER NEEE
ETERBBIIUINERIEHRE
A0 AR AR B 5 B R B L g A

53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVPL, trade and other receivables, time deposits,
amount due from related parties, amounts due from non-
controlling interests, equity instruments designated at
FVOCI, cash and bank balance, trade and other payables,
amount due to related parties, amounts due to non-
controlling interests, bank and other borrowings, financial
liabilities at FVPL, lease liabilities, senior notes, super short-
term commercial papers, medium-term notes and long-
term payables. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (including currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to
financial risks or the manner in which it manages and
measures.

Market risk
Currency risk

The Group’s businesses are principally conducted in RMB,
except for certain amounts due to non-controlling interests,
amounts due to related parties, amounts due from non-
controlling interests, amounts due from related parties,
bank borrowings (note 35), senior notes (note 36) and cash
and cash equivalents which are arranged in Hong Kong
or overseas and denominated in HK$, US$ and GBP by
the group entities operating in Hong Kong, of which the
functional currency is RMB. The Group manages its currency
risk by closely monitoring the movements of the currency
exchange rates. The Group entered into cross currency swap
contracts with certain financial institutions to reduce its
exposure to currency fluctuation risk.
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)

The Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets
and monetary liabilities at the end of the respective reporting
period and the carrying amounts are as follows:

2024 2023
AR®T T

ARETT

BE

1) e B M 1308 I i
FEHERE

AR

EE B B A Ry
FEERE

7 e

ETT

HgE

i=§-

T e B I 1308 1A
FEER

AR

DB B R A Ry
KEER

B

EY

Assets

Group entities with functional currency
of HK$

RMB

Group entities with functional currency
of RMB

RMB’000 RMB’000

HK$ 8,237,867 13,369,381
Us$ 1,098,819 1,064,217
GBP 233,205 116,499
Liabilities
Group entities with functional currency

of HK$
RMB 300,000 -
Group entities with functional currency

of RMB
HK$ 13,129,127 33,674,847
us$ 3,624,149 10,783,565
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group's foreign currency risk is concentrated on the
fluctuation of RMB against foreign currencies.

As at 31 December 2024, a 3% (2023: 5%) strengthening
of RMB against the relevant foreign currencies would have
resulted in an increase of post-tax profit by RMB185,584,000
(2023: RMB1,248,672,000). For a 3% (2023: 5%)
weakening of RMB against the relevant currencies, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax. The
sensitivity rates used represent management'’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, amounts due from
related parties, amounts due from non-controlling interests,
senior notes, super short-term commercial papers, medium-
term notes, amounts due to non-controlling interests,
amounts due to related parties.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances (see note 30 for details), variable-
rate bank and other borrowings (see note 35 for details),
amounts due to non-controlling interests and amounts
due to related parties. The Group's cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR"”), Benchmark Loan
Rate of The People’s Bank of China and Sterling Overnight
Index Average (“SONIA") arising from the Group's HK$,
RMB and GBP denominated borrowings. To manage the
Group's exposure to fluctuations in interest rates on specific
transactions, appropriate derivative financial instruments may
be used to hedge material exposure.

As at 31 December 2024, if interest rates had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
the Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2024 would have been RMB41,925,000 higher/lower (2023:
RMB60,805,000 higher/lower).
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
and financial guarantees provided by the Group arose from:

e the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position; and

e the financial guarantees issued by the Group as
disclosed in notes 42 and 50(B).

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amounts of each individual trade and other
receivable at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies or state-owned banks in
the PRC.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings
and amounts due from related parties and non-controlling
interests, the Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk, in which exposure is spread over a number of
counterparties and customers.

With respect to the amounts due from related parties and
non-controlling interests, the directors of the Company
consider the credit risk is limited because they have strong
financial positions.
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

For properties that are presold but development have not
been completed, the Group typically provides guarantees
to banks in connection with the customers’ borrowing of
mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties
for an amount up to 85% of the purchase price of the
individual property. If a purchaser defaults on the payment
of its mortgage during the period of guarantee, the bank
holding the mortgage may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding loan and any interest accrued thereon. Under
such circumstances, the Group is able to forfeit the sales
deposit received and re-sell the repossessed properties.
Therefore, the directors of the Company consider the
Group would likely recover any loss incurred arising from
the guarantee by it. The directors of the Company consider
the credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided
to property purchasers is limited because the facilities are
secured by the properties and the market prices of the
properties are higher than the guaranteed amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
Management monitors the utilisation of bank and other
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.
Details of the loan covenants on the Group’s bank and other
borrowings are set out in note 35.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and
derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
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53. B4 %5 il b 4 PR (%) 53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

MEEEERE B ERBE (&) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

REBESRER (& Liquidity risk (continued)

ZRBEMNBERASTEEME © i The table includes both interest and principal cash outflows.

MERBZEFE - BIRE Efﬁﬁgﬁ To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the

B ERE Iﬁﬁiﬂﬁﬁiz 2EE undiscounted amount is derived from the weighted average

BBEECBBRITAEFEFE - interest rate by reference to the HIBOR, Benchmark Loan

PEARBITHE REEF R E Rate of The People’s Bank of China and SONIA of the

FERRIFEHEEME 2 MEFESF Group's variable-rate financial liabilities at the end of the

EMmatEF/L - reporting period.

REXFIER SENE - REE
On demand
or less than Carrying

1year 1to 2 years 2to5years  Over5 years Total amount

ARBTR  ARBTR AR®TR  ARETn  AR%TR  ARBTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

M=ZZ-M£+=F Asat31December 2024
=+-§
FEREEZR R EMEN  Financial liabilities included in trade

EEANSREE and other payables 105,635,276 - 105,635,276 105,635,276
FEAT BB 70 IB Amounts due to related parties 38,797,126 606,438 39,403,564 39,192,155
JE 7 FE P RR 2 Amounts due to non-controlling

B interests 14,747,547 263,557 651,848 15,662,952 15,490,140
HEERE Lease liabilities 1,136,282 6,544,787 1,085,062 - 8,766,131 6,512,365
RORAMEE Bank and other borrowings 54428662 40,693,993 45638190 87,657,344 228418189 197,034,922
BERE Senior notes 357,805 345,959 7,181,070 - 7,884,834 6,896,503
BREHRES Super short-term commercial papers 6,134,300 - - - 6,134,300 6,000,000
RHZR Medium-term notes 15,864,466 9,647,803 26,274,234 1,547,362 53,333,865 49,850,421
BATEFABE  Financial liabilities at FVPL

ZeRBE 37,354 45,081 121,803 204,238 186,002
RHER R Long-term payables - 300,000 2,400,000 2,700,000 2,676,330
HBER Financial guarantee 73,710,865 - - 73,710,865 -

310,849,683 58,447,618 83,352,207 89,204,706 541,854,214 429,474,114

RZZE-=5+=H Asat31December 2023

Er=F
[EREFREMER  Financial liabilities included in trade

FEAMSRMEE  and other payables 122,101,099 - - - 122,101,099 122,101,099
BABEAZE  Amounts due to related parties 39532075 1992223 8218513 - 4974811 48287149
ER IR g Amounts due to non-controlling

TE interests 17,729,999 957,386 206,915 - 18,894,300 18,493,996
MEARE Lease liabilities 2,071,002 6,117,186 1,455,382 - 9,643,570 7,050,076
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 49,210,386 37,125,728 60,822,977 33,155,642 180,314,733 156,114,195
BAER Senior notes 7,395,731 334,358 334,358 6,787,536 14,851,983 13,977,998
BREHRES Super short-term commercial papers 6,022,592 - - - 6,022,592 6,000,000
RHZE Medium-term notes 10,132,840 15,578,850 34,960,146 - 60,671,836 56,187,144
BEATEFABZ  Financial liabilities at FVPL

ZeRak 123,188 78,774 176,223 = 378,185 335,156
REEM A Long-term payables - 2,000,000 2,400,000 = 4,400,000 4,371,525
B IR Financial quarantee 92,952,138 = = - 92,952,138 =

347,271,050 64,184,505 108,574,514 39,943,178 559,973,247 432,918,338
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts have not included financial guarantee
contracts, which the Group make for its certain joint ventures
and associates’ borrowings (note 50(B)). Such guarantees will
terminate upon the repayment of the relevant borrowings.

In respect of financial guarantee contracts disclosed in note
42, based on expectations at the end of the reporting period,
the Group considers that it is more likely than not that no
amount will be payable under the arrangement. However,
this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee
which is a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed
suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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53. B b 4 PR (48) 53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
AEEUREREERANTETE FAIR VALUE OF THE GROUP’S FINANCIAL ASSETS
NeMEERERABEN A TE AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES THAT ARE MEASURED
AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS
rEBETEMmEERERARER Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
EWMEPRZAFETE - TR are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
HEHINNEETZSEeHEERS period. The following table gives information about how the
BEBENATENER FRIZME fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities
BERRARAEASIE) - are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and

inputs used).

tHEE/8F Rt=A=+t-BWATE  AVEER HERGRBERBAHE
Fair value
Financial assets/liabilities Fair value as at 31 December  hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs
2024 2023
AR®TR AEBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
1) PEREATEIABRZER EE BE 2R BRRN - ARRERNLERERBE R/
BEHRUER 4,283,017 1,130,023 FOEREY (REFEARNIRRD R R)
fbit BRBASEEERRMLREE -
Structured deposits classified as Assets Assets  Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are
financial assets at FVPL 4,283,017 1,130,023 estimated with reference to the price changes

in certain underlying commodities/indexes (from
observable yield curves at the end of the reporting
period), discounted at a rate that reflects the credit

risk of the Group.
) PEREATESABH SR EE BEE F1B% ABMERARN  EATENREERKE
BE/BRMES 1,100,000 1,871,406 AABMEMFEE TS -
Wealth management funds Assets Assets  Level 2 This wealth management product is open-ended
classified as financial assets at FVPL 1,100,000 1,871,406 and its fair value is measured based on the unit net

assets announced daily by the financial institution.

3) BRAVEFABGZRARE &E - #B3 BRADR - ARALRNEREERIHEH
1,754 5 BRBET AEENARNFIRER -
Equity investment at FVPL Assets - Level3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are based
1,754 on fixed and variable return payments, discounted

at a rate that reflects the issuer's cost of equity.

4) EEREBREMZANGEANT &E EE #34% BRADR - ARALRNDEREERIHEH
B3R RATA 1,011,287 1,043,560 15 RRRETAERKANNERER -
Equity instruments designated at Assets Assets  Level 3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are based
Fvodl 1,011,287 1,043,560 on fixed and variable return payments, discounted

at a rate that reflects the issuer's cost of equity.
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

FAIR VALUE OF THE GROUP’S FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES THAT ARE MEASURED
AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS

(continued)

RtZA=t-BHATE

Fair value as at 31 December
2024 2023
AR¥ETR AREFTL
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARAITESRIANINEH

= 10,415
Cross currency swaps classified as Assets
derivative financial instruments 10,415
BATE ABRAENIAR af aff
EHGEIE) 186,002 335,156
Contingent consideration measured Liabilities Liabilities
at FVPL (Note 29) 186,002 335,156

FEWHEMAMRAE  China Resources Land Limited

AYERES MHERGRBARBAZRE
Fair value

hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs

BRADRK - ARBRERNEREHEE (R
REBROTEELGME) REBNERED
MEREE R EREASEEERRN
YT -

Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are
estimated based on forward exchange rates (from
observable yield curves at the end of the reporting
period) and yield curve of relevant interest rates and
contracted interest rates, discounted at a rate that
reflects the credit risk of the Group.

Level 2

BRAST - ARBREMNDERERES, (HE
REER/FANESER) NEERTERE -
BRBEERZHFOEERRNL RS -
Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are based
on actual delivery progress of the managed areas
(as converted from secured areas and/or contracted
areas), discounted at a rate that reflects the credit
risk of various counterparties.

Level 3
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

FAIR VALUE OF THE GROUP’S FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES THAT ARE MEASURED
AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS
(continued)

Fair value of other financial instruments

The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities (excluding senior notes and
medium-term notes with fair value information set out in
notes 36 and 38, respectively) recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate to their
fair values.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund
scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for its employees in Hong Kong.
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme in
accordance with the principle of the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance. Under the rules of MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are required to contribute 5%
of the employee’s salaries, up to a maximum of HK$1,500
per employee per month. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the group companies in
an independently administered fund. Contributions to these
plans vest immediately upon the completion of the services
in the relevant period. Forfeited contribution totalling
HK$45,000 (2023: HK$118,000) were utilised during the
year ended 31 December 2024 to reduce contributions and
no forfeited contribution was available as at 31 December
2024 (2023: nil).

The employees of the Group in Chinese Mainland are
members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
these schemes is to make the specified contributions.



55. AR E)| 2 B IR O & 55.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY
2023
ARBFT
RMB’000
ERBEE } Non-current assets
REE AR R E Investments in subsidiaries 32,420,092 31,744,392
M - BE R Property, plant and equipment 26,463 1,248
FREEE Right-of-use assets 20,697 34,516
JFE Ui A B 75 3R IE Amounts due from related parties 14,599,575 8,906,024
47,066,827 40,686,180
mE&E Current assets
H W BR IR - Other receivables, prepayments
B RIBBRET® and deposits 119,649 161,767
& 5 R Bt 77 B0 Amounts due from related parties 130,131,984 128,126,717
PTEeMmIT A Derivative financial instruments = 10,415
Re RRITET Cash and bank balances 7,482,947 10,351,246
137,734,580 138,650,145
mEE R Current liabilities
H h fE A BR 18 Other payables 446,834 333,462
HEARE Lease liabilities 14,580 13,587
JE [t RA B 75 TR IR Amounts due to related parties 82,220,380 64,705,470
RITEE——FWEIH  Bank borrowings — due within one year 22,009,000 12,516,520
BEEE ——FANEIE  Senior notes — due within one year — 7,208,121
104,690,794 84,777,160
MENE EFE Net current assets 33,043,786 53,872,985
BELERRBAG Total assets less current liabilities 80,110,613 94,559,165
Eam Equity
PR Share capital 673,829 673,829
feiff (M 5E) Reserves (Note) 47,041,546 41,826,415
KEEARTE (M5E41)  Perpetual capital instrument (Note 41) — 7,381,436
47,715,375 49,881,680
EMBEE Non-current liabilities
BITEE ——F%FH  Bank borrowings — due after one
year 25,492,379 30,637,393
BAEEE ——F%EIH  Senior notes — due after one year 6,896,503 6,769,877
HEAE Lease liabilities 6,356 20,423
JE - — R R Bt 75 5RIE Amounts due to a related party - 7,249,792
32,395,238 44,677,485
EmBEAIERBAME  Total of equity and non-current
liabilities 80,110,613 94,559,165
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S55. RN R Z MR (M) 55.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

298

(continued)
B 5 Note:
f# & Reserves

R-Z-W&E—A—H

Pl

FRELHLHIA
AFELDOEBHS
RAHSH

At 1 January 2024

Profit for the year

Changes in fair value of hedging
instrument due to forward
elements and effective portion
arising during the year

AR¥T T

Rt aE Hitnfie

Share Other
premium

reserves
AR¥T

RMB’'000 RMB’000

58,529,724 638,777

96,873

RiER
Accumulated
losses
AR%T
RMB’000

(17,342,086)

15,847,697

st

Total
AR®T T
RMB’000

41,826,415

15,847,697

96,873

FRNEERRERE Total comprehensive income
for the year 96,873 15,847,697 15,944,570
EREKEEART A Redemption of perpetual capital
instrument (153,595) (153,595)
BKEEATAER A Distribution to the owners of
e 2 7k perpetual capital instrument (292,768) (292,768)
—E - ER RS Interim dividend for 2024 (1,408,572) (1,408,572)
- =FREKRE Final dividend for 2023 (8,874,504) (8,874,504)
RZZE_WFE+=A=+—H At31 December 2024 58,529,724 582,055 (12,070,233) 47,041,546
R-_ZE_=%—H—H At 1 January 2023 58,529,724 552,606 (20,116,900) 38,965,430
F W A Profit for the year - - 13,632,761 13,632,761
FREENERITE Changes in fair value of hedging
AFEEEBEPLD instrument due to forward
RERBH elements and effective portion
arising during the year - 86,171 - 86,171
FRNEERRLETE Total comprehensive income
for the year - 86,171 13,632,761 13,718,932
MKEEARTAHEAR A Distribution to the owners of
Ve 2 7k perpetual capital instrument - - (279,246) (279,246)
T =FRERE Interim dividend for 2023 = = (1,413,713) (1,413,713)
Final dividend for 2022 - - (9,164,988) (9,164,988)
R=ZZE=_=F+=-A=+—H At31 December 2023 58,529,724 638,777 (17,342,086) 41,826,415
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BEREFMBERRNNEBDR  FE
A RMRBE_T N
F+_A=Z+—HILEFERRER
BV ERZFMBERRPRANS
AR BT ER - ZFEHE
BAT A e AR EARRRE -

FB G ERIE 21 RHER] -
INE [E = BBy )
— BRI

EBV ISR EERE 95 AE ST - Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial

AT ARE BV KRS %R
FIR THITAE:

WEEE —$eMmT AR
DERETERIEET
BBV BREERNSS

FENE —FNS
BBV BRELERE 185

HBERENZES R E
BBV BREERE 195

HERNHZTAEMLNE L F] -

B

AEBEEAEFEZEEINERE
AHRNEREE - 25 Z2&R A
Rz FER] R MREAIK
AIREHR A M MRBUERTE -

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of

56. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following which
may be relevant to the Group.

RUTHE#SR
ZEFREN
B HEEX

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after

—FE-_hA¥—H—H
changes in foreign exchange rates — 1 January 2025
Lack of exchangeability

—E_RF—HA—H
instruments and HKFRS 7, 1 January 2026

Financial instruments: disclosures

— Amendments to the classification and

measurement of financial instruments

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Z—ZFZXF—H—H
Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026
HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure Tt F—-H—H
in financial statements 1 January 2027
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public —F-+F—H—H

accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.
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ERYEME

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

REnNX

Investment Properties

EREMERAT
BB RS (%)
Interest (%)

BHEREHE
(F)
Total GFA (Sqm)

NEER
Asset Type

HEMR

Lease Term

SEYNEEE AR O 100% 352,045 7R
Shenzhen City Crossing iWzglium e e

BRI 100% 172,973 GES

Mixc Commercial

EHAE 100% 41,311 BFiE

Shenzhen CR Building Office

(E5 100% 137,761 285

Car Park Car Park
LN ZE R L 60% 418,142 7R
Hangzhou City Crossing izt e lGEEe

B 60% 170,933 [EES

Mixc Commercial

ESEPN 60% 58,292 2FiE

Hangzhou CR Building Office

RE5 60% 188,917 RE5

Car Park Car Park
B S 100% 322,248 RHEE
Shenyang City Crossing Medium Term Lease

BRI 100% 166,106 [EES

Mixc Commercial

EHAE 100% 59,583 I

Shenyang CR Building Office

BES 100% 96,559 3-8

Car Park Car Park
A EBEE S R 0y 100% 483,927 RHEHE
Chengdu City Crossing Medium Term Lease

BRI 100% 287,064 [GES

Mixc Commercial

(RE% 100% 196,863 FES

Car Park Car Park
EEENAD N 55% 443,357 IR &
Nanning City Crossing Medium Term Lease

BRI 55% 199,836 [EES

Mixc Commercial

EHAE 55% 174,263 BFiE

Nanning CR Building Office

(RE% 55% 69,258 =B85

Car Park Car Park
BN B 52 4 100% 199,946 hEHE
Zhengzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease

BRI 100% 126,028 GES

Mixc Commercial

FES 100% 73,918 RHES

Car Park Car Park
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ERBEBAERAR MOBEERR

REME B ERER (%) (¥K) mERH HEHR
Investment Properties Interest (%) Total GFA (Sqm) Asset Type Lease Term
ERERM 100% 504,851 hHEHE
Chongqing Mixc Medium Term Lease

BRI 100% 293,924 [EES

Mixc Commercial

FE%5 100% 210,927 RES

Car Park Car Park
EHBERM 60% 233,100 PHHE
WUXi MiXC Medium Term Lease

BRI 60% 123,107 [GES

Mixc Commercial

(FE%5 60% 109,993 285

Car Park Car Park
SEEBESI 30% 397,315 hHEHE
Qingdao Mixc Medium Term Lease

BRI 30% 282,948 [EES

Mixc Commercial

FE5 30% 114,367 RES

Car Park Car Park
SR8 R 49% 293,422 T E
Hefei Mixc Medium Term Lease

BRI 49% 172,489 [EES

Mixc Commercial

(FE%5 49% 120,933 [

Car Park Car Park
BN B 2 i 55% 204,400 RHEAE
Ganzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease

BRI 55% 130,467 [EES

Mixc Commercial

FE5 55% 73,933 RES

Car Park Car Park
BN B s 50% 251,100 hHHE
Wenzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease

BRI 50% 157,089 [ZES

Mixc Commercial

=85 50% 94,011 X8

Car Park Car Park
AL AR E S 100% 216,346 hEAE
Xi'an Xixian Mixc Medium Term Lease

BRI 100% 120,989 [EES

Mixc Commercial

(E5 100% 95,357 322

Car Park Car Park

FEHEMA/AE  China Resources Land Limited 301



ERYEME

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

EBERERAA

REnNX FEfE B RR 1 5 (%)

Investment Properties

Interest (%)

BHEREHE
(F)
Total GFA (Sqm)

NEER
Asset Type

HEMR

Lease Term

FEEsW 50% 407,117 hHEE
Shanghai Mixc Medium Term Lease
B 50% 164,833 [5ES
Mixc Commercial
LEERBEFE 50% 22,159 i |
Shanghai Mixc Office Office
FE5 50% 220,125 REH5
Car Park Car Park
=S 100% 467,305 hHEE
Shenzhen Mixc World Medium Term Lease
BRXM 100% 225,201 S
Mixc World Commercial
FES 100% 242,104 FES
Car Park Car Park
Ze Ml & = 100% 187,250 PHEE
Taizhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 100% 112,150 [EES
Mixc Commercial
=85 100% 75,100 RE5
Car Park Car Park
KEE X 49% 329,976 hHEE
Taiyuan Mixc Medium Term Lease
B 49% 204,987 [SES
Mixc Commercial
=85 49% 124,989 (e
Car Park Car Park
@ﬁ%%i}j@ 49% 287,185 RHAFRE
Nantong Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 49% 132,834 [EES
Mixc Commercial
=85 49% 154,351 (E5
Car Park Car Park
I8 55% 192,521 hHEE
Liuzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BN 55% 117,021 [5ES
Mixc Commercial
=85 55% 75,500 FE5
Car Park Car Park
E?H%%W 49% 308,099 P E
Shijiazhuang Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 49% 178,345 [GES
Mixc Commercial
=85 49% 129,754 fE%5
Car Park Car Park

302 —=-mueEHS  ANNUAL REPORT 2024



ERBEBAERAR MOBEERR

REME FEfL BB (%) (¥K) mERH HEHR
Investment Properties Interest (%) Total GFA (Sqm) Asset Type Lease Term
EFE R 100% 219,567 hHEHE
Xiamen Mixc Medium Term Lease

BRI 100% 142,877 [EES

Mixc Commercial

FE%5 100% 76,690 RES

Car Park Car Park
SR e I, 100% 254,837 RHRE
Shenzhen Bay MiXC Medium Term Lease

BRI 100% 76,000 [SES

Mixc Commercial

(FE%5 100% 178,837 285

Car Park Car Park
=i ﬁﬁﬁj% 100% 93,879 hHEHE
Shanghai Times Square Wizslium el Loz

[EES 100% 47,930 [EES

Commercial Commercial

B2 100% 36,843 BriE

Office Office

(FE5 100% 9,106 285

Car Park Car Park
EMNE R 100% 170,727 hHEHE
Guilin Mixc Medium Term Lease

BRI 100% 97,273 [GES

Mixc Commercial

(2E 100% 73,454 =815

Car Park Car Park
B R 55% 377,216 PHHE
Jinan MiXC Medium Term Lease

BRM 55% 214,929 [CES

Mixc Commercial

(FE% 55% 162,287 285

Car Park Car Park
1t B H E 5 BE ) 0y 99% 146,095 hHEHE
Beijing Galleria Medium Term Lease

LR E 99% 52,395 [EES

Galleria Commercial

BREMESRTE 99% 79,019 B2

Office Office

(="} 99% 14,681 285

Car Park Car Park
It 5B RE 49% 206,991 R E
Beijing Qinghe Mixc One Medium Term Lease

BRIE 49% 132,698 [EES

Mixc One Commercial

o 49% 11,425 B2

Office Office

=85 49% 62,868 2Ei5

Car Park Car Park
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ERYEME

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

EBERERAA

REnNX FEfE B RR 1 5 (%)

Investment Properties Interest (%)

BHEREHE
(F)
Total GFA (Sqm)

NEER
Asset Type

HEMR

Lease Term

ASREFLESE 100% 66,141 hEHE
Hefei Shushan Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRIE 100% 48,660 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
FES 100% 17,481 RHES
Car Park Car Park
3 S 2 100% 140,069 RS
Ningbo Yuyao Hi5 Medium Term Lease
Eap2 100% 86,247 (5ES
Hi5 Commercial
(RE%5 100% 53,822 2E5
Car Park Car Park
EEEAREH 100% 36,101 hEEE
Shanghai Nanxiang Hi5 Wizl e Lese
AR 100% 26,195 [EES
Hi5 Commercial
BES 100% 9,906 RES
Car Park Car Park
KEBRE 100% 257,544 RHEHE
Zibo Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRE 100% 161,644 (5ES
Mixc One Commercial
(RE% 100% 95,900 FES
Car Park Car Park
RS TR E S [E 49% 255,727 hEEE
Shenyang Tiexi Mixc One Wizl e Leese
BRIE 49% 143,480 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
ZE5 49% 112,247 RH5
Car Park Car Park
ENENERE 100% 65,105 T E
Changsha Xingsha Mixc One Medium TermLease
BRE 100% 44,239 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
=85 100% 20,866 (RE%5
Car Park Car Park
HEBERE 100% 134,914 hEAE
Rizhao Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRIE 100% 91,571 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
RE5 100% 43,343 RE5
Car Park Car Park
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EHENARAR

Ranx AL BB 2R (%)

Investment Properties Interest (%)

BHAEEEE
(F)
Total GFA (Sqm)

NEER
Asset Type

HEMR

Lease Term

It EESE 99% 180,583 hHEHE
Beijing Miyun Mixc One Wizslium e Loz
BRE 99% 107,583 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
FE%5 99% 73,000 RES
Car Park Car Park
ALl %m%%@ 49% 184,330 PHHE
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Mixc One el e Lezse
BRE 49% 92,389 [SES
Mixc One Commercial
(FE%5 49% 91,941 285
Car Park Car Park
#HMNSTESE 50% 123,579 RS
Suzhou Wujiang Mixc One Wizslium el Loz
BRE 50% 91,287 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
FE5 50% 32,292 RES
Car Park Car Park
MREMNILESRE 100% 116,370 PHHE
Harbin Songbei Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BERE 100% 89,280 [ZES
Mixc One Commercial
(FE%5 100% 27,090 (RE%
Car Park Car Park
BT & R [E 100% 172,149 RHEAE
Linyi Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRE 100% 105,931 [GES
Mixc One Commercial
FE5 100% 66,218 RES
Car Park Car Park
SRERERE 100% 102,824 thEATE &
Hefei Luyang Mixc One Medium TermLease
BERE 100% 79,060 [ZES
Mixc One Commercial
=85 100% 23,764 X8
Car Park Car Park
#HMNE LB S E 100% 170,922 IR E
Suzhou Kunshan Mix One Medium Term Lease
BRIE 100% 102,300 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
(E5 100% 68,622 322
Car Park Car Park
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ERYEME

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

REnNX

Investment Properties

EHBEBRAERAR

BB RS (%)
Interest (%)

BHEREHE
(F)
Total GFA (Sqm)

NEER
Asset Type

HEMR

Lease Term

EBONK A 100% 40,389 R
Haikou N park Medium Term Lease
GES 100% 22,093 [EES
Commercial Commercial
FES 100% 18,296 RHES
Car Park Car Park
BB RE 100% 99,989 RS
Ningbo Qianhu Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRE 100% 54,841 (5ES
Mixc One Commercial
(RE%5 100% 45,148 2E5
Car Park Car Park
EEEOBSE 100% 110,270 hEEE
Shenyang Changbai Mixc One Wizl e Lese
BRIE 100% 73,205 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
BES 100% 37,065 RES
Car Park Car Park
O B Rk 33% 281,096 RHEHE
Ningbo Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRA 33% 159,117 (5ES
Mixc Commercial
(RE% 33% 121,979 FES
Car Park Car Park
ERANEODERE 100% 96,922 FHAE
Chongging Dadukou Mixc One Wizl e Leese
BRIE 100% 76,984 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
ZE5 100% 19,938 RH5
Car Park Car Park
HMEBLE 51% 100,444 hHEEE
Nanchang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRE 51% 53,746 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
=85 51% 46,698 (RE%5
Car Park Car Park
AZE R 100% 88,520 THAE
Xi'an Mixc Wor|d Medium Term Lease
BRRM 100% 88,520 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
HERARERE 51% 86,198 PHEEE
Nanning Wuxiang Mixc One Wzeim e Legse
BRE 51% 55,326 [GES
Mixc One Commercial
RE5 51% 30,872 285
Car Park Car Park
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Ranx

Investment Properties

EHENARAR

B ERER (%)
Interest (%)

BHAEEEE
(F)
Total GFA (Sqm)

NEER
Asset Type

HEMR

Lease Term

S BE & &k 51% 243,223 A
Shantou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 51% 168,074 [EES
Mixc Commercial
FE%5 51% 75,149 RES
Car Park Car Park
ELBRE 100% 189,331 PHHE
Yantai MiXC One Medium Term Lease
BRE 100% 122,300 [SES
Mixc One Commercial
(FE%5 100% 67,031 285
Car Park Car Park
B RANE 50% 224,095 THRE
Shenzhen Qianhai Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRANE 50% 73,327 [EES
Shenzhen Qianhai Mixc Commercial
FE5 50% 150,768 RES
Car Park Car Park
EEERE 100% 155,392 A E
Guiyang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BERE 100% 98,708 [ZES
Mixc One Commercial
(FE%5 100% 56,684 (RE%
Car Park Car Park
@g@mﬁgg%@ 50% 55,533 RHEAE
Nanning Zhongshan Road Mixc One Wzl el Lezie
BRE 50% 39,033 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
FE5 50% 16,500 RES
Car Park Car Park
Itk EE R E 100% 79,694 hHHE
Beijing Yaojiayuan Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BERE 100% 42,291 [ZES
Mixc One Commercial
=85 100% 37,403 X8
Car Park Car Park
mE BB S E 100% 136,749 hEAE
Shenyang Huanggu Mixc One Wizl ert Legie
BRIE 100% 93,397 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
(E5 100% 43,352 322
Car Park Car Park
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ERYEME

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

REnNX

Investment Properties

EBERERAA

BB RS (%)
Interest (%)

BHEREHE
(F)
Total GFA (Sqm)

NEER
Asset Type

HEMR

Lease Term

2B R 51% 264,211 hEHE
Wuhan Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 51% 183,349 [EES
Mixc Commercial
FES 51% 80,862 RHES
Car Park Car Park
BN E & 100% 160,903 RS
Fuzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 100% 89,753 [EES
Mixc Commercial
BES 100% 71,150 BES
Car Park Car Park
BOBR M 100% 204,995 THRE
Haikou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 100% 113,552 GES
Mixc Commercial
BES 100% 91,443 RES
Car Park Car Park
EEBLERE 55% 78,978 RHRE
Qingdao Laoshan Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRE 55% 68,576 [GES
Mixc One Commercial
(RE% 55% 10,402 FES
Car Park Car Park
NI 100% 157,744 IR A
Dongguan Songshan Lake Mixc One Wizl e Leese
BRIE 100% 101,552 [GES
Mixc One Commercial
ZE5 100% 56,192 RH5
Car Park Car Park
FHEEESERER 70% 122,262 hHEEE
Shenzhen Sungang Mixc One Medium TermLease
BRER 70% 77,325 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
=85 70% 44,937 (RE%5
Car Park Car Park
MREBEZ K 100% 131,607 THAE
Nanjing Mixc W0r|d Medium Term Lease
BRRM 100% 83,678 [EES
Mixc World Commercial
RE5 100% 47,929 RE5
Car Park Car Park
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EHENARAR

Ranx

Investment Properties

B ERER (%)
Interest (%)

BHAEEEE
(F)
Total GFA (Sqm)

NEER
Asset Type

HEMR

Lease Term

M EBSI 100% 232,204 hHEHE
Nanchang Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 100% 155,450 [EES
Mixc Commercial
FE%5 100% 76,754 RES
Car Park Car Park
EERTEER KM 0% 227216 gl
Shanghai Suhewan Mixc World el e Lezse
BRRHU 50% 58,949 [GES
Mixc World Commercial
BFE 50% 95,083 BFiE
Office Office
S Hi5 50% 73,184 =85
Car Park Car Park
REEELBERE 100% 157,083 RHEE
Dalian Huanan Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRE 100% 100,827 [GES
Mixc One Commercial
=5 &5
Car Park 100% 56,256 Car Park
It A= EERE 100% 119,699 hHEHE
Beijing Xisangi Mixc One Wizl e Lezse
BRIE 100% 77,816 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
(2E 100% 41,883 =815
Car Park Car Park
EHEZH 100% 251,823 hHEE
C hangchun MiXC Medium Term Lease
BRM 100% 148,524 [CES
Mixc Commercial
(FE% 100% 103,299 285
Car Park Car Park
BEEBRE 100% 77,720 hHEHE
Yibin Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRE 100% 56,168 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
FE%5 100% 21,552 RES
Car Park Car Park
FLN AL & 5 i, 100% 271,577 PHHE
Hangzhou Chengbei Mixc Liedliniieinilease
BRI 100% 151,923 [GES
Mixc Commercial
(FE%5 100% 119,654 [
Car Park Car Park
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ERYEME

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

REnNX

Investment Properties

EHBEBRAERAR

BB RS (%)
Interest (%)

BHEREHE
(F)
Total GFA (Sqm)

NEER
Asset Type

HEMR

Lease Term

EE=AFERE 100% 181,835 R
Shenyang Santaizi Mixc One iWzglium e e
BRIE 100% 127,495 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
f2HI5 100% 54,340 (=EIS
Car Park Car Park
A =R 45% 180,153 RHIRE
Hangzhou Center Medium Term Lease
BRI 45% 125,049 (5ES
Mixc Commercial
(RE%5 45% 55,104 2E5
Car Park Car Park
BRI AL E R E 50% 288,518 hEEE
Nanjing Chengbei Mixc One Wizl e Lese
BRIE 50% 213,311 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
BES 50% 75,207 RES
Car Park Car Park
SBNETE S 51% 218,638 RHEHE
Wenzhou Binjiang Mixc MedilmiTermilease
BRI 51% 134,463 [GES
Mixc Commercial
(RE% 51% 84,175 FES
Car Park Car Park
ERE R 60% 256,081 hEEE
Kunming Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRM 60% 145,717 [EES
Mixc Commercial
=85 60% 110,364 EE&i5
Car Park Car Park
WG BNERE 100% 164,410 TR
Wauxi Binhu Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRE 100% 120,163 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
=85 100% 44,247 (RE%5
Car Park Car Park
KEBZW 51% 359,802 hEAE
Tianjin Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 51% 248,043 [EES
Mixc Commercial
RE5 51% 111,759 RE5
Car Park Car Park
HBEF & % [ 15% 147,759 RHEHE
Handan Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRE 15% 98,109 [EES
Mixc One Commercial
X2 15% 49,650 EX- 2]
Car Park Car Park
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Ranx

Investment Properties

EHENARAR

B ERER (%)
Interest (%)

BHAEEEE
(F)
Total GFA (Sqm)

NEER
Asset Type

HEMR

Lease Term

2R E B S 100% 365,291 hHEHE
Wuhan Wuchang Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 100% 267,811 [EES
Mixc Commercial
FE%5 100% 97,480 RES
Car Park Car Park
AR ERE 50% 199,273 PHHE
Hefei Baohe Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRE 50% 145,829 [GES
Mixc One Commercial
(FE%5 50% 53,444 285
Car Park Car Park
B =31 100% 217,729 hHEHE
C hangzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 100% 143,179 [EES
Mixc Commercial
FE5 100% 74,550 RES
Car Park Car Park
A E 2 E 17% 148,535 R
Tongxiang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRE 17% 97,715 [GES
Mixc One Commercial
(FE%5 17% 50,820 (RE%
Car Park Car Park
SR ihl AR {13 100% 66,718 THREE
Beijing Xibeiwang Mixc One Wzl el Lezie
BRE 100% 66,718 [GES
Mixc One Commercial
HEE RN 100% 233,766 hERE
Guiyang Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 100% 154,923 [EES
Mixc Commercial
(="} 100% 78,843 285
Car Park Car Park
EEXH 95% 116,441 RHRE
Yiwu Place Medium Term Lease
[EES 95% 63,780 [EES
Commercial Commercial
=815 95% 52,661 =85
Car Park Car Park
BN E = E 50% 148,231 hHEE
Beijing Tongzhou Mixc One Wizl e Leese
BRE 50% 114,031 [GES
Mixc One Commercial
(E5 50% 34,200 =85
Car Park Car Park
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ERYEME

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

REnNX

Investment Properties

EBERERAA

BB RS (%)
Interest (%)

BHEREHE
(F)
Total GFA (Sqm)

NEER
Asset Type

HEMR

Lease Term

42 6 K b 50% 89,900 hHEE
Shaoxing Place Medium Term Lease
[EES 50% 51,600 [EES
Commercial Commercial
FE5 50% 38,300 FHE5
Car Park Car Park
R R 36% 105,163 hHEE
Jining Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRIE 36% 79,764 [GES
Mixc One Commercial
=85 36% 25,399 =85
Car Park Car Park
AZE R 70% 261,936 hHEE
Xi'an Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 70% 155,000 [SES
Mixc Commercial
85 70% 106,936 FEE5
Car Park Car Park
TR Y| N SE /N $E 50% 62,198 FHHEE
Shenzhen BREWTOWN Medium Term Lease
[ZES 50% 42,638 [EES
Commercial Commercial
=85 50% 19,561 =85
Car Park Car Park
EhERI 100% 255,000 hHEE
Changsha Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI 100% 174,000 [EES
Mixc Commercial
5 100% 81,000 EE5
Car Park Car Park
ISR B R E 51% 89,938 FHHRE
Shantou Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRIE 51% 50,825 [SES
Mixc One Commercial
FES 51% 39,113 X
Car Park Car Park
ERREE R K 55% 168,783 THAE
Nanjing Yuhua Mixc World Wzl Term Lesise
BRRM 55% 121,000 [EES
Mixc World Commercial
B 55% 47,783 BEE5
Car Park Car Park
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Ranx

Investment Properties

EHENARAR

B ERER (%)
Interest (%)

B AR EHE
(F)
Total GFA (Sqm)

NEER
Asset Type

HEMR

Lease Term

IERERKE 100% 54,072 BFiE R
Beijing CR Building Office Medium Term Lease
KEEE B L 55% 15,121 B TR
Dalian Junshang Center Office Medium Term Lease
EP9EEE A E AR 100% 59,598 i RHAE
Xiamen CR Building Block A Office Medium Term Lease
7R )| 2 B B Hb oA B BCD B 100% 204,311 k¢ RHAE
Shenzhen CR Land Building Block Office Medium Term Lease
BCD
YN HRDE R LTS 50% 29,159 CES IR
Shenzhen Qianhai City Crossing T5 Office Medium Term Lease
It REBRRH O 100% 62,597 e AR
Beijing CR Time Building Office Medium Term Lease
EEEREETIHRL 51% 137,096 CES T
Shanghai Lujiazui Binjiang Center Office Medium Term Lease
EFEBRMERL 50% 47,466 Brig HEE
Shanghai Mixc Center Office Medium Term Lease
LR EFEARREHIE A 60% 32,395 EESS EHEE
Beijing Future City Block F Office Office Medium Term Lease
B IR & A #B s 18 B 100% 16,202 BriE G
Hefei Kunlun Mansion Office Office Medium Term Lease
B 2020 Gresham Street 18 B 100% 22,557 B A E
London 20 Gresham Street Office Office Medium Term Lease
BEEEOT 89% 97,255 B GRS
Jinan CR Center T1 Office Medium Term Lease
B B AR L 33% 28,060 BFiE TR
Ningbo Xinghu Center Office Medium Term Lease
BRERFEREERTPDO 53% 78,172 BFi o ELE
Xiong'an CR Green Building Office Medium Term Lease
Exhibition Center
SR 100% 67,506 BE hHEE
Shenzhen Grand Hyatt Hotel Hotel Medium Term Lease
FigE Y E 100% 42,000 B A E
Hotel Medium Term Lease

Shimei Bay Le Meridien Hotel
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ERYEME

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

REnNX

Investment Properties

EREMERAT
BB RS (%)
Interest (%)

BHEREHE
(F)
Total GFA (Sqm)

NEER
Asset Type

HEMR

Lease Term

pedCFEg o) 100% 57,040 B R E
Shenyang Grand Hyatt Hotel Hotel Medium Term Lease
KBEEN 55% 77,179 B R RHRE
Dalian Grand Hyatt Hotel Hotel Medium Term Lease
IR RS S 65% 66,712 BE hHEHE
Xiaojin Bay Le Meridien Hotel Hotel Medium Term Lease
WA K=K 60% 46,030 BE RHIRE
Hangzhou Park Hyatt Hotel Hotel Medium Term Lease
ST || A AR 100% 33,500 B PHEE
Shenzhen Bay Mumian Hotel Hotel Medium Term Lease
7B RIBTE 100% 14,000 S HEAE
Luohu Mumian Hotel Hotel Medium Term Lease
SHREA G 49% 48,584 s L
Hefei Grand Hyatt Hotel Hotel Medium Term Lease
BT ES 100% 38,551 B hEfEE
Xiamen Andaz Hotel Hotel Medium Term Lease
1k 7oK B M S R AR TE 80% 57,185 R hHRE
Beijing Daxing Airport Hotel Medium Term Lease
Mumian Hotel

SR 2 i 100% 45,597 EE T ETE
Shenzhen Andaz Hotel Hotel Medium Term Lease
A ER R A AN AR TE 100% 35,999 IS FEE
Chengdu Dong’an Lake Hotel Medium Term Lease
Mumian Hotel

EERRBRAE 5% 56,229 Gl A
Nanning Shangri-la Hotel Hotel Medium Term Lease
AR & RIMARARIE 100% 18,292 B A E
Chengdu Mixc Mumian Hotel Hotel Medium Term Lease
N R B A ARABIE 66% 50,370 i hEAE
Hangzhou Asian Games Village Hotel Medium Term Lease
Mumian Hotel

HBRBARIRIE 100% 27,628 B A E
Rizhao Mumian Hotel Hotel Medium Term Lease
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74 BHERLE

AREES  ABEER TEHR RHER
LY (F5K) (FAR) EERES  (E@d/BxI)
Attributable
Beneficial  Approximate Approximate State of Completion
Interest of Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated Date  (Construction in
Development Property District theGroup  Area(sqm)  Floor Areas (sqm) Type of Completion  Progress/Completed)
AR LAl +27E 100.00% 9,728 w589 f/E/B/D 305003 EEE
Lanzhou Future City Lanzhou Qilihe RIC/O/A Construction in progress
IRERES IR HE 51.00% 208506 Bty f/E/B/B 0120030 B
Shanwei Mixc World Shanwei City RIC/O/A Construction in progress
BENBRES Thig Fill 30.00% 21332 745573 #/8/1 03 EEs
Henggin New Era Plaza Zhuhai Xiangzhou /oA Construction i progress
EEMIRERESRUEBLAR BB it 25.00% 382,582 734,008 E/f/B 3040034 ERF
Yichang Wujia Gang District Yichang Wujiagang RIC/A Construction in progress

Yichang East Station Commercial
and Residential Project

BRBRI &5 ARE 100.00% 88135 732,504 E/E/2 3060031 Eie

Shenyang Times City Shenyang Dadong RIC/A Construction i progress
R BEH | HHE 51.00% 517,293 649,187 t/%/% 306032 EEd

Shenzhen Runhong City Shenzhen Guangming RIC/O Construction in progress
BMMEE 2 RoEE 65.00% 1777420 634,498 £/ 306009 B

Huizhou Xiaojing Bay Huizhou Dayawan RIC Construction in progress
BHERSERLE N RTHE 5000%  8793% 610,399 /% 012003

(BRM —S#t0)

Ezhou Wutong Lake International ~ Ezhou Liangzhu RIC Construction in progress

Community (Guangjiazou — Plot 5)

BEEE El RAE 10000% 234436 610,124 t/B/% B0 EEd

Fuzhou Haiwan Runcheng Fuzhou Changle RIC/O Construction in progress
IHERATESE el 22R 10000% 213750 609,003 t//2 W03 Agd

Ezhou Gedian Urban Complex Ezhou Huarong RIC/A Construction in progress
REAEE KB TR 100.00% 168,591 ssa454  /B/B/R 0003 ERE

Dalian Dalian Bay Dalian Ganzjing RICIO/A Construction in progress
BHEREE 2 HHE 51.00% 154937 531,93 E/f/2 300 B

Liuzhou Jinglan Project Liuzhou Chengzhong RIC/A Construction in progress
EHEEEBHE il EEE 050% 48581 w8 /BB 1102029 B

Guangzhou Changlong Wanbo Yuefu Guangzhou Panyu RICIO/A Construction in progress
BMAE 3 B iR 60.00% 199,782 458,603 &/& 30000008 Egs

Guangzhou Gongyuan Shangcheng ~ Guangzhou Zengcheng RIC/O Construction in progress
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ERYEME
SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

B4 BAHRLE
AREES  ABEER TEER RAER
BRER (F7K) (Fh5K) HHERRS  (EEH/E%I)
Attributable
Beneficial ~ Approximate Approximate State of Completion
Interest of Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated Date  (Construction in
Development Property District theGroup  Area(sqm)  Floor Areas (sqm) of Completion  Progress/Completed)
INERERRLE B 2R 50.00% 879,386 456,298 { 301202030 e
(BRI —7445%)
Ezhou Wutong Lake International  Ezhou Liangzihu R Construction in progress
Community (Guangjiazou — Plot 7)
ARABERN BR BEE 27.50% 141,110 450,162 k/f/8 3060032 EEs
Nanjing Yuzui Runfu Nanjing Jianye RIC/O Construction in progress
ERTARRRERSELE  ER ERBER 100.00% 212,391 447,391 ft/% 100009 B
R%E
Huai'an Economic Development Zone Hual'an Huai'an Economic RIC Construction in progress
Mingyuan Road Commercial and and Technology
Residential Land Development Area
ARRESLER AR EFE 51.00% 156,020 B8 fE/B/B/D 309209  EE
Taiyuan Changfeng Zhongxin Project  Taiyuan Jinyuan RIC/IO/A Construction in progress
ROER 30 AOE 100.00% 160,889 420941 k/B/8 04p07  EER
Changsha Runfu Changsha Tianxin RICIO Construction in progress
RUARBMTEREE  RR A S100% 244022 408716 t/B/% 062030  ER
Dongguan Huo Lian Shu Urban Dongguan Dongcheng RICIO Construction in progress
Renewal Project
ZESEHD gk ENE 51.00% 238011 385,945 k/f/8 306 Epe
China Resources Fuyang Center Fuyang Yingzhou RICIO Construction in progress
EBERBENE BE RIBEREERE  100.00% 5,09 376,659 ft/% 30120009 EE
Hainan Shimeiwang Jiul Wanning Shimei Bay Tourism RIC Construction in progress
and Resort
AESEMEINEERLEE  AE S EHE 50.00% 29,658 354,163 ft/B 301202034 ERA
ERRH
Dalian Jinpu New District Beiju i~ Dalian Jinpu New District RIC Construction in progress
DeTai Zengzi Project RS Plot
EEQENE EE AILHE 10000% 200,112 % B/B/R/R g B
Chongaing Gongyuan Jiuli Chongging Liangjiang New RICIO/A Construction in progress
District
SHmAR LAl RRE 60.00% 136,531 334,568 /%2 108 Fze
Zhengzhou Kunyufu Zhengzhou Zhongyuan RIC/A Construction in progress
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Bi# BAEKLE
AREES  ABEER TEHR RHER
BRER (FhK) (FAR) EERES  (E@d/BxI)
Attributable

Beneficial  Approximate Approximate State of Completion

Interest of Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated Date  (Construction in
Development Property District theGroup  Area(sqm)  Floor Areas (sqm) Type of Completion  Progress/Completed)
WHERES M WEHE 60.00% 104,568 3172 /% 0120031 B
Liuzhou Zhi Di Plaza Liuzhou Liucong New District RIC Construction in progress
REEREAD F5 B 100.00% 107,629 325,859 k/8/2 06003 Eg
Dongguan China Resources Center  Dongguan Nancheng RIO/A Construction i progress
BhERHIFE—% bl BifRE 50.00% 137,617 318,049 ft/f 306008 AR
Jieyang Poly Peninsula 1 Jieyang Yuhupian RIC Construction in progress
RYHH &Y FitE 80.00% 138,025 314451 £/ 2042008 Eze
Changsha Ruifu Changsha Yuhua RIC Construction i progress
LERRZH Lig FER 70.00% 125340 312439 id 31120006 e
Shanghai Times City Shangha Jiangding R Construction in progress
HREATD 3 HiEAR S5.00% 181,568 me E/A/EAD 38R0y EE
Nanjing CRL Center Nanjing Yuhuatai RICIO/A Construction in progress
BT il iR 50.00% 117,334 311,956 E/® 306009  EE
Jieyang Rongjiang Yuefu Jieyang Rongcheng RIC Construction in progress
BriLIERERER il B 100.00% 117,657 309,067 /% 32008 A
Foshan Shunde Runfu Project Foshan Shunde RIC Construction in progress
SENCLIN L HE 1HE 70.00% 257,806 305414 &/8/2 306208 ER
Nanning Jiangnan Center Project ~ Nanning Jiangnan RIC/A Construction in progress
TBIIEN £ IR 100.00% 179,649 297,880 /% 130030 e
Jiangyin Jiangwan City Wuxi Jiangyin RIC Construction i progress
HEREN Fil= HoR 100.00% 129274 296,830 id 306208 S
Xuchang Ziyunfu Xuchang Weidu R Construction i progress
BB Bl iR 000% 14879 w598 B/B/E/D 03 Age
Tangshan Xihu Project Tangshan Lubei RIC/O/A Construction in progress
ARt ERR [ EREERE 51.00% 171872 294573 /% 3062028 EE
Xi'an World Expo Runfu Xi‘an Chanba Eco-system RIC Construction in progress
REZ T iy REHE 100.00% 171,35 292202 /%8 60004 BRI
Wuhan Twenty-Four Cities Wuhan Dongxihu RIC Completed
EEnbER ik HHE 100.00% 151,269 291,226 E/® 30T B
Guiyang Jiuyue Project Guiyang Nanming RIC Construction in progress

FHEBEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited
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ERYEME
SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

#H ROHRLE

AREEL  ABEER TEER RAER
BRER (FhR) (Fh5K) HHERRS  (EEH/E%I)
Attributable
Beneficial ~ Approximate Approximate State of Completion
Interest of Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated Date  (Construction in

Development Property District theGroup  Area(sqm)  Floor Areas (sqm) of Completion  Progress/Completed)
EmmmnhREERER B e 100.00% 172,569 290652 B/% 317028 B

Jinan Shizhong District Xinglong ~~~ Jinan Shizhong (o Construction in progress

New Project

BEHEL &5 ] 100.00% 143,568 286,624 /% 06032 Egs

Shenyang Runxishan Shenyang Hunnan RIC Construction i progress
BREREN BZ BRELRE 100.00% 158247 286,431 ft/% 3060027 AR

Xi'an Gangchen Runfu Xi'an International Port RIC Construction in progress
BEER_H ] LItE 60.00% 93,205 284,700 /B 30120007 EE

Chongging Guancheng Phase I Chongging Jiangbei RIC Construction in progress
RAZTER 8 el EZE 50.00% 85,189 272,356 8/ 300006  EE

Shenzhen Xuehua Kechuang City ~ Shenzhen Bao'an 0/A Construction in progress
KRBT KB EME 100.00% 53,365 267,076 B/ 309 EEE

Dalian Future City Dalian Jinzhou RIC Construction in progress
MFELERETLEELEE A HLE 50.00% 34,654 256,700 k/®&/R 042009 R

Shenzhen Nanshan District Houhai ~ Shenzhen Nanshan RIC/A Construction in progress

Central Area Commercial and
Residential Project

LERLEERTOD = L ElE 100.00% 65227 253947 £/8/% 308207 EEH
Shanghai Baoshan District Fengxiang - Shanghai Baoshan RIO/A Construction in progress
Road TOD Phase Il
ERAES - B ER il 100.00% 74,576 253,369 /% 31100027 e
Jinan Xinglong Plot F3B&F5B Jinan Shizhong RIC Construction in progress
RERTHL(BIL4) B BER 100.00% 194,114 251,585 B/8/1 30122030 Fe
Wuhan Yangtze Center (Yujingkun) ~ Wuhan Wuchang CIO/A Construction in progress
EREILER U] HEE 100.00% 135,634 243,020 ft/ 2800008 Ege
Guiyang Youshan Yujing Guiyang Baiyun RIC Construction in progress
KEZRENES %8 B 100.00% 146,010 234,062 /B 301202031 ERA
Zhuhai CRL Plaza Zhuhai High-Tech RIC Construction in progress
BRI [ Giliey 1S 70.00% 203,054 233,055 /B 32005 A
Xi'an Gangyue City Xi'an International Port RIC Construction i progress
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Bi# BaHANE
AREEL  AREER TEHR ERiER
BRER (FhK) (F7K) EERES  (E@d/BxI)
Attributable
Beneficial  Approximate Approximate State of Completion
Interest of Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated Date  (Construction in
Development Property District theGroup  Area(sqm)  Floor Areas (sqm) Type of Completion  Progress/Completed)
Eezrae = (34 34.00% 119,430 B3 R/E/B/E M08 B
Qingdao Yunshang Guanhai Qingdao Shibei RIC/OH Construction in progress
EHILTNE £5 AR 33.00% 157,337 232,280 i 30120030 A
Wauxi Shanhe Jiuli Wuxi Xishan R Construction in progress
PRARRBH b aYE 60.00% 42,686 230489 E/E/% 312008 E
Bejing Future Technology City Bejing Changping RIC/O Construction i progress
RBLEER w# EREE 65.00% 2513 228033 f 306209  EE
Chengdu Shangjing Runfu Chengdu Longquanyi R Construction in progress
EXFIRBHEARBEER X RILRE 5100% 102,565 24171 t/8/% 1092030 E@ed
Huai'an Qingjiangpu District Hual'an Qingjiangpu RICIO Construction in progress
Economic and Trade Building
Commercial and Residential Project
R o L HEE 100.00% 125367 215501 t/B/R 3052030 EEe
Lanzhou Twenty-Four Cities Lanzhou Chengyuan RIC/A Construction in progress
SHERAREHE G 21 iR 50.00% 879,386 212,716 a/a 151202038
Ezhou Wutong Lake International  Ezhou Liangzhu A Construction in progress
Community
BZERH il BRI 10000% 290428 211,361 B/® 30 R
Xi'an Mixc Xi‘an Fengdong New (o Construction in progress
District
BrlIRRE =R fhl JEER 10000% 112,89 209,567 f 03008 EEF
Foshan Shunde Yunjing Foshan Shunde R Construction in progress
EMRARES0AES il SR 500% 133319 200,361 £ 1206 ER
Guangzhou Poly China Overseas  Guangzhou Zengcheng R Construction in progress

Jindi Daguojing

FHEBEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited

319



A 25 1B 22

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

N LE 7

RMB'000

GROUP’S RESULTS

2024
ARBTR

EXE Revenue
Bt A i A Profit before taxation
gt Income tax expenses
ERREF Profit for the year
ARALRA - Attributable to:
ARAEEA Owners of the Company
KEEATE Owners of perpetual capital
BB A instruments
FERER Non-controlling interests
K35 8 e e 2

BEME
BYEE
ERREE
Eot

RERE
BOVEF ARG

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Intangible assets

Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Long-term investments
Financial assets at FVPL

Time deposits

JEREAE 2 T FIE Prepayments for non-current

assets

278,799,425
58,228,191

(24,549,743)

33,678,448
25,577,359

8,101,089
33,678,448

RMB'000

15,008,885
271,198,703
1,249,541
5,020,269
1,809,503
86,103,597

4,513,706
6,153,980
5,105,069
16,534,957

5,268,986
710,426,472

1,128,393,668
503,363,109
200,437,683
27,853,279
731,654,071

396,739,597

272,507,348
124,232,249

396,739,597

EERBEE Deferred taxation assets
JE MR R 7 500 Amounts due from related parties
FEMSE IS T8 Amounts due from non-controling
) interests
THEE Current assets
BEE Total assets
nEAaE Current liabilities
RHAE Long-term liabilities
EEHEAE Deferred taxation liabilities
BER Total liabilities
RAREEA Equity attributable to owners
FElb s of the Company
FERER Non-controlling interests
320 “ T UFERS  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

2023
ARET L
RMB'000
251,137,103 207,061,119 212,108358 179,587,269
66,437,894 55509355 60365758 60,172,049
(29134131)  (23,139594)  (22970,370)  (26,081,775)
37303763 32369761  37,395388 34,090,274
31365372 28091865 32401239 29,809,959
- - - 220,569
5938391 427789 4994149 4,059,746
37303763 32369761  37,395388 34,090,274

GROUP’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2024
N

2023 2022 2021 O
ARBTL  ARBTL ARETT ARETRH
RMBOOO  RMB000  RMBO0O  RMB'000
15827017 16011713 15427154 14095322
262,808,194 237885277  2175530,118 187,379,425
1519911 1,425,515 76,356 40913
508553 5773760 6239461 5816935
191,88 1,816,263 11,544 11,544
86,688355 76791345 63100490 54,551,465
- 150,000 152,374 150,124

203097 2558608 2474608 -
2421392 1401467 1525343 2,121,759
13979382 11,591,007 11214154 10,306,764
1125359 10,168,102 11,992,508 14,297,323
4914883 2474207 4T8TAI6 6216637
784,360,847 713284627  615272,738 574,053,189
1191,177,109 1,081331,901 949,804,264 869,041,400
584,205,857 527,256,053 464,627,187 443,850,606
183306,260 180,548,443  163948,179 144,481,815
34515938 31820355 29152924 24,466,801
807,028,055 739,624,851  657,728290 612,799,222
384,149,054 341,707,050  292,075974 256,242,178
264,867,183 244,047,069 226529270 203,458,128
119281871 97659981 65546704 52,784,050
384,149,054 341,707,050 292,075,974 256,242,178
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